CYTOKINES AND INTESTINAL MUCOSAL IMMUNITY

EDITED BY: Fabio Cominelli, Theresa T. Pizarro and Charles Dinarello <u>PUBLISHED IN: Frontiers in Immunology</u>







Frontiers eBook Copyright Statement

The copyright in the text of individual articles in this eBook is the property of their respective authors or their respective institutions or funders. The copyright in graphics and images within each article may be subject to copyright of other parties. In both cases this is subject to a license granted to Frontiers.

The compilation of articles constituting this eBook is the property of Frontiers.

Each article within this eBook, and the eBook itself, are published under the most recent version of the Creative Commons CC-BY licence. The version current at the date of publication of this eBook is CC-BY 4.0. If the CC-BY licence is updated, the licence granted by Frontiers is automatically updated to the new version.

When exercising any right under the CC-BY licence, Frontiers must be attributed as the original publisher of the article or eBook, as applicable.

Authors have the responsibility of ensuring that any graphics or other materials which are the property of others may be included in the CC-BY licence, but this should be checked before relying on the CC-BY licence to reproduce those materials. Any copyright notices relating to those materials must be complied with.

Copyright and source acknowledgement notices may not be removed and must be displayed in any copy, derivative work or partial copy which includes the elements in question.

All copyright, and all rights therein, are protected by national and international copyright laws. The above represents a summary only. For further information please read Frontiers' Conditions for Website Use and Copyright Statement, and the applicable CC-BY licence.

ISSN 1664-8714 ISBN 978-2-88971-168-0 DOI 10.3389/978-2-88971-168-0

About Frontiers

Frontiers is more than just an open-access publisher of scholarly articles: it is a pioneering approach to the world of academia, radically improving the way scholarly research is managed. The grand vision of Frontiers is a world where all people have an equal opportunity to seek, share and generate knowledge. Frontiers provides immediate and permanent online open access to all its publications, but this alone is not enough to realize our grand goals.

Frontiers Journal Series

The Frontiers Journal Series is a multi-tier and interdisciplinary set of open-access, online journals, promising a paradigm shift from the current review, selection and dissemination processes in academic publishing. All Frontiers journals are driven by researchers for researchers; therefore, they constitute a service to the scholarly community. At the same time, the Frontiers Journal Series operates on a revolutionary invention, the tiered publishing system, initially addressing specific communities of scholars, and gradually climbing up to broader public understanding, thus serving the interests of the lay society, too.

Dedication to Quality

Each Frontiers article is a landmark of the highest quality, thanks to genuinely collaborative interactions between authors and review editors, who include some of the world's best academicians. Research must be certified by peers before entering a stream of knowledge that may eventually reach the public - and shape society; therefore, Frontiers only applies the most rigorous and unbiased reviews.

Frontiers revolutionizes research publishing by freely delivering the most outstanding research, evaluated with no bias from both the academic and social point of view. By applying the most advanced information technologies, Frontiers is catapulting scholarly publishing into a new generation.

What are Frontiers Research Topics?

Frontiers Research Topics are very popular trademarks of the Frontiers Journals Series: they are collections of at least ten articles, all centered on a particular subject. With their unique mix of varied contributions from Original Research to Review Articles, Frontiers Research Topics unify the most influential researchers, the latest key findings and historical advances in a hot research area! Find out more on how to host your own Frontiers Research Topic or contribute to one as an author by contacting the Frontiers Editorial Office: frontiersin.org/about/contact

1

CYTOKINES AND INTESTINAL MUCOSAL IMMUNITY

Topic Editors:

Fabio Cominelli, Case Western Reserve University, United States Theresa T. Pizarro, Case Western Reserve University, United States Charles Dinarello, University of Colorado Denver, United States

Citation: Cominelli, F., Pizarro, T. T., Dinarello, C., eds. (2021). Cytokines and Intestinal Mucosal Immunity. Lausanne: Frontiers Media SA. doi: 10.3389/978-2-88971-168-0

Table of Contents

- 04 Editorial: Cytokines and Intestinal Mucosal Immunity Theresa T. Pizarro, Charles A. Dinarello and Fabio Cominelli
- 07 Death Receptor 3 Signaling Controls the Balance Between Regulatory and Effector Lymphocytes in SAMP1/YitFc Mice With Crohn's Disease-Like Ileitis Zhaodong Li, Ludovica F. Buttó, Kristine-Anne Buela, Li-Guo Jia, Minh Lam, John D. Ward, Theresa T. Pizarro and Fabio Cominelli
- 21 Targeting Inflammatory T Helper Cells via Retinoic Acid-Related Orphan Receptor Gamma t is Ineffective to Prevent Allo-Response-Driven Colitis Vera Buchele, Benjamin Abendroth, Maike Büttner-Herold, Tina Vogler, Johanna Rothamer, Sakhila Ghimire, Evelyn Ullrich, Ernst Holler, Markus F. Neurath and Kai Hildner
- 35 Cytokine Tuning of Intestinal Epithelial Function Caroline Andrews, Mairi H. McLean and Scott K. Durum
- 50 Transforming Growth Factor-β1/Smad7 in Intestinal Immunity, Inflammation, and Cancer
 Edoardo Troncone, Irene Marafini, Carmine Stolfi and Giovanni Monteleone
- 59 Effects of Anti-Integrin Treatment With Vedolizumab on Immune Pathways and Cytokines in Inflammatory Bowel Diseases Timo Rath, Ulrike Billmeier, Fulvia Ferrazzi, Michael Vieth, Arif Ekici, Markus F. Neurath and Raja Atreya
- 75 Adipokines and Their Role in Intestinal Inflammation Carl Weidinger, Jörn F. Ziegler, Marilena Letizia, Franziska Schmidt and Britta Siegmund
- 82 The Tumor Necrosis Factor Superfamily Members TNFSF14 (LIGHT), Lymphotoxin β and Lymphotoxin β Receptor Interact to Regulate Intestinal Inflammation

Daniel A. Giles, Sonja Zahner, Petra Krause, Esmé Van Der Gracht, Thomas Riffelmacher, Venetia Morris, Alexei Tumanov and Mitchell Kronenberg

91 Divergent Innate and Epithelial Functions of the RNA-Binding Protein HuR in Intestinal Inflammation

Eleni Christodoulou-Vafeiadou, Fotis Ioakeimidis, Margarita Andreadou, Giorgos Giagkas, George Stamatakis, Martin Reczko, Martina Samiotaki, Anastasios D. Papanastasiou, Ioannis Karakasiliotis and Dimitris L. Kontoyiannis

110 Combined IL-2 Immunocomplex and Anti-IL-5 mAb Treatment Expands Foxp3⁺ Treg Cells in the Absence of Eosinophilia and Ameliorates Experimental Colitis

Hirohito Abo, Kyle L. Flannigan, Duke Geem, Vu L. Ngo, Akihito Harusato and Timothy L. Denning

- 119 TL1A (TNFSF15) and DR3 (TNFRSF25): A Co-stimulatory System of Cytokines With Diverse Functions in Gut Mucosal Immunity Vassilis Valatas, George Kolios and Giorgos Bamias
- 133 Cytokine-Mediated Regulation of Innate Lymphoid Cell Plasticity in Gut Mucosal Immunity

Carlo De Salvo, Kristine-Ann Buela and Theresa T. Pizarro





Editorial: Cytokines and Intestinal Mucosal Immunity

Theresa T. Pizarro^{1*}, Charles A. Dinarello² and Fabio Cominelli^{3*}

¹ Department of Pathology, Case Western Reserve University School of Medicine, Cleveland, OH, United States,

² Department of Medicine, University of Colorado Denver, Aurora, CO, United States, ³ Digestive Health Research Institute, Case Western Reserve University School of Medicine, Cleveland, OH, United States

Keywords: cytokines, gut mucosal immunity, innate immunity, adaptive immunity, intestinal epithelium, inflammatory bowel disease

Editorial on the Research Topic

Cytokines and Intestinal Mucosal Immunity

Since discovery of the prototypic cytokines, interleukin-1 (IL-1) and tumor necrosis factor- α (TNF), almost 50 years ago (1, 2), an explosion of information has followed regarding the biology of cytokines and their critical role(s) during health and disease. To date, 41 interleukins and more than 18 TNF superfamily (TNFSF) members have been described. Notably, in 1990, our group was one of the first to show that blockade of a single cytokine, *i.e.*, IL-1, was effective in markedly reducing the severity of experimental colitis (3), laying the foundation to conceptualize that targeting of an individual cytokine could successfully impact the development and progression of a specific disease. The role of cytokines, in fact, has been particularly important in the gastrointestinal tract, both in maintaining homeostasis and during chronic inflammatory disorders, such as inflammatory bowel disease (IBD), wherein many cell types have the ability to both react to, and produce, cytokines in response to a variety of antigenic stimuli, dietary products, microbial components, and toxic agents. This wealth of new information has led to the approval of different anti-cytokine therapies, such as anti-TNF and anti-IL-12/23 monoclonal antibodies, for the treatment of both Crohn's disease (CD) and ulcerative colitis (UC), the two main forms of IBD. In addition, novel small molecule inhibitors, such as those targeting the JAK/STAT pathway, and which possess broad anti-cytokine activity, are now available in the armamentarium of gastroenterologists to treat IBD.

In this Research Topic, the role of canonical, and more novel, cytokines are discussed in the context of intestinal immunity and chronic gut inflammation. Three articles focus on the role(s) of TNFSF members (Li et al.; Valatas et al.; Giles et al.). Specifically, Li et al. and Valatas et al. report the importance of the TL1A (TNF-like ligand 1A, TNFSF15)/DR3 (death receptor 3,TNFRSF25) ligand-pair, for which increasing evidence suggests a critical role not only in the pathogenesis of IBD, but also in the development of gut fibrosis/fibrostenotic disease. These papers highlight TL1A/DR3's pleiotropic functions in regulating the balance between T effector and T regulatory cells (Tregs), as well as innate lymphoid cells (ILCs), thereby serving as a vital rheostat during IBD. Notably, monoclonal antibodies against TL1A are currently in clinical trials for the treatment of CD and UC, and will shortly reveal the efficacy of anti-TL1A/DR3 strategies in IBD.

OPEN ACCESS

Edited and reviewed by:

Silvano Sozzani, Sapienza University of Rome, Italy

*Correspondence:

Theresa T. Pizarro theresa.pizarro@case.edu Fabio Cominelli fabio.cominelli@uhhospitals.org

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Cytokines and Soluble Mediators in Immunity, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology

Received: 22 April 2021 Accepted: 29 April 2021 Published: 14 May 2021

Citation:

Pizarro TT, Dinarello CA and Cominelli F (2021) Editorial: Cytokines and Intestinal Mucosal Immunity. Front. Immunol. 12:698693. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2021.698693

4

Abbreviations: CD, Crohn's disease; DR3, death receptor 3; IL-, interleukin-; ILC, innate lymphoid cell; TGF β 1, transforming growth factor-beta1; Th, T-helper; TL1A, TNF-like ligand 1A; TNF, tumor necrosis factor- α ; TNFSF, TNF super family; Treg, T-regulatory cell; UC, ulcerative colitis; VDZ, vedolizumab.

Additionally, Giles et al. show that LIGHT (TNFSF14) can have differential effects on the outcome of experimental colitis, depending on engagement of, and signaling through, its various cognate receptors, further emphasizing the complexity of the TNFSF and the function of its members in IBD.

Also included in the Research Topic are comprehensive reviews highlighting the contribution of key populations of cytokineproducing, and -responding, gut mucosal cells(Andrews et al.; De Salvo et al.; Weidinger et al.). Intestinal epithelial cells play a central role in maintaining homeostasis throughout the gastrointestinal tract as collectively, they represents the host's first line of defense against the external environmental, while balancing their response to the underlying gut mucosal immune system. Dysregulation of these finely-tuned interactions can compromise barrier function and result in uncontrolled, chronic inflammation. Andrews et al. provide important information regarding how epithelial-derived cytokines, as well as cytokines affecting the gut epithelium, orchestrate crucial functions during health and disease states. Furthermore, ILCs are a relatively new family of heterogenous immune cells driven by specific transcription factors that exhibit distinct cytokine profiles and are particularly enriched at mucosal barriers. As their name implies, ILCs provide necessary innate immunity to the host; however, based on their strategic location, they must also be able to temper and quickly alter response(s) to their dynamic and everchanging surroundings. In this context, De Salvo et al. summarize what is currently known regarding the cytokines that enable ILC plasticity, and their ability to readily transdifferentiate, leading to either protective or pathogenic functions within the gut. Interestingly, the original article from Christodoulou-Vafeiadou et al. underscores the important contributions of epithelial versus innate immune cells, reporting that the RNA binding protein, HuR, that post-transcriptionally regulates mRNAs encoding, among others, cytokines, confers both convergent as well as divergent functions in the gut depending on its cellular source and what type of challenge is presented to the host (e.g., colitis-associated cancer vs. infectious colitis). Finally, a newly emerging area of interest in cytokine biology is the role adipokines, which are soluble factors released by fat tissue. Their role in IBD is especially relevant since CD is often characterized by hyperplasia of the mesenteric fat situated around affected, inflamed segments of the small intestine, and notably, this so-called 'creeping fat' has also been implicated in fibrostenotic CD, with recent work demonstrating its regulation by live bacteria derived from the gut microbiome (4). Weidinger et al. provide important information regarding adipokines, its regulation of creeping fat, and put forth a working model as to how these factors participate in gut health and disease.

REFERENCES

- Carswell EA, Old LJ, Kassel RL, Green S, Fiore N, Williamson E. An Endotoxin-Induced Serum Factor That Causes Necrosis of Tumors. *Proc Natl Acad Sci* USA (1975) 72(9):3666–70. doi: 10.1073/pnas.72.9.3666
- Dinarello CA, Renfer L, Wolff SM. Human Leukocytic Pyrogen: Purification and Development of a Radioimmunoassay. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* (1977) 74 (10):4624–7. doi: 10.1073/pnas.74.10.4624
- Cominelli F, Nast CC, Clark BD, Schindler R, Lierena R, Eysselein VE, et al. Interleukin-1 (IL-1) Gene Expression, Synthesis, and Effect of Specific IL-1

The remaining contributions focus on various aspects of targeting cytokines to treat IBD. Anti- $\alpha 4\beta 7$ integrin therapy using vedolizumab (VDZ) was introduced a decade ago as an effective, alternative option for IBD patients that were refractory to either conventional treatments or TNF inhibitors. Ironically, Rath et al. show that increased activation of TNF is observed in IBD patients unresponsive to VDZ, and that anti-TNF therapy may actually be more effective in VDZ refractory patients. In regards to newer anti-cytokine strategies, blocking the IL-12/ IL-23 axis has proven to be effective for both CD and UC patients. Interestingly, although Th17 cells are known to expand in response to IL-23, anti-IL-17 treatment is reported to be ineffective in treating CD, and in fact, worsens disease (5). In support of disease specificity for anti-cytokine therapy, Buchele et al. show that blockade of the IL-23/Th17 pathway is ineffective in preventing colitis in a mouse model of graft-vs.host-disease, suggesting that targeted anti-cytokine therapy is disease specific, rather than organ-specific, and that the underlying etiology is critical to consider. Regulation of another cytokine recently tested in CD is TGF\$1, whose antiinflammatory activity is restored by administering Mongersen, an oral SMAD7 antisense oligonucleotide, but with controversial outcomes. Troncone et al. review this important cytokine pathway in intestinal immunity that, despite negative results of Phase III clinical trials (6), remains an interesting therapeutic target for IBD, perhaps using a different drug formulation. In closing, Abo et al. contribute an original article demonstrating the efficacy of combination IL-2 immunocomplex and anti-IL-5 in experimental colitis through a mechanism that involves expansion of Foxp3⁺ Tregs. Although premature to consider for IBD treatment, the concept of combination therapy is certainly an attractive strategy, particularly for complex, multipathway disease processes that are prevalent in disorders like IBD. We anticipate that the field of cytokines in intestinal immunity will continue to grow and evolve, which will lead to a better understanding of pathogenic mechanism(s) and discovery of novel anti-cytokine treatments for chronic gut inflammation.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

TTP, FC and CAD contributed equally to conceptualizing, writing, and editing the final submitted manuscript. CAD contributed to editing the final submitted manuscript. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

Receptor Blockade in Rabbit Immune Complex Colitis. *J Clin Invest* (1990) 86 (3):972–80. doi: 10.1172/JCI114799

- Ha CWY, Martin A, Sepich-Poore GD, Shi B, Wang Y, Gouin K, et al. Translocation of Viable Gut Microbiota to Mesenteric Adipose Drives Formation of Creeping Fat in Humans. *Cell* (2020) 183(3):666–83. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2020.09.009
- Hueber W, Sands BE, Lewitzky S, Vandemeulebroecke M, Reinisch W, Higgins PDR, et al. Secukinumab, a Human anti-IL-17A Monoclonal Antibody, for Moderate to Severe Crohn's Disease: Unexpected Results of a Randomised, Double-Blind Placebo-Controlled Trial. *Gut* (2012) 61(12):1693–700. doi: 10.1136/gutjnl-2011-301668

 Sands BE, Feagan BG, Sandborn WJ, Schreiber S, Peyrin-Biroulet L, Colombel JF, et al. Mongersen (GED-0301) for Active Crohn's Disease: Results of a Phase 3 Study. *Am J Gastroenterol* (2020) 115(5):738–45. doi: 10.14309/ajg.000000000000493

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2021 Pizarro, Dinarello and Cominelli. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Death Receptor 3 Signaling Controls the Balance between Regulatory and Effector Lymphocytes in SAMP1/YitFc Mice with Crohn's Disease-Like Ileitis

Zhaodong Li^{1†}, Ludovica F. Buttó^{1†}, Kristine-Anne Buela², Li-Guo Jia¹, Minh Lam¹, John D. Ward¹, Theresa T. Pizarro² and Fabio Cominelli^{1*}

¹ BRB-5, Digestive Health Research Institute, Case Western Reserve University, Cleveland, OH, United States, ² Department of Pathology, Case Western Reserve University, Cleveland, OH, United States

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Carlo Selmi, IRCCS Clinical Institute Humanitas, Italy

Reviewed by:

Silvia Piconese, Sapienza Università di Roma, Italy Oberdan Leo, Université libre de Bruxelles, Belgium

> *Correspondence: Fabio Cominelli

fabio.cominelli@case.edu

[†]These authors have share first authorship.

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Cytokines and Soluble Mediators in Immunity, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology

Received: 14 November 2017 Accepted: 08 February 2018 Published: 01 March 2018

Citation:

Li Z, Buttó LF, Buela K-A, Jia L-G, Lam M, Ward JD, Pizarro TT and Cominelli F (2018) Death Receptor 3 Signaling Controls the Balance between Regulatory and Effector Lymphocytes in SAMP1/YitFc Mice with Crohn's Disease-Like Ileitis. Front. Immunol. 9:362. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2018.00362 Death receptor 3 (DR3), a member of the tumor necrosis factor receptor (TNFR) superfamily, has been implicated in regulating T-helper type-1 (T_H 1), type-2 (T_H 2), and type-17 (T_H17) responses as well as regulatory T cell (T_{rea}) and innate lymphoid cell (ILC) functions during immune-mediated diseases. However, the role of DR3 in controlling lymphocyte functions in inflammatory bowel disease (IBD) is not fully understood. Recent studies have shown that activation of DR3 signaling modulates T_{reg} expansion suggesting that stimulation of DR3 represents a potential therapeutic target in human inflammatory diseases, including Crohn's disease (CD). In this study, we tested a specific DR3 agonistic antibody (4C12) in SAMP1/YitFc (SAMP) mice with CD-like ileitis. Interestingly, treatment with 4C12 prior to disease manifestation markedly worsened the severity of ileitis in SAMP mice despite an increase in FoxP3⁺ lymphocytes in mesenteric lymph node (MLN) and small-intestinal lamina propria (LP) cells. Disease exacerbation was dominated by overproduction of both T_H1 and T_H2 cytokines and associated with expansion of dysfunctional CD25-FoxP3+ and ILC group 1 (ILC1) cells. These effects were accompanied by a reduction in CD25+FoxP3+ and ILC group 3 (ILC3) cells. By comparison, genetic deletion of DR3 effectively reversed the inflammatory phenotype in SAMP mice by promoting the expansion of CD25+FoxP3+ over CD25-FoxP3+ cells and the production of IL-10 protein. Collectively, our data demonstrate that DR3 signaling modulates a multicellular network, encompassing T_{reas}, T effectors, and ILCs, governing disease development and progression in SAMP mice with CD-like ileitis. Manipulating DR3 signaling toward the restoration of the balance between protective and inflammatory lymphocytes may represent a novel and targeted therapeutic modality for patients with CD.

Keywords: Crohn's disease, inflammatory bowel disease, death receptor 3, SAMP1/YitFc, ileitis, regulatory T cells, innate lymphoid cell, TL1A, CD25^{+/-} T cells

INTRODUCTION

Crohn's disease (CD) is an inflammatory bowel disease (IBD) characterized by chronic and relapsing inflammation of gut intestinal segments. Although the cause of the disease is still unknown, an exaggerated immune response against commensal bacteria in individuals with a genetic predisposition has been postulated as a key mechanism (1). Pharmacological treatment of the disease is

7

generally based upon suppression of the immune system using non-specific drugs and blockade of inflammatory processes by biological therapy, such as antibodies targeting the cytokine TNF- α (2). However, a significant percentage of patients fail to improve or maintain remission for prolonged periods. For these individuals very limited options currently exist. As a result, more than 70% of patients require surgical removal of the affected intestinal segments. Furthermore, surgery does not necessarily provide long-lasting resolution of the inflammatory process, and recurrence after surgery occurs in the majority of patients with CD (3). Thus, to date there remains no cure for this devastating disease.

Death receptor 3 (DR3) (TNFRSF25), a member of TNFR superfamily expressed primarily on lymphocytes and innate lymphoid cells (ILCs), is a receptor for the cytokine TL1A (TNFSF15) secreted by dendritic cells, monocytes, macrophages, plasma cells, synovial fibroblasts, and endothelial cells (4-12). Preclinical and clinical studies have clearly shown a fundamental role for the TL1A/DR3 cytokine/receptor pair in the pathogenesis of inflammatory diseases, including rheumatoid arthritis (13-15), diabetic retinopathy (16), pulmonary sarcoidosis (17), asthma (10, 18), and, especially, IBD (19). Precisely, TL1A and DR3 expression is significantly increased, in an inflammation-specific manner, in both serum and inflamed tissues in IBD patients and in murine experimental ileitis (19). Genome-wide association studies have identified polymorphisms associated with IBD risk in the gene that encodes for TL1A protein (20-24). Finally, studies in animal models of intestinal inflammation have demonstrated that sustained expression of TL1A leads to chronic small-intestinal inflammation, whereas blockade of the TL1A/DR3 axis suppresses murine colitis (7, 12). Our laboratory has previously identified a novel role of TL1A/DR3 system in modulating lymphocyte functions and in preserving gut homeostasis in dextran sodium sulfate (DSS)-induced acute colitis (25). Specifically, following DSS treatment, TL1A- and DR3-deficient mice displayed an increase in disease severity mediated by defective suppressive function of regulatory T cells (T_{regs}), and a concomitant expansion of pro-inflammatory T-helper type-1 (T_H1), type-2 (T_H2), and type-17 ($T_{\rm H}$ 17) (25). These results provided compelling evidence that TL1A/DR3 signaling exerts pleiotropic effects on lymphocyte homeostasis, cell proliferation, activation, function, and differentiation, mediating the balance between inflammatory and Treg responses. Additional data supporting the role of DR3 in T_{reg} functionality consist in the observation that treatment with 4C12, an agonistic antibody to DR3, induces selective expansion of Tregs and reduces activation of conventional T cells in an allergic lung mouse model (26), in cardiac allografts (27) and in graft vs. host disease mouse model (28). This demonstrates that modulation of DR3 signaling may be a potential therapeutic target in immune-mediated disease, hence leading to appealing applications in CD therapy.

Recent findings have demonstrated that DR3-expressing ILCs could be an integral part of the DR3 signaling network (8, 10, 11). As effectors of innate immunity and regulators of tissue modeling, ILCs have been shown to play an important role in inflammatory diseases in the skin, lung, and gut (29). It is thought that the identified ILC populations, including group 1 (ILC1), group 2

(ILC2), and group 3 (ILC3), have a cytokine expression pattern that resembles that of T_H1 , T_H2 , and T_H17/T_H22 cells, respectively (30). ILC1 subset, found enriched in inflamed intestine of CD patients, expresses the transcription factor T-bet and responds to interleukin 12 (IL-12) by producing interferon- γ (IFN- γ) (31-33). The development and function of ILC2 cells depend on the transcription factor Gata-3 and produce the type-2 cytokines IL-5 and IL-13. The important role of ILC2s in virus-induced experimental models of airway hyperactivity and in allergic lung responses has been recognized (34-36). Regulated by the transcription of retinoic acid receptor-related orphan receptor-yt (RORyt), ILC3s produce IL-17 and IL-22 in response to IL-23 and IL-1 β (37–39). ILC3s play a protective role in the healthy gut, by modulating epithelial cell regeneration through IL-22 secretion (40, 41). Nevertheless, innate sources of IL-17 were found significantly elevated in the intestinal mucosa of CD and Ulcerative colitis (UC) patients, suggesting a contribution of ILC3s to intestinal inflammation in IBD (38).

Recent data from our group supports a pro-inflammatory role of DR3/TL1A signaling mediated through activation of effector T cells during chronic inflammation, underscoring the importance of this cytokine-receptor pair in promoting gut immunopathology (Cominelli et al., unpublished data). However, the discovery that DR3 promotes Treg expansion (26-28) has led to the hypothesis of whether T_{reg} proliferation prior to disease initiation can revert CD-like ileitis. Therefore, in the current work, we investigated whether treatment with 4C12 prior to disease onset could delay or even ablate ileitis in SAMP mice, and whether DR3 is a master regulator of lymphocyte functions. We evaluated the distribution of total T_{regs} (CD4+FoxP3+), of CD25⁺ and CD25⁻ T_{reg} subsets, and of ILCs in mesenteric lymph node (MLN) and lamina propria (LP) cells. Interestingly, our results indicate that DR3 stimulation accelerates and exacerbates ileitis onset by triggering T_H1 and T_H2 responses, and by mitigating anti-inflammatory processes. In addition, our data suggest that DR3 signaling pathway promotes the expansion of non-regulatory CD25⁻ T cells and ILC1s concomitant to the reduction of CD25⁺ T_{regs} and ILC3s.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Antibodies and Reagents

Agonistic anti-DR3 (4C12) monoclonal Ab and control Armenian Hamster IgG isotype (IgG) were purchased from BioLegend (San Diego, CA, USA). Anti-CD3e (2C11), anti-CD28 (37.51), anti-IL-17A (TC11-18H10), and CD16/CD32 (2.4G2) Abs were purchased from BD Biosciences (San Diego, CA, USA). T_{regs} were stained by using the FoxP3⁺T_{reg} staining kit following the manufacturer's instructions (eBioscience, San Diego, CA, USA). Collagenase and DNase were obtained from Sigma-Aldrich (St. Louis, MO, USA), and dispase from Roche (Mannheim, Germany). RPMI-1640 cell culture medium (RPMI), fetal bovine serum (FBS), penicillin, and streptomycin (P/S) were all purchased from Invitrogen (Grand Island, NY, USA). Cytokines and other reagents were purchased from the following vendors: TGF- β 1 and IL-6 (R&D Systems, Minneapolis, MN, USA), IL-2 (eBioscience), and PMA, ionomycin and GolgiStop (BD Biosciences). All ELISA kits were purchased from eBioscience.

Experimental Animals

An equal number of male and female 5-week-old SAMP and age/gender-matched AKR/J (AKR) mice, and 10-weekold SAMP \times DR3^{-/-} (DR3_{KO}) and age/gender-matched SAMP \times DR3^{+/+} (DR3_{WT}) mice were used in each experiment, with a mean body weight of 26.3 g on the day of sacrifice. Mice were housed and maintained in ventilated micro-isolator cages (Allentown Inc.) with 1/8-inch corn bedding and cotton nestlets for environmental enrichment (Envigo), kept on 12-h light/dark cycles, and maintained under specific-pathogen-free conditions in the Animal Resource Center of Case Western Reserve University (CWRU). All mice had ad libitum access to water and were fed with standard laboratory rodent diet P3000 (Harlan Teklad) throughout the experiments. Mice were genotyped by PCR-based assays of genomic tail DNA. All experimental procedures were approved by the Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee of CWRU and were in accordance with the Association for Assessment and Accreditation of Laboratory Animal Care guidelines. All experiments were conducted in a blinded manner, without prior knowledge of treatments and mouse groups by the experimenter. Mice were randomized to different interventions using a progressive numerical number. The code for each mouse was known only to the animal caretaker and was revealed at the end of the study.

Treatment

Five-week-old SAMP and AKR mice were given intraperitoneal injections of 10 μ g of 4C12 (or IgG) in 100- μ L PBS, weekly, for 4 weeks, as previously described elsewhere (26). Mice were sacrificed at the beginning of the fifth week.

Histology

Mouse ilea were collected, rinsed with phosphate-buffered saline (PBS), fixed in Bouin's fixative solution (Fisher Scientific, Pittsburgh, PA, USA), embedded in paraffin, and sectioned. Histological evaluation of inflammation severity was determined in hematoxylin and eosin-stained 5-µm-thick sections, by using a semi-quantitative scoring system as previously described (42). Briefly, scores ranging from 0 (normal histology) to 3 (maximum severity of histologic changes) were used to evaluate histologic indices for (1) active inflammation (infiltration with neutrophils), (2) chronic inflammation (lymphocytes and plasma cells in the mucosa and submucosa), (3) monocyte inflammation (macrophages in the mucosa and submucosa), (4) villous distortion (flattening and/or widening of normal villus architecture), and (5) transmural inflammation. The total inflammatory index represents the sum of all five individual components. Histological scoring was performed by a single trained pathologist in a blinded fashion.

Stereomicroscopy

Ileal tissue abnormalities (i.e., cobblestone lesions) and normal mucosa were investigated by examining the cellular structural pattern of ileal tissue *via* stereomicroscopy, cm by cm, using a

reference catalogue of lesions, as previously described (43). Starting from the distal end, 10 cm of ileum were collected, fixed in Bouin's solution overnight, and then transferred to 70% ethanol for stereomicroscopic analysis. Both healthy and cobblestonelike areas were calculated per cm using ImageJ software (NIH, Bethesda, MD, USA).

Isolation and Culture of Mesenteric Lymph Node Cells

Mesenteric lymph node cells were removed as eptically at the time of sacrifice, and cells were gently dispersed through a 70-µm cell strainer to obtain single-cell suspensions. Note that 1×10^6 resulting cells were cultured in RPMI-1640 with 10% FBS and 1% P/S for 72 h in the presence of 1-µg/mL anti-CD3/CD28 monoclonal Ab, as previously described (7). For measurement of *de novo* IL-17 protein in cell supernatants, MLN cells were placed in a culture medium supplemented with 1-ng/mL TGF- β 1, 20-ng/mL IL-6, and 20 U/mL IL-2 for 72 h, and then stimulated with 50-ng/mL PMA, 1-µg/mL ionomycin, and 1 × GolgiStop for 4 h at 37°C (25). After the incubation period, the cells were collected for flow-cytometry assay, as described below, and supernatants were collected for IL-10, IL-13, IL-17, TNF- α , and IFN- γ analysis by ELISA, according to the manufacturer's instructions.

Isolation of Lamina Propria Mononuclear Cells

Ilea were collected from experimental mice, rinsed in ice-cold PBS, and cut into pieces of approximately 0.5 cm. To remove epithelial cells and intraepithelial lymphocytes, tissues were placed in 25-mL Ca²⁺- and Mg²⁺-free HBSS supplemented with 5-mM EDTA and 1-mM DTT, and shaken for 30 min at 250 rpm at 37°C. The remaining tissues were finely fragmented, placed in 30-mL RPMI medium supplemented with 10% FBS, 0.8- μ g/mL dispase and 0.1- μ g/mL collagenase D, and digested for 1 h at 37°C. Cells were collected by centrifugation at 1,300 rpm for 5 min at room temperature (RT). Cell pellets were then analyzed by flow cytometry.

Quantitative Real-time RT-PCR

Total RNA was isolated from homogenized ileal tissues using the RNeasy Mini kit (Qiagen, Valencia, CA, USA). cDNA was generated from 1 µg of RNA with maize mosaic virus random hexamers (Invitrogen). Semi-quantification of the target genes was carried out by real-time RT-PCR using SYBR Green methodology. Relative expression of each target gene was calculated by the $\Delta\Delta$ Ct method (44). The expression of FoxP3, IL-17A, and β-actin mRNA was evaluated by using the following primer sequences: FoxP3, (5'-CCCAGGAAAGACAGCAACCTT-3' and 5'-TTC TCACAACCAGGCCACTTG-3'); IL-17A (5'-TTTAACTCCCT TGGCGCAAAA-3' and 5'-CTTTCCCTCCGCATTGACAC-3'); β-actin (5'-CAGGGTGTGATGGTGGGGAATG-3' and 5'-GTAG AAGGTGTGGTGCCAGATC-3').

Flow Cytometry

To identify T_{regs} freshly isolated LP or cultured MLN cells were stained with a mouse T_{reg} staining kit, according to the

manufacturer's instructions. Briefly, lymphocytes were blocked for 10 min on ice with anti-mouse CD16/CD32 Abs, and then stained with anti-mouse CD4 and CD25 Abs, for 30 min at 4°C in the dark. After washing, cells were stained with live/dead Fixable Violet Dead Cell Stain Kit (Thermo Scientific, Waltham, WA, USA) to determine cell viability, followed by incubation with a fixation/permeabilization buffer (eBioscience) for 30 min at 4°C in the dark. Cells were then washed with permeabilization buffer and stained with anti-mouse EorP3 and H 17A Abs for 30 min

Violet Dead Cell Stain Kit (Thermo Scientific, Waltham, WA, USA) to determine cell viability, followed by incubation with a fixation/permeabilization buffer (eBioscience) for 30 min at 4°C in the dark. Cells were then washed with permeabilization buffer and stained with anti-mouse FoxP3 and IL-17A Abs for 30 min at 4°C in the dark. To collect live ILCs from MLNs, viability stain was used as indicated above. Cells were then stained with a combination of fluorescently conjugated monoclonal Abs optimized in a previous work (45) for 30 min at 4°C or at RT, to detect cell surface and intracellular proteins, respectively. Flow-cytometric acquisition was performed on a BD FACS LSR II instrument for T_{regs}, and on a FACSAria sorter for ILCs. Data were subsequently analyzed using FlowJo_V10 software (Tree Star) by gating on live cells based on forward vs. side scatter profiles, then gating on singlets using forward scatter area vs. height, followed by dead-cell exclusion and then cell subset-specific gating (Figures S2 and S3 in Supplementary Material). CountBright[™] absolute counting beads (Thermo Scientific) were used to determine absolute cell number of ILCs by flow cytometry, according to the manufacturer's instructions.

Statistical Analysis

Data reported in the current work are representative of three independent experiments. For comparisons made between any given two groups with normal or not normal distribution, Student's *t*-test (two-tailed) or Mann–Whitney test was used, respectively. Provided the data fulfilled the assumptions for parametric statistics, comparison between more than two groups was carried out by two-way ANOVA with Bonferroni's *post hoc* test. All data were expressed as median \pm interquartile range with ≥95% confidence intervals. An alpha level of 0.05 was considered significant. All statistical analyses were performed using GraphPad Prism (version 7.03; GraphPad Software, San Diego, CA, USA).

RESULTS

Death Receptor 3 (DR3) Stimulation Exacerbates lleitis in SAMP Mice

Converging animal studies have shown that treatment with 4C12 prevented the development of allergic lung inflammation (26), promoted the survival of cardiac allografts (27), and reduced graft vs. host disease (28), through the expansion of T_{regs} . Hence, we sought to test whether 4C12 treatment could delay or even ablate disease onset in a well-characterized mouse model of CD-like ileitis, i.e., SAMP1/YitFc (SAMP). SAMP mice spontaneously develop chronic ileitis that resembles human CD, characterized by severe inflammation in the terminal ileum, skip lesions, transmural inflammation, granulomas, crypt hyperplasia, infiltration of both acute and chronic inflammatory cells, spontaneous skin lesions, and in some instances perianal fistulas (46–48).

In this study, we administered 4C12 or control Ab weekly to SAMP mice prior to disease manifestation (5-week-old), along with AKR littermates. After 4 weeks, 4C12-treated SAMP mice exhibited significantly increased ileitis severity (3.7-fold) compared with IgG-treated mice (17.7 \pm 1.6 vs. 4.8 \pm 1.6, P = 0.0022, Figures 1A,B). SAMP mice that received 4C12 were characterized by higher inflammation scores compared with controls, including 3.4-fold increase in active inflammation index $(4.0 \pm 0.0 \text{ vs. } 1.2 \pm 0.4, P = 0.0022, Figure 1C)$, fourfold increase in chronic inflammation index $(4.0 \pm 0.0 \text{ vs}, 1.0 \pm 0.0, P = 0.0022)$, Figure 1D), and fivefold increase in transmural inflammation index $(1.7 \pm 0.5 \text{ vs. } 0.3 \pm 0.5, P = 0.0065, Figure 1E)$. Additionally, distorted villous architecture, such as broadening and blunting $(3.5-fold increase, 3.5 \pm 0.8 vs. 1.0 \pm 0.0, P = 0.0022$, Figure 1F), and inflammatory infiltrates in the LP (3.4-fold increase, 4.5 ± 0.8 vs. 1.3 ± 0.5 , P = 0.0022, Figure 1G) were significantly elevated in 4C12-treated mice compared with controls. Using an established protocol (43), we performed stereomicroscopic 3D-pattern profiling analysis of ileal tissue, revealing that 4C12-treated SAMP mice harbored a higher number and wider area of cobblestone lesions per cm, compared with controls (1.7-fold increase, 11.2 ± 2.4 vs. 6.6 ± 2.6 , P = 0.0229, Figures 1H,I). Stimulation of DR3 in AKR mice did not have any effects on the health of the rodents (Figure S1 in Supplementary Material). These findings suggest that activation of DR3 signaling prior to disease manifestation accelerates inflammation occurrence, worsening ileitis development in a susceptible host.

DR3 Stimulation Increases FoxP3⁺ Regulatory T-Cell Population but Has No Effects on T-Helper Type-17 (T_H17) Subset

Stimulation of DR3 with 4C12 leads to the expansion of bona fide CD4+FoxP3+T_{regs} (FoxP3+ T_{regs}), which are able to dampen host autoaggression in health (26-28). In addition to modulating this T-cell subpopulation, activation of DR3 pathway may trigger a signaling cascade that plays a role in $T_{\rm H}17$ cell network (49, 50). Considering that T_{reg} and $T_{H}17$ cells share key mediators essential for cell differentiation, such as TGF- β 1 (51), we can infer that DR3 signaling may modulate the homeostasis of both subsets. Hence, first, we asked whether treatment with 4C12 could enrich FoxP3⁺ T_{regs} in SAMP mice. Second, we investigated whether the effect of DR3 activation on FoxP3⁺ T_{regs} was coupled with a modulation of the expression of IL-17 in our system. We observed a significant increase in the proportion of FoxP3⁺ T_{regs} in the MLN of 4C12-treated SAMP mice compared with those from the IgG-treated group (1.6-fold increase, 8.0 ± 1.8 vs. 5.0 ± 0.9 , P = 0.0134, Figure 2A). Also, these data positively correlate with mRNA relative abundance of FoxP3 gene in ileal specimens $(3.5-fold increase, 6.5 \pm 1.0 vs. 1.9 \pm 0.2, P < 0.0001, Figure 2B).$ On the other hand, administration of 4C12 did not significantly alter the frequency of CD4+IL-17+ cells (T_H17s), although a contraction of T_H17 frequency was observed in 4C12-treated SAMP mice compared with controls (0.7-fold decrease, 6.5 ± 1.1 vs. 9.3 \pm 1.4, *P* = 0.1748, Figure 2C). IL-17 mRNA expression was significantly upregulated in the ileum of SAMP mice in comparison to that of AKR mice; however, we did not detect any differences in each mouse strain with regard to 4C12 administration (Figure 2D). Our data indicate that DR3 signaling expands



FIGURE 1 | DR3 stimulation accelerates ileitis development in SAMP mice. (A) Representative photomicrographs of ileal sections of SAMP mice treated with control IgG isotype (left panel) or with 4C12 (right panel). Scale bar is 50 μ m. (B) Total histologic score represents the sum of five indices including (C) active inflammation, (D) chronic inflammation, (E) transmural inflammation, (F) villous distortion, and (G) monocyte inflammation. Data presented as median \pm interquartile range and analyzed by Mann–Whitney test, n = 6. (H) Mucosal architecture of fixed postmortern ileal specimens collected from 4C12-treated and IgG-treated SAMP mice was examined by stereomicroscopy. (I) Cobblestone area expressed as percentage of total specimen calculated in the ileum of 4C12-treated and IgG-treated SAMP mice. Data presented as median \pm interquartile range and analyzed by two-tailed unpaired *t*-test, n = 4-6. Data are representative of three independent experiments.



FIGURE 2 | DR3 stimulation increases FoxP3⁺ T_{regs} without altering T_H17 cell population during chronic ileitis. **(A)** Flow-cytometric analysis of mesenteric lymph node cells from IgG- and 4C12-treated SAMP or AKR mice after staining with specific anti-CD4 and anti-FoxP3 Abs or **(C)** anti-CD4 and anti-IL17 Abs. **(B)** Relative expression of FoxP3 mRNA and **(D)** of IL-17A mRNA was measured in total tissue RNA extracted from the terminal ilea of SAMP or AKR mice treated with IgG or 4C12 (10-week-old, n = 4). The relative expression of each target gene was normalized to the relative expression of β -actin in the sample. Data presented as median \pm interquartile range and analyzed by two-way ANOVA, with Bonferroni's *post hoc* test. Data are representative of three independent experiments.

FoxP3⁺ T_{regs} , but not $T_{\rm H}17s$, in MLN and LP cells of a susceptible host, but not of a healthy individual.

DR3 Stimulation Enriches CD25⁻FoxP3⁺ at the Expense of CD25⁺FoxP3⁺ Cells

Despite having FoxP3⁺ T_{regs} enriched in MLN (Figure 2A) and FoxP3 mRNA upregulated in the ileum, 4C12-treated SAMP

mice exhibited a more severe ileitis compared with IgG-treated controls (**Figure 1**). CD4⁺CD25⁺FoxP3⁺ T_{regs}, which play a central role for the maintenance of immune homeostasis, are known to be generated in the thymus (thymus-derived cells or natural T_{reg}) and in the periphery (peripheral-derived cells or inducible T_{reg}) (52). Of note, peripheral-derived T_{regs} include a major subset of CD4⁺CD25⁻FoxP3⁺ and a relatively small subset of

CD4⁺CD25⁺FoxP3⁺ cells. CD25 is the α -chain of the IL-2 receptor (IL-2R) and it is a T-cell activation marker as well as a T_{reg} marker. It interacts with the β - and γ -chains of IL-2R, to form a highaffinity receptor, which promotes cell proliferation and functions (53). It has been shown that, when TL1A recruits DR3 on T cells, they become highly responsive to endogenous IL-2 via IL-2R, resulting in cell proliferation. With these premises and with the intent to identify T_{reg} subtypes, we further investigated the contribution of CD25 to the regulatory pool in our model. Our data indicated that, in SAMP mice upon 4C12 treatment, MLN and LP lymphocytes are partially depleted (twofold) of CD25+FoxP3+ cells compared with controls $(1.6 \pm 0.4 \text{ vs. } 3.3 \pm 1.1, P = 0.0128)$ Figure 3A; 1.3 ± 0.6 vs. 2.9 ± 0.9 , P = 0.0070, Figure 3C). This phenomenon was accompanied by a concurrent enrichment (2.5-fold) of CD25⁻FoxP3⁺ cells $(8.3 \pm 0.6 \text{ vs}, 3.4 \pm 1.3, P < 0.0001,$ Figure 3B; 5.5 ± 1.0 vs. 2.2 ± 0.4 , P = 0.0022, Figure 3D). Our results demonstrate that, in a susceptible host, DR3 activation correlates to the reduction of CD25+FoxP3+ in favor of CD25⁻FoxP3⁺ cells. To get further insights into this observation, we carried out extensive immunophenotyping of CD25+FoxP3+ and CD25-FoxP3+ cells in unmanipulated mice. Our analysis



FIGURE 3 | DR3 stimulation correlates to the expansion of CD25-FoxP3⁺ cells during chronic ileitis. **(A,B)** Flow-cytometric analysis of mesenteric lymph node and **(C,D)** lamina propria cells from IgG- and 4C12-treated SAMP mice (10-week-old, n = 6-5) after staining with specific anti-CD25 and anti-FoxP3 Abs. The frequency of CD25⁺FoxP3⁺ and CD25⁻FoxP3⁺ cells is indicated. All data are presented as median \pm interquartile range. Data in graphs A, B, and C were analyzed by two-tailed unpaired *t*-test. Data in graph D were analyzed by Mann–Whitney test. Data are representative of three independent experiments.

revealed that, by expressing specific markers for T_{reg} activation and suppressive functions (i.e., Nrp-1, Helios, CTLA-4, GITR, Icos, CD103, and CD73) and by producing IL-10, CD25⁺FoxP3⁺ cells may exert regulatory functions, which are instead impaired in CD25⁻FoxP3⁺ cells (Tables S1 and S2 in Supplementary Material). Interestingly, the frequency of DR3-expressing cells was significantly elevated in the CD25⁺FoxP3⁺ subset compared with CD25⁻FoxP3⁺ subpopulation, in MLNs of both AKR and SAMP mice ($p \le 0.0052$, Tables S1 and S2 in Supplementary Material), suggesting a higher dependency of CD25⁺FoxP3⁺ cells on DR3 signals. Taken together, these results suggest that DR3 activation in SAMP mice promotes the switch of regulatory CD25⁺FoxP3⁺ cells to a non-regulatory CD25⁻FoxP3⁺ subpopulation.

DR3 Deficiency Ameliorating lleitis Severity and Expanding CD25⁺FoxP3⁺ Cells

In the current work, we demonstrated that DR3 signaling controls the balance between T_{reg} subsets favoring the enrichment of CD25⁻FoxP3⁺ over CD25⁺FoxP3⁺ cells in SAMP mice. Next, we tested whether the lack of DR3 in SAMP mice (DR3KO) modulated the frequency of FoxP3⁺ subpopulations in comparison to wild-type counterparts (DR3_{WT}), possibly promoting CD25⁺FoxP3⁺ cell expansion. As shown in Figure 4A, the ileum of DR3_{KO} mice featured diminished villous distortion, transmural inflammation, and lymphocyte infiltration in the tissue in comparison to controls, resulting in a substantial decrease in ileitis severity in the former group (2.2-fold, 5.1 ± 1.5 vs. 11.1 ± 2.1 , P = 0.0002, Figure 4B). The percentage of the area affected by cobblestones per cm of ileum was significantly reduced (2.8-fold) in DR3_{KO} compared with DR3_{WT} mice $(5.4 \pm 2.0 \text{ vs. } 15.4 \pm 2.6,$ P = 0.0009, Figures 4C,D). Interestingly, even though MLN and LP cells from DR3_{KO} mice presented lower distribution of FoxP3⁺ T_{regs} compared with those from DR3_{WT} mice (1.6-fold, 4.8 ± 1.5 vs. 7.8 ± 1.5 , P = 0.0065, Figure 4E; 1.6-fold, 3.0 ± 1.0 vs. 5.0 \pm 1.2, *P* = 0.0135, **Figure 4F**), these organs were enriched in CD25⁺FoxP3⁺ cells (twofold, 2.5 ± 0.4 vs. 1.3 ± 0.3 , P = 0.0009, **Figure 4G**; 1.8 ± 0.2 vs. 1.1 ± 0.3 , P = 0.0073, **Figure 4I**), at the expense of CD25⁻FoxP3⁺ cells (2.5-fold, 2.7 ± 1.3 vs. 6.7 ± 1.0 , P = 0.0002, Figure 4H; 1.6 \pm 0.7 vs. 4.0 \pm 1.2, P = 0.0015, Figure 4J). These findings indicate that genetic deletion of DR3 improves CD-like inflammation in a susceptible host, and it is associated with the contraction of CD25⁻FoxP3⁺ in favor of the expansion of CD25+FoxP3+ cells.

DR3 Signaling Correlates with Increased T-Helper Type-1 (T_H 1) and T-Helper Type-2 (T_H 2) Responses and Mitigates Antiinflammatory Processes during Chronic Ileitis

In an effort to investigate T-cell functions, we stimulated MLN cells with anti-CD3/CD28 Abs and measured protein levels secreted in cell supernatants. Lymphocytes from 4C12-treated SAMP mice produced higher levels of $T_{\rm H}1$ and $T_{\rm H}2$ cytokines compared with those from the IgG-treated group (respectively,



FIGURE 4 | DR3 deletion ameliorates ileitis severity and expands CD25⁺FoxP3⁺ cells in SAMP mice. (**A**) Representative photomicrographs of ileal sections of SAMP mice wild-type (DR3_{WT}) and lacking DR3 (DR3_{KO}). Scale bar is 50 μ m. (**B**) Total histologic score presented as median \pm interquartile range and analyzed by two-tailed unpaired *t*-test, *n* = 6. (**C**) Fixed postmortem ileal specimens collected from DR3_{WT} and DR3_{KO} mice (10-week-old, *n* = 6) and analyzed by stereomicroscopy to assess area of abnormal (i.e., cobblestone lesions) and normal mucosa. (**D**) Cobblestone area expressed as percentage of total specimen calculated in the ileum of DR3_{WT} and DR3_{KO} mice (10-week-old, *n* = 6). Data presented as median \pm interquartile range and analyzed by two-tailed unpaired *t*-test, *n* = 4. (**E**) Flow-cytometric analysis of mesenteric lymph node (MLN) and (**F**) lamina propria (LP) cells from DR3_{WT} and DR3_{KO} mice (10-week-old, *n* = 6) after staining with specific anti-CD4 and anti-FoxP3. Data presented as median \pm interquartile range and analyzed by two-tailed unpaired *t*-test, *n* = 6. (**G**,**H**) Flow-cytometric analysis of MLN and (**I**,**J**) LP cells from DR3_{WT} and DR3_{KO} mice (10-week-old, *n* = 6) after staining with specific anti-CD4 and anti-FoxP3. Data presented as median \pm interquartile range and analyzed by two-tailed unpaired *t*-test, *n* = 6. (**G**,**H**) Flow-cytometric analysis of MLN and (**I**,**J**) LP cells from DR3_{WT} and DR3_{KO} mice (10-week-old, *n* = 6) after staining with specific anti-CD25 and anti-FoxP3. Abs. Data presented as median \pm interquartile range and analyzed by two-tailed unpaired *t*-test.

IFN-γ, 2.5-fold increase with 1072.3 ± 179.5 vs. 435.1 ± 88.9, P < 0.0001, **Figure 5B**; IL-13, 1.9-fold increase with 16.1 ± 4.7 vs. 8.4 ± 1.2, P < 0.0001, **Figure 5C**). Additionally, TNF-α level was also increased upon DR3 stimulation (82.2 ± 46.2 vs. 307.0 ± 35.9, P = 0.0018, Figure S4 in Supplementary Material). In contrast, IL-10 secretion was found dramatically reduced (3.7-fold) in MLN cells from 4C12-treated SAMP mice compared with controls (82.2 ± 46.2 vs. 307.0 ± 35.9, P < 0.0001, **Figure 5A**). We observed higher secretion (1.3-fold) of IL-17A protein by MLN cells from SAMP mice compare to those from AKR, indicating that *de novo* T_H17 response is enhanced under these experimental conditions, independently of the treatment administered here (9.4 ± 1.5 vs. 7.0 ± 2.9, P = 0.0028, **Figure 5D**).

DR3 Deficiency is Associated with Increased Anti-inflammatory Response and Concomitant Ablation of T_H1 , T_H2 , and T_H17 Mediators in SAMP Mice

With the intent of assessing the contribution of DR3 to T-cell function, we stimulated MLN cells from DR3-deficient SAMP

(DR3_{KO}) mice with anti-CD3/CD28 Abs revealing a significant reduction of T_H1, T_H2, and T_H17 cytokines, including IFN- γ (2.5-fold increase, 1004.3 ± 374.8 vs. 394.5 ± 44.0, *P* = 0.0027, **Figure 6C**), IL-13 (6.7-fold increase, 24.3 ± 5.2 vs. 3.6 ± 4.5, *P* = 0.0010, **Figure 6B**), and IL-17A (1.5-fold increase, 7.7 ± 2.6 vs. 5.2 ± 1.1, *P* = 0.0821, **Figure 6D**), compared with those from wild-type counterparts (DR3_{WT}). In contrast, MLN cells from DR3_{KO} mice secreted higher IL-10 protein level than those from littermate controls (2.0-fold increase, 143.7 ± 41.1 vs. 71.0 ± 16.4, *P* = 0.0024, **Figure 6A**). Taken together, these results suggest that the activity of DR3 signaling is mainly pro-inflammatory in a susceptible host.

DR3 Signaling Expands Innate Lymphoid Cell Group 1 (ILC1s) and Reduces ILC3s during Chronic Ileitis

Several reports have recently shown that DR3 is expressed on ILCs, inferring a role of this protein in ILC functionality. Furthermore, a large amount of data obtained from both human and mouse studies indicate a role for these cells in IBD,







FIGURE 6 [Genetic deletion of DR3 enhances anti-inflammatory response and reduces T_{H1} , T_{H2} , and T_{H1} 7 cytokines in SAMP mice. Mesenteric lymph node cells from DR3_{WT} and DR3_{K0} mice (10-week-old, n = 6) were cultured in RPMI medium supplemented with anti-CD3/CD28 Abs. After 72 h, the secretion of indicated cytokines was quantified in cell supernatants [IL-10 (A), IL-13 (B), IFN- γ (C), IL-17A (D)]. Data presented as median ± interquartile range and analyzed by two-tailed unpaired *t*-test. Data are representative of three independent experiments.

considering that some ILC subsets have regulatory functions in the healthy intestine (8, 10, 11). Hence, we used flow cytometry to measure the distribution of ILC subsets in MLNs collected from 4C12- and IgG-treated SAMP mice. Treatment with 4C12 expanded ILC1s compared with controls (1.1-fold increase, 54.9 ± 3.7 vs. 49.2 ± 4.1 , P = 0.0468, Figure 7A). ILC3 frequency was found reduced (2.5-fold) in MLN cells from 4C12-treated mice compared with controls $(4.2 \pm 2.1 \text{ vs. } 10.5 \pm 2.0, P = 0.0012)$ Figure 7B). In contrast, the distribution of ILC2 subset was unaltered upon treatment (Figure S5A in Supplementary Material). Interestingly, the frequency of ILC3 cells expressing DR3 was significantly higher than that of ILC1s (p < 0.0012, Figure S5B in Supplementary Material), suggesting a higher dependency on DR3 signals of ILC3s compared with ILC1s. Hence, these data suggest that DR3 stimulation may promote the conversion of ILC3 into ILC1 cells in SAMP mice.

Considering that lack of DR3 ameliorates ileitis in SAMP mice, we anticipated a positive change in the frequency of ILC3s in DR3_{KO} mice. Remarkably, the distribution of all ILC subtypes in MLNs from DR3_{KO} mice was equal to that in the wild-type counterparts. To further investigate this result, we went on measuring the magnitude of ILC groups in our system. We found



FIGURE 7 | Upon death receptor 3 stimulation, increased innate lymphoid cell group 1 (ILC1) and decreased ILC3 frequencies are associated with intestinal inflammation. Flow-cytometric analysis of mesenteric lymph node cells from IgG- or 4C12-treated SAMP mice (10-week-old, n = 5) after staining with specific Abs for detection of ILC populations, including **(A)** T-bet+ ILC1s and **(B)** receptor-related orphan receptor- γ t (ROR- γ t⁺) ILC3s. Cell frequencies presented as median \pm interquartile range and analyzed by Mann–Whitney test. Data are representative of three independent experiments.

that the absolute cell number of ILCs, along with that of CD45⁺ and CD127⁺Lin⁻ cells, was significantly decreased in MLNs from DR3_{KO} compared with DR3_{WT} mice (Figure S6 in Supplementary Material). This outcome may be ascribed to the fact that DR3_{KO} mice harbor MLN organs of smaller size compared with DR3_{WT} mice (Cominelli *et al.*, unpublished data) and, therefore, they carry a lower number of cell without affecting immune cell frequency.

DISCUSSION

In the present study, we investigated the role of DR3 signaling in the modulation of the balance between regulatory and effector lymphocytes during chronic experimental ileitis. To this end, we exploited a well-characterized mouse model for CD, i.e., SAMP1/YitFc (SAMP), in which the main pathology is a spontaneous ileitis that is strikingly similar to human CD, with skip lesions, transmural inflammation, and scarring that can lead to stricture formation (47, 48). The current understanding is that, upon TL1A binding, DR3 triggers a signaling cascade that increases the sensitivity of T cells to endogenous IL-2 via the IL-2 receptor (IL-2R), and enhances T-cell proliferation at the site of inflammation (54). Consistently with patients who suffer from CD, high expression levels of DR3 found in SAMP mice during the chronic phase of the disease support the concept that the TL1A/DR3 system contributes to pathogenic inflammation in this model (5-7). In line with this finding, our recent studies demonstrated that DR3 deletion in SAMP mice restores the mucosal immunostat, normalizes intestinal inflammatory gene expression, and prevents the development of inflammationinduced intestinal fibrosis, thereby affecting the functions of effector lymphocytes and their capacity to adoptively transfer ileitis (Cominelli et al., unpublished data). To help unraveling the complexity of the TL1A/DR3 signaling pathway in the course of IBD, in the present study, we demonstrated that DR3

deletion ameliorates disease development by promoting antiinflammatory processes, which were associated with enrichment of CD25+FoxP3+ cells in SAMP mice. Taken together, these findings suggest that the DR3 is required on T cells for local effector T-cell expansion and effector responses in a susceptible host.

A recent innovative approach developed by Podack et al. provided proof of concept for a regulatory role of DR3 in an allergic disease model (26). With the administration of a single injection of a stimulating DR3 antibody (4C12) to immunocompetent mice, Podack et al. demonstrated its highly efficacy at reducing pathology when used prophylactically (26). Other research groups applied successfully this methodology reporting improved organ allograft survival after treatment, attributable to a systemic over-proliferation of pre-existing CD25⁺FoxP3⁺ cells in vivo (27, 28). Therefore, the knowledge that activation of DR3 signaling modulates Treg expansion in a healthy host leads to the appealing idea of using this mechanism as a potential therapeutic target in human inflammatory disease, such as CD. Promising findings recently gathered in CD patients treated with Tregs have reinvigorated the enthusiasm for this therapeutic approach (55-57). Therefore, we postulated the possibility of delaying inflammation or eradicating ileitis in SAMP mice by promoting T_{reg} proliferation prior to disease manifestation. This hypothesis was addressed in the current study through the administration of 4C12 to SAMP mice prior to disease initiation. Our results indicated that, in a susceptible host, DR3 stimulation increased the frequency of Foxp3⁺ T_{regs}; however, contrary to expectations, this phenomenon was associated with significant exacerbated ileitis.

When the contribution of CD25 to the Treg pool was investigated in SAMP mice, it became apparent that DR3 stimulation induced the reduction of CD25+FoxP3+ cells, in favor of CD25⁻FoxP3⁺ cells with increased $T_H 1/T_H 2$ responses. Although it is known that CD25-FoxP3+ cells contain some regulatory activity (58-60), there is a wide consensus on the fact that adequate suppression functions require expression of CD25 (61). This finding is in agreement with previous results from our laboratory, which identified the same CD25⁻FoxP3⁺ subtype in SAMP mice upon anti-CD25 Ab treatment as dysfunctional T_{regs} overrepresented during spontaneous ileitis, which acquired a T_H1/T_H2 effector phenotype (60). Studies in human systemic lupus erythematosus have confirmed these findings by reporting increased CD25⁻FoxP3⁺ cells with T_H1/T_H2 effector phenotype (62-65). Some evidence have demonstrated that T_{regs} may exert a milieu-dependent plasticity by readily switching to an effector phenotype in inflamed sites, accelerating inflammatory processes, thereby aggravating the underlying disease (66-68). Disease pathogenesis in SAMP mice is the result of a dual mechanism of inflammation consisting in an early inductive phase (4-7 weeks of age), driven by T_H1 responses, and a later chronic inflammatory phase (9-16 weeks of age), primarily mediated by T_H2 effector pathways (48). In this model, intestinal inflammation can be histologically assessed around 10 weeks of age, following CD-like lesions development (43, 47). Nonetheless, similar to human CD patients in preclinical phase, even though younger mice do not show histological features of disease, inflammatory processes have already initiated in the inductive phase (48). Hence, in the current work, administration of 4C12 to SAMP mice occurred in this phase, and not prophylactically. Earlier studies showed that 4C12 treatment during active disease aggravated the pathology (69), whereas the same antibody administered prophylactically to a healthy individual protected the host from future insults (26). Of note, the intense T_H1 responses typical of the inductive phase give rise to an inflammatory milieu (48), even before ileal tissue manifestations, that may support the dynamic conversion of regulatory cells into effector FoxP3⁺ cells, which accelerate disease development. Moreover, mice lacking functional peripheral-derived T_{regs} develop $T_{\text{H}}2$ pathologies in the intestine and lungs, and dysbiosis (70). Additionally, extensive immunophenotyping of CD25+FoxP3+ and CD25-FoxP3+ cells in unmanipulated mice revealed that the former expresses specific markers considered to be critical for T_{reg} immunoregulatory properties, that instead are missing in CD25-FoxP3+ cells (Tables S1 and S2 in Supplementary Material). For instance, the frequency of cells expressing markers correlated to T_{reg} suppressive activity and stability, such as Nrp-1 and Helios, was dramatically reduced in the CD25⁻FoxP3⁺ subset, suggesting that this is an unstable and non-regulatory population. Moreover, the expression of DR3 was increased on CD25+FoxP3+ cells, suggesting a higher dependency of this subset on DR3 signals. Therefore, considering collectively all these data, we propose that, upon inflammatory environmental cues, DR3 stimulation targets FoxP3+cells and converts regulatory cells to CD25-FoxP3+cells, which are dysfunctional lymphocytes that secrete effector mediators and accelerate disease manifestations in SAMP mice. Conversely, it cannot be excluded that the apparently opposite dynamics of CD25⁺FoxP3⁺ and CD25⁻FoxP3⁺ cells may not necessarily imply a conversion from the former to the latter. In fact, based on the evidence reported by some human and mouse studies, another hypothesis may be that CD25⁻FoxP3⁺ cells are indeed activated effector T cells, which transiently upregulate FoxP3, without exerting any regulatory activity (71, 72). Finally, we propose an alternative view consisting in the possibility that CD25⁻FoxP3⁺ cells may be T_{regs} which have transiently downregulated CD25 due to the local inflammatory milieu (59, 73). Hence, future work will be focused on dissecting the functional role of CD25+FoxP3+ and CD25-FoxP3+ cells in intestinal immunity-microbiota interactions, and in controlling adaptive immunity to restrain inflammation at mucosal surfaces. Additionally, considering the interesting approach suggested by Rouse group in collaboration with Podack, where 4C12 was combined with galectin-9, a protein able to selectively inhibit effector T-cell functions during chronic stromal keratitis (74), future experiments will investigate the efficacy of this combination therapy on the balance between regulatory and effector lymphocyte in our system.

Another novel finding described here is that DR3 stimulation in SAMP mice expanded ILC1s, which produce IFN- γ , at the expense of ILC3s. In agreement with our data, the frequency of the ILC1 subset was found elevated in inflamed intestine of CD patients, underlying a role for these cells in the pathogenesis of gut mucosal inflammation (32, 37, 38). Hence, the skewed

DR3 Signaling Mediates CD-Like lleitis

frequencies of ILCs in MLNs of 4C12-treated SAMP mice compared with controls could be explained by specific recruitment of cells to the periphery, according to environmental cues. Based on the remarkable plasticity of ILCs, a more intriguing explanation argues that ILC3s may switch to ILC1s in 4C12-treated SAMP mice. Data collected from human and mouse studies revealed that a fraction of ILC3s can downregulate ROR-yt, lose the ability to produce IL-22, and acquire the capacity to secrete IFN- γ in response to IL-12, diverting to an ILC1 phenotype (32, 75). Moreover, we showed in the current study that ILC3s from SAMP mice expressed higher levels of DR3, suggesting that this subset may be more sensitive and may represent a preferential target following DR3 manipulation. Of note, we previously demonstrated that TL1A synergizes with IL-12 to promote IFN-γ production by murine lymphocytes in SAMP mice (7). Therefore, we can infer that DR3 stimulation with 4C12 may generate a similar signaling cascade, resulting in this phenotype switch.

In conclusion, DR3 stimulation in SAMP mice aggravated the severity of ileitis possibly due to the expansion of dysfunctional CD25⁻FoxP3⁺ cells and ILC1s, both expressing an effector phenotype. The functional role of these cell subtypes during chronic inflammation needs to be further investigated in our mouse model to give better insights into the functional balance between protective and inflammatory lymphocytes. Altogether, our data suggest a model in which modulation of DR3 signaling in T_{regs} , T effectors and ILCs converge in a regulatory network that controls disease development and progression. Finally, dissecting the cellular mechanisms that govern lymphocyte functions following DR3 engagement and manipulating the resulting signaling cascade may provide a novel targeted therapy for CD.

ETHICS STATEMENT

All experimental procedures were approved by the Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee of CWRU and were in accordance with the Association for Assessment and Accreditation of Laboratory Animal Care guidelines.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

ZL and LB shared the first authorship. FC contributed to the design of the study. ZL, LB, ML, L-GJ, and JDW performed the experiments. LB and ZL analyzed the data. LB and ZL drafted the manuscript. K-AB conducted ILC isolation and immunophenotyping. FC, TP, and ML analyzed and interpreted the data. All authors approved the final version of the manuscript and agreed to be accountable to all aspects of this work.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We thank Mr. Joshua Webster for assistance with animal husbandry, and Drs. Paola Menghini and Luca Di Martino for technical support.

FUNDING

This work was supported by National Institutes of Health Grants DK042191, DK055812, and DK091222 to FC. ZL is a research-fellow supported by training grant T32DK083251. We also acknowledge the Mouse Models Core and the Histology/Imaging Core of the Cleveland Digestive Disease Research Core Center (DK097948).

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at http://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fimmu.2018.00362/ full#supplementary-material.

FIGURE S1 | DR3 stimulation does not affect the phenotype of AKR mice. Representative photomicrographs of ileal sections of AKR mice treated with control IgG isotype or with 4C12s. Scale bar is 50 μ m. Data are representative of three independent experiments.

FIGURE S2 | Gating strategy for detection of regulatory T-cell subsets by flow cytometry. After duplet exclusion and identification of CD4⁺ lymphocytes within mesenteric lymph node cells, T cells were further separated based on the cell surface markers CD25 and the intracellular protein FoxP3.

FIGURE S3 | Gating strategy for detection of innate lymphoid cell (ILC) populations by flow cytometry. Gating strategy exploited to identify ILC subsets in mesenteric lymph node cells, including ILC1 (CD45⁺Lineage⁻CD127⁺Gata-3⁻ROR-γt⁻), ILC2 (CD45⁺Lineage⁻CD127⁺Gata-3⁺ROR-γt), and ILC3 (CD45⁺Lineage⁻CD127⁺Gata-3⁻ROR-γt⁺).

FIGURE S4 | DR3 stimulation triggers TNF- α response in SAMP mice. Mesenteric lymph node cells were collected from IgG- and 4C12-treated SAMP or AKR mice, and stimulated with anti-CD3/CD28 antibodies for 72 h. TNF- α level was quantified in cell supernatants by ELISA. Data presented as median \pm interquartile range and analyzed by two-way ANOVA, with Bonferroni's *post hoc* test. Data are representative of three independent experiments.

FIGURE S5 | DR3 stimulation does not alter innate lymphoid cell group 2 (ILC2s) in SAMP mice. (A) Flow-cytometric analysis of mesenteric lymph node (MLN) cells from IgG- or 4C12-treated SAMP mice (10-week-old, n = 5) after staining with specific Abs for detection of gata-3⁺ ILC2s. Cell frequency presented as median ± interquartile range and analyzed by Mann–Whitney test. (B) Frequency of DR3-expressing ILCs in MLN cells from SAMP mice (10-week-old, n = 5). Data presented as median ± interquartile range and analyzed by two-way ANOVA, with Bonferroni's *post hoc* test. Data are representative of three independent experiments.

FIGURE S6 | DR3 deficiency is associated with constitutive reduced innate lymphoid cell (ILC) number. Flow-cytometric analysis of mesenteric lymph node cell DR3_{WT} and DR3_{KO} mice (10-week-old, n = 6) after staining with specific Abs for detection of ILC populations, including T-bet⁺ ILC1, gata-3⁺ ILC2, and ROR- γ t⁺ ILC3. **(A,C,E,G)** Cell frequencies and **(B,D,F,H)** absolute cell numbers presented as median ± interquartile range and analyzed by two-tailed unpaired *t*-test. Data are representative of three independent experiments.

TABLE S1 | Characterization of CD25+/-FoxP3+ cell subsets throughselected markers in MLNs of unmanipulated AKR, SAMP and DR3KO mice.The results are expressed as the mean percentage \pm one SD, and analyzedby 1-way ANOVA with Bonferroni post-hoc test. The number of samples isindicated in parentheses.

REFERENCES

- Butto LF, Schaubeck M, Haller D. Mechanisms of microbe-host interaction in Crohn's disease: dysbiosis vs. pathobiont selection. *Front Immunol* (2015) 6:555. doi:10.3389/fimmu.2015.00555
- Bernstein CN. Treatment of IBD: where we are and where we are going. *Am J Gastroenterol* (2015) 110:114–26. doi:10.1038/ajg.2014.357
- Lewis RT, Maron DJ. Efficacy and complications of surgery for Crohn's disease. Gastroenterol Hepatol (2010) 6(9):587–96.
- Migone TS, Zhang J, Luo X, Zhuang L, Chen C, Hu B, et al. TL1A is a TNFlike ligand for DR3 and TR6/DcR3 and functions as a T cell costimulator. *Immunity* (2002) 16:479–92. doi:10.1016/S1074-7613(02)00283-2
- Bamias G, Martin C III, Marini M, Hoang S, Mishina M, Ross WG, et al. Expression, localization, and functional activity of TL1A, a novel Th1-polarizing cytokine in inflammatory bowel disease. *J Immunol* (2003) 171:4868–74. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.171.9.4868
- Prehn JL, Mehdizadeh S, Landers CJ, Luo X, Cha SC, Wei P, et al. Potential role for TL1A, the new TNF-family member and potent costimulator of IFN-gamma, in mucosal inflammation. *Clin Immunol* (2004) 112:66–77. doi:10.1016/j.clim.2004.02.007
- Bamias G, Mishina M, Nyce M, Ross WG, Kollias G, Rivera-Nieves J, et al. Role of TL1A and its receptor DR3 in two models of chronic murine ileitis. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2006) 103:8441–6. doi:10.1073/pnas. 0510903103
- Kim MY, Toellner KM, White A, Mcconnell FM, Gaspal FM, Parnell SM, et al. Neonatal and adult CD4+ CD3- cells share similar gene expression profile, and neonatal cells up-regulate OX40 ligand in response to TL1A (TNFSF15). *J Immunol* (2006) 177:3074–81. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.177.5.3074
- Prehn JL, Thomas LS, Landers CJ, Yu QT, Michelsen KS, Targan SR. The T cell costimulator TL1A is induced by FcgammaR signaling in human monocytes and dendritic cells. *J Immunol* (2007) 178:4033–8. doi:10.4049/ jimmunol.178.7.4033
- Meylan F, Hawley ET, Barron L, Barlow JL, Penumetcha P, Pelletier M, et al. The TNF-family cytokine TL1A promotes allergic immunopathology through group 2 innate lymphoid cells. *Mucosal Immunol* (2014) 7:958–68. doi:10.1038/mi.2013.114
- Yu X, Pappu R, Ramirez-Carrozzi V, Ota N, Caplazi P, Zhang J, et al. TNF superfamily member TL1A elicits type 2 innate lymphoid cells at mucosal barriers. *Mucosal Immunol* (2014) 7:730–40. doi:10.1038/mi.2013.92
- Richard AC, Ferdinand JR, Meylan F, Hayes ET, Gabay O, Siegel RM. The TNF-family cytokine TL1A: from lymphocyte costimulator to disease coconspirator. J Leukoc Biol (2015) 98:333–45. doi:10.1189/jlb.3RI0315-095R
- Siakavellas SI, Sfikakis PP, Bamias G. The TL1A/DR3/DcR3 pathway in autoimmune rheumatic diseases. *Semin Arthritis Rheum* (2015) 45:1–8. doi:10.1016/j.semarthrit.2015.02.007
- Ma Z, Wang B, Wang M, Sun X, Tang Y, Li M, et al. TL1A increased IL-6 production on fibroblast-like synoviocytes by preferentially activating TNF receptor 2 in rheumatoid arthritis. *Cytokine* (2016) 83:92–8. doi:10.1016/j. cyto.2016.04.005
- Croft M, Siegel RM. Beyond TNF: TNF superfamily cytokines as targets for the treatment of rheumatic diseases. *Nat Rev Rheumatol* (2017) 13:217–33. doi:10.1038/nrrheum.2017.22
- Zhang ZH, Chen QZ, Jiang F, Townsend TA, Mao CJ, You CY, et al. Changes in TL1A levels and associated cytokines during pathogenesis of diabetic retinopathy. *Mol Med Rep* (2017) 15:573–80. doi:10.3892/mmr.2016.6048
- Facco M, Cabrelle A, Calabrese F, Teramo A, Cinetto F, Carraro S, et al. TL1A/DR3 axis involvement in the inflammatory cytokine network during pulmonary sarcoidosis. *Clin Mol Allergy* (2015) 13:16. doi:10.1186/ s12948-015-0022-z
- Richard AC, Tan C, Hawley ET, Gomez-Rodriguez J, Goswami R, Yang XP, et al. The TNF-family ligand TL1A and its receptor DR3 promote T cellmediated allergic immunopathology by enhancing differentiation and pathogenicity of IL-9-producing T cells. *J Immunol* (2015) 194:3567–82. doi:10.4049/ jimmunol.1401220
- Siakavellas SI, Bamias G. Tumor necrosis factor-like cytokine TL1A and its receptors DR3 and DcR3: important new factors in mucosal homeostasis and inflammation. *Inflamm Bowel Dis* (2015) 21:2441–52. doi:10.1097/ MIB.000000000000492

- Yamazaki K, Mcgovern D, Ragoussis J, Paolucci M, Butler H, Jewell D, et al. Single nucleotide polymorphisms in TNFSF15 confer susceptibility to Crohn's disease. *Hum Mol Genet* (2005) 14:3499–506. doi:10.1093/hmg/ddi379
- Barrett JC, Hansoul S, Nicolae DL, Cho JH, Duerr RH, Rioux JD, et al. Genome-wide association defines more than 30 distinct susceptibility loci for Crohn's disease. *Nat Genet* (2008) 40:955–62. doi:10.1038/ng.175
- Tremelling M, Berzuini C, Massey D, Bredin F, Price C, Dawson C, et al. Contribution of TNFSF15 gene variants to Crohn's disease susceptibility confirmed in UK population. *Inflamm Bowel Dis* (2008) 14:733–7. doi:10.1002/ ibd.20399
- Yang SK, Lim J, Chang HS, Lee I, Li Y, Liu J, et al. Association of TNFSF15 with Crohn's disease in Koreans. *Am J Gastroenterol* (2008) 103:1437–42. doi:10.1111/j.1572-0241.2007.01752.x
- Kepiro L, Szell M, Kovacs L, Keszthelyi P, Kemeny L, Gyulai R. Genetic risk and protective factors of TNFSF15 gene variants detected using single nucleotide polymorphisms in Hungarians with psoriasis and psoriatic arthritis. *Hum Immunol* (2014) 75:159–62. doi:10.1016/j.humimm.2013.11.006
- Jia LG, Bamias G, Arseneau KO, Burkly LC, Wang EC, Gruszka D, et al. A novel role for TL1A/DR3 in protection against intestinal injury and infection. J Immunol (2016) 197:377–86. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1502466
- Schreiber TH, Wolf D, Tsai MS, Chirinos J, Deyev VV, Gonzalez L, et al. Therapeutic Treg expansion in mice by TNFRSF25 prevents allergic lung inflammation. J Clin Invest (2010) 120:3629–40. doi:10.1172/JCI42933
- Wolf D, Schreiber TH, Tryphonopoulos P, Li S, Tzakis AG, Ruiz P, et al. Tregs expanded in vivo by TNFRSF25 agonists promote cardiac allograft survival. *Transplantation* (2012) 94:569–74. doi:10.1097/TP.0b013e318264d3ef
- Kim BS, Nishikii H, Baker J, Pierini A, Schneidawind D, Pan Y, et al. Treatment with agonistic DR3 antibody results in expansion of donor Tregs and reduced graft-versus-host disease. *Blood* (2015) 126:546–57. doi:10.1182/ blood-2015-04-637587
- Wang S, Xia P, Chen Y, Qu Y, Xiong Z, Ye B, et al. Regulatory innate lymphoid cells control innate intestinal inflammation. *Cell* (2017) 171:201–16.e218. doi:10.1016/j.cell.2017.07.027
- Artis D, Spits H. The biology of innate lymphoid cells. Nature (2015) 517:293–301. doi:10.1038/nature14189
- Takayama T, Kamada N, Chinen H, Okamoto S, Kitazume MT, Chang J, et al. Imbalance of NKp44(+)NKp46(-) and NKp44(-)NKp46(+) natural killer cells in the intestinal mucosa of patients with Crohn's disease. *Gastroenterology* (2010) 139:882–92, 892.e881–3. doi:10.1053/j.gastro.2010.05.040
- Bernink JH, Peters CP, Munneke M, Te Velde AA, Meijer SL, Weijer K, et al. Human type 1 innate lymphoid cells accumulate in inflamed mucosal tissues. *Nat Immunol* (2013) 14:221–9. doi:10.1038/ni.2534
- Fuchs A, Vermi W, Lee JS, Lonardi S, Gilfillan S, Newberry RD, et al. Intraepithelial type 1 innate lymphoid cells are a unique subset of IL-12- and IL-15-responsive IFN-gamma-producing cells. *Immunity* (2013) 38:769–81. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2013.02.010
- Barlow JL, Bellosi A, Hardman CS, Drynan LF, Wong SH, Cruickshank JP, et al. Innate IL-13-producing nuocytes arise during allergic lung inflammation and contribute to airways hyperreactivity. *J Allergy Clin Immunol* (2012) 129:191–8.e191–4. doi:10.1016/j.jaci.2011.09.041
- Hoyler T, Klose CS, Souabni A, Turqueti-Neves A, Pfeifer D, Rawlins EL, et al. The transcription factor GATA-3 controls cell fate and maintenance of type 2 innate lymphoid cells. *Immunity* (2012) 37:634–48. doi:10.1016/j. immuni.2012.06.020
- Kim HY, Chang YJ, Subramanian S, Lee HH, Albacker LA, Matangkasombut P, et al. Innate lymphoid cells responding to IL-33 mediate airway hyperreactivity independently of adaptive immunity. *J Allergy Clin Immunol* (2012) 129:216–27.e211–6. doi:10.1016/j.jaci.2011.10.036
- Buonocore S, Ahern PP, Uhlig HH, Ivanov II, Littman DR, Maloy KJ, et al. Innate lymphoid cells drive interleukin-23-dependent innate intestinal pathology. *Nature* (2010) 464:1371–5. doi:10.1038/nature08949
- Geremia A, Arancibia-Carcamo CV,Fleming MP, Rust N, Singh B, Mortensen NJ, et al. IL-23-responsive innate lymphoid cells are increased in inflammatory bowel disease. J Exp Med (2011) 208:1127–33. doi:10.1084/ jem.20101712
- Sonnenberg GF, Monticelli LA, Elloso MM, Fouser LA, Artis D. CD4(+) lymphoid tissue-inducer cells promote innate immunity in the gut. *Immunity* (2011) 34:122–34. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2010.12.009

- Hanash AM, Dudakov JA, Hua G, O'Connor MH, Young LF, Singer NV, et al. Interleukin-22 protects intestinal stem cells from immune-mediated tissue damage and regulates sensitivity to graft versus host disease. *Immunity* (2012) 37:339–50. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2012.05.028
- Aparicio-Domingo P, Romera-Hernandez M, Karrich JJ, Cornelissen F, Papazian N, Lindenbergh-Kortleve DJ, et al. Type 3 innate lymphoid cells maintain intestinal epithelial stem cells after tissue damage. J Exp Med (2015) 212:1783–91. doi:10.1084/jem.20150318
- Burns RC, Rivera-Nieves J, Moskaluk CA, Matsumoto S, Cominelli F, Ley K. Antibody blockade of ICAM-1 and VCAM-1 ameliorates inflammation in the SAMP-1/Yit adoptive transfer model of Crohn's disease in mice. *Gastroenterology* (2001) 121:1428–36. doi:10.1053/gast.2001.29568
- Rodriguez-Palacios A, Kodani T, Kaydo L, Pietropaoli D, Corridoni D, Howell S, et al. Stereomicroscopic 3D-pattern profiling of murine and human intestinal inflammation reveals unique structural phenotypes. *Nat Commun* (2015) 6:7577. doi:10.1038/ncomms8577
- Livak KJ, Schmittgen TD. Analysis of relative gene expression data using real-time quantitative PCR and the 2(-delta delta C(T)) method. *Methods* (2001) 25:402–8. doi:10.1006/meth.2001.1262
- Mackley EC, Houston S, Marriott CL, Halford EE, Lucas B, Cerovic V, et al. CCR7-dependent trafficking of RORgamma(+) ILCs creates a unique microenvironment within mucosal draining lymph nodes. *Nat Commun* (2015) 6:5862. doi:10.1038/ncomms6862
- Kosiewicz MM, Nast CC, Krishnan A, Rivera-Nieves J, Moskaluk CA, Matsumoto S, et al. Th1-type responses mediate spontaneous ileitis in a novel murine model of Crohn's disease. *J Clin Invest* (2001) 107:695–702. doi:10.1172/JCI10956
- Rivera-Nieves J, Bamias G, Vidrich A, Marini M, Pizarro TT, Mcduffie MJ, et al. Emergence of perianal fistulizing disease in the SAMP1/YitFc mouse, a spontaneous model of chronic ileitis. *Gastroenterology* (2003) 124:972–82. doi:10.1053/gast.2003.50148
- Pizarro TT, Pastorelli L, Bamias G, Garg RR, Reuter BK, Mercado JR, et al. SAMP1/YitFc mouse strain: a spontaneous model of Crohn's disease-like ileitis. *Inflamm Bowel Dis* (2011) 17:2566–84. doi:10.1002/ibd.21638
- Pappu BP, Borodovsky A, Zheng TS, Yang X, Wu P, Dong X, et al. TL1A-DR3 interaction regulates Th17 cell function and Th17-mediated autoimmune disease. J Exp Med (2008) 205:1049–62. doi:10.1084/jem.20071364
- Jones GW, Stumhofer JS, Foster T, Twohig JP, Hertzog P, Topley N, et al. Naive and activated T cells display differential responsiveness to TL1A that affects Th17 generation, maintenance, and proliferation. *FASEB J* (2011) 25:409–19. doi:10.1096/fj.10-166843
- Omenetti S, Pizarro TT. The Treg/Th17 axis: a dynamic balance regulated by the gut microbiome. *Front Immunol* (2015) 6:639. doi:10.3389/fimmu. 2015.00639
- Abbas AK, Benoist C, Bluestone JA, Campbell DJ, Ghosh S, Hori S, et al. Regulatory T cells: recommendations to simplify the nomenclature. *Nat Immunol* (2013) 14:307–8. doi:10.1038/ni.2554
- 53. Nelson BH. IL-2, regulatory T cells, and tolerance. *J Immunol* (2004) 172:3983–8. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.172.7.3983
- Meylan F, Davidson TS, Kahle E, Kinder M, Acharya K, Jankovic D, et al. The TNF-family receptor DR3 is essential for diverse T cell-mediated inflammatory diseases. *Immunity* (2008) 29:79–89. doi:10.1016/j.immuni. 2008.04.021
- Desreumaux P, Foussat A, Allez M, Beaugerie L, Hebuterne X, Bouhnik Y, et al. Safety and efficacy of antigen-specific regulatory T-cell therapy for patients with refractory Crohn's disease. *Gastroenterology* (2012) 143:1207–17. e1201–2. doi:10.1053/j.gastro.2012.07.116
- Canavan JB, Scotta C, Vossenkamper A, Goldberg R, Elder MJ, Shoval I, et al. Developing in vitro expanded CD45RA+ regulatory T cells as an adoptive cell therapy for Crohn's disease. *Gut* (2016) 65:584–94. doi:10.1136/ gutjnl-2014-306919
- Lopez-Garcia A, Rovira M, Jauregui-Amezaga A, Marin P, Barastegui R, Salas A, et al. Autologous haematopoietic stem cell transplantation for refractory Crohn's disease: efficacy in a single-centre cohort. *J Crohns Colitis* (2017) 11:1161–8. doi:10.1093/ecco-jcc/jjx054
- Annacker O, Pimenta-Araujo R, Burlen-Defranoux O, Barbosa TC, Cumano A, Bandeira A. CD25+ CD4+ T cells regulate the expansion of peripheral CD4 T cells through the production of IL-10. *J Immunol* (2001) 166:3008–18. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.166.5.3008

- Coleman MM, Finlay CM, Moran B, Keane J, Dunne PJ, Mills KH. The immunoregulatory role of CD4(+) FoxP3(+) CD25(-) regulatory T cells in lungs of mice infected with *Bordetella pertussis*. *FEMS Immunol Med Microbiol* (2012) 64:413–24. doi:10.1111/j.1574-695X.2011.00927.x
- Ishikawa D, Okazawa A, Corridoni D, Jia LG, Wang XM, Guanzon M, et al. Tregs are dysfunctional in vivo in a spontaneous murine model of Crohn's disease. *Mucosal Immunol* (2013) 6:267–75. doi:10.1038/mi.2012.67
- Furtado GC, Curotto De Lafaille MA, Kutchukhidze N, Lafaille JJ. Interleukin 2 signaling is required for CD4(+) regulatory T cell function. *J Exp Med* (2002) 196:851–7. doi:10.1084/jem.20020190
- Zhang B, Zhang X, Tang FL, Zhu LP, Liu Y, Lipsky PE. Clinical significance of increased CD4+CD25-Foxp3+ T cells in patients with new-onset systemic lupus erythematosus. *Ann Rheum Dis* (2008) 67:1037–40. doi:10.1136/ ard.2007.083543
- Bonelli M, Savitskaya A, Steiner CW, Rath E, Smolen JS, Scheinecker C. Phenotypic and functional analysis of CD4+ CD25- Foxp3+ T cells in patients with systemic lupus erythematosus. *J Immunol* (2009) 182:1689–95. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.182.3.1689
- Yang HX, Zhang W, Zhao LD, Li Y, Zhang FC, Tang FL, et al. Are CD4+CD25-Foxp3+ cells in untreated new-onset lupus patients regulatory T cells? *Arthritis Res Ther* (2009) 11:R153. doi:10.1186/ar2829
- Horwitz DA. Identity of mysterious CD4+CD25-Foxp3+ cells in SLE. Arthritis Res Ther (2010) 12:101. doi:10.1186/ar2894
- Wan YY, Flavell RA. Regulatory T-cell functions are subverted and converted owing to attenuated Foxp3 expression. *Nature* (2007) 445:766–70. doi:10.1038/ nature05479
- Feuerer M, Hill JA, Mathis D, Benoist C. Foxp3+ regulatory T cells: differentiation, specification, subphenotypes. *Nat Immunol* (2009) 10:689–95. doi:10.1038/ni.1760
- Lu L, Wang J, Zhang F, Chai Y, Brand D, Wang X, et al. Role of SMAD and non-SMAD signals in the development of Th17 and regulatory T cells. *J Immunol* (2010) 184:4295–306. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.0903418
- Fang L, Adkins B, Deyev V, Podack ER. Essential role of TNF receptor superfamily 25 (TNFRSF25) in the development of allergic lung inflammation. *J Exp Med* (2008) 205:1037–48. doi:10.1084/jem.20072528
- Josefowicz SZ, Niec RE, Kim HY, Treuting P, Chinen T, Zheng Y, et al. Extrathymically generated regulatory T cells control mucosal TH2 inflammation. *Nature* (2012) 482:395–9. doi:10.1038/nature10772
- Liu W, Putnam AL, Xu-Yu Z, Szot GL, Lee MR, Zhu S, et al. CD127 expression inversely correlates with FoxP3 and suppressive function of human CD4+ T reg cells. J Exp Med (2006) 203:1701–11. doi:10.1084/jem.20060772
- Miyao T, Floess S, Setoguchi R, Luche H, Fehling HJ, Waldmann H, et al. Plasticity of Foxp3(+) T cells reflects promiscuous Foxp3 expression in conventional T cells but not reprogramming of regulatory T cells. *Immunity* (2012) 36:262–75. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2011.12.012
- Komatsu N, Okamoto K, Sawa S, Nakashima T, Oh-Hora M, Kodama T, et al. Pathogenic conversion of Foxp3+ T cells into TH17 cells in autoimmune arthritis. *Nat Med* (2014) 20:62–8. doi:10.1038/nm.3432
- 74. Reddy PBJ, Schreiber TH, Rajasagi NK, Suryawanshi A, Mulik S, Veiga-Parga T, et al. TNFRSF25 agonistic antibody and galectin-9 combination therapy controls herpes simplex virus-induced immunoinflammatory lesions. J Virol (2012) 86:10606–20. doi:10.1128/JVI.01391-12
- Vonarbourg C, Mortha A, Bui VL, Hernandez PP, Kiss EA, Hoyler T, et al. Regulated expression of nuclear receptor RORgammat confers distinct functional fates to NK cell receptor-expressing RORgammat(+) innate lymphocytes. *Immunity* (2010) 33:736–51. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2010.10.017

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2018 Li, Buttó, Buela, Jia, Lam, Ward, Pizarro and Cominelli. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Targeting Inflammatory T Helper Cells *via* Retinoic Acid-Related Orphan Receptor Gamma t Is Ineffective to Prevent Allo-Response-Driven Colitis

Vera Buchele¹, Benjamin Abendroth¹, Maike Büttner-Herold², Tina Vogler¹, Johanna Rothamer^{3,4}, Sakhila Ghimire⁵, Evelyn Ullrich^{3,4}, Ernst Holler⁵, Markus F. Neurath¹ and Kai Hildner^{1*}

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Fabio Cominelli, Case Western Reserve University, United States

Reviewed by:

Oberdan Leo, Free University of Brussels, Belgium Silvia Piconese, Sapienza Università di Roma, Italy

***Correspondence:** Kai Hildner Kai.Hildner@uk-erlangen.de

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Cytokines and Soluble Mediators in Immunity, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology

Received: 01 March 2018 Accepted: 07 May 2018 Published: 25 May 2018

Citation:

Buchele V, Abendroth B, Büttner-Herold M, Vogler T, Rothamer J, Ghimire S, Ullrich E, Holler E, Neurath MF and Hildner K (2018) Targeting Inflammatory T Helper Cells via Retinoic Acid-Related Orphan Receptor Gamma t Is Ineffective to Prevent Allo-Response-Driven Colitis. Front. Immunol. 9:1138. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2018.01138 ¹ Department of Medicine 1, University Hospital Erlangen, University of Erlangen-Nuremberg, Kussmaul Campus for Medical Research, Erlangen, Germany, ² Department of Nephropathology, Institute of Pathology, University Hospital Erlangen, Erlangen, Germany, ³ Department of Medicine 5, University Hospital Erlangen, University of Erlangen-Nuremberg, Erlangen, Germany, ⁴ Department of Pediatric Stem Cell Transplantation and Immunology, Childrens Hospital, Johann Wolfgang Goethe University, Frankfurt, Germany, ⁵ Department of Hematology and Oncology, Regensburg University Hospital, Regensburg, Germany

Intestinal graft-versus-host disease (GvHD) is a life-threatening, inflammatory donor T cell-mediated complication of allogeneic hematopoietic stem cell transplantation (allo-HSCT). In the light of the reported efficacy of interleukin-23 (IL-23)-blockade to mitigate syngeneic intestinal inflammation in inflammatory bowel disease patients, targeting IL-23 and thereby interleukin-17a (IL-17a) producing T helper (Th17) cells as the T cell subset assumed to be mostly regulated by IL-23, has emerged as a putatively general concept to harness immune-mediated mucosal inflammation irrespective of the underlying trigger. However, the role of Th17 cells during allo-response driven colitis remains ambiguous due to a series of studies with inconclusive results. Interestingly, we recently identified granulocyte-macrophage colony-stimulating factor (GM-CSF⁺) T cells to be promoted by interleukin-7 (IL-7) signaling and controlled by the activating protein-1 transcription factor family member basic leucine zipper transcription factor ATF-like (BATF) as critical mediators of intestinal GvHD in mice. Given the dual role of BATF, the contribution of IL-23-mediated signaling within donor T cells and bona fide Th17 cells remains to be delineated from the regulation of GM-CSF⁺ T cells in the absence of BATF. Here, we found in a complete MHC class I-mismatched model that genetic inactivation of the IL-23 receptor (IL-23R) or the transcription factor retinoic acid-related orphan receptor gamma t (RORyt) within donor T cells similarly ablated Th17 cell formation in vivo but preserved the T cells' ability to induce intestinal GvHD in a compared to wild-type controls indistinguishable manner. Importantly, RORyt-independent manifestation of intestinal GvHD was completely dependent on BATF-regulated GM-CSF⁺ T cells as BATF/RORyt double-deficient T cells failed to induce colitis and the antibody-mediated blockage of IL-7/IL-7R interaction and GM-CSF significantly diminished signs of intestinal GvHD elicited by RORyt-deficient donor T cells. Finally, in analogy to our murine studies, colonic *RORC* expression levels inversely correlated with the presence of GvHD in allo-HSCT patients. Together, this study provides a crucial example of a BATF-dependent, however, IL-23R signaling- and RORγt-, i.e., Th17 fate-independent regulation of a colitogenic T cell population critically impacting the current understanding of intestinal GvHD.

Keywords: retinoic acid-related orphan receptor gamma t, interleukin-23 receptor, T helper 17 cells, granulocytemacrophage colony-stimulating factor, basic leucine zipper transcription factor ATF-like, intestinal graft-versushost disease, colitis

INTRODUCTION

Despite exerting crucial barrier-protective functions under homeostatic conditions, interleukin-17a (IL-17a) producing T helper (Th17) cells are the most-abundant subpopulation within intestinal inflammatory lesions found in patients with inflammatory bowel diseases (IBDs) and acute manifestation of gastrointestinal graft-versus-host disease (GvHD) after allogeneic hematopoietic stem cell transplantation (allo-HSCT) (1, 2). Hence, targeting Th17 cells appears to represent a master-switch to turn off unwanted inflammation in the gut (3-6). Indeed, we and others have previously demonstrated that T cells with a genetic inactivation of Th17 cell regulating transcription factors retinoic acid-related orphan receptor gamma t (RORyt), interferon regulatory factor-4, signal transducer and activator of transcription 3 (STAT3), or basic leucine zipper transcription factor ATF-like (BATF) uniformly failed to induce colitis in a series of syngeneic murine IBD models supporting the concept that harnessing unleashed intestinal inflammation can be achieved by targeting Th17 cell biology (7-11). In line within this assumption, genetic inactivation or blockage of interleukin-23 (IL-23) knowingly absolutely required for the occurrence of Th17 cells in vivo were shown to mitigate colitis in preclinical model systems and be effective in treating IBD (5, 12, 13). Overall, these data suggest that IL-23-driven T-cell responses are critically contributing to the manifestation of intestinal inflammation both in murine syngeneic colitis models and in human IBD and hence Th17centered concepts are highly promising to provide progress for the therapy of IBD in the future.

However, in particular in respect to intestinal GvHD following allo-HSCT, the issue of the selective pathogenic contribution of bona fide Th17 cells to the manifestation of mucosal inflammation has continued to remain essentially unresolved in the light of a series of reports with inconclusive and in part diametrically opposed outcomes resulting in various interpretations of its role by the scientific community (14–16). Interestingly, we recently described that donor T cells lacking the expression of the Th17 lineage regulating transcription factor BATF indeed conferred protection against GvHD-associated colitis both in a major and minor histocompatibility mismatched model of allo-HSCT in mice (17). Importantly, besides the known role in Th17 cell differentiation (18), we found the development of interleukin-7 receptor (IL-7R)-responsive, granulocyte-macrophage colony-stimulating factor (GM-CSF) expressing donor T cells, also termed ThGM cells (19-21), to be hampered in the absence of BATF in these model systems. More importantly, selective blockade of IL-7Rhi GM-CSF⁺ T cells alone largely recapitulated the protection that

we observed upon the transplantation of BATF-deficient donor lymphocytes (17). Given the dual role of BATF in regulating both Th17 cells and GM-CSF+ T cells, these data urged us to further study a number of issues raised by these findings with the goal to ultimately disclose the functional relevance of Th17 cells compared to GM-CSF-expressing T cells in gastrointestinal GvHD. In the light of the notion provided by recent studies showing in experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis, a murine model of multiple sclerosis, that GM-CSF-expressing T cells are driven by IL-23, express the master regulator of Th17 development RORyt and hence putatively represent a Th17 cell subset (22, 23), our current study was intended to characterize (1) the developmental relationship between Th17 and GM-CSF+ T cells based on the dependency on upstream and transcriptional signals and (2) the subset-specific, functional contribution to the manifestation of acute GvHD-associated colitis in vivo.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Mice

Female BALB/cJRj, and C57Bl/6 mice were purchased from Janvier Labs, and congenic CD45.1/Ly5.1 B6.SJL-PtrprcaPepcb/ BoyCrl mice were purchased from Charles River Laboratories. 129S-*Batf*^{tm1.1Kmm}/J (termed *Batf*^{-/-} mice) and B6.129P2(Cg)-*Rorc*^{tm2Litt}/J (termed *Rorc*^{-/-} mice) were purchased from the Jackson Laboratory and intercrossed to generate *Rorc*^{-/-} *Batf*^{-/-} mice. *Il23r*^{-/-} mice [B6NTac;B6N-A<tm1Brd> Il23r<tm2a (EUCOMM)Wtsi/Wtsi] were provided by the Trust Sanger Institute Mouse Genetics Project (Sanger MGP) (24). Mice were maintained under specific pathogen-free conditions. Mice older than 7 weeks were used. This study was carried out in accordance with the recommendations of the government of Mittelfranken in Bavaria, Germany. The protocol was approved by the government of Mittelfranken in Bavaria, Germany.

Allogeneic Bone Marrow (BM) Transplantation and GvHD Scoring

Graft-versus-host disease was induced and scored as described before (17). Briefly, 10- to 12-week-old female H-2d⁺ Balb/c recipient mice received a single dose of 8 Gy X-ray *via* total body irradiation (day 0). At day 1 after irradiation, BM cells of allogeneic CD45.1/Ly5.1 B6.SJL-*Ptprc^a Pepc^b*/BoyCrl mice were isolated and T cells of the BM were depleted by magnetic bead separation using anti-CD90.2 microbeads (Miltenyi Biotec) according to the manufacturer's instructions routinely resulting in a depletion of more than 98% of the pre-existing T cell fraction as confirmed by flow cytometry. Then, 5×10^6 T cell depleted BM cells were i.v. injected into recipient mice. At day 2 after irradiation, mice received i.v. 0.7×10^6 allo-reactive CD3⁺ T cells that were isolated from total splenocytes of C57Bl/6 wild type (termed WT mice), *Rorc^{-/-}*, *Il23r^{-/-}* and *Rorc^{-/-} Batf^{-/-}* mice, respectively, by magnetic separation using the Mouse Pan T cell isolation kit II (Miltenyi Biotec) according to the manufacturer's instructions. Mice were assessed 3×/week for the presence of clinical GvHD symptoms. Indicated GvHD-associated symptoms (body weight, posture, activity, skin and fur texture, and stool consistency) were individually scored from 0 (no manifestation) to 2 (severe manifestation) and the sum of all individual scores per mouse added up to the clinical GvHD score.

Mouse Colonoscopy

Macroscopic mucosal inflammation was assessed by colonoscopy using an image 1TM S3 mini-endoscope (Karl Storz) as previously described (25). Therefore, mice were anesthetized by inhalation and inflammation of the colon was estimated using a modified murine endoscopic index of colitis severity based on the following parameters: thickening of the colon bowel wall, changes of the vascularity, granularity of the mucosal surface, and stool consistency. Every parameter was scored from 0 for no colitis to 3 for massive inflammation adding up to a maximum score of 12 as previously described (26).

In Vivo Antibody Treatment of Mice

In studies with *in vivo* antibody treatment, mice received $3\times$ /week 300 µg anti-mouse IL-7R antibody (clone A7R34) starting on the day of BM transplantation (day 1) until day 15 and 300 µg anti-mouse GM-CSF antibody (MP1-22E9) throughout the experiment by i.p. injection. As a control, a group of mice was treated with 300 µg isotype rat IgG2a antibody (clone 2A3) $3\times$ /week over the entire course of the experiment also by i.p. injection. All antibodies were purchased from BioXcell.

Histopathological Analysis

After euthanizing allo-HSCT recipient mice, the distal segment of the colon was removed, flushed with PBS, and fixed in 4.5% formaldehyde overnight. Sections (3 μ m) of paraffin-embedded colon tissue were stained with hematoxylin and eosin and used for histopathological analysis. Inflammation was scored by a to the experimental groups blinded pathologist. GvHD-associated inflammation was scored semiquantitatively as previously described (27): 0 (none or minimal signs); 1 (mild signs); 2 (moderate signs); or 3 (severe signs) (17).

Colonic Lamina Propria (LP) Cell Isolation

Colonic LP cells were isolated as described before (17). Briefly, the colon was removed from euthanized mice, flushed with PBS to remove intestinal content, and cut into small pieces. After washing colonic pieces twice with HBSS supplemented with 1% EDTA (0.5 mM), intestinal tissue was digested with a solution containing DNase I (0.5 mg/ml), Collagenase D (1 mg/ml), Dispase II (6 U/ml) (all enzymes purchased by Roche), and 5% FCS. Digested tissue was filtered and washed with PBS. LP cells were enriched by density gradient centrifugation where 80% Easycoll was overlaid

with cells resuspended in 40% Easycoll (Biochrom). Following centrifugation cells were washed with RPMI supplemented with 10% FCS and stored on ice until analysis.

Flow Cytometry

For the analysis of cell surface markers, LP cells were stained with fluorochrome-conjugated antibodies for 20 min at 4°C in the dark. After washing with FACS buffer (3% FCS in PBS), cells were analyzed on a FACSFortessaTM II (BD Biosciences) flow cytometer. For intracellular cytokine staining, isolated LP cells $(1 \times 10^6/\text{ml})$ were cultured in supplemented DMEM (containing 10% FCS, 1% penicillin-streptomycin, 1% non-essential amino acids, 1% L-glutamine, and 0.1% β -mercaptoethanol) alone or in the presence of 50 ng/ml phorbol 12-myristate 13-acetate and 1 µM ionomycin for 4 h at 37°C. 1 µg/ml brefeldin A was added for the last 3 h of culture (all purchased from Sigma Aldrich). Thereafter, cells were stained for surface markers. Intracellular cytokine staining was performed as described previously (18). In brief, cells were fixed with 2% paraformaldehyde in PBS for 15 min at room temperature. After washing with FACS buffer, cells were permeabilized with 0.05% saponin (Sigma Aldrich, Germany) in FACS buffer followed by intracellular cytokine staining for 30 min at 4°C in the dark using fluorochrome-labeled antibodies dissolved 0.5% saponin in FACS buffer. After washing cells with 0.05% saponin in FACS buffer, cells were resuspended in FACS buffer cells and analyzed on a FACSFortessaTM II (BD Biosciences) flow cytometer. Data were analyzed using FlowJo 7.6.5 and 10.2 software (Tree Star Inc.). The following antibodies were used: α -CD3 ϵ (17A2, BioLegend), α -CD4 (GK1.5, BioLegend), α-CD8a (53-6.7, BioLegend), α-CD45.1 (A20, BioLegend), α-CD45.2 (104, BioLegend), α-GM-CSF (MP1-22E9, BioLegend), α-IL-17a (TC11-18H10.1, BioLegend), and α-IFNγ (XMG1.2, BioLegend).

In Vitro T Cell Culture

For in vitro CD4⁺ T cell cultures, splenic CD4⁺ T cells were isolated by negative selection using magnetic microbeads of the CD4⁺ T Cell Isolation Kit II (Miltenyi Biotec) according to the manufacturer's instructions. In the case of Th_{GM} cultures, enriched CD4+CD25- T cells were further sort-purified using a FACS Aria cell sorter (Becton Dickinson) at the Cell Sorting and Immunomonitoring Core Unit of the University Hospital Erlangen, Friedrich Alexander University Erlangen-Nuremberg. T Cells (1 \times 10⁶/ml) were cultured at 37°C in a 24-well-plate in supplemented RPMI (containing 10% FCS, 1% penicillinstreptomycin, 1% non-essential amino acids, 1% L-glutamine, and $0.1\% \beta$ -mercaptoethanol; Sigma Aldrich) for Th_{GM} differentiation (17) or in serum-free X-VIVO 15 medium (Lonza) supplemented with 1% penicillin-streptomycin for Th17 differentiation (26). T cells were stimulated with 10 µg/ml plate-bound anti-CD3 antibody (clone 145-2C11; BioXcell) and 1 µg/ml soluble anti-CD28 antibody (clone 37.51; BioXcell). For T cell differentiation, T cells were cultured in the presence of 10 μ g/ml soluble anti-IFN γ (clone XMG1.2; BioXcell) alone (drift condition) or for $Th_{\mbox{\scriptsize GM}}$ polarizing conditions together with 2 ng/ml recombinant IL-7 (R&D Systems) while for Th17 polarizing conditions 20 ng/ml recombinant IL-1ß (Peprotech), 20 ng/ml recombinant IL-6 (Peprotech), and 50 ng/ml recombinant IL-23 (Milenyi Biotec)

were added to the cultures. Th_{GM} polarized T cells were harvested at day 3 while Th17 differentiated T cells underwent RNA isolation after 5 days of culture.

Quantitative Real-Time PCR (qPCR)

RNA was isolated from whole colon tissue using the NucleoSpinTM RNA isolation kit (Macherey Nagel). RNA of in vitro differentiated T cells was isolated using the RNeasy Micro Kit (Qiagen). 1 μg of RNA was reversed transcribed into cDNA using iScriptTM cDNA Synthesis Kit (Bio-Rad) according to manufacturer's instructions. gPCR reactions were performed on a CFX Connect and CFX96 Real-Time PCR detection system (Bio-Rad) using iQTM SYBR® Green Supermix (Bio-Rad). Data were analyzed with CFX Manager v3.1 (Bio-Rad). Expression levels of target genes for each sample were normalized relative to the housekeeping gene HPRT. Relative gene expression levels were calculated with the $\Delta\Delta$ Ct method. For the analysis of gene expression within murine colon tissue samples, gene expression levels detected in no T cells (noT) controls were arbitrarily set to 1 and all other gene expression levels were calculated and displayed in relation to the normalized noT controls.

Following primers were used synthesized by MWG Eurofines (Germany): Hprt forward 5'-TGG ATA CAG GCC AGA CTT TGT T-3', reverse 5'-CAG ATT CAA CTT GCG CTC ATC-3', Ifng forward 5'-ATC TGG AGG AAC TGG CAA AA-3', reverse 5'-TGA GCT CAT TGA ATG CTT GG-3', Csf2 forward 5'-ATC AAA GAA GCC CTG AAC CT-3', reverse 5'-GTG TTT CAC AGT CCG TTT CC-3', Tnfa forward 5'-CTT GTG GCA GGG GCC ACC AC-3', reverse 5'-CCA TGC CGT TGG CCA GGA GG-3', Il-17a forward 5'-GCT CCA GAA GGC CCT CAG A-3', reverse 5'-AGC TTT CCC TCC GCA TTG A-3', Il1b forward 5'-GTG ACG TTC CCA TTA GAC AA-3', reverse 5'-TAT TTT GTC GTT GCT TGG TT-3', Rorc forward 5'-CCG CTG AGA GGG CTT CAC-3', reverse 5'-TGC AGG AGT AGG CCA CAT TAC A-3', Il23r forward 5'-CAC AAC AAC TAC ACG TCC AT-3', reverse 5'-TAC CAG TTT CTT GAC ATC GC-3', Batf forward 5'-GGA AGA TTA GAA CCA TGC CTC-3', reverse 5'-CCA GGT GAA GGG TGT CGG-3'.

Human Studies

This study was carried out in accordance with the recommendations of the ethics committee of the University Hospital Regensburg. The protocol was approved by the ethics committee of the University Hospital Regensburg. All subjects gave written informed consent in accordance with the Declaration of Helsinki. Colon tissue biopsies of allo-HSCT patients (n = 52) were collected during colonoscopy at the Department of Hematology & Oncology and Gastroenterology at the University Hospital Regensburg. Total RNA of human tissue was isolated with the RNeasy Mini Kit (Qiagen) followed by cDNA synthesis using moloney murine leukemia virus reverse transcriptase (Promega) according to the manufacturer's instructions. Gene expression of RORC and 18S ribosomal RNA was analyzed by quantitative PCR reactions that were performed on a Mastercyler Ep Realplex (Eppendorf) using a QuantiFast SYBR Green PCR Kit (Qiagen). The following primer sets were used: RORc forward, 5'-GCA GCG CTC CAA CAT CTT CTC-3', reverse, 5'-GCA CAC CGT TCC CAC ATC TC-3'; 18SrRNA forward, 5'-ACC GAT TGG ATG GTT TAG TGA G-3', reverse, 5'-CCT ACG GAA ACC TTG TTA CGA C-3'. Expression of RORC was normalized to 18SrRNA. The expression levels represent relative units and were calculated from a standard curve plotting three different concentrations of log dilutions against the PCR cycle number as previously described (28). Concurrently colonic tissue sections of the same patients were analyzed for the presence or absence of histopathological signs of intestinal GvHD by a pathologist experienced in GvHD-associated histopathology of the gut during clinical routine. Histopathological scoring of the colitis activity and the presence of GvHD-associated apoptotic events was performed as previously published (29). Apoptotic cells per high power field (hpf) were counted and apoptosis was semiquantitatively scored by two experienced pathologists: 0-1 apoptotic cell/hpf = 0; 2-4 apoptotic cell/hpf = 1; 5-7 apoptotic cell/hpf = 2; >7 apoptotic cell/hpf = 3. Samples with a sore of at least 1 were considered to be positive for apoptosis.

Statistical Analysis

Unpaired two-tailed Student's *t*-test was used for comparison of means of two datasets. Clinical GvHD scores were analyzed by two-way ANOVA and Bonferroni posttest. For comparison of gene expression data or colonoscopy scores with more than two datasets, one-way ANOVA and Bonferroni posttest was used. *p < 0.05, **p < 0.01, ***p < 0.001, and ****p < 0.0001 was considered to be significant. Statistical analysis was performed with Graphpad Prism 5 software.

RESULTS

IL-23 Receptor Expression on Donor T Cells Is Dispensable for the Manifestation of GvHD-Associated Colitis

Previously, we reported that acute inflammatory tissue manifestation of GvHD in the lower gastrointestinal tract depends on the ability to express BATF within donor T cells (17). Surprisingly, BATF-deficient T cells were severely compromised in their ability to differentiate into IL-7R responsive GM-CSF-expressing T cells. Prompted by this finding, we assessed the functional contribution of these T cells and found that indeed combined blockade of IL-7R/IL-7 interaction and GM-CSF proved to be very effective in harnessing GvHD driven colonic inflammation. However, given the dichotomic role of BATF in governing both the differentiation of IL-17-producing Th17 cells and GM-CSFproducing T cells and the published concept on the IL-23 dependency of GM-CSF expressing Th17 cells as crucial drivers of tissue inflammation, e.g., in the central nervous system (17, 18, 22, 23), we reasoned that additional studies are required to clarify the precise, subset-specific functional contribution of bona fide Th17 cells to the manifestation of acute GvHD-associated colitis upon allo-HSCT. To achieve this goal, we first sought to assess whether the ability of the donor T cell to directly respond to IL-23 via IL-23/IL-23 receptor (IL-23R)-interaction on donor T cells is functionally relevant for the manifestation of intestinal GvHD. Importantly, employing a full MHC class I mismatch model, we failed to observe any protective effects on the clinical course of GvHD upon transplantation of IL-23R-deficient compared to WT CD3⁺ donor lymphocytes (**Figure 1A**). Moreover, intestinal GvHD as assessed by both endoscopic and histopathological evaluations of matching colonic tissue specimen was indistinguishably detectable in mice receiving either WT or IL-23R-deficient donor T cells (**Figures 1B,C**).



FIGURE 1 | Interleukin-23 receptor (IL-23R) expression by donor T cells is not required for acute graft-versus-host disease (GvHD)-associated colitis manifestation. To induce GvHD, BALB/c mice were irradiated (day 0), received intravenously T cell-depleted bone marrow (BM) (day 1) and were subsequently injected with allogeneic splenic CD3+ T cells of C57BL/6 [wild type (WT); n = 14] or *II23r^{-/-}* (n = 15) mice (day 2). As a control, mice received T cell-depleted BM alone (noT; n = 8). (A) Mice were observed three times a week and clinical symptoms of GvHD were scored. Data were analyzed by two-way ANOVA followed by Bonferroni's multiple comparisons posttest. (B) At day 28, colitis severity was assessed by colonoscopy and representative endoscopic images are shown. Mice were sacrificed between day 28 and day 30. (C) Histopathological scoring of the inflammation present in the distal colon (WT n = 11: $l/23r^{-/-} n = 12$). One representative hematoxylin and eosin-stained histopathological cross-section of the distal colon per group is shown. Scale bars: 200 µm. (D) Transcript levels of Tnf and *ll1b* in colonic tissue of WT (n = 14) or *ll23r^{-/-}* (n = 15) T cell receiving mice as described above were analyzed by quantitative real-time PCR. Data are combined from two individual experiments. Data were analyzed by Student's t-test and are shown as mean + SEM.

Also on a molecular level, gene expression profiling analyses of proinflammatory cytokines known to promote inflammatory tissue damage in the colon demonstrated that *Il1b* and *Tnf* levels are comparably upregulated independent of the T cell's ability to express IL-23R (**Figure 1D**). Overall, these data demonstrate that direct effects of IL-23 *via* IL-23R expression on the intestinal GvHD-mediating donor T cell population are largely dispensable for disease manifestation.

Donor T Cell-Intrinsic RORγt Expression Does Not Drive Acute Colonic Inflammation Upon Allo-HSCT

Interleukin-1\beta/IL-6/IL-23-induced inflammatory Th17 cells consecutively upregulate IL-23R expression which renders these T cells progressively responsive to IL-23, thereby further promoting this differentiation pathway (Figure 2A) (30). Importantly, we and others have demonstrated that the induction of IL-23R expression is regulated by and dependent on bona fide Th17 cell differentiation-regulating transcription factors as, e.g., BATF and RORyt (Figure 2A) (26, 30). However, IL-23 responsiveness due to IL-23R expression is only one facet of Th17 cells (3). Therefore, we assessed whether RORyt-deficient T cells conferred protection against intestinal GvHD manifestation given the fact that RORyt represents a Th17 defining transcription factor that is highly related to BATF. More importantly, under syngeneic conditions, RORyt- and BATF-deficient T cells comparably failed to induce colitis upon transfer into lymphopenic Rag1-/- mice (9, 11). Strikingly, however, and in clear delineation from the protection conferred by BATF-deficient T cells, upon allo-HSCT WT and RORyt-deficient T cells induced virtually identical signs of systemic GvHD. Moreover, endoscopic assessment of GvHDassociated colitis revealed indistinguishable intestinal GvHD phenotypes between both groups of donor T cell receiving mice (Figures 2B,C). Histopathological evaluation of matching tissue specimen confirmed that colonic inflammation was comparably detectable in both groups (Figure 2D). Similar to our results obtained in the studies on the role of IL-23R expression on T cells, proinflammatory cytokine gene expression analyses (Il1b and Tnf) within GvHD-affected colon tissues samples yielded similar results between mice transplanted with WT and RORyt-deficient donor T cells (Figure 2E). Together, these series of studies demonstrate that both IL-23R and RORyt expression within the donor T cell fraction are seemingly dispensable for intestinal GvHD manifestation.

Intestinal GvHD Develops Despite Hampered Th17 Differentiation due to RORγt-Independent Th1 and GM-CSF-Expressing T Cell Formation

Further studies showed that both frequencies and absolute numbers of colonic LP-infiltrating CD4⁺ and CD8⁺ donor T cells were indistinguishable between WT and either IL-23R-deficient or RORγt-deficient donor T cells (**Figures 3A,B**). Hence, given the virtually identical intestinal GvHD phenotypes, we reasoned that also the quality of colonic GvHD-mediating T cell subsets might be unaffected by IL-23R- and RORγt-, i.e., Th17 deficiency,



FIGURE 2 | Retinoic acid-related orphan receptor gamma t (RORyt)-dependent T helper (Th17) cells are dispensable for acute intestinal graft-versus-host disease (GvHD). (A) Naïve CD4+T cells were isolated from the spleen by negative selection using magnetic microbeads and in vitro polarized into inflammatory Th17 cells by co-culturing anti-CD3/anti-CD28 activated T cells in the presence of anti-IFNy antibodies and either without (-) or with (+) recombinant interleukin (IL)-1β, IL-6, and IL-23. After 5 days, T cells were harvested, RNA was isolated, and transcribed into cDNA followed by quantitative real-time PCR (qPCR) analyses of II23r transcript levels. Gene expression levels detected within T cells cultured under drift conditions were arbitrarily set down to 1 and all other gene expression levels were normalized to the expression level of this control. Data are combined from two individual experiments and were analyzed by one-way ANOVA followed by Bonferroni's multiple comparisons posttest. **p < 0.01 was considered significant. Data are shown as mean ± SEM. (B-E) For GvHD induction, BALB/c mice were irradiated (day 0), transplanted with T cell-depleted bone marrow (BM) (day 1) and subsequently injected with allogeneic splenic CD3+ T cells of wild-type (WT) (n = 18) or Rorc-(n = 23) mice (day 2). As a control, one group of mice received T cell-depleted BM alone [no T cells (noT); n = 6]. (B) Clinical symptoms of GvHD mice were scored three times a week. Pooled data from three independent experiments are shown and were analyzed by two-way ANOVA followed by Bonferroni's multiple comparisons posttest. (C) Between day 28 and day 30, colonic inflammation of WT (n = 12) or $Rorc^{-/-}$ (n = 11) T cell receiving mice was assessed by colonoscopy and representative endoscopic images are shown. Mice were sacrificed the day after colonoscopy. (D) Histopathological scoring of the colitis activity within the distal colon of WT (n = 9) or Rorc^{-/-} (n = 10) T cell receiving mice was performed. One representative hematoxylin and eosin-stained histological cross-section of the distal colon per group is shown. Scale bars: 200 µm. Shown results represent pooled data from two individual experiments. (E) Gene expression levels detected within colonic tissue of WT or Rorc-'- T cell receiving mice of Tnf (WT n = 16; Rorc-'- n = 12) and II1b (WT n = 17; Rorc-'- n = 14) around day 30 were analyzed by qPCR. Data display pooled data from at least three individual experiments. Data were analyzed by Student's t-test and are shown as mean + SEM.

within the donor T cell compartment. To address this point, we first quantitated preferentially T cell-derived cytokine gene expression levels in total colon tissue samples of GvHD-affected and control mice (**Figures 4A,B**). Interestingly, *Il17a* is largely regulated in a GvHD-independent manner given our finding that *Il17a* gene expression was barely induced in colon tissues of GvHD-affected mice irrespective of the genotype of the GvHD-inducing donor T cells when compared to mice receiving T cell-depleted BM alone (**Figure 4A**). In contrast to *Il17a, Ifng,* and *Csf2* gene expression were significantly upregulated in the presence of intestinal GvHD. However, we failed to detect any

negative regulatory effect on the expression of proinflammatory cytokine genes resulting from the usage of either IL-23R- or ROR γ t-deficient compared to WT donor T cells (**Figures 4A,B**). To further functionally characterize colonic donor-derived CD4⁺ T cell subsets, we performed flow cytometry and intracellular cytokine expression profiling experiments of LP-derived T cells *ex vivo*. Expectedly, these studies confirmed that both donor T cellrestricted genetic inactivation of IL-23R and ROR γ t, respectively, largely abrogated the ability of donor T cells to differentiate into Th17 cells (**Figures 4C,D**). By contrast, despite a slightly, however, significantly reduced frequency of GM-CSF-expressing



IL-23R-deficient T cells, the absolute numbers of IFN γ -expressing Th1 cells and GM-CSF-expressing LP donor T cells remained unaffected in the absence of either IL-23R or ROR γ t expression within donor T cells (**Figures 4C,D**). Interestingly, quantification of indicated donor T cell subsets demonstrated that Th1 and GM-CSF-producing T cells combined absolutely outnumbered IL-17a-producing Th17 cells within the colonic LP compartment of GvHD-affected mice by about 10- to 15-fold. Overall, these data provide substantial experimental evidence for the conclusion that the donor T cells ability to directly respond to IL-23, i.e., express a functional IL-23R, and to express the master regulator of Th17 cell differentiation ROR γ t is dispensable for the colonic manifestation of intestinal GVHD.

BATF Deficiency Abrogates RORγt-Independent Donor T Cell-Mediated Colonic GvHD

T cells polarized under Th17 conditions upregulate both *Rorc* and *Batf* with the former being shown to occur downstream of *Batf* (18). However, given our findings that acute GvHD-associated colitis depends on donor T cell-intrinsic BATF but not RORyt expression, we sought to further explore how *Batf* expression in the inflamed colon relates to the presence of RORyt- and BATF-expressing donor T cells, respectively. For this, we transferred either RORyt- or BATF-deficient donor T cells and assessed colonic *Batf* expression levels around onset (day 15) and during fully established intestinal GvHD (day 30) (**Figures 5A,B**). Strikingly, despite abrogated Th17 potential, the transfer of RORyt-deficient T cells resulted in a significant upregulation of colonic *Batf* expression while upregulation of *Batf* was not observed upon transplantation of BATF-deficient donor T cells

lacking intestinal GvHD-inducing potential (Figure 5A). Interestingly, we conversely found that Rorc expression levels in the colon were comparable between mice displaying severe signs of intestinal GvHD and GvHD-free noT controls due to receiving T cell depleted BM alone (Figure 5B). Importantly, quantification of RORC gene expression within human samples derived from allo-HSCT patients with or without GvHD revealed significantly downregulated colonic RORC levels in the presence of GvHD, thereby mirroring results of our murine studies (Figure 5C). These data collectively suggest that elevated Batf colon tissue expression levels reflect the presence of BATF-expressing, intestinal GvHD-mediating donor T cells while T cell-intrinsic RORyt expression is completely dispensable in this matter. Therefore, we hypothesized that while RORyt and BATF commonly regulate Th17 cell formation critically affecting, e.g., syngeneic colitis development (9, 11, 18, 31), in intestinal GvHD pathogenesis, however, RORyt is not involved in the formation of a second, previously as BATF-dependent described colitogenic T cell subset. To functionally test whether RORyt-independent manifestation of intestinal GvHD is indeed dependent on BATF, we generated RORyt-deficient T cells additionally lacking BATF by intercrossing BATF- and RORyt-deficient mice. As shown in Figures 5D,E, RORyt/BATF double-deficient donor T cells failed to induce allo-response-driven systemic signs of GvHD and endoscopically assessed manifestations of acute colitis while both systemic and intestinal GvHD phenotypes were again virtually indistinguishable between WT and RORyt-deficient T cells. In line with hampered GvHD induction, gene expression profiling analyses of whole colon tissue samples revealed that RORyt/ BATF double-deficiency within the donor T cell compartment resulted in reduced expression of proinflammatory mediators (Ifng, Csf2) compared to RORyt-deficient T cell receiving mice



displaying severe signs of intestinal GvHD (**Figure 5F**). Finally, while the pool of Th1-differentiated IFN γ^+ donor T cells was largely unaltered, GM-CSF-expressing T cells were diminished in the absence of both ROR γ t and BATF, thereby underscoring the recently described role for BATF in this pathway (**Figure 5G**). Together, these results indicate that ROR γ t- and hence Th17-independent manifestation of intestinal GvHD depends on the preserved BATF expression within donor T cells and correlates with its abilities to sufficiently mount a GM-CSF⁺ donor T cell pool *in vivo*.

Donor RORγt/Th17-Independent Colonic GvHD Is Driven by IL-7/IL-7R Interaction and GM-CSF

Our results so far suggest that while BATF and RORyt commonly and sequentially control IL-23R-dependent Th17 cell formation, only BATF but not RORyt positively regulates the GM-CSF-expressing T cell pool recently reported to drive colonic inflammatory manifestations of GvHD. Interestingly, it was recently reported that IL-7 promotes the *in vitro*-formation of GM-CSF-expressing T cells (Th_{GM} cells) due to their dependence on the transcription factor STAT5 (19). In contrast to T cells cultured in the presence of IL-23 and hence under inflammatory Th17 cell-promoting conditions (Figure 2A), we interestingly found that IL-7 supplementation of T cell cultures favoring Th_{GM} polarization did not result in the upregulation of IL-23R expression compared to naïve T cells that were assessed prior culturing (Figure S1 in Supplementary Material). This result that at least in vitro differentiated Th_{GM} cells are unresponsive to direct effects exerted by IL-23 substantially extends our previous observation that GM-CSF⁺ T cells develop in vivo in an IL-23R-independent manner (Figure 4C). However, our assumption that RORytindependent formation of intestinal GvHD is mediated by BATFdependent GM-CSF⁺ T cells is based on results that we previously obtained in studies employing T cells with a selective inactivation of the Batf gene (17). However, by taking the approach of coinactivating two highly potent transcriptional regulators, our results might be confounded by the introduction of additional functional defects in the donor T cell compartment. Hence, we sought to selectively assess the contribution of GM-CSF to the manifestation of RORyt-independent intestinal GvHD by treating



FIGURE 5 | Retinoic acid-related orphan receptor gamma t-independent intestinal graft-versus-host disease (GvHD) is controlled by basic leucine zipper transcription factor ATF-like (BATF). (A) Transcript levels of Batf in colonic tissue of allo-HSCT BALB/c mice with severe signs of intestinal GvHD following transplantation of allogeneic CD3⁺ T cells derived from of Batf^{-/-} and Rorc^{-/-} mice were measured by quantitative real-time PCR (qPCR) at day 15 (Batf^{-/-} n = 12; Rorc-/- n = 2) and day 30 (Batf-/- n = 12; Rorc-/- n = 4). Data represent pooled data from two independent experiments. Gene expression levels detected in colonic tissues of no T cells (noT) controls at day 15 were arbitrarily set down to 1 and all other gene expression levels were normalized to the expression level detected within noT controls. (B) Transcript levels of Rorc in colonic tissue of irradiated BALB/c mice transplanted with T cell depleted bone marrow alone (noT, n = 11) or followed by injection of allogeneic CD3+ T cells of wild-type (WT) (n = 12) mice were measured by qPCR at day 30. (C) Transcript levels of RORC in colonic tissue biopsies from allo-HCT patients were measured by qPCR. Samples were grouped into indicated categories based on the absence (-GvHD; n = 30) or presence (+GvHD; n = 22) of GvHD-associated histopathological lesions or by the absence (-apoptosis; n = 32) or presence (+apoptosis; n = 20) of GvHD-related epithelial cell apoptosis. Data are shown as normalized relative RORC expression levels calculated from a standard curve. (D-G) Experimental GvHD induction was achieved as described in Figures 1 and 2. To this end, allogeneic hematopoietic stem cell transplantation BALB/c mice were transplanted with allogeneic CD3+ T cells derived from WT (n = 4), Rorc⁻⁽⁻ (n = 3), or Rorc⁻⁽⁻ Batf⁻⁽⁻ (n = 3)) mice or received no T cells (noT) as a control (n = 4). (D) Mice were assessed three times a week for signs and severity of systemic GvHD. Data were analyzed by two-way ANOVA testing followed by Bonferroni's multiple comparisons posttest. ****p < 0.0001 was considered significant, whereas p > 0.05 indicates no significance (ns). (E) At day 28, colitis severity was determined by colonoscopy and representative endoscopic images are shown. (F) Expression levels of Ifng and Csf2 transcripts within colonic tissues of Rorc-(n = 7) or Rorc-(-Batf-(n = 3) T cell receiving mice were analyzed by aPCR. Data are shown from at least one experiment. (G) Colonic lamina propria mononuclear cells of indicated donor T cell receiving mice were isolated and the frequencies of granulocyte-macrophage colony-stimulating factor (GM-CSF+) or IFNY+ CD4+ donor T cells were assessed by flow cytometry employing intracellular cytokine staining techniques. Data of panels (A,E) were analyzed by one-way ANOVA followed by Bonferroni's multiple comparisons posttest. $^{**}p < 0.01$, $^{***}p < 0.001$, and $^{****}p < 0.0001$ was considered significant. Data of panels (**B,C,F,G**) were analyzed by Student's *t*-test. $^{*}p < 0.05$ and $^{**}p < 0.01$ was considered significant. All data are shown as mean ± SEM.

RORyt-deficient donor T cell receiving mice either with an IL-7R blocking antibody over the first half of the observation period together and anti-GM-CSF antibody throughout the experiment or with an isotype control antibody alone as described before (17). Strikingly, combined antibody-mediated blockade of IL-7R and GM-CSF but not continuous therapy with the control antibody alone resulted in a significant reduction of clinical signs of systemic GvHD elicited by RORyt-deficient T cells (Figure 6A). Moreover, colonoscopic evaluation of the intestinal GvHD phenotype revealed that RORyt-independent GvHD-associated colitis was mitigated upon dual antibody but not control antibody treatment (Figure 6B). The therapeutic effect on endoscopic signs of colitis was accompanied by diminished expression levels of proinflammatory mediators within colon tissues as we detected reduced amounts of Il1b, Tnf, Csf2, and Ifng transcripts in anti-IL-7R/anti-GM-CSF- compared to control antibody-treated mice (Figure 6C). Collectively, the results of our current study

demonstrate that acute manifestation of intestinal GvHD occurs independent of IL-23R- and ROR γ t-expressing T cells with the latter being generally accepted to represent bona fide Th17 cells. Mechanistically, GM-CSF⁺ T cells infiltrate the gut, expand in IL-7/IL-7R-interaction dependent, however IL-23R- and ROR γ tindependent manner and are major mediators of intestinal GvHD observed in the absence of T cell-intrinsic ROR γ t expression. Together, our study results strongly suggest that selective ROR γ tand hence Th17-targeting represent an ineffective approach to limit allo-response driven intestinal inflammation.

DISCUSSION

Allo-response driven T cell-mediated mucosal inflammation is observed in about 50% of the patients undergoing allo-HSCT mostly because of an otherwise incurable hematopoietic malignancy and routinely represents a clinical challenge due to limited



FIGURE 6 | Blockade of interleukin-7 receptor (IL-7R) and granulocyte-macrophage colony-stimulating factor (GM-CSF) mitigates graft-versus-host disease (GvHD)associated colitis elicited by retinoic acid-related orphan receptor gamma t-deficient donor T cells. Irradiated BALB/c mice received T cell depleted bone marrow alone [no T cells (noT), n = 2] or were subsequently injected with allogeneic pan T cells of wild-type (WT) (n = 6) or $Rorc^{-/-}$ mice. One group of $Rorc^{-/-}$ T cell receiving mice was treated 3x/week with anti-GM-CSF antibody (α GM-CSF) throughout the experiment together with anti-IL7R (α IL-7R) until day 15 (n = 5) while another group was treated with isotype IgG antibody (n = 4) alone. Data are shown from one representative experiment. (**A**) Mice were evaluated 3x/week for the presence of clinical symptoms of GvHD and its severity was accordingly scored. Data were analyzed by two-way ANOVA testing followed by Bonferroni's multiple comparisons posttest. ****p < 0.0001 was considered significant, whereas p > 0.05 indicates no significance (ns). (**B**) At day 29, colitis activity was assessed by colonoscopy and representative endoscopic images are shown. Data were analyzed by two-way ANOVA testing followed by Bonferroni's multiple comparisons posttest. ****p < 0.001 was considered significant. Mice were sacrificed day 30. (**C**) Transcript levels of *Tnf, II1b, Ifng,* and *Csf2* in colonic tissue of *Rorc*^{-/-} T cell receiving mice treated with anti-GM-CSF together with anti-IL-7R or with isotype IgG antibody alone were analyzed by quantitative real-time PCR. Gene expression data were analyzed by Student's *t*-test. *p < 0.05 was considered significant. All data are shown as mean \pm SEM. therapeutic options and often therapy-refractory disease courses (32, 33). However, manifestations found in patients suffering from intestinal GvHD share a series of morphological, functional, and immunological characteristics with inflammatory lesions frequently observed in IBD patients (34). In respect to the immunological abnormalities most prominently found in both disease entities, T cells with a Th17 phenotype are similarly overrepresented in patients displaying severe manifestations of acute intestinal GvHD (2). However, while there is both overwhelming preclinical and substantially increasing clinical evidence for a central pathogenetic role of IL-23 and bona fide Th17 cells in promoting intestinal inflammation in IBD (1), pathways dysregulated within donor T cells and hence contributing to the allo-response-driven manifestation of intestinal GvHD following allo-HSCT have been less well deciphered (1, 5, 13, 32, 33, 35, 36). In part due to the discordant usage of various preclinical model systems to induce experimental GvHD, genetic model systems to modulate donor T cell biology and overall non-overlapping experimental setups, it remains difficult to cross-compare results obtained by these studies to draw a clear conclusion (14-16). Furthermore, these studies were generally not designed to definitively discriminate between the functional contribution of bona fide IL-23-driven Th17 cells and of alternatively differentiated, however, Th17-related T cells as described, e.g., in the context of neuro-inflammation with the description of GM-CSF-producing T cells as the major mediator of tissue damage (22, 23, 37).

Recently, we elucidated the central role of BATF-expressing donor T cells in mediating acute intestinal GvHD (17). However, T cell-intrinsic BATF simultaneously controls both in vitro and in vivo the formation of IL-23-driven Th17 cells and IL-7-driven GM-CSF-expressing T cells, also called Th_{GM} cells (19), thereby excluding the possibility to selectively assess the role of Th17 cells. Hence, we sought to assess the functional contribution of IL-23R expression by donor T cells since IL-23R/IL-23 interaction is critically contributing to Th17 cell formation in vivo. Strikingly, employing the same model system and the same conditions under which BATF-deficient T cells-similarly devoid of IL-23R expression due to its BATF-dependent expression-conferred protection IL-23Rdeficiency among donor T cells did not confer disease-preventive effects. However, this result essentially conflicts with data from another study that reported reduced mortality and subtle, however, significant reduction of colitis activity in the colon but no other GvHD-affected organs (38). We believe that a series of model-related aspects (e.g., conditioning regimen, composition of the resident intestinal microbiota within the recipient mice in the animal facility, employed genetic mouse models, and most importantly magnitude of the transferred donor T cell pool) may account for the observed differences in the GvHD phenotype best deduced from and exemplified by the parameter "survival": while in the other study two-thirds of the cohort of WT donor T cell receiving mice succumbed presumably due to rapid and exaggerated manifestation of systemic GvHD within the 30-day-interval after allo-HSCT (38), in our model system the kinetics of both systemic and intestinal GvHD manifestations is purposefully more moderate presumably mostly due to the transfer of a lower T cell dose to induce GvHD. Importantly, however, we reason at that point that our study reflects a presumably clinically more relevant setting since the manifestation of intestinal versus

systemic GvHD displays a kinetics-wise more physiological pattern observed in GvHD-affected allo-HSCT patients.

Given the fact that IL-23R expression is only one, however, though both phenotypically and functionally critical hallmark of Th17 cells, we sought to assess whether RORyt-deficient T cells would exert comparably protective effects as previously observed in the absence of T cell-intrinsic BATF expression. RORyt was reported to represent the master regulator of Th17 cell differentiation (31), acts in concert with BATF in this pathway and cell type (18) and its absence provides full protection in syngeneic colitis models in a manner comparable to BATF deficiency (8, 9, 11). Strikingly, however, we failed to detect any GvHD-alleviating effects in regard to both systemic and intestinal inflammation following the transplantation of RORyt-deficient T cells when compared to WT T cell controls. Furthermore, in contrast to BATF (17), we were unable to detect any RORyt upregulation within both murine and human tissues irrespective whether GvHD was present or absent in allo-HSCT mice or men. However, the absence of IL-23R expression as well as RORyt expression within donor T cells expectedly led to a significant reduction of IL-17a-expressing T cells. Moreover, colonic T cells expressing the Th1 hallmark signature cytokine IFNy were present in an IL-23R- and RORyt-independent manner. Strikingly and in clear delineation from the results obtained when we employed BATF-deficient T cells (17), RORyt-deficient T cells retained the ability to differentiate into allo-reactive GM-CSFproducing T cells. However, both GvHD-inducing capacity and GM-CSF expression of RORyt-deficient T cells were completely dependent on preserved T cell-intrinsic BATF expression since combined ablation of RORyt and BATF abrogated both GvHD manifestation and the GM-CSF expressing T cells. Furthermore, combined antibody-mediated blockade of the IL-7R and GM-CSF completely abrogated signs of systemic and intestinal GvHD elicited by RORyt-deficient T cells. Interestingly, in support of our hypothesis that IL-23R signaling-dependent Th17 cells and IL-7 promoted GM-CSF⁺T cells represent functionally non-overlapping T cell subsets, we found that IL-23R expression was not induced upon IL-7-mediated Th_{GM} polarization in vitro. This result fits well to the established model that IL-23R expression is regulated downstream of STAT3 signaling, e.g., in response to IL-6 and IL-23 itself while IL-7-induced STAT5 signaling was not reported to impact IL-23R expression regulation (30). Furthermore, this finding provides mechanistic insight complementing our functional data showing that while IL-23R-expressing T cell subsets (i.e., Th17 cells) are critically promoting intestinal inflammation in syngeneic models of intestinal inflammation and in human IBD, allo-response driven colitis is mediated by IL-23R-, RORyt- and hence Th17 cell-independent effector T cells that require signals (i.e., IL-7/IL-7R interaction) clearly distinguishable from signals controlling Th17 cells (i.e., IL-23R/IL-23 signaling) and are characterized by the exertion of effector mechanisms (GM-CSF) clearly distinct from those employed by Th17 cells (i.e., IL-17a, etc.).

The overall observation that syngeneic colitis preferentially results in the formation of functionally central Th17 cells while Th_{GM} cells predominately develop and promote intestinal GvHD in the context of allo-reactivity is intriguing but the mechanisms underlying both the quantitative and qualitative differences remain elusive. However, following disease-related aspects might contribute to this

phenomenon: first, although both syngeneic and allo-responsedriven colitis formation depend on co-stimulatory signals that are provided by microbial components from colonizing microbiota (e.g., residing in the gut) and are also called pathogen-associated molecular pattern signals, host conditioning through whole body irradiation, etc., prior allo-HSCT results in a wide-spread tissue injury (39). In the course of the tissue response, a massive release of mediators like ATP or uric acid, also called danger-associated molecular pattern signals, takes place that additionally may account for the qualitative differences within colitogenic T cell pools observed during syngeneic versus allo-response driven colitis (40-43). Second, in addition to differential provision of co-stimulatory signals, setting-specific engagement of selective antigen-presenting cell subsets crucially impacts T cell differentiation outcomes. Accordingly it was shown that adoptively transferred T cells respond to microbial antigens presented by DCs (44) and CD64+CD11bhi myeloid cells (45) and that their secretion of proinflammatory cytokines as IL-23 and IL-1 β is critically contributing to the formation of colitogenic Th17 cells in the syngeneic colitis setting (46-48). By contrast, the expansion and differentiation of allo-reactive donor T cells were shown to be preferentially governed by donor-derived IL-12- and IL-6-secreting CD103+CD11b- DCs (49). Since these studies did not investigate the impact on Th_{GM} cell formation, future studies need to investigate whether these DC subsets and DC-derived signals as suggested are acting in concert with IL-7 to drive the formation of intestinal GvHD-mediating GM-CSF expressing T cells.

Collectively, based on the large body of evidence in the literature RORyt-dependent Th17 cells are indispensable for the formation of a colitogenic T cell pool under syngeneic conditions (50). However, in the light of our current study results, we conclude that allo-response driven mucosal inflammation occurs in an IL-23R/ Th17-independent, however, IL-7R/BATF-dependent manner and is mediated by GM-CSF rather than the classic Th17 signature cytokine IL-17a. Hence, we suggest that future attempts to limit GvHD-mediated mucosal inflammation especially affecting the colon should re-focus and evaluate the therapeutic efficacy of strategies designed to interfere with the development and/or functionality of GM-CSF expressing T cell subsets. However, one important question has not been answered yet: why and by what effector mechanisms exert Th17 cells colitogenecity in the syngeneic setting (11) but Th_{GM} cells (19) do not while as shown in this study Th_{GM} cells are highly pathogenic under allogeneic conditions whereas Th17 cells seem to be functionally dispensable? Hence, the solution of the major mechanistic conundrum overtly separating syngeneic from allogeneic colitis pathogenesis is reserved for future studies.

REFERENCES

- Holtta V, Klemetti P, Sipponen T, Westerholm-Ormio M, Kociubinski G, Salo H, et al. IL-23/IL-17 immunity as a hallmark of Crohn's disease. *Inflamm Bowel* Dis (2008) 14(9):1175–84. doi:10.1002/ibd.20475
- Bossard C, Malard F, Arbez J, Chevallier P, Guillaume T, Delaunay J, et al. Plasmacytoid dendritic cells and Th17 immune response contribution in gastrointestinal acute graft-versus-host disease. *Leukemia* (2012) 26(7):1471–4. doi:10.1038/leu.2012.41
- Gaffen SL, Jain R, Garg AV, Cua DJ. The IL-23-IL-17 immune axis: from mechanisms to therapeutic testing. *Nat Rev Immunol* (2014) 14(9):585–600. doi:10.1038/nri3707

ETHICS STATEMENT

This study was carried out in accordance with the recommendations of the government of Mittelfranken in Bavaria, Germany. The protocol was approved by the government of Mittelfranken in Bavaria, Germany. This study was carried out in accordance with the recommendations of the ethics committee of the University Hospital Regensburg. The protocol was approved by the ethics committee of the University Hospital Regensburg. All subjects gave written informed consent in accordance with the Declaration of Helsinki.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

VB, BA, and JR performed experiments with the help of TV, analyzed and interpreted data. EH and SG provided human colon tissue samples, performed analyses related to human colon biopsies and helped with the interpretation and critical discussion of the results. MB-H performed histopathological analyses. MN, EU, and EH gave critical advice and helped with the interpretation and critical discussion of the results. KH directed the study and wrote the manuscript together with VB.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We thank I. Klau β ner, G. Hunger, and the *Core Unit Cell Sorting and Immunomonitoring* at the University Hospital Erlangen for excellent technical assistance.

FUNDING

This study was supported by the Collaborative Research Centers 1181 (DFG-CRC1181, project B05) and 221 (DFG-CRC/TR221, project B03), University Hospital Erlangen, Friedrich-Alexander University Erlangen-Nuremberg (both to KH) and the Wilhem Sander-Stiftung (to KH and EU). We acknowledge support by Deutsche Forschungsgemeinschaft and Friedrich-Alexander-Universität Erlangen-Nürnberg (FAU) within the funding programme Open Access Publishing.

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fimmu.2018.01138/full#supplementary-material.

- Malard F, Gaugler B, Lamarthee B, Mohty M. Translational opportunities for targeting the Th17 axis in acute graft-vs.-host disease. *Mucosal Immunol* (2016) 9(2):299–308. doi:10.1038/mi.2015.143
- Neurath MF. Cytokines in inflammatory bowel disease. Nat Rev Immunol (2014) 14(5):329–42. doi:10.1038/nri3661
- Withers DR, Hepworth MR, Wang X, Mackley EC, Halford EE, Dutton EE, et al. Transient inhibition of ROR-gammat therapeutically limits intestinal inflammation by reducing TH17 cells and preserving group 3 innate lymphoid cells. *Nat Med* (2016) 22(3):319–23. doi:10.1038/nm.4046
- Mudter J, Yu J, Zufferey C, Brustle A, Wirtz S, Weigmann B, et al. IRF4 regulates IL-17A promoter activity and controls RORgammat-dependent Th17 colitis in vivo. *Inflamm Bowel Dis* (2011) 17(6):1343–58. doi:10.1002/ibd.21476

- Hildner K, Punkenburg E, Abendroth B, Neurath MF. Immunopathogenesis of IBD: Batf as a key driver of disease activity. *Dig Dis* (2016) 34(Suppl 1):40–7. doi:10.1159/000447281
- Wang C, Thangamani S, Kim M, Gu BH, Lee JH, Taparowsky EJ, et al. BATF is required for normal expression of gut-homing receptors by T helper cells in response to retinoic acid. *J Exp Med* (2013) 210(3):475–89. doi:10.1084/ jem.20121088
- Atreya R, Mudter J, Finotto S, Mullberg J, Jostock T, Wirtz S, et al. Blockade of interleukin 6 trans signaling suppresses T-cell resistance against apoptosis in chronic intestinal inflammation: evidence in Crohn disease and experimental colitis in vivo. *Nat Med* (2000) 6(5):583–8. doi:10.1038/75068
- Leppkes M, Becker C, Ivanov II, Hirth S, Wirtz S, Neufert C, et al. RORgamma-expressing Th17 cells induce murine chronic intestinal inflammation via redundant effects of IL-17A and IL-17F. *Gastroenterology* (2009) 136(1):257–67. doi:10.1053/j.gastro.2008.10.018
- Yen D, Cheung J, Scheerens H, Poulet F, McClanahan T, McKenzie B, et al. IL-23 is essential for T cell-mediated colitis and promotes inflammation via IL-17 and IL-6. J Clin Invest (2006) 116(5):1310–6. doi:10.1172/JCI21404
- Feagan BG, Sandborn WJ, D'Haens G, Panes J, Kaser A, Ferrante M, et al. Induction therapy with the selective interleukin-23 inhibitor risankizumab in patients with moderate-to-severe Crohn's disease: a randomised, double-blind, placebo-controlled phase 2 study. *Lancet* (2017) 389(10080):1699–709. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(17)30570-6
- Fulton LM, Carlson MJ, Coghill JM, Ott LE, West ML, Panoskaltsis-Mortari A, et al. Attenuation of acute graft-versus-host disease in the absence of the transcription factor RORgammat. J Immunol (2012) 189(4):1765–72. doi:10.4049/ jimmunol.1200858
- Yi T, Zhao D, Lin CL, Zhang C, Chen Y, Todorov I, et al. Absence of donor Th17 leads to augmented Th1 differentiation and exacerbated acute graft-versus-host disease. *Blood* (2008) 112(5):2101–10. doi:10.1182/blood-2007-12-126987
- Iclozan C, Yu Y, Liu C, Liang Y, Yi T, Anasetti C, et al. T helper17 cells are sufficient but not necessary to induce acute graft-versus-host disease. *Biol Blood Marrow Transplant* (2010) 16(2):170–8. doi:10.1016/j.bbmt.2009. 09.023
- Ullrich E, Abendroth B, Rothamer J, Huber C, Buttner-Herold M, Buchele V, et al. BATF-dependent IL-7RhiGM-CSF+ T cells control intestinal graftversus-host disease. J Clin Invest (2018) 128(3):916–30. doi:10.1172/JCI89242
- Schraml BU, Hildner K, Ise W, Lee WL, Smith WA, Solomon B, et al. The AP-1 transcription factor Batf controls T(H)17 differentiation. *Nature* (2009) 460(7253):405–9. doi:10.1038/nature08114
- Sheng W, Yang F, Zhou Y, Yang H, Low PY, Kemeny DM, et al. STAT5 programs a distinct subset of GM-CSF-producing T helper cells that is essential for autoimmune neuroinflammation. *Cell Res* (2014) 24(12):1387–402. doi:10.1038/cr.2014.154
- Becher B, Tugues S, Greter M. GM-CSF: from growth factor to central mediator of tissue inflammation. *Immunity* (2016) 45(5):963–73. doi:10.1016/ j.immuni.2016.10.026
- Zhang J, Roberts AI, Liu C, Ren G, Xu G, Zhang L, et al. A novel subset of helper T cells promotes immune responses by secreting GM-CSF. *Cell Death Differ* (2013) 20(12):1731–41. doi:10.1038/cdd.2013.130
- El-Behi M, Ciric B, Dai H, Yan Y, Cullimore M, Safavi F, et al. The encephalitogenicity of T(H)17 cells is dependent on IL-1- and IL-23-induced production of the cytokine GM-CSF. *Nat Immunol* (2011) 12(6):568–75. doi:10.1038/ ni.2031
- Codarri L, Gyulveszi G, Tosevski V, Hesske L, Fontana A, Magnenat L, et al. RORgammat drives production of the cytokine GM-CSF in helper T cells, which is essential for the effector phase of autoimmune neuroinflammation. *Nat Immunol* (2011) 12(6):560–7. doi:10.1038/ni.2027
- Skarnes WC, Rosen B, West AP, Koutsourakis M, Bushell W, Iyer V, et al. A conditional knockout resource for the genome-wide study of mouse gene function. *Nature* (2011) 474(7351):337–42. doi:10.1038/nature10163
- Becker C, Fantini MC, Neurath MF. High resolution colonoscopy in live mice. Nat Protoc (2006) 1(6):2900–4. doi:10.1038/nprot.2006.446
- Punkenburg E, Vogler T, Buttner M, Amann K, Waldner M, Atreya R, et al. Batf-dependent Th17 cells critically regulate IL-23 driven colitis-associated colon cancer. *Gut* (2016) 65(7):1139–50. doi:10.1136/gutjnl-2014-308227
- Kaplan DH, Anderson BE, McNiff JM, Jain D, Shlomchik MJ, Shlomchik WD. Target antigens determine graft-versus-host disease phenotype. *J Immunol* (2004) 173(9):5467–75. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.173.9.5467

- Landfried K, Zhu W, Waldhier MC, Schulz U, Ammer J, Holler B, et al. Tryptophan catabolism is associated with acute GVHD after human allogeneic stem cell transplantation and indicates activation of indoleamine 2,3dioxygenase. *Blood* (2011) 118(26):6971–4. doi:10.1182/blood-2011-06-357814
- Landfried K, Bataille F, Rogler G, Brenmoehl J, Kosovac K, Wolff D, et al. Recipient NOD2/CARD15 status affects cellular infiltrates in human intestinal graft-versus-host disease. *Clin Exp Immunol* (2010) 159(1):87–92. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2249.2009.04049.x
- Zhou L, Ivanov II, Spolski R, Min R, Shenderov K, Egawa T, et al. IL-6 programs T(H)-17 cell differentiation by promoting sequential engagement of the IL-21 and IL-23 pathways. *Nat Immunol* (2007) 8(9):967–74. doi:10.1038/ ni1488
- Ivanov II, McKenzie BS, Zhou L, Tadokoro CE, Lepelley A, Lafaille JJ, et al. The orphan nuclear receptor RORgammat directs the differentiation program of proinflammatory IL-17+ T helper cells. *Cell* (2006) 126(6):1121–33. doi:10.1016/j.cell.2006.07.035
- Zeiser R, Blazar BR. Pathophysiology of chronic graft-versus-host disease and therapeutic targets. N Engl J Med (2017) 377(26):2565–79. doi:10.1056/ NEJMra1703472
- Zeiser R, Blazar BR. Acute graft-versus-host disease biologic process, prevention, and therapy. N Engl J Med (2017) 377(22):2167–79. doi:10.1056/ NEJMra1609337
- Nalle SC, Turner JR. Intestinal barrier loss as a critical pathogenic link between inflammatory bowel disease and graft-versus-host disease. *Mucosal Immunol* (2015) 8(4):720–30. doi:10.1038/mi.2015.40
- 35. Hueber W, Sands BE, Lewitzky S, Vandemeulebroecke M, Reinisch W, Higgins PD, et al. Secukinumab, a human anti-IL-17A monoclonal antibody, for moderate to severe Crohn's disease: unexpected results of a randomised, double-blind placebo-controlled trial. *Gut* (2012) 61(12):1693–700. doi:10.1136/gutjnl-2011-301668
- Sandborn WJ, Gasink C, Gao LL, Blank MA, Johanns J, Guzzo C, et al. Ustekinumab induction and maintenance therapy in refractory Crohn's disease. N Engl J Med (2012) 367(16):1519–28. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa1203572
- Spath S, Komuczki J, Hermann M, Pelczar P, Mair F, Schreiner B, et al. Dysregulation of the cytokine GM-CSF induces spontaneous phagocyte invasion and immunopathology in the central nervous system. *Immunity* (2017) 46(2):245–60. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2017.01.007
- Zhou V, Agle K, Chen X, Beres A, Komorowski R, Belle L, et al. A colitogenic memory CD4+ T cell population mediates gastrointestinal graft-versus-host disease. J Clin Invest (2016) 126(9):3541–55. doi:10.1172/JCI80874
- Toubai T, Mathewson ND, Magenau J, Reddy P. Danger signals and graftversus-host disease: current understanding and future perspectives. *Front Immunol* (2016) 7:539. doi:10.3389/fimmu.2016.00539
- Wilhelm K, Ganesan J, Muller T, Durr C, Grimm M, Beilhack A, et al. Graftversus-host disease is enhanced by extracellular ATP activating P2X7R. *Nat Med* (2010) 16(12):1434–8. doi:10.1038/nm.2242
- Apostolova P, Zeiser R. The role of purine metabolites as DAMPs in acute graft-versus-host disease. *Front Immunol* (2016) 7:439. doi:10.3389/fimmu. 2016.00439
- Martinon F, Petrilli V, Mayor A, Tardivel A, Tschopp J. Gout-associated uric acid crystals activate the NALP3 inflammasome. *Nature* (2006) 440(7081):237-41. doi:10.1038/nature04516
- Jankovic D, Ganesan J, Bscheider M, Stickel N, Weber FC, Guarda G, et al. The Nlrp3 inflammasome regulates acute graft-versus-host disease. J Exp Med (2013) 210(10):1899–910. doi:10.1084/jem.20130084
- Feng T, Wang L, Schoeb TR, Elson CO, Cong Y. Microbiota innate stimulation is a prerequisite for T cell spontaneous proliferation and induction of experimental colitis. *J Exp Med* (2010) 207(6):1321–32. doi:10.1084/jem. 20092253
- 45. Tamoutounour S, Henri S, Lelouard H, de Bovis B, de Haar C, van der Woude CJ, et al. CD64 distinguishes macrophages from dendritic cells in the gut and reveals the Th1-inducing role of mesenteric lymph node macrophages during colitis. *Eur J Immunol* (2012) 42(12):3150–66. doi:10.1002/eji.201242847
- Ahern PP, Schiering C, Buonocore S, McGeachy MJ, Cua DJ, Maloy KJ, et al. Interleukin-23 drives intestinal inflammation through direct activity on T cells. *Immunity* (2010) 33(2):279–88. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2010. 08.010
- 47. Coccia M, Harrison OJ, Schiering C, Asquith MJ, Becher B, Powrie F, et al. IL-1beta mediates chronic intestinal inflammation by promoting

the accumulation of IL-17A secreting innate lymphoid cells and CD4(+) Th17 cells. J Exp Med (2012) 209(9):1595–609. doi:10.1084/jem.20111453

- Hue S, Ahern P, Buonocore S, Kullberg MC, Cua DJ, McKenzie BS, et al. Interleukin-23 drives innate and T cell-mediated intestinal inflammation. *J Exp Med* (2006) 203(11):2473–83. doi:10.1084/jem.20061099
- Koyama M, Cheong M, Markey KA, Gartlan KH, Kuns RD, Locke KR, et al. Donor colonic CD103+ dendritic cells determine the severity of acute graft-versus-host disease. *J Exp Med* (2015) 212(8):1303–21. doi:10.1084/ jem.20150329
- Weaver CT, Elson CO, Fouser LA, Kolls JK. The Th17 pathway and inflammatory diseases of the intestines, lungs, and skin. *Annu Rev Pathol* (2013) 8:477–512. doi:10.1146/annurev-pathol-011110-130318

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2018 Buchele, Abendroth, Büttner-Herold, Vogler, Rothamer, Ghimire, Ullrich, Holler, Neurath and Hildner. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Cytokine Tuning of Intestinal Epithelial Function

Caroline Andrews^{1*}, Mairi H. McLean² and Scott K. Durum¹

¹ Cancer and Inflammation Program, Center for Cancer Research, National Cancer Institute, National Institutes of Health, Frederick, MD, United States, ² School of Medicine, Medical Sciences and Nutrition, University of Aberdeen, Aberdeen, United Kingdom

The intestine serves as both our largest single barrier to the external environment and the host of more immune cells than any other location in our bodies. Separating these potential combatants is a single layer of dynamic epithelium composed of heterogeneous epithelial subtypes, each uniquely adapted to carry out a subset of the intestine's diverse functions. In addition to its obvious role in digestion, the intestinal epithelium is responsible for a wide array of critical tasks, including maintaining barrier integrity, preventing invasion by microbial commensals and pathogens, and modulating the intestinal immune system. Communication between these epithelial cells and resident immune cells is crucial for maintaining homeostasis and coordinating appropriate responses to disease and can occur through cell-to-cell contact or by the release or recognition of soluble mediators. The objective of this review is to highlight recent literature illuminating how cytokines and chemokines, both those made by and acting on the intestinal epithelium, orchestrate many of the diverse functions of the intestinal epithelium and its interactions with immune cells in health and disease. Areas of focus include cytokine control of intestinal epithelial proliferation, cell death, and barrier permeability. In addition, the modulation of epithelial-derived cytokines and chemokines by factors such as interactions with stromal and immune cells, pathogen and commensal exposure, and diet will be discussed.

Keywords: chemokine, cytokine, epithelium, intestine, mucosal immunology

INTRODUCTION

The intestinal epithelium separates the diverse and ubiquitous members of the intestinal luminal microbiome, virome, and mycobiome from the largest population of resident immune cells anywhere in the body, forming our largest single barrier to the external environment (1-4). As such, in addition to its critical role in digestion, the gut epithelium is also charged with mediating much of the interaction between luminal organisms and immune cells to ensure appropriate defensive reactions to pathogens versus tolerance of commensal microorganisms (1).

The physical intestinal barrier consists of a continuous single layer of columnar epithelial cells overlain by a variably thick layer of mucus. This mucus layer is embedded with antibodies and antimicrobial peptides and physically separates the epithelium from direct contact with much of the luminal microbiota (2). The majority of intestinal epithelial cells are absorptive enterocytes, but the epithelium also contains a number of more specialized cell types, including Paneth cells (in the small intestine only), goblet cells, hormone-secreting enteroendocrine cells, microfold (M) cells, and tuft cells (2, 5). Indeed, even these subtypes are too generalized to fully reflect the diversity

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Fabio Cominelli, Case Western Reserve University, United States

Reviewed by:

Raymond P. Donnelly, United States Food and Drug Administration, United States Andrei Ivanov, Cleveland Clinic, United States Giorgos Bamias, Laiko General Hospital of Athens, Greece

*Correspondence:

Caroline Andrews caroline.andrews@nih.gov

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Cytokines and Soluble Mediators in Immunity, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology

Received: 28 February 2018 Accepted: 22 May 2018 Published: 05 June 2018

Citation:

Andrews C, McLean MH and Durum SK (2018) Cytokine Tuning of Intestinal Epithelial Function. Front. Immunol. 9:1270. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2018.01270

35
of intestinal epithelial cells. Recent single-cell sequencing data identified two subtypes of tuft cells and subclassified enteroendocrine cells beyond the eight subclasses previously reported (6).

The gut epithelium is continuously renewed by Lgr5⁺ stem cells located in the base of the intestinal crypts. Newly formed precursor cells differentiate as they migrate away from the crypt toward the villus tip in the small intestine or luminal surface in the large intestine, where they are expelled into the lumen approximately every 4-5 days. The exception to this is Paneth cells, which are long-lived and instead move toward the crypt base (2, 5). Each cell type plays critical and distinct roles in intestinal function. Mucus-secreting goblet cells are crucial for maintenance of the luminal mucus layer and increase in frequency moving distally along the intestine, peaking at a frequency of approximately 25% of total epithelial cells in the distal colon (2). Small intestinal Paneth cells produce antimicrobial peptides and also contribute to stem cell maintenance and function through the production of Wnt3, pro-epidermal growth factor, and Notch ligands (2). M cells overlie gut-associated lymphoid tissues and facilitate the transport of luminal antigens to lymphoid cells, while tuft cells coordinate type 2 immune responses to parasites (5, 7, 8). Much of intestinal epithelial research, including a portion of that presented herein, has focused on the use of colorectal cancer cell lines to elucidate gut epithelial function. However, due to the heterogeneity of the intestinal epithelium in vivo, observations made from cell lines, which are not representative of all gut epithelial cell types, may be misleading. Recent advances in three dimensional intestinal epithelial organoid cultures, which differentiate into the various epithelial cell subtypes seen in vivo, are improving our ability to more effectively characterize intestinal epithelial function, and many of these studies will be highlighted in this review (9).

The gut-associated lymphoid tissues, including Peyer's patches and isolated lymphoid follicles, are likely the most well-recognized portion of the intestinal immune system. However, the entire gut is armed with a diverse repertoire of immune cells, which vary in location and frequency throughout the length of the intestine (2). The majority of these cells function in the lamina propria or within the epithelium of the intestinal mucosa. The epithelium predominantly hosts T cells, while the lamina propria is home to cells of both the adaptive and innate arms of the immune system, including T cells, B cells, innate lymphoid cells (ILCs), macrophages, dendritic cells, mast cells, and eosinophils (2). Immune cells may sense luminal antigens directly when the epithelial barrier is breached or by the extension of transepithelial dendrites, as has been observed in macrophages and dendritic cells. The intestinal epithelium is uniquely positioned and equipped with a cadre of pattern recognition receptors to sense luminal antigens and danger signals and relay this information to immune cells (2).

The intestinal epithelium faces the difficult challenge of permitting nutrient absorption and ion movement while maintaining an impermeable barrier to microorganisms and antigens in the gut lumen. The integrity of the intestinal mucosal barrier is critical for health; dysfunction of this barrier has been proposed to contribute to both intestinal and systemic disease, including inflammatory bowel disease (IBD) and multiple organ dysfunction syndrome (10, 11). Intestinal epithelial cells are linked by three types of specialized junctional complexes that attach adjacent cells and permit the selective paracellular movement of solutes and ions: desmosomes, adherens junctions, and tight junctions (10, 11). Desmosomes and adherens junctions predominantly serve as physical attachments between cells, while the more apically located tight junctions act as selective semipermeable barriers to intercellular spaces (12). Tight junctions are composed of four types of transmembrane proteins: junctional adhesion molecules, claudins, occludin, and tricellulin. Claudins are a family of proteins that are differentially expressed between tissues and exert different effects on paracellular permeability. Claudins critically regulate the selectivity of the epithelial barrier by forming chargeand size-specific channels between epithelial cells (12). The types of claudin proteins within tight junctions determine the permeability of these paracellular channels. For example, claudin-2 and claudin-6 have been shown to increase tight junction permeability. Intracellular zonula occludens proteins connect tight junction transmembrane proteins to cytoskeletal actin/myosin complexes, which facilitate opening of the tight junction under specific conditions (11, 12).

Cytokines and chemokines, soluble protein mediators critical for intercellular communication, support intestinal mucosal homeostasis but can also be key drivers of intestinal inflammation and inflammation-associated damage (1, 10, 13). For example, the genetic deletion of interleukin (IL)-10 or IL-2 precipitated spontaneous colitis in mice, suggesting that these cytokines are essential for colon homeostasis. However, a number of other cytokines, including IL-6, tumor necrosis factor (TNF), IL-18, IL-1β, and IL-17, are overexpressed in the inflamed intestine and have been implicated as contributors to intestinal damage (10). Despite these seemingly clear-cut observations, there is strong evidence that the traditional labels of pro- and anti-inflammatory are too simplistic and perhaps even deceiving when used to describe cytokine actions in the intestine. In support of this, clinical trials targeting cytokines thought to be predominantly pro-inflammatory in the intestine, such as IL-17, failed to induce remission in patients with IBD (10, 14). In addition, the literature contains conflicting and often equally convincing evidence for both pro- and anti-inflammatory actions of specific cytokines in the gut (10, 15). There are a number of potential explanations for these conflicting data, such as the timing of cytokine action, model system used, cytokine concentration, and the method of cytokine administration or removal (15-17). As such, cytokine actions should be interpreted on a situational basis to gain a more complete understanding of their diverse roles in health and disease.

Cytokines and chemokines can positively or negatively affect intestinal epithelial barrier integrity, and may be derived from resident innate or adaptive immune cells, infiltrating inflammatory cells, or from intestinal epithelial cells themselves (**Figure 1**) (10–12, 18–20). Intestinal epithelial proliferation and cell death can be induced or restricted by cytokines (21–23). Concordantly, various cytokines help heal the epithelial erosions and ulcerations characteristic of severe intestinal inflammation, while others exacerbate these lesions (10). Specific cytokines have also been shown to regulate opposing epithelial functions under different circumstances, for instance, proliferation or cell death (16, 22, 24–26). In addition, cytokines can directly alter intestinal epithelial



permeability (27, 28). The permeability of epithelial tight junctions may be increased or decreased by cytokine modification of the expression or localization of their protein components (11, 12, 27, 29, 30). Cytokines can also drive phosphorylation of myosin light chains, resulting in contraction and opening of tight junctions (11). Chemokine production by the intestinal epithelium recruits immune cells to areas of inflammation; however, whether this means epithelial suicide or survival depends on the inflammatory insult. Recruited immune cells may be crucial for defense against a pathogen but can perpetuate inflammation in conditions such as IBD (31-34). Regardless of mechanism, cytokines and chemokines are critical players in the integrity of the intestinal epithelial barrier. The purpose of this review is to highlight recent advances in our understanding of how cytokines and chemokines, both those made by and acting on the intestinal epithelium, orchestrate many of the diverse functions of the intestinal epithelium and its interactions with immune cells in health and disease.

CYTOKINE ACTIONS ON THE INTESTINAL EPITHELIUM

Cytokine Stimulation of Intestinal Epithelial Proliferation

Multiple cytokines regulate proliferation of the intestinal epithelium, a function that is crucial for both wound closure and replacing cells lost through homeostatic shedding (**Figure 2**) (7, 8, 16, 18, 35–50). Although generally thought to contribute to the pathology of IBD, recent studies have shown that TNF, IL-6, and IL-17 promote epithelial proliferation (14, 16, 18, 21, 44).

Tumor Necrosis Factor

In murine models of T cell activation and chronic chemically induced colitis, genetic ablation of either TNF or its receptor

impaired Wnt/ β -catenin signaling, resulting in reduced epithelial proliferation and delayed mucosal healing (16). This result may seem curious in light of the success of anti-TNF therapy in IBD patients; however, the authors offer an explanation for this perceived conflict by highlighting the mechanism of action of efficacious versus ineffective anti-TNF therapies. Therapeutic anti-TNF antibodies reduce inflammation in IBD patients by inducing apoptosis in inflammatory cells expressing membranebound TNF (51). By contrast, treatment with a soluble TNF receptor, which was ineffective in treating Crohn's disease, binds soluble TNF, which the authors propose blocks the ability of TNF to promote mucosal healing (16, 52).

Interleukin-6

Interleukin-6 increased proliferation and stem cell numbers in an in vitro model of murine small intestinal epithelial organoids, and the crypt epithelial cells also expressed IL-6, suggesting an autocrine signaling mechanism. Interestingly, the IL-6 receptor was only present on the basal membrane of crypt Paneth cells, making it unclear how IL-6 may affect epithelial cells in segments of the intestine lacking Paneth cells, such as the colon (18). However, Paneth cell metaplasia can be found in various types of colitis, in which case this mechanism of IL-6-facilitated epithelial repair could play a role (53). Furthermore, Kuhn et al. demonstrated that the early inhibition of IL-6 in murine models of bacterial colitis and wounding by biopsy impaired colon wound healing by limiting epithelial proliferation. They also demonstrated by in situ hybridization that IL-6 mRNA transcripts were enriched within the mucosa surrounding sites of intestinal perforation in human patients, suggesting that this IL-6-driven mechanism of wound healing may also be important in humans. These findings suggest that while Paneth cells may be crucial for IL-6-induced epithelial proliferation in the small



intestine, other mechanisms exist for IL-6 to drive epithelial repair in the colon (45).

Interleukin-17

Similarly, genetic ablation of IL-17 reduced intestinal epithelial cell proliferation and worsened dextran sulfate sodium (DSS)induced murine colitis (44). Furthermore, IL-17 was shown to synergize with fibroblast growth factor 2 (FGF2) to promote intestinal healing in this study. FGF2 and IL-17 signaling synergistically activated ERK and induced genes related to tissue repair and regeneration in primary murine intestinal epithelial cells. The authors demonstrated that the mechanism of this synergy depended on Act1, an adaptor molecule that suppresses FGF2 signaling but is required for IL-17 signaling. When cells were costimulated with IL-17 and FGF2, Act1 was preferentially recruited to IL-17 receptors, preventing Act1-mediated suppression of FGF2 signaling (44). These findings may offer one explanation for the unexpected results of a clinical trial investigating the inhibition of the IL-17 receptor as a therapy for active Crohn's disease, in which a disproportionate number of patients actually experienced worsening disease with treatment (14).

Interleukin-22

Interleukin-22 increased growth in both human and murine intestinal organoids, both by inducing proliferation of the epithelial cells and facilitating stem cell expansion (46). IL-22 was also shown to be crucial for stem cell maintenance *in vivo* in the small intestine in a murine model of methotrexate-induced intestinal damage (54). During *Citrobacter rodentium* infection, IL-22 production by CD4⁺ T cells was critical for colonic epithelial proliferation and resistance to infection-induced mucosal pathology (55).

Interleukin-36

Induction of IL-36 receptor signaling through any one of its ligands, IL-36 α , IL-36 β , or IL-36 γ , induced proliferation of intestinal epithelial cells in *in vitro* organoid cultures, and mice with genetic deletion of the IL-36 receptor were more susceptible to chemically induced colitis, demonstrating higher disease activity, more severe colon pathology, greater bacterial translocation, and decreased survival. Furthermore, administration of a combination of IL-36 α and IL-36 γ accelerated wound healing in murine colons by increasing proliferation of epithelial cells adjacent to the experimental wounds (47).

Interleukin-28A

Similarly, IL-28A [also termed interferon (IFN) λ 2] induced phosphorylation of signal transducer and activator of transcription 1 (STAT1) and proliferation in murine small and large intestinal epithelial organoid cultures (39). Mice with global knockout of the IL-28A receptor or intestinal epithelial cellspecific knockout of STAT1 developed more severe oxazolone and DSS-induced colitis, and the administration of IL-28A or genetic ablation of the IL-28A receptor in mice with induced colon wounds improved or delayed wound healing, respectively. The authors went further to link their murine models to human patients with IBD, demonstrating that both IBD patients and mice with colitis showed increased expression of the IL-28A receptor on the colon epithelium, as well as higher expression of IL-28A by cells within the lamina propria of the colon mucosa. Co-labeling of lamina propria cells in IBD patients identified dendritic cells as a major source of IL-28A (39).

Interleukin-10

A separate study also highlighted innate immune cells as a crucial cytokine source for mucosal healing. In a murine model of biopsy-induced colon injury, macrophage-derived IL-10 was crucial for optimal wound healing (48). IL-10 mRNA and protein were increased at wound sites within 1 day of wounding, and IL-10 induced epithelial proliferation by stimulating synthesis of Wnt1-inducible signaling protein-1. Interestingly, the absence of T and B cells in $Rag1^{-/-}$ mice also used in this study did not impair wound closure, further highlighting macrophages as the primary source of IL-10 in this model and suggesting that adaptive immune cells do not play a crucial role in this mechanism of wound healing (48).

IL-13, IL-4, and IL-33 Support the Differentiation of Specialized Epithelial Cells

Expansion of tuft cells, a specialized taste-chemosensory subtype of the intestinal epithelium, can also be induced by innate immune cells. During helminth infection, IL-25 secreted by tuft cells activates type 2 ILCs to produce IL-13, which induces the differentiation of increased numbers of tuft and goblet cells from epithelial progenitor cells (7, 8). IL-4, which shares the common receptor subunit IL-4 receptor α with IL-13, can also induce tuft cell hyperplasia (49). Mahapatro et al. demonstrated that IL-33 also directly affected the differentiation of epithelial progenitor cells. The constitutive expression of IL-33 in the small intestine of mice increased goblet and Paneth cell numbers but did not promote the proliferation/differentiation of absorptive enterocytes. Challenge of IL-33^{-/-} mice with *Salmonella* Typhimurium demonstrated that IL-33 was critical for microbial defense, as mice lacking IL-33 had more severe intestinal damage and a greater *Salmonella* burden associated with decreased numbers of goblet and Paneth cells and reduced antimicrobial peptide production (50). Similarly, mice with genetic deletion of IL-33 or its receptor had decreased numbers of goblet cells and more severe colitis in a model of oxazolone-induced intestinal inflammation (17).

Cytokine-Induced Proliferation and Carcinogenesis

In the absence of wound closure, cytokine-induced intestinal epithelial proliferation may prove to be more deleterious than healing. In fact, a number of studies have suggested that cytokines, including IL-17, IL-6, IL-22, TNF- α , IL-4, and IL-13, either alone or in combination, may promote carcinogenesis in intestinal epithelial cells (56–60). Wang et al. demonstrated that IL-17 receptor type A (IL-17RA) signaling promoted proliferation of transformed colon enterocytes. IL-17RA signaling also induced IL-6 expression, a cytokine previously associated with colitis-associated cancer development (56). The concurrent neutralization of either IL-6 and IL-22 or TNF- α and IL-17A inhibited NF- κ B or STAT3 signaling, respectively, and reduced the mitogenic effects of these cytokines on human colorectal cancer cells (57). Multiple studies have also shown that IL-22 alone can promote colorectal cancer progression (58, 59).

Furthermore, both IL-4 and IL-13 may contribute to colon cancer progression. IL-4 and IL-13 increased the expression of NADPH oxidase 1 in human colon cancer cell lines, which led to the production of reactive oxygen species and cellular proliferation. When examined in resected tissues from patients with colon cancer, the authors found increased active NADPH oxidase 1 in the tumor tissue relative to the adjacent normal colon tissue, leading them to suggest that IL-4/IL-13-driven NADPH oxidase 1 expression may drive colon carcinogenesis (60).

Cytokine Inhibition of Intestinal Epithelial Proliferation

In complement to the plethora of proliferation-inducing cytokines detailed earlier, a smaller number of cytokines limit intestinal epithelial proliferation (**Figure 2**) (24, 61–64).

Transforming Growth Factor- β (TGF- β)

Transforming growth factor- β suppressed expression of Survivin, a molecule critical for functional cell division in intestinal epithelial progenitor cells (61). Consistent with this finding, genetic disruption of TGF- β signaling in intestinal epithelial cells was sufficient for the development of invasive colon cancer in the face of chronic inflammation in mice (62).

Interferons

In a model of constitutive β -catenin signaling, Katlinskaya et al. demonstrated that type I IFNs limit intestinal epithelial proliferation (63). Concordantly, Tschurtschenthaler et al. characterized mice with intestinal epithelial-specific genetic deletion of the type I IFN receptor as having increased numbers of small intestinal goblet and Paneth cells, epithelial hyperproliferation, and increased tumor burden following tumor induction with azoxymethane and DSS (64). Remarkably, the authors were able to eliminate the epithelial hyperproliferation and increase in tumors by cohousing the type I IFN receptor knockout mice with wild-type mice, demonstrating that these knockout-induced phenotypes were dependent on the gut microbiota (64).

The effects of the type II IFN, IFN- γ , on the intestinal epithelium vary with length of exposure. The short-term incubation of the intestinal epithelial cell line T84 with IFN- γ activated β -catenin signaling and induced proliferation of the T84 cells, peaking at 24 h. However, extended exposure of the T84 cells to IFN- γ induced expression of DKK1, which inhibited Wnt- β -catenin signaling and reduced proliferation. Interestingly, the addition of both TNF- α and IFN- γ enhanced these effects (24).

Damage Control: Cytokine Regulation of Apoptosis

While well-regulated apoptosis is essential for the homeostatic shedding of enterocytes, any perturbations to this process could quickly compromise the intestinal epithelial barrier. Indeed, increased apoptosis has been detected in the intestinal epithelium of IBD patients, although it is unclear if this is an initiating event in the disease, an effect of inflammation, or some combination of both (5). Increased intestinal epithelial apoptosis is also a consistent feature in critically ill humans and animal models of critical illness, such as sepsis. This increase in apoptosis contributes to intestinal epithelial barrier compromise in critical illness, which has been implicated as a critical driver of multiple organ dysfunction syndrome (11). Cytokines can induce or inhibit intestinal epithelial apoptosis (**Figure 3**) (16, 22–26, 65–67).

Interferons

Interferons have been shown to induce apoptosis of intestinal epithelial cells. Using human colon explant cultures, Jarry et al. demonstrated that administration of IFN- α -2a rapidly induced IFN- γ production by lamina propria resident T cells and IFN- γ -dependent epithelial apoptosis, a direct effect of IFN- γ on the intestinal epithelium that has been reported previously (24, 65, 66). Katlinskaya et al. also demonstrated a role for type I IFN in promoting apoptosis of the intestinal epithelium in a model of constitutive β -catenin signaling (63).

Tumor Necrosis Factor

In contrast to its ability to promote intestinal epithelial proliferation, one of the most well-characterized actions of TNF in the intestine is its ability to induce epithelial cell death. Injection of



mice with TNF results in increased apoptosis of both small and large intestinal epithelial cells within 6 h, with a concentration of apoptotic cells in the intestinal crypts. Exposure of intestinal epithelial organoids derived from mice with genetic deletion of TNF receptors 1 and 2 revealed that while both receptors participated in TNF-mediated epithelial apoptosis, TNF receptor 1 signaling was predominantly involved. The authors further demonstrated that TNF-induced intestinal epithelial apoptosis is regulated by the inhibitor of apoptosis protein cIAP1. Inhibition of cIAP1 by second mitochondrial activator of caspases-mimetic compounds, tumor necrosis factor-related weak inducer of apoptosis (TWEAK), or genetic deletion sensitized mice to TNF-induced intestinal epithelial apoptosis (22). A separate in vitro study using cancerous and non-cancerous colon epithelial cell lines demonstrated that osteopontin reduced TNF-induced apoptosis, while the overexpression of IFN regulatory factor 1 increased TNF-mediated apoptosis (25). TNF was also implicated as contributing to the pathogenesis of intestinal inflammation in mice with conditional knockout of receptor interacting protein kinase 1 (RIPK1). Full RIPK1 knockout mice die perinatally, but the conditional RIPK1 knockout in intestinal epithelial cells in mice used in this study resulted in intestinal inflammation and early death associated with epithelial cell apoptosis. However, this phenotype was rescued by a deficiency in TNF receptor 1, and the lack of RIPK1 in in vitro cultured intestinal epithelial organoids sensitized the cultures to TNF-induced apoptosis (26).

In lieu of apoptosis, under certain circumstances, cells may undergo the pro-inflammatory process of regulated necrosis termed necroptosis (68). In addition to its ability to drive apoptosis, TNF can also initiate necroptosis of intestinal epithelial cells under specific conditions. In a model of conditional knockout of caspase 8 in intestinal epithelial cells, Günther et al. demonstrated that necroptosis in gut epithelial cells was triggered by TNF- α produced by other cells upon bacterial lipopolysaccharide (LPS) stimulation, not direct LPS-induced toll-like receptor 4 (TLR4) signaling in the epithelium. By contrast, gut epithelial necroptosis due to TLR3 ligation in the same model was cytokine-independent and directly initiated by TLR3 signaling (69).

In light of the strong evidence for a pro-apoptotic function of TNF in the gut, Bradford et al. curiously demonstrated an antiapoptotic effect of TNF in the intestinal epithelium. In the murine model of T cell activation induced by anti-CD3 antibody injection used in this study, intestinal epithelial apoptosis is expected both acutely at the villus tips and later in the crypts around 24 h post-injection. Interestingly, and perhaps counterintuitive to the evidence presented herein thus far, administration of anti-CD3 antibody in TNF^{-/-} mice resulted in a sevenfold increase in crypt epithelial apoptosis, suggesting that TNF works to limit epithelial apoptosis in this model (16). Other studies have also characterized an anti-apoptotic role for TNF in the intestinal epithelium, and the authors suggest that the level of TNF may determine whether it acts to promote or prevent apoptosis, with higher levels of TNF proposed to be pro-apoptotic (16, 67).

Transforming Growth Factor-β1

Transforming Growth Factor- $\beta 1$ can also inhibit intestinal epithelial cell death. TGF- $\beta 1$ reduced apoptosis and prevented

necrosis in rat jejunal crypt epithelial cells exposed to the TcdA toxin of *Clostridium difficile* (23).

Cytokine Reinforcement of Intestinal Epithelial Barrier Integrity

Appropriate permeability of the intestinal epithelium is crucial for the balance between nutrient absorption and pathogen exclusion, and a number of cytokines positively affect this epithelial function (**Figure 4**) (12, 17, 27, 42, 70–72).

Interleukin-17

Inhibition of IL-17 receptor A by antibody neutralization worsened disease in the multidrug resistance-1a-ablated (Abcb1a^{-/-}) murine model of colitis and was associated with increased epithelial permeability as detected by increased serum concentrations of soluble CD14 and LPS binding protein and increased plasma concentrations of orally administered sucralose, lactulose, and mannitol (70). Lee et al. also demonstrated that a loss of IL-17 signaling increased intestinal epithelial permeability by showing increased amounts of orally administered fluorescein isothiocyanate (FITC)-dextran in the serum of mice with both chemically induced and T cell transfer-induced colitis in which IL-17 was removed by antibody neutralization or genetic deletion (27). The authors attributed the increase in gut epithelial permeability in the absence of IL-17 to disruptions in the structure of tight junctions, junctional complexes which are critical to the selectivity inherent in appropriate gut barrier permeability. The absence of IL-17 resulted in the intracellular mislocalization of the tight junction complex protein occludin and a loss of co-localization of occludin with F-actin. To provide more support for this mechanism, the authors applied TNF- α , a cytokine previously reported to disrupt tight junctions and increase epithelial barrier permeability, to cultured Caco-2 cells with or without co-stimulation with IL-17A (27, 28). Consistent with their observations in vivo, TNF- α altered the intracellular localization of occludin; however, co-stimulation with IL-17A reduced the TNF-induced occludin mislocalization (27). Along with the previously described ability of IL-17 to induce intestinal epithelial regeneration, the ability of IL-17 to reinforce the intestinal epithelial barrier offers an additional potential explanation for the worsening of Crohn's disease observed in clinical trial patients treated with an antibody to inhibit IL-17 receptor signaling (14).

Interleukin-10

Multiple studies have shown the positive effects of IL-10 signaling in the gut epithelium for maintenance of appropriate epithelial permeability (42, 73, 74). Stimulation of T84 cell monolayers with IL-10 restored transepithelial electrical resistance disrupted by compromise of the monolayers by incubation with IFN- γ . In addition, knockdown of the IL-10 receptor 1 in human intestinal epithelial cell lines impaired barrier formation as assessed by transepithelial electrical resistance and increased paracellular flux (42). These changes suggest alterations in the function of intercellular tight junctions owing to the lack of IL-10 signaling; however, this potential mechanism was not explored in this study. In the same study, mice with intestinal epithelial cell-specific



FIGURE 4 | Appropriate permeability of the intestinal epithelium maintains balance between nutrient absorption and pathogen exclusion. Cytokines may reinforce or impair the intestinal barrier by altering permeability of the epithelian. Epithelial tight junction permeability may be increased or decreased by cytokine modification of the expression or localization of tight junction protein components, such as various claudins, occludin, or zonula occludens protein-1 (ZO-1). Cytokines can also drive phosphorylation of myosin light chains, resulting in contraction and opening of tight junctions. Interferon (IFN)-γ increases intercellular adhesion molecule-1 (ICAM-1) expression, and subsequently, ICAM-1-mediated adherence of neutrophils to gut epithelial apical membranes. Neutrophil ligation of ICAM-1 drives the phosphorylation of myosin light-chain kinase (MLCK), resulting in actin reorganization leading to increased paracellular permeability and neutrophil transepithelial migration.

knockout of the IL-10 receptor 1 developed more severe chemically induced colitis with increased epithelial permeability to FITC-dextran (42). The authors concluded that the more severe colitis in these mice was driven by increased barrier permeability due to a lack of IL-10 signaling in epithelial cells. However, as previously discussed, IL-10 can induce proliferation in intestinal epithelial cells (48). As such, the inhibition of IL-10-induced epithelial restitution could have also contributed to the more severe colitis demonstrated in mice lacking intestinal epithelial expression of the IL-10 receptor 1 in this study.

In a separate study, Zheng et al. demonstrated how a cytokine, in this case IL-10, can interact with the intestinal microbiota to regulate epithelial function (73). Butyrate, a short chain fatty acid made by the intestinal microbiota in vivo, induced the expression of both IL-10 receptor α subunit mRNA and protein in T84 and Caco-2 cells. Treatment of T84 cells with butyrate and IL-10 increased epithelial barrier integrity more than butyrate alone as determined by increased transepithelial electrical resistance. Based on the increased expression of the IL-10 receptor α subunit in the epithelial cells due to butyrate treatment, the mechanism for this increase in barrier integrity owing to butyrate and IL-10 could be hypothesized to be an increase in IL-10 signaling due to increased IL-10 receptor expression. However, the authors did not compare these data with the transepithelial electrical resistance induced by IL-10 in the absence of butyrate. As a result, it is unclear from these data whether butyrate and IL-10 synergistically increase transepithelial electrical resistance in intestinal epithelial cells, or if the level reported in this study could have been induced by IL-10 alone. The authors went further to demonstrate that butyrate reduced both the mRNA and protein expression of the pro-permeability tight junction protein claudin-2 in T84 cells in an IL-10 receptor α-dependent manner, providing a potential mechanism for the observed increases in epithelial barrier integrity in the presence of butyrate (73). Interestingly, reductions in butyrate-producing bacteria have been reported in the microbiota of ulcerative colitis patients, suggesting a potential mechanism of epithelial barrier compromise due to dysbiosis as a contributing factor in this disease (75).

A study by Lorén et al. demonstrated how IL-10 can increase the effectiveness of other therapies (74). Previous work by this group correlated low IL-10 mRNA levels with poor glucocorticoid response in active Crohn's disease. In a later study, the authors discovered a possible mechanism for this observation, as treatment with a combination of IL-10 and glucocorticoids, but neither treatment alone, restored the transepithelial electrical resistance of Caco-2 cell monolayers following their disruption with TNF- α (74).

Interleukin-6

A study by Kuhn et al. provided more evidence for the crucial relationship between the microbiota, immune system, and intestinal epithelial barrier (71). Bacteria in the order Bacteroidales were sufficient to induce localization of intraepithelial lymphocytes in the colons of mice, and these cells were an important source of IL-6. IL-6 supported epithelial barrier function, as IL-6^{-/-} mice displayed reduced expression of the tight junction protein claudin-1, a thinner mucus gel layer, and augmented paracellular permeability, all defects which were resolved by the transfer of IL-6^{+/+} intraepithelial lymphocytes to affected mice (71).

Stem Cell Factor

C-kit signaling has also been shown to promote intestinal epithelial barrier integrity through the regulation of a tight junction protein. The overexpression of c-kit or administration of its ligand stem cell factor increased expression of the tight junction protein claudin-3 in colorectal cancer cells *in vitro*, and decreased claudin-3 expression was observed in the colon epithelium of mice lacking functional c-kit (72).

Interleukin-33

Rectal biopsies from adult and pediatric patients with ulcerative colitis have increased IL-33 expression relative to specimens lacking inflammation (17). To determine if this implicates IL-33 as a contributor to inflammation or an anti-inflammatory response in these patients, Waddell et al. investigated the role of IL-33 in chemically induced colitis in mice (17). Mice with genetic deletion of ST2, the receptor for IL-33, had decreased colon transepithelial electrical resistance and increased permeability to FITC-dextran, suggesting that IL-33 promotes colon epithelial barrier function. In support of these data, genetic deletion of either ST2 or IL-33 precipitated more severe chemically induced colitis in these mice (17). However, the authors did not fully characterize the mechanism by which IL-33 promoted epithelial barrier integrity in these studies. The authors reported that intestinal epithelial proliferation and apoptosis were unaffected by the absence of IL-33 or ST2 in this model of colitis, but that goblet cell numbers and Muc2 expression were decreased in these mice. This suggests that alterations in the mucus layer could have influenced epithelial barrier permeability in these mice, but the mucus layer itself was not evaluated. In addition, potential effects of IL-33 on interepithelial junctional complexes were not assessed; however, the authors did demonstrate that IL-33-induced augmentation of transepithelial electrical resistance in T84 cell monolayers was dependent on ERK1/2 signaling (17). This is particularly curious in light of a recent paper that reported reduced transepithelial electrical resistance and claudin-1 expression induced by IL-33-stimulated ERK signaling in human keratinocytes (76). This discrepancy could be explained by the different cell types investigated; however, conflicting roles for IL-33 in intestinal inflammation have been reported. Other investigators have demonstrated exacerbation of multiple models of murine colitis and decreased intestinal epithelial barrier integrity due to the administration of IL-33 (77, 78). Waddell et al. suggest that these inconsistencies could be due to differences in IL-33 concentrations among studies or the differing characteristics of inflammation in each colitis model, two reasonable explanations that warrant further investigation (17). In support of the data reported by Waddell et al., Sattler et al. demonstrated the induction of protective IL-10-producing regulatory B cells by IL-33 (78). The administration of IL-33 accelerated spontaneous colitis in IL-10-deficient mice but did not induce intestinal inflammation in wild-type mice. In addition, the transfer of IL-33-induced, IL-10-producing regulatory B cells to IL-10-deficient mice reduced colitis severity and delayed disease onset (78). As previously discussed, IL-10 promotes epithelial barrier integrity (42, 73). As such, reduced IL-10 production owing to genetic ablation of IL-33 signaling is a potential mechanism for the increased intestinal epithelial permeability observed by Waddell et al. (17, 42, 73).

Falling Through the Cracks: Cytokine Promotion of Intestinal Epithelial Permeability

In contrast to the barrier reinforcing properties of the cytokines described earlier, a handful of cytokines can also disrupt the intestinal epithelium and promote barrier permeability (**Figure 4**) (29, 30, 79, 80).

Tumor Necrosis Factor

Various effects of TNF- α on the intestinal epithelium discussed herein could disrupt the epithelial barrier; however, TNF- α stimulation of intestinal epithelial cells has also been specifically demonstrated to decrease the protein expression of the tight junction proteins claudin-1, occludin, and zonula occludens protein-1 (ZO-1), as well as to induce cytoskeletal F-actin rearrangement and the mislocalization of occludin and ZO-1 (29, 30). Multiple studies have identified mechanisms to reduce TNF- α -induced epithelial barrier compromise, including the overexpression of anterior gradient protein 2 homolog, rebeccamycin treatment, and the stimulation of muscarinic cholinoceptor-mediated signaling (29, 30, 81).

Interleukin-22

Interleukin-22 also increases gut epithelial permeability *via* manipulation of tight junction protein expression. IL-22 stimulation of Caco-2 cells *in vitro* and murine colon epithelial cells *in vivo* increased the expression of the tight junction protein claudin-2, which forms cation channels. Caco-2 monolayers treated with IL-22 displayed decreased transepithelial electrical resistance, indicating increased paracellular ion permeability, but no change in movement of uncharged macromolecules across the monolayers was observed (79).

Interferon-y

The increase in intestinal epithelial permeability induced by IFN-y described by Sumagin et al. provides an elegant example of the intricate relationships between cytokines, the epithelium, and immune cells (80). Using the T84 intestinal epithelial cell line for an *in vitro* model of transepithelial migration of neutrophils, the authors demonstrated that IFN-y induced expression of the intercellular adhesion molecule-1 (ICAM-1) on the apical membrane of T84 cells and increased the number of neutrophils adherent to the apical epithelial membranes via ICAM-1 postmigration. The ligation of ICAM-1 by neutrophils resulted in the phosphorylation of myosin light-chain kinase and a subsequent increase in epithelial permeability characterized by actin cytoskeletal reorganization, paracellular FITC-dextran flux, and a decrease in transepithelial electrical resistance. Notably in this model, this increase in epithelial permeability facilitated neutrophil transepithelial migration (80).

Additional Cytokine Effects on Intestinal Epithelial Function

In addition to those detailed earlier, cytokines modulate a wide array of other intestinal epithelial functions. While endogenous type III IFN produced by intestinal epithelial cells does not restrict human rotavirus replication due to viral antagonism of the type III IFN response, treatment of human rotavirus-infected small intestinal organoid cultures with exogenous type I IFN, and to a lesser extent exogenous type III IFN, limits rotaviral replication (82). However, other studies in mice have found that IFN- λ , a type III IFN, is more effective than type I IFNs in limiting viral replication in the intestinal epithelium in models of reovirus and rotavirus infection (83, 84).

In a somewhat unexpected role, IL-22 production by neutrophils in chemically induced murine colitis induced the expression of antimicrobial peptides by the colon epithelium and protected the epithelium from chemically induced damage (85). Epithelial signaling of the IL-17 receptor regulates colonization of the murine intestine with segmented filamentous bacteria through the epithelial expression of the apical NADPH oxidase *Nox1*, *polymeric immunoglobulin receptor (Pigr)*, and α-defensins (86). In addition to the functions previously discussed, TNF stimulation of the intestinal epithelium has also been shown to reduce expression of the Cl⁻ / HCO₃ exchanging solute carrier family 26 member 3, which may represent a therapeutic target in IBDassociated diarrhea (87). TNF also augmented receptor activator of NF-κB ligand-induced M cell differentiation (88).

TALKING BACK: INTESTINAL EPITHELIAL-DERIVED CYTOKINES AND CHEMOKINES

Pro- and Anti-Inflammatory Functions of Intestinal Epithelial-Derived Cytokines

The intestinal epithelium is not simply beholden to respond to immune cell-derived cytokines but is a rich source of cytokines and chemokines, which may ameliorate or promote inflammation. The colonic epithelium was found to be a larger source of trefoil factor 2 (TFF2) than colon leukocytes, and TFF2 was protective in both acute and chronic models of DSS-induced colitis (19). In models of helminth infection, production of IL-25 by intestinal epithelial tuft cells regulated the helminth-induced type 2 immune response and facilitated worm expulsion (7, 49).

Intestinal epithelial cells also produce the anti-inflammatory cytokine IL-10, which likely contributes to tolerance to commensal bacteria. TLR4 ligation induced intestinal epithelial cell expression of IL-10, and this expression was enhanced by co-culture with macrophages (20). As previously discussed, IL-10 has been shown to stimulate intestinal epithelial cell proliferation and reinforce the integrity of the epithelial barrier (42, 48, 73). Thus, the microbiota may contribute to intestinal epithelial integrity through epithelial TLR4 ligation and the subsequent autocrine action of epithelialderived IL-10. If so, IL-10 would not be the only cytokine with an autocrine mechanism for promoting epithelial homeostasis. IL-6 production by the intestinal epithelium has also been detected, which was shown to act in an autocrine manner to regulate crypt homeostasis (18).

In contrast to these anti-inflammatory and homeostatic effects, intestinal epithelial products may also promote inflammation. The accumulation of visceral fat has been associated with chronic intestinal inflammation, and in support of this, coculture of intestinal epithelial cells with differentiated adipocytes induced epithelial expression of TNF and matrix metalloproteinase-9 (89). IL-1 α release by necrotic intestinal epithelial cells in a murine model of chemically induced colitis induced cytokine production by mesenchymal cells and reactivated colon inflammation post-recovery when delivered *via* enema (90). The findings of Bersudsky et al. support these data, as genetic ablation of IL-1 α ameliorated murine DSS-induced colitis (91).

Intestinal epithelial cells also secrete IL-33; however, there is conflicting evidence in the literature regarding its role in both IBD [reviewed by Griesenauer et al. (40)] and intestinal carcinogenesis. IL-33 expression was found to be increased in epithelial cells of both murine and human intestinal tumors, and IL-33 promoted tumor development in $Apc^{Min/+}$ mice (92, 93). Similarly, the expression of IL-33 by intestinal epithelial cells was increased in the murine azoxymethane/DSS model of colon cancer, and the authors went further to demonstrate that the epithelial expression of IL-33 was driven by epidermal growth factor (94). By contrast, knockdown of the IL-33 receptor, ST2, in colon cancer cells from mice enhanced tumor growth, suggesting a potential antitumorigenic role for IL-33 (95).

Calling in the Troops: Intestinal Epithelial Chemokine Production

Intestinal epithelial-derived chemokines can contribute to both cellular defense and pathology. Listeria monocytogenes infection of an intestinal epithelial cell line induced expression of the chemokines IL-8, CCL1, and CCL20. Consistent with the epithelial invasiveness of L. monocytogenes, the high levels of CCL20 and IL-8 were likely induced by intracellular TLR10 signaling, the knockdown of which reduced chemokine levels more than silencing of TLR1 or TLR2 (31). IL-8, CCL1, and CCL20 are responsible for neutrophil, Th2 and regulatory T cell, and Th17 and dendritic cell trafficking, respectively, and would promote the infiltration of these cell types in the infected mucosa (96). Interestingly, a separate study identified a non-chemotactic role for IL-8 in the intestine. Apically secreted intestinal epithelial cell-derived IL-8 in response to TLR2 and TLR5 ligation was shown to act in an autocrine manner to promote gene expression related to cellular differentiation (97).

Chemokines likely play a critical role in the perpetuation of intestinal inflammation in IBD patients. Dent et al. reported that cocultured eosinophils and intestinal epithelial cells synergized to increase neutrophil chemotactic activity and CXCL5 production; however, the authors did not quantify the individual contributions of each cell type to this increase (33). As evidence of activated eosinophils has been detected in acute flares of IBD, this could contribute to excessive neutrophil recruitment to the intestine and increased tissue damage in active IBD (33). Production of the cytokine IL-34 is increased in the intestine of patients with active IBD, and Franzè et al. demonstrated that production of the chemokine CCL20 was associated with IL-34 signaling in both the DLD-1 colon epithelial cell line and in mucosal explants from IBD patients (34). CCL20 production could fuel the inflammatory response in active IBD patients through the recruitment of Th17 and dendritic cells. However, the potential consequences of increased CCL20 production are not so clear-cut. In fact, these cells could aid in restitution of the epithelial barrier in IBD patients. As noted

previously, IL-17 can increase intestinal epithelial cell proliferation and reduce barrier permeability, and dendritic cells are a critical source of IL-28A in the gut, another cytokine shown to induce intestinal epithelial proliferation (27, 39, 44, 70). Conversely, this hypothesized cytokine-induced proliferation could be too much of a good thing. IL-17 has been shown to both induce the proliferation of transformed enterocytes and stimulate IL-6 production, a cytokine implicated in colitis-associated carcinogenesis (56). The neutrophil chemokine CXCL1 has also been shown to promote carcinogenesis. The upregulation of CXCL1 by colon tumor epithelium was dependent on hypoxia-inducible factor 2α and contributed to colon carcinogenesis through neutrophil recruitment (32).

Intestinal Epithelial Responses to Pathogens and Commensals

The intestinal epithelium is uniquely located to be the ideal first line of defense or communication with intraluminal bacteria and viruses. A number of bacteria alter cytokine production by the gut epithelium (Figure 5) (98-103). Exposure of the colon epithelial cell line HCT-8 to Shiga toxin 2 produced by Shigatoxigenic Escherichia coli increased protein expression of IL-8 and TNF-α. However, HCT-8 exposure to subtilase cytoxin produced by the same bacterium decreased protein expression of IL-8 and monocyte chemoattractant protein-1 relative to unstimulated control cells, suggesting that these bacteria may use specific toxin production to differentially modulate host defenses (98). Infection of Caco-2 monolayers with Shigella flexneri 2a or Shigella dysenteriae 1 induced IL-8 secretion, which was predominantly released from the basolateral aspect of the epithelial cells, and Salmonella enterica serovar Typhimurium activated non-canonical inflammasome activity in murine and human intestinal epithelial cells, facilitating IL-18 secretion and bacterial clearance (99, 100).

In contrast to these predominantly pro-inflammatory responses, stimulation of Caco-2 cells with commensal bacteria increased thymic stromal lymphopoietin (TSLP), IL-8, and TGF- β 1 secretion, which resulted in the promotion of a tolerogenic dendritic cell phenotype by TSLP and TGF- β 1 (101). In addition, probiotic bacterial strains have been shown to reduce gut epithelial production of IL-8 (102, 103).

Intestinal epithelial cytokine release prompted by viral infection can help clear infection or create pathology. Simian immunodeficiency virus infection of the intestinal epithelium of rhesus macaques induced IL-1 β expression by Paneth cells before the induction of an antiviral IFN response. IL-1 β expression was correlated with epithelial disruption characterized by the mislocalization and reduced expression of tight junction proteins, although these changes did not correspond to any aberrant responses to bacteria (104).

Multiple studies have documented the production of IFN- λ by virus-infected intestinal epithelial cells, although the ability of this cytokine to limit viral infection varied between studies (82, 84, 105). A possible explanation for these discrepancies may be found in the work of Hernández et al., which demonstrated that group 3 ILC-derived IL-22 amplified IFN- λ signaling in intestinal epithelial cells, and synergistic signaling by the two cytokines was necessary for a reduction in viral replication and optimal stimulation of IFN-induced gene expression (105).



inducing a tolerogenic phenotype in dendritic cells.

Dietary Modulation of Intestinal Epithelial Mediator Release

Diet has been implicated as a possible contributing factor to IBD; however, research has failed to identify the "ideal" antiinflammatory diet for IBD patients (106). Nevertheless, recent studies have identified anti-inflammatory effects of specific dietary components on the intestinal epithelium. Pretreatment of Caco-2 cells with the plant-derived flavonoid cyanidin-3-glucoside (C3G) reduced TNF- α -induced gene expression of IL-8 and TNF-α. C3G also inhibited endothelial cell activation and subsequent leukocyte adhesion stimulated by coculture with TNF-α-stimulated Caco-2 cells (107). Similarly, treatment of Caco-2 cells with the dietary fiber guar gum increased expression of the suppressor of cytokine signaling-1 (SOCS-1) and reduced TNF-α-induced IL-8 expression. In addition, guar gum administration to mice with chemically induced enteritis reduced disease activity and pro-inflammatory cytokine expression in the small intestine concurrent with an increase in SOCS-1 protein (108).

CONCLUDING REMARKS

Cytokines and chemokines are critical for intestinal epithelial homeostasis and responses to disease. The ability of cytokines to directly facilitate or restrict intestinal epithelial proliferation, apoptosis, and permeability makes them key players in the maintenance, or at times destruction, of the intestinal epithelial barrier. Furthermore, the release of cytokines and chemokines by the

REFERENCES

 Peterson LW, Artis D. Intestinal epithelial cells: regulators of barrier function and immune homeostasis. *Nat Rev Immunol* (2014) 14(3):141–53. doi:10.1038/nri3608 intestinal epithelium in response to pathogens, commensal organisms, interactions with other cell types, and dietary compounds allows these cells to have critical input into their microenvironment. Despite our frequent tendency to classify cytokines as either pro- or anti-inflammatory, we must realize that these labels fail to acknowledge the incredible diversity and situational basis of cytokine functions. While undoubtedly complex, the cytokine biology of intestinal mucosal immunology is a fascinating opportunity for investigations into both intestinal immunophysiology and potential translational approaches to modulate this physiology for much-needed novel therapies for intestinal disease.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

CA, MM, and SD contributed to the development of the review topic. CA wrote the initial draft of the manuscript, and MM and SD critically reviewed and edited the manuscript for content.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The authors wish to thank the Scientific Publications, Graphics & Media talent at the National Cancer Institute at Frederick for their contributions to the manuscript figures.

FUNDING

CA and SD are supported by the Intramural Research Program of the National Institutes of Health, National Cancer Institute.

- Mowat AM, Agace WW. Regional specialization within the intestinal immune system. Nat Rev Immunol (2014) 14(10):667–85. doi:10.1038/nri3738
- Carding SR, Davis N, Hoyles L. Review article: the human intestinal virome in health and disease. *Aliment Pharmacol Ther* (2017) 46(9):800–15. doi:10.1111/apt.14280

- Woo PCY, Chang MW, Chai LYA. The fungal mycobiome and its interaction with gut bacteria in the host. *Int J Mol Sci* (2017) 18(2):330. doi:10.3390/ ijms18020330
- Blander JM. Death in the intestinal epithelium basic biology and implications for inflammatory bowel disease. *FEBS J* (2016) 283(14):2720–30. doi:10.1111/febs.13771
- Haber AL, Biton M, Rogel N, Herbst RH, Shekhar K, Smillie C, et al. A single-cell survey of the small intestinal epithelium. *Nature* (2017) 551(7680):333–9. doi:10.1038/nature24489
- von Moltke J, Ji M, Liang H, Locksley RM. Tuft-cell-derived IL-25 regulates an intestinal ILC2-epithelial response circuit. *Nature* (2016) 529(7585):221–5. doi:10.1038/nature16161
- Howitt MR, Lavoie S, Michaud M, Blum AM, Tran SV, Weinstock JV, et al. Tuft cells, taste chemosensory cells, orchestrate parasite type 2 immunity in the gut. *Science* (2016) 351(6279):1329–33. doi:10.1126/science.aaf1648
- Takahashi Y, Sato S, Kurashima Y, Yamamoto T, Kurokawa S, Yuki Y, et al. A refined culture system for human induced pluripotent stem cell-derived intestinal epithelial organoids. *Stem Cell Reports* (2018) 10(1):314–28. doi:10.1016/j.stemcr.2017.11.004
- Neurath MF. Cytokines in inflammatory bowel disease. Nat Rev Immunol (2014) 14(5):329–42. doi:10.1038/nri3661
- Mittal R, Coopersmith CM. Redefining the gut as the motor of critical illness. Trends Mol Med (2014) 20(4):214–23. doi:10.1016/j.molmed.2013.08.004
- Groschwitz KR, Hogan SP. Intestinal barrier function: molecular regulation and disease pathogenesis. J Allergy Clin Immunol (2009) 124(1):3–22. doi:10.1016/ j.jaci.2009.05.038
- Dinarello CA. Historical review of cytokines. *Eur J Immunol* (2007) 37(Suppl 1):S34–45. doi:10.1002/eji.200737772
- Targan SR, Feagan BG, Vermeire S, Panaccione R, Melmed GY, Blosch C. M02083 a randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled study to evaluate the safety, tolerability and efficacy of AMG 827 in subjects with moderate to severe Crohn's disease. *Gastroenterology* (2012) 143(3):e26. doi:10.1053/j. gastro.2012.07.084
- Andrews C, McLean MH, Durum SK. Interleukin-27 as a novel therapy for inflammatory bowel disease: a critical review of the literature. *Inflamm Bowel Dis* (2016) 22(9):2255–64. doi:10.1097/MIB.00000000000818
- Bradford EM, Ryu SH, Singh AP, Lee G, Goretsky T, Sinh P, et al. Epithelial TNF receptor signaling promotes mucosal repair in inflammatory bowel disease. *J Immunol* (2017) 199:1886–97. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1601066
- Waddell A, Vallance JE, Moore PD, Hummel AT, Wu D, Shanmukhappa SK, et al. IL-33 signaling protects from murine oxazolone colitis by supporting intestinal epithelial function. *Inflamm Bowel Dis* (2015) 21(12):2737–46. doi:10.1097/MIB.00000000000532
- Jeffery V, Goldson AJ, Dainty JR, Chieppa M, Sobolewski A. IL-6 signaling regulates small intestinal crypt homeostasis. *J Immunol* (2017) 199:304–11. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1600960
- Judd LM, Chalinor HV, Walduck A, Pavlic DI, Däbritz J, Dubeykovskaya Z, et al. TFF2 deficiency exacerbates weight loss and alters immune cell and cytokine profiles in DSS colitis, and this cannot be rescued by wild-type bone marrow. *Am J Physiol Gastrointest Liver Physiol* (2015) 308(1):G12–24. doi:10.1152/ajpgi.00172.2014
- Hyun J, Romero L, Riveron R, Flores C, Kanagavelu S, Chung KD, et al. Human intestinal epithelial cells express IL-10 through toll-like receptor 4 (TLR4)-mediated epithelial-macrophage crosstalk. *J Innate Immun* (2015) 7(1):87–101. doi:10.1159/000365417
- McLean MH, Neurath MF, Durum SK. Targeting interleukins for the treatment of inflammatory bowel disease – what lies beyond anti-TNF therapy? *Inflamm Bowel Dis* (2014) 20(2):389–97. doi:10.1097/01.MIB.0000437616.37000.41
- Grabinger T, Bode KJ, Demgenski J, Seitz C, Delgado ME, Kostadinova F, et al. Inhibitor of apoptosis protein-1 regulates tumor necrosis factormediated destruction of intestinal epithelial cells. *Gastroenterology* (2017) 152:867–79. doi:10.1053/j.gastro.2016.11.019
- Tinico-Veras CM, Santos AAQA, Stipursky J, Meloni M, Bergamo Araujo AP, Foshetti DA, et al. Transforming growth factor β1/SMAD signaling pathway activation protects the intestinal epithelium from *Clostridium difficile* toxin A-induced damage. *Infect Immun* (2017) 85(10):e00430–17. doi:10.1128/ IAI.00430-17
- 24. Nava P, Koch S, Kaukoetter MG, Lee WY, Kolegraff K, Capaldo CT, et al. Interferon- γ regulates intestinal epithelial homeostasis through converging

β-catenin signaling pathways. *Immunity* (2010) 32(3):392–402. doi:10.1016/j. immuni.2010.03.001

- 25. Tang R, Yang G, Zhang S, Wu C, Chen M. Opposite effects of interferon regulatory factor 1 and osteopontin on the apoptosis of epithelial cells induced by TNF-α in inflammatory bowel disease. *Inflamm Bowel Dis* (2014) 20(11):1950–61. doi:10.1097/MIB.00000000000192
- Takahashi N, Vereecke L, Bertrand MJM, Duprez L, Berger SB, Divert T, et al. RIPK1 ensures intestinal homeostasis by protecting the epithelium against apoptosis. *Nature* (2014) 513(7516):95–9. doi:10.1038/nature13706
- Lee JS, Tato CM, Joyce-Shaikh B, Gulen MF, Cayatte C, Chen Y, et al. Interleukin-23-independent IL-17 production regulates intestinal epithelial permeability. *Immunity* (2015) 43(4):727–38. doi:10.1016/j.immuni. 2015.09.003
- Ma TY, Iwamoto GK, Hoa NT, Akotia V, Pedram A, Boivin MA, et al. TNFalpha-induced increase in intestinal epithelial tight junction permeability requires NF-kappa B activation. *Am J Physiol Gastrointest Liver Physiol* (2004) 286(3):G367–76. doi:10.1152/ajpgi.00173.2003
- Ye X, Sun M. AGR2 ameliorates tumor necrosis factor-α-induced epithelial barrier dysfunction via suppression of NF-KB p65-mediated MLCK/p-MLC pathway activation. *Int J Mol Med* (2017) 39(5):1206–14. doi:10.3892/ijmm. 2017.2928
- 30. Watari A, Sakamoto Y, Hisaie K, Iwamoto K, Fueta M, Yagi K, et al. Rebeccamycin attenuates TNF- α -induced intestinal epithelial barrier dysfunction by inhibiting myosin light chain kinase production. *Cell Physiol Biochem* (2017) 41(5):1924–34. doi:10.1159/000472367
- Regan T, Nally K, Carmody R, Houston A, Shanahan F, MacSharry J, et al. Identification of TLR10 as a key mediator of the inflammatory response to *Listeria monocytogenes* in intestinal epithelial cells and macrophages. *J Immunol* (2013) 191(12):6084–92. doi:10.4049/jimmunol. 1203245
- 32. Triner D, Xue X, Schwartz AJ, Jung I, Colacino JA, Shah YM. Epithelial hypoxia-inducible factor 2α facilitates the progression of colon tumors through recruiting neutrophils. *Mol Cell Biol* (2017) 37(5):e00481-16. doi:10.1128/MCB.00481-16
- Dent G, Loweth SC, Hasan AM, Leslie FM. Synergic production of neutrophil chemotactic activity by colonic epithelial cells and eosinophils. *Immunobiology* (2014) 219(10):793–7. doi:10.1016/j.imbio.2014.06.008
- Franzè E, Marafini I, De Simone V, Monteleone I, Caprioli F, Colantoni A, et al. Interleukin-34 induces Cc-chemokine ligand 20 in gut epithelial cells. *J Crohns Colitis* (2016) 10(1):87–94. doi:10.1093/ecco-jcc/jjv181
- Sedger LM, McDermott MF. TNF and TNF-receptors: from mediators of cell death and inflammation to therapeutic giants – past, present, and future. *Cytokine Growth Factor Rev* (2014) 25(4):453–72. doi:10.1016/j.cytogfr. 2014.07.016
- Blouin CM, Lamaze C. Interferon gamma receptor: the beginning of the journey. Front Immunol (2013) 4:267. doi:10.3389/fimmu.2013.00267
- Huang F, Chen Y. Regulation of TGF-β receptor activity. *Cell Biosci* (2012) 2:9. doi:10.1186/2045-3701-2-9
- Sabat R, Ouyang W, Wolk K. Therapeutic opportunities of the IL-22-IL-22R1 system. Nat Rev Drug Discov (2014) 13(1):21–38. doi:10.1038/ nrd4176
- 39. Chiriac MT, Buchen B, Wandersee A, Hundorfean G, Gunther C, Bourjau Y, et al. Activation of epithelial signal transducer and activator of transcription 1 by interleukin 28 controls mucosal healing in mice with colitis and is increased in mucosa of patients with inflammatory bowel disease. *Gastroenterology* (2017) 153:123–38. doi:10.1053/j.gastro.2017.03.015
- Griesenauer B, Paczesny S. The ST2/IL-33 axis in immune cells during inflammatory diseases. *Front Immunol* (2017) 8:475. doi:10.3389/fimmu. 2017.00475
- Guanghui Y, Ybe JA, Saha SS, Caviness G, Raymond E, Ganesan R, et al. Structural and functional attributes of the interleukin-36 receptor. *J Biol Chem* (2016) 291(32):16597–609. doi:10.1074/jbc.M116.723064
- Kominsky DJ, Campbell EL, Ehrentraut SF, Wilson KE, Kelly CJ, Glover LE, et al. IFN-γ-mediated induction of an apical IL-10 receptor on polarized intestinal epithelia. *J Immunol* (2014) 192(3):1267–76. doi:10.4049/jimmunol. 1301757
- Gandhi NA, Bennett BL, Graham NM, Pirozzi G, Stahl N, Yancopoulos GD. Targeting key proximal drivers of type 2 inflammation in disease. *Nat Rev Drug Discov* (2016) 15(1):35–50. doi:10.1038/nrd4624

- Song X, Dai D, He X, Zhu S, Yao Y, Gao H, et al. Growth factor FGF2 cooperates with interleukin-17 to repair intestinal epithelial damage. *Immunity* (2015) 43:488–501. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2015.06.024
- Kuhn KA, Manieri NA, Liu T, Stappenbeck TS. IL-6 stimulates intestinal epithelial proliferation and repair after injury. *PLoS One* (2014) 9(12):e114195. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0114195
- Lindemans CA, Calafiore M, Mertelsmann AM, O'Connor MH, Dudakov JA, Jenq RR, et al. Interleukin-22 promotes intestinal stem cell-mediated epithelial regeneration. *Nature* (2015) 528(7583):560–4. doi:10.1038/nature16460
- Scheibe K, Backert I, Wirtz S, Hueber A, Schett G, Vieth M, et al. IL-36R signalling activates intestinal epithelial cells and fibroblasts and promotes mucosal healing in vivo. *Gut* (2017) 66:823–38. doi:10.1136/gutjnl-2015-310374
- Quiros M, Nishio H, Neumann PA, Siuda D, Brazil JC, Azcutia V, et al. Macrophage-derived IL-10 mediates mucosal repair by epithelial WISP-1 signaling. J Clin Invest (2017) 127(9):3510–20. doi:10.1172/JCI90229
- Gerbe F, Sidot E, Smyth DJ, Ohmoto M, Matsumoto I, Dardalhon V, et al. Intestinal epithelial tuft cells initiate type 2 mucosal immunity to helminth parasites. *Nature* (2016) 529(7585):226–30. doi:10.1038/nature16527
- Mahapatro M, Foersch S, Hefele M, He G, Giner-Ventura E, Mchedlidze T, et al. Programming of intestinal epithelial differentiation by IL-33 derived from pericryptal fibroblasts in response to systemic infection. *Cell Rep* (2016) 15(8):1743–56. doi:10.1016/j.celrep.2016.04.049
- Waetzig GH, Rosenstiel P, Arlt A, Till A, Brautigam K, Schafer H, et al. Soluble tumor necrosis factor (TNF) receptor-1 induces apoptosis via reverse TNF signaling and autocrine transforming growth factor-beta1. *FASEB J* (2005) 19(1):91–3. doi:10.1096/fj.04-2073fje
- Sandborn WJ, Hanauer SB, Katz S, Safdi M, Wolf DG, Baerg RD, et al. Etanercept for active Crohn's disease: a randomized, double-blind, placebocontrolled trial. *Gastroenterology* (2001) 121(5):1088–94. doi:10.1053/gast. 2001.28674
- Elphick DA, Mahida YR. Paneth cells: their role in innate immunity and inflammatory disease. *Gut* (2005) 54(12):1802–9. doi:10.1136/gut.2005.068601
- Aparicio-Domingo P, Romera-Hernandez M, Karrich JJ, Cornelissen F, Papazian N, Lindenbergh-Kortleve DJ, et al. Type 3 innate lymphoid cells maintain intestinal epithelial stem cells after tissue damage. *J Exp Med* (2015) 212(11):1783–91. doi:10.1084/jem.20150318
- 55. Bergstrom KSB, Morampudi V, Chan JM, Bhinder G, Lau J, Yang H, et al. Goblet cell derived RELM-β recruits CD4⁺ T cells during infectious colitis to promote protective intestinal epithelial cell proliferation. *PLoS Pathog* (2015) 11(8):e1005108. doi:10.1371/journal.ppat.1005108
- Wang K, Kim MK, Di Caro G, Wong J, Shalapour S, Wan J, et al. Interleukin-17 receptor A signaling in transformed enterocytes promotes early colorectal tumorigenesis. *Immunity* (2014) 41(6):1052–63. doi:10.1016/ j.immuni.2014.11.009
- 57. De Simone V, Franze E, Ronchetti G, Colantoni A, Fantini MC, Di Fusco D, et al. Th17-type cytokines, IL-6 and TNF- α synergistically activate STAT3 and NF-kB to promote colorectal cancer cell growth. *Oncogene* (2015) 34:3493–503. doi:10.1038/onc.2014.286
- Kirchberger S, Royston DJ, Boulard O, Thornton E, Franchini F, Szabady RL, et al. Innate lymphoid cells sustain colon cancer through production of interleukin-22 in a mouse model. *J Exp Med* (2013) 210(5):917–31. doi:10.1084/ jem.20122308
- Kryczek I, Lin Y, Nagarsheth N, Peng D, Zhao L, Zhao E, et al. IL-22⁺CD4⁺ T cell promote colorectal cancer stemness via STAT3 transcription factor activation and induction of the methyltransferase DOT1L. *Immunity* (2014) 40(5):772–84. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2014.03.010
- Liu H, Antony S, Roy K, Juhasz A, Wu Y, Lu J, et al. Interleukin-4 and interleukin-13 increase NADPH oxidase 1-related proliferation of human colon cancer cells. *Oncotarget* (2017) 8(24):38113–35. doi:10.18632/oncotarget. 17494
- Martini E, Schneider E, Neufert C, Neurath MF, Becker C. Survivin is a guardian of the intestinal stem cell niche and its expression is regulated by TGF-β. *Cell Cycle* (2016) 15(21):2875–81. doi:10.1080/15384101.2016. 1231286
- 62. Oshima H, Nakayama M, Han TS, Naoi K, Ju X, Maeda Y, et al. Suppressing TGF β signaling in regenerating epithelia in an inflammatory microenvironment is sufficient to cause invasive intestinal cancer. *Cancer Res* (2015) 75(4):766–76. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-14-2036

- Katlinskaya YV, Katlinski KV, Lasri A, Li N, Beiting DP, Durham AC, et al. Type I interferons control proliferation and function of the intestinal epithelium. *Mol Cell Biol* (2016) 36(7):1124–35. doi:10.1128/MCB.00988-15
- 64. Tschurtschenthaler M, Wang J, Fricke C, Fritz TMJ, Niederreiter L, Adolph TE, et al. Type I interferon signaling in the intestinal epithelium affects Paneth cells, microbial ecology, and epithelial regeneration. *Gut* (2014) 63:1921–31. doi:10.1136/gutjnl-2013-305863
- 65. Jarry A, Malard F, Bou-Hanna C, Meurette G, Mohty M, Mosnier J, et al. Interferon-alpha promotes Th1 response and epithelial apoptosis via inflammasome activation in human intestinal mucosa. *Cell Mol Gastroenterol Hepatol* (2016) 3(1):72–81. doi:10.1016/j.jcmgh.2016.09.007
- 66. Schuhmann D, Godoy P, Weiss C, Gerloff A, Singer MV, Dooley S, et al. Interfering with interferon-γ signaling in intestinal epithelial cells: selective inhibition of apoptosis-maintained secretion of anti-inflammatory interleukin-18 binding protein. *Clin Exp Immunol* (2011) 163(1):65–76. doi:10.1111/ j.1365-2249.2010.04250.x
- 67. Leppkes M, Roulis M, Neurath MF, Kollias G, Becker C. Pleiotropic functions of TNF- α in the regulation of the intestinal epithelial response to inflammation. *Int Immunol* (2014) 26(9):509–15. doi:10.1093/intimm/dxu051
- Sarhan M, Land WG, Tonnus W, Hugo CP, Linkermann A. Origin and consequences of necroinflammation. *Physiol Rev* (2018) 98(2):727–80. doi:10.1152/physrev.00041.2016
- 69. Günther C, Buchen B, He G, Hornef M, Torow N, Neumann H, et al. Caspase-8 controls the gut response to microbial challenges by TNF-αdependent and independent pathways. *Gut* (2015) 64(4):601–10. doi:10.1136/ gutjnl-2014-307226
- Maxwell JR, Zhang Y, Brown WA, Smith CL, Byrne FR, Fiorino M, et al. Differential roles for interleukin-23 and interleukin-17 in intestinal immunoregulation. *Immunity* (2015) 43(4):739–50. doi:10.1016/j.immuni. 2015.08.019
- Kuhn KA, Schulz HM, Regner EH, Severs EL, Hendrickson JD, Mehta G, et al. Bacteroidales recruit IL-6-producing intraepithelial lymphocytes in the colon to promote barrier integrity. *Mucosal Immunol* (2018) 11(2):357–68. doi:10.1038/mi.2017.55
- Wang Y, Sun T, Sun H, Yang S, Li D, Zhou D. SCF/c-kit/JNK/AP-1 signaling pathway promotes claudin-3 expression in colonic epithelium and colorectal carcinoma. *Int J Mol Sci* (2017) 18(4):765. doi:10.3390/ijms18040765
- Zheng L, Kelly CJ, Battista KD, Schaefer R, Lanis JM, Alexeev EE, et al. Microbial-derived butyrate promotes epithelial barrier function through IL-10 receptor-dependent repression of claudin-2. *J Immunol* (2017) 199(8):2976–84. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1700105
- 74. Lorén V, Cabré E, Ojanguren I, Domènech E, Pedrosa E, Garcia-Jaraquemada A, et al. Interleukin-10 enhances the intestinal epithelial barrier in the presence of corticosteroids through p38 MAPK activity in Caco-2 monolayers: a possible mechanism for steroid responsiveness in ulcerative colitis. *PLoS One* (2015) 10(6):e0130921. doi:10.1371/journal.pone. 0130921
- Machiels K, Joossens M, Sabino J, De Preter V, Arijs I, Eeckhaut V, et al. A decrease of the butyrate producing species *Roseburia hominis* and *Faeca-libacterium prausnitzii* defines dysbiosis in patients with ulcerative colitis. *Gut* (2014) 63(8):1275–83. doi:10.1136/gutjnl-2013-304833
- 76. Ryu W, Lee H, Bae HC, Jeon J, Ryu HJ, Kim J, et al. IL-33 down-regulates CLDN1 expression through the ERK/STAT3 pathway in keratinocytes. *J Dermatol Sci* (2018) 90(3):313–22. doi:10.1016/j.jdermsci.2018.02.017
- Sedhom MAK, Pichery M, Murdoch JR, Foligne B, Ortega N, Normand S, et al. Neutralisation of the interleukin-33/ST2 pathway ameliorates experimental colitis through enhancement of mucosal healing in mice. *Gut* (2013) 62(12):1714–23. doi:10.1136/gutjnl-2011-301785
- Sattler S, Ling G, Xu D, Hussaarts L, Romaine A, Zhao H, et al. IL-10-producing regulatory B cells induced by IL-33 (Breg^{IL-33}) effectively attenuate mucosal inflammatory responses in the gut. *J Autoimmun* (2014) 50(100):107–22. doi:10.1016/j.jaut.2014.01.032
- Wang Y, Mumm JB, Herbst R, Kolbeck R, Wang Y. IL-22 increases permeability of intestinal tight junctions by enhancing claudin-2 expression. *J Immunol* (2017) 199(9):3316–25. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1700152
- Sumagin R, Robin AZ, Nusrat A, Parkos CA. Transmigrated neutrophils in the intestinal lumen engage ICAM-1 to regulate the epithelial barrier and neutrophil recruitment. *Mucosal Immunol* (2014) 7(4):905–15. doi:10.1038/ mi.2013.106

- 81. Khan MR, Uwada J, Yazawa T, Islam MT, Krug SM, Fromm M, et al. Activation of muscarinic cholinoceptor ameliorates tumor necrosis factor- α -induced barrier dysfunction in intestinal epithelial cells. *FEBS Lett* (2015) 589(23):3640–7. doi:10.1016/j.febslet.2015.10.029
- Saxena K, Simon LM, Zeng X, Blutt SE, Crawford SE, Sastri NP, et al. A paradox of transcriptional and functional innate interferon responses of human intestinal enteroids to enteric virus infection. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* (2017) 114(4):E570–9. doi:10.1073/pnas.1615422114
- 83. Pott J, Mahlakõiv T, Mordstein M, Duerr CU, Michiels T, Stockinger S, et al. IFN- λ determines the intestinal epithelial antiviral host defense. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2011) 108(19):7944–9. doi:10.1073/pnas.1100552108
- 84. Mahlakõiv T, Hernandez P, Gronke K, Diefenbach A, Staeheli P. Leukocytederived IFN-α/β and epithelial IFN-λ constitute a compartmentalized mucosal defense system that restricts enteric virus infections. *PLoS Pathog* (2015) 11(4):e1004782. doi:10.1371/journal.ppat.1004782
- Zindl CL, Lai J, Lee YK, Maynard CL, Harbour SN, Ouyang W, et al. IL-22producing neutrophils contribute to antimicrobial defense and restitution of colonic epithelial integrity during colitis. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2013) 110(31):12768–73. doi:10.1073/pnas.1300318110
- Kumar P, Monin L, Castillo P, Elsegeiny W, Horne W, Eddens T, et al. Intestinal interleukin-17 receptor signaling mediates reciprocal control of the gut microbiota and autoimmune inflammation. *Immunity* (2016) 44(3): 659–71. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2016.02.007
- Kumar A, Chatterjee I, Gujral T, Alakkam A, Coffing H, Anbazhagan AN, et al. Activation of nuclear factor κB by tumor necrosis factor in intestinal epithelial cells and mouse intestinal epithelia reduces expression of the chloride transporter SLC26A3. *Gastroenterology* (2017) 153(5):1338–50.e3. doi:10.1053/j.gastro.2017.08.024
- Wood MB, Rios D, Williams IR. TNF-α augments RANKL-dependent intestinal M cell differentiation in enteroid cultures. *Am J Physiol Cell Physiol* (2016) 311(3):C498–507. doi:10.1152/ajpcell.00108.2016
- Takahashi Y, Sato S, Kurashima Y, Lai C, Otsu M, Hayashi M, et al. Reciprocal inflammatory signaling between intestinal epithelial cells and adipocytes in the absence of immune cells. *EBioMedicine* (2017) 23:34–45. doi:10.1016/j. ebiom.2017.07.027
- Scarpa M, Kessler S, Sadler T, West G, Homer C, McDonald C, et al. The epithelial danger signal IL-1α is a potent activator of fibroblasts and reactivator of intestinal inflammation. *Am J Pathol* (2015) 185(6):1624–37. doi:10.1016/j.ajpath.2015.02.018
- Bersudsky M, Luski L, Fishman D, White RM, Ziv-Sokolovskaya N, Dotan S, et al. Non-redundant properties of IL-1α and IL-1β during acute colon inflammation in mice. *Gut* (2014) 63(4):598–609. doi:10.1136/gutjnl-2012-303329
- He Z, Chen L, Souto FO, Canasto-Chibuque C, Bongers G, Deshpande M, et al. Epithelial-derived IL-33 promotes intestinal tumorigenesis in *Ape^{Min/+}* mice. *Sci Rep* (2017) 7:5520. doi:10.1038/s41598-017-05716-z
- Maywald RL, Doerner SK, Pastorelli L, De Salvo C, Benton SM, Dawson EP. IL-33 activates tumor stroma to promote intestinal polyposis. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2015) 112(19):E2487–96. doi:10.1073/ pnas.1422445112
- Islam MS, Horiguchi K, Iino S, Kaji N, Mikawa S, Hori M, et al. Epidermal growth factor is a critical regulator of the cytokine IL-33 in intestinal epithelial cells. *Br J Pharmacol* (2016) 173(16):2532–42. doi:10.1111/bph.13535
- O'Donnell C, Mahmoud A, Keane J, Murphy C, White D, Carey S, et al. An antitumorigenic role for the IL-33 receptor, ST2L, in colon cancer. *Br J Cancer* (2016) 114(1):37–43. doi:10.1038/bjc.2015.433
- Griffith JW, Sokol CL, Luster AD. Chemokines and chemokine receptors: positioning cells for host defense and immunity. *Annu Rev Immunol* (2014) 32:659–702. doi:10.1146/annurev-immunol-032713-120145

- Rossi O, Karczewski J, Stolte EH, Brummer RJM, van Nieuwenhoven MA, Meijerink M, et al. Vectorial secretion of interleukin-8 mediates autocrine signalling in intestinal epithelial cells via apically located CXCR1. BMC Res Notes (2013) 6:431. doi:10.1186/1756-0500-6-431
- Wang H, Rogers TJ, Paton JC, Paton AW. Differential effects of *Escherichia* coli subtilase cytotoxin and Shiga toxin 2 on chemokine and proinflammatory cytokine expression in human macrophage, colonic epithelial, and brain microvascular endothelial cell lines. *Infect Immun* (2014) 82(9):3567–79. doi:10.1128/IAI.02120-14
- 99. Fiorentino M, Levine MM, Sztein MB, Fasano A. Effect of wild-type Shigella species and attenuated Shigella vaccine candidates on small intestinal barrier function, antigen trafficking, and cytokine release. PLoS One (2014) 9(1):e85211. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0085211
- 100. Knodler LA, Crowley SM, Sham HP, Yang H, Wrande M, Ma C, et al. Non-canonical inflammasome activation of caspase-4/caspase-11 mediates epithelial defenses against enteric bacterial pathogens. *Cell Host Microbe* (2014) 16(2):249–56. doi:10.1016/j.chom.2014.07.002
- 101. Zeuthen LH, Fink LN, Frokiaer H. Epithelial cells prime the immune response to an array of gut-derived commensals towards a tolerogenic phenotype through distinct actions of thymic stromal lymphopoietin and transforming growth factor-β. *Immunology* (2008) 123:197–208. doi:10.1111/ j.1365-2567.2007.02687.x
- 102. Kainulainen V, Tang Y, Spillmann T, Kilpinen S, Reunanen J, Saris PEJ, et al. The canine isolate *Lactobacillus acidophilus* LAB20 adheres to intestinal epithelium and attenuates LPS-induced IL-8 secretion of enterocytes in vitro. *BMC Microbiol* (2015) 15:4. doi:10.1186/s12866-014-0337-9
- 103. Tian Z, Liu X, Dai R, Xiao Y, Wang X, Bi D, et al. Enterococcus faecium HDRsEf1 protects the intestinal epithelium and attenuates ETEC-induced IL-8 secretion in enterocytes. Mediators Inflamm (2016) 2016:7474306. doi:10.1155/2016/7474306
- 104. Hirao LA, Grishina I, Bourry O, Hu WK, Somrit M, Sankaran-Walters S, et al. Early mucosal sensing of SIV infection by Paneth cells induces IL-1β production and initiates gut epithelial disruption. *PLoS Pathog* (2014) 10(8):e1004311. doi:10.1371/journal.ppat.1004311
- 105. Hernández PP, Mahlakoiv T, Yang I, Schwierzeck V, Nguyen N, Guendel F, et al. Interferon-λ and interleukin-22 cooperate for the induction of interferon-stimulated genes and control of rotavirus infection. *Nat Immunol* (2015) 16(7):698–707. doi:10.1038/ni.3180
- 106. Knight-Sepulveda K, Kais S, Santaolalla R, Abreu MT. Diet and inflammatory bowel disease. *Gastroenterol Hepatol (N Y)* (2015) 11(8):511–20.
- 107. Ferrari D, Cimino F, Fratantonio D, Molonia MS, Bashllari R, Busà R, et al. Cyanidin-3-O-glucoside modulates the in vitro inflammatory crosstalk between intestinal epithelial and endothelial cells. *Mediators Inflamm* (2017) 2017:3454023. doi:10.1155/2017/3454023
- 108. Hung TV, Suzuki T. Guar gum fiber increases suppressor of cytokine signaling-1 expression via toll-like receptor 2 and dectin-1 pathways, regulating inflammatory response in small intestinal epithelial cells. *Mol Nutr Food Res* (2017) 61(10). doi:10.1002/mnfr.201700048

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2018 Andrews, McLean and Durum. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Transforming Growth Factor-β1/ Smad7 in Intestinal Immunity, Inflammation, and Cancer

Edoardo Troncone, Irene Marafini, Carmine Stolfi and Giovanni Monteleone*

Department of Systems Medicine, University of Rome Tor Vergata, Rome, Italy

In physiological conditions, the activity of the intestinal immune system is tightly regulated to prevent tissue-damaging reactions directed against components of the luminal flora. Various factors contribute to maintain immune homeostasis and diminished production and/or function of such molecules trigger and/or propagate detrimental signals, which can eventually lead to chronic colitis and colon cancer. One such a molecule is transforming growth factor-β1 (TGF-β1), a cytokine produced by many inflammatory and non-inflammatory cells and targeting virtually all the intestinal mucosal cell types, with the down-stream effect of activating intracellular Smad2/3 proteins and suppressing immune reactions. In patients with inflammatory bowel diseases (IBD), there is defective TGF-β1/Smad signaling due to high Smad7, an inhibitor of TGF-β1 activity. Indeed, knockdown of Smad7 with a specific antisense oligonucleotide restores endogenous TGF-β1 activity, thereby inhibiting inflammatory pathways in patients with IBD and colitic mice. Consistently, mice over-expressing Smad7 in T cells develop severe intestinal inflammation in various experimental models. Smad7 expression is also upregulated in colon cancer cells, in which such a protein controls positively intracellular pathways that sustain neoplastic cell growth and survival. We here review the role of TGF-β1 and Smad7 in intestinal immunity, inflammation, and cancer.

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Fabio Cominelli, Case Western Reserve University, United States

Reviewed by:

Luca Pastorelli, Università degli Studi di Milano, Italy Gianluca Matteoli, KU Leuven, Belgium

*Correspondence: Giovanni Monteleone gi.monteleone@med.uniroma2.it

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Mucosal Immunity, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology

Received: 26 February 2018 Accepted: 06 June 2018 Published: 20 June 2018

Citation:

Troncone E, Marafini I, Stolfi C and Monteleone G (2018) Transforming Growth Factor-β1/Smad7 in Intestinal Immunity, Inflammation, and Cancer. Front. Immunol. 9:1407. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2018.01407 Keywords: mucosal immunity, cytokines, inflammatory bowel diseases, colon cancer, antisense oligonucleotides

INTRODUCTION

The gastrointestinal tract harbors a large number of commensal bacterial, viral, and fungal species, which trigger maturation of the mucosal immune system. There are over 300 Peyer's patches and more than 30,000 isolated lymphoid follicles in the small and large intestines, and the lamina propria compartment is infiltrated with many CD4+ and CD8+ T cells, B cells, plasma cells, dendritic cells (DCs), and macrophages; T cells and various subsets of innate lymphoid cells (ILCs) are also present in the gut epithelium (1, 2). This state of "physiological inflammation" contributes to provide resistance to invading pathogens, while preserving barrier integrity and allowing normal absorptive and digestive functions. The maintenance of gut integrity and intestinal homeostasis depends also on the barrier effect of the epithelium, which limits translocation of luminal antigens and promotes immune regulation (3). Elegant studies in animal models of inflammation and observations in patients with chronic colitis strongly support this notion. Indeed, defects in epithelial barrier and/ or lack of expression/function of counter-regulatory molecules can break the immune tolerance toward the luminal flora thus resulting in colitis and colorectal cancer (CRC) (2, 4–9). Data emerging from such studies indicate clearly that transforming growth factor (TGF)- β 1 is one of the key

molecules involved in the regulation of the epithelial cell biology and immunity in the gut (10, 11). TGF- β 1 is a member of the TGF-β superfamily, which includes also TGF-β2, TGF-β3, bone morphogenetic proteins, and several growth and differentiation factors (12). In the gut, many immune and non-immune cells produce TGF-B1 and almost all the mucosal cells are targeted by this cytokine. TGF- β 1 is secreted as part of a latent complex, which comprises latency-associated peptide (LAP) and latent TGF- β binding protein. In this form, TGF- β 1 cannot bind to its receptor (13). TGF- β 1 can be activated upon being released from the complex due to the proteolytic action of a number of proteinases or upon the interaction between the tripeptide integrin-binding motif on LAP and the correspondent binding sequence on $\alpha\nu\beta3$, $\alpha\nu\beta5$, $\alpha\nu\beta6$, or $\alpha\nu\beta8$ integrins expressed on the surface of epithelial cells, myofibroblasts, and DCs (14, 15). TGF-B1 signals through two transmembrane receptors with

serine/threonine kinase activity, named TGF-\u00df1 type 1 receptor (T\u0398R1) and TGF-\u03961 type 2 receptor (T\u0396R2) (13). Binding of TGF-β1 to TβR2 promotes auto-phosphorylation of the receptor and subsequent recruitment of T β R1 to form a transmembrane heterodimer. Then, the kinase activity of T β R2 determines phosphorylation of the regulatory glycine/serine-rich domain of TβR1 and, hence, the activated TβR1-TβR2 complex promotes phosphorylation of Smad2 and Smad3. Phosphorylated Smad2/3 proteins heterodimerize with Smad4 to generate a complex that moves to the nucleus, where it regulates the expression of target genes (13, 16) (**Figure 1**). TGF- β 1-associated Smad signaling is a tightly controlled phenomenon, and another intracellular Smad protein, termed Smad7, acts as a negative regulator of such a pathway through various mechanisms. Smad7 can bind to TBR1 and compete with Smad2/3 for the catalytic site of phosphorylation, thus preventing the phosphorylation of Smad2/3 (Figure 1)



FIGURE 1 | Smad7-induced biological effects. The left side of the figure shows the inhibitory effect of Smad7 on transforming growth factor (TGF)-β1 intracellular signaling. Smad7 binds to TGF-β receptor type I and prevents TGF-β1-driven Smad2/3 phosphorylation (p), thus sustaining inflammatory gene expression. High Smad7 prevents also eukaryotic translation initiation factor-2α (eIF2α) phosphorylation, either directly or through the inhibition of protein kinase RNA (PKR), thereby leading to downregulation of transcription factor 4 (ATF4) and CCAAT/enhancer binding protein homology protein (CHOP) with the down-stream effect of stimulating cell cycle progression and cancer cell growth. The right side of the figure shows the effect of Smad7 inhibition with a specific antisense oligonucleotide (AS). Smad7 inhibition restores TGF-β1-induced Smad2/3 phosphorylation, subsequent interaction of these two proteins with Smad4 and translocation of Smad2/3/4 complex to the nucleus, thereby suppressing inflammatory gene expression. Moreover, Smad7 knockdown causes TGF-β1-independent eIF2α phosphorylation, upregulation of ATF4 and CHOP with the down-stream effect of cell cycle arrest.



(17, 18). Smad7 can recruit phosphatases to T β R1 thereby promoting de-phosphorylation and inactivation of the site (19) and can promote ubiquitination-driven proteasome-mediated degradation of T β R1 in association with E3 ubiquitin ligases SMURF1/2 (20, 21). Moreover, Smad7 can localize into the nucleus and inhibit the association of Smad2-3/Smad4 complex with target genes (22). Besides its inhibitory effect on TGF β 1 signaling, Smad7 regulates the expression and function of several molecules involved in the control of inflammation and carcinogenesis in a TGF- β 1-independent manner (**Figure 1**).

We here review the role of TGF- β 1 and Smad7 in intestinal immunity, inflammation, and cancer.

TGF-β1 AND INTESTINAL HOMEOSTASIS

TGF- β 1 regulates the function of many mucosal cell types in an autocrine and paracrine manner (**Figure 2**). For instance, TGF- β 1 suppresses proliferation and activation of CD4+ T helper (Th) lymphocytes (23). Mice with T-cell targeted deletion of T β R2 or transgenic mice expressing a dominant-negative of T β R2 are unable to respond to TGF- β 1 and show a phenotype characterized by systemic autoimmunity and severe colitis (11). In both strains, activated T cells accumulate in multiple organs, including the gut, highlighting the role of TGF- β 1 in blocking T cell activation, and maintaining intestinal immune tolerance. CD4+ T lymphocytes have a high grade of plasticity and can differentiate in various subsets depending on the specific cytokine milieu at the induction and effector sites (24). TGF-β1 strongly inhibits Th1 and Th2 differentiation. TGF-\u00b31-induced inhibition of Th1 cell differentiation is mediated by a direct downregulation of the transcription factor Tbet, a master regulator of Th1 cell polarization (25). Moreover, TGF-B1 downregulates the expression of IL-12R β 2 and prevents the expansion of Th1 responses driven by IL-12, a key cytokine in the induction of Th1-type immunity in humans (26). TGF-β1 can also directly downregulate GATA3, a transcription factor involved in Th2 cell differentiation (27, 28). In contrast, TGF-B1 promotes directly and indirectly T cells polarization toward a regulatory (T regulatory cells, Tregs) phenotype (29). Tregs express the transcription factor Foxp3 and exert regulatory functions by acting mainly on effector T cells (30). Mice with loss of TGF-B1 signaling have reduced numbers of circulating CD4+Foxp3+ Tregs, raising the possibility that TGF- β 1 contributes to intestinal immune homeostasis in part by inducing Tregs differentiation (31, 32). This hypothesis is supported by studies demonstrating that TGF- β 1 promotes generation of naturally occurring Tregs, a subset of Tregs, which are generated in the thymus early after birth, as well as differentiation of peripherally induced Tregs from naïve T cells (33-35). Interestingly, the number of CD4+Foxp3+ Tregs remains unaltered in mice lacking TGF-\u00b31 in CD4+ T-cells, while TGF-β1-null mice have reduced numbers of Tregs. These findings suggest that peripheral differentiation of Tregs depends

on TGF- β 1 produced by other cell types rather than T cells. In the gut, CD103-expressing DCs are a major source of TGF- β 1. These cells produce also elevated levels of retinoic acid (RA), which potentiates TGF- β 1-induced expansion of Tregs because of a direct effect on Foxp3 promoter (36, 37). TGF- β 1 and RA promote the *in vitro* differentiation of naïve T cells in another group of Foxp3-expressing Tregs, termed induced Tregs (38). TGF- β 1 plays also a role in the interaction between intestinal immune system and gut microbiota. *Clostridium butyricum* promotes Tregs generation through the induction of TGF- β 1 by colonic lamina propria DCs (39).

TGF- β 1, along with IL-6, IL-21, and IL-1 β , contributes also to the differentiation of Th17 cells, a CD4+ T cell subset characterized by the expression and activity of the master regulator retinoid acid-related orphan receptor- γ t and producing various cytokines, including IL-17A (40). It has also been demonstrated that commitment of naïve CD4+ T cells along the Th17 or Tregs phenotype depends on TGF- β 1 concentration, given that low concentration of the cytokine promotes Tregs differentiation through downregulation of IL-23 receptor, while high concentration of TGF- β 1, in conjunction with IL-6 and IL-21, upregulates IL-23 receptor and promotes Th17 polarization (41).

TGF- β 1 controls memory CD8+ T cells. Mice with deletion of T β R2 show a reduced number of antigen-specific memory CD8+ T cells in the gut, and this phenomenon seems to be, at least in part, secondary to a reduced expression of integrins (42).

TGF-B1 is also a relevant regulator of B cell and plasm-cell biology. TGF-B1 in B cells mediates IgA class-switch and promotes IgA production (43, 44). Mice lacking TGF- β signaling in B cells do not develop intestinal inflammation, but deletion of TBR2 in CD19-expressing B cells associates with B cell hyperplasia in Peyer's patches, modifications in B cell responsiveness and serum IgA deficiency (44, 45). Secretory IgAs control the bacterial composition, as they neutralize luminal bacteria by enhancing phagocytosis and improving the ability of DCs to present antigens. Moreover, IgAs block surface epitopes of luminal bacteria, thus inhibiting bacterial adhesion to the intestinal epithelium (46). In Peyer's patches, B cells and DCs interact through TGF- β 1-activated integrin α v β 8, and this interaction promotes IgA production (47). TGF- β 1 regulates IgA production through the canonical Smad-mediated pathway as the absence of Smad2 results in IgA deficiency, while overexpression of Smad3 and 4 determines an increased IgA production (48, 49).

Innate lymphoid cells are a family of hematopoietic cells involved in host defense, immune homeostasis, and tissue remodeling. These cells belong to the innate immune system and are abundantly present at mucosal sites where they act as a first line of defense against pathogens (50). Although there is no clear evidence that TGF- β 1 regulates the function of ILCs in the gut, it is known that TGF- β 1 guides the differentiation of type 1 ILCs in salivary glands through a Smad4-independent pathway (51).

TGF- β 1 is involved in the control of intestinal DC function. Mice with deletion of TGF- β signaling in DCs due to a selective lack of T β R2 develop systemic autoimmunity and colitis, the later being characterized by loss of goblet cells and marked mucosal lymphocytic infiltration with altered Tregs differentiation, T cells and B cells with an activated phenotype, and increased expression of pro-inflammatory cytokines (52, 53). As mentioned above, DCs produce TGF- β 1 and at the same time contribute to TGF- β 1 activation. Mice lacking integrin β 8 in DCs fail to activate TGF- β 1 and spontaneously develop colitis (54). TGF- β 1 negatively regulates the mucosal accumulation of other DC subtypes, such as those expressing the adhesion molecule, E-cadherin. Interestingly, adoptive transfer of E-cadherin-expressing bone marrow DCs into T-cell-restored Rag1-deficient mice enhances Th17 cell responses and exacerbates colitis (55).

TGF- β 1 is an important regulator of macrophage function. TGF- β 1 produced by intestinal epithelial cells can act as a chemokine and stimulate recruitment of blood monocytes to the intestinal mucosa (56). Moreover, TGF- β 1 promotes differentiation of type 2 macrophages, a subset of anti-inflammatory cells, and reduces the macrophage responsiveness to bacterial products, thus promoting an anergic state that is crucial to maintain intestinal homeostasis (57). Mice with selective knockout of T β R2 in macrophages do not show spontaneous inflammation in the gut, but develop a more severe colitis after DSS administration, with reduced levels of IL-10, further confirming the ability of the cytokine to trigger anti-inflammatory signals in macrophages (58).

TGF-B1 targets also non-immune cells, including epithelial cells and stromal cells. Both these cell types produce elevated amounts of the cytokine. TGF-B1 promotes the expression of tight junction protein (i.e., Claudin-1) and adhesion molecules, thus enhancing epithelial barrier integrity, and is a powerful inducer of intestinal epithelial cell margination, a phenomenon that facilitates wound healing (Figure 2) (59). Mice with selective deletion of TGF^{β1} signaling in the intestinal epithelium do not develop inflammation but are more susceptible to DSS-colitis (60). TGF-β1 stimulates stromal cells (i.e., myofibroblasts) to produce collagen and is a crucial regulator of extra-cellular matrix deposition (Figure 2), a phenomenon that is relevant for wound healing processes (61). A poorly controlled TGF-β1induced extra-cellular matrix deposition has been involved in the development of intestinal strictures, such as those complicating Crohn's disease (CD) natural history (62, 63). In the gut, fibrogenesis is a complex and multifactorial process that involves several mediators, and TGF-B1 is supposed to be the most relevant pro-fibrogenic cytokine (64). TGF-β1 promotes fibronectin, type I collagen, and connective tissue growth factor production in fibroblasts isolated from CD strictures and enhances fibroblasts contractile activity (65).

TGF-β/Smad7 IN INTESTINAL INFLAMMATION

CD and ulcerative colitis (UC), are chronic, relapsing inflammatory disorders of the gastrointestinal tract and represent the two most relevant forms of IBD in humans (66). The etiology of IBD is unknown but accumulating evidence suggests that IBD are multifactorial diseases in which environmental and genetic factors trigger an abnormal immune response against component of intestinal microflora (67). In both disorders, defects of counter-regulatory factors/mechanisms contribute to amplify mucosal inflammatory signals. One such defect involves the TGF-β1/Smad pathway. In the intestine of healthy individuals, TGF-\u03b31 functions are properly suggested by the constitutive elevated levels of phosphorylated Smad3. Moreover, in vitro treatment of normal intestinal mucosal samples with an anti-TGF-B1 antibody increases expression of pro-inflammatory molecules such as T-bet and IFN-y and stimulation of normal lamina propria mononuclear cells (LPMC) with exogenous TGF-B1 inhibits NF-kB activity and reduces IL-8 production (68-70). In contrast, stimulation of IBD LPMC with TGF-B1 neither inhibits NF-kB activation nor reduces the production of pro-inflammatory mediators, highlighting the possibility that IBD cells are resistant to TGF- β 1-mediated immune suppression (70). This is consistent with the demonstration that in inflamed intestine of IBD patients, there is reduced Smad2/3 phosphorylation (69). This finding associates with enhanced expression of Smad7 (69). Interestingly, analysis of Smad7 content in mucosal samples of IBD patients revealed that Smad7 is upregulated at protein but not RNA level, suggesting a post-transcriptional regulation of Smad7 (71). Indeed, we have previously shown that, in both CD and UC mucosa, Smad7 protein stability is sustained by posttranslational mechanisms, which enhance Smad7 acetylation thereby inhibiting ubiquitination-driven proteasomal-mediated degradation. Such modifications are partly due to p300, as silencing of this transcription coactivator, which is over-produced in CD mucosa, reduces Smad7 acetylation thereby stimulating ubiquitination-driven proteasomal-mediated degradation (71). Additional factors are supposed to stabilize Smad7 expression in IBD. In this context, our data indicate that, in IBD tissue, cells over-expressing Smad7 have reduced levels of SIRT1, a component of the mammalian Sirtuin family proteins that deacetylates the lysine residues of Smad7 with the down-stream effect of reducing Smad7 expression (72).

THE PATHOGENIC ROLE OF Smad7 IN THE GUT

Various approaches have been used to assess the role of Smad7 in IBD. Initially, IBD LPMC and mucosal explants were treated with a specific Smad7 antisense oligonucleotide (AS). Inhibition of Smad7 associated with enhanced Smad3 phosphorylation and reduced production of inflammatory cytokines (Figure 1) (69). Pre-incubation of IBD LPMC with a blocking TGF-β1 antibody abrogated the Smad7 AS-mediated effects, indicating that the anti-inflammatory function of Smad7 AS is mediated by TGF-B1. As pointed out above, TGF-\u00b31 promotes differentiation of Foxp3expressing Tregs and the activity of the cytokine is required for the function of such cells (73, 74). Mucosal IBD CD4+ T cells show resistance to Foxp3-expressing Tregs-mediated suppression and this has been associated with Smad7, as knockdown of Smad7 restores the responsiveness of effector CD4+ T cells to Foxp3-expressing Tregs (75). Like IBD patients, mice with trinitrobenzene sulfonic acid (TNBS-) and oxazolone-mediated colitis, two mouse models of colitis, which resemble CD and UC, respectively, express elevated levels of TGF-B1 in the inflamed colons (76, 77). In both these models, Smad7 expression is upregulated and p-Smad3 is reduced. Colitic mice given oral Smad7 AS exhibit enhanced p-Smad3 expression, reduced expression of inflammatory cytokines and a less severe colitis (78). We generated a T cell-specific Smad7 transgenic (Tg) mouse on C57B6 genetic background, which does not develop spontaneously colitis (75). However, using the T cell-transfer model of colitis, we showed that adoptive transfer of Smad7 Tg naïve CD4+ T cells into immunodeficient mice produced a more severe intestinal inflammation than that documented in mice reconstituted with wild-type cells, and colitis induced by Smad7 Tg cells was only partly inhibited by co-transfer of Tregs (75). Finally, we showed that Smad7 Tg mice develop a more severe colitis in comparison to wild-type mice after DSS administration (79).

T cells of Smad7 transgenic mice have reduced levels of aryl hydrocarbon receptor (AhR), a transcription factor that stimulates IL-22 production and promotes regulatory mechanisms in the gut (80). In the T-cell transfer colitis model, AhR activation significantly ameliorates the course of colitis driven by wild-type T cells, but does not influence colitis induced by Smad7 transgenic T cells. Consistently, in normal but not in IBD LPMC, TGF- β 1 enhances AhR expression (81). Altogether, these data show an inverse correlation between AhR and Smad7 expression in the gut.

THERAPEUTIC BENEFIT OF Smad7 INHIBITION IN PATIENTS WITH INFLAMMATORY BOWEL DISEASES

The demonstration that Smad7 is upregulated in IBD mucosa and inhibition of this protein allows endogenous TGF-B1 to dampen the ongoing mucosal inflammation paved the way for the development of an oral Smad7 AS-containing pharmaceutical compound. This drug, initially named GED0301 and later on mongersen, was formulated in order to facilitate the deliver of the active molecule in the terminal ileum and right colon, which are the primarily affected sites in CD (82). A phase 1, open label, dose-escalating clinical trial conducted in 15 patients with active, steroid-dependent/resistant CD showed that 7-day treatment was safe and well-tolerated by the patients and associated with clinical benefit (82). Patients enrolled in the trial were monitored for the development of intestinal strictures. Six months after the end of the treatment, no patient developed strictures (83). To further assess the impact of Smad7 inhibition on the development of intestinal fibrosis, we used a mouse model of TNBS-mediated colitis-driven intestinal fibrosis. Interestingly, treatment of colitic mice with mongersen reduced the degree of intestinal inflammation and limited the development of intestinal fibrosis (84).

A subsequent phase 2, multicenter double-blind, placebocontrolled clinical trial was conducted in steroid-resistant/ dependent CD patients with inflammatory lesions confined to the terminal ileum and/or right colon. The study confirmed the safety profile of mongersen and showed that 55 and 65% of the patients treated with the highest doses of the drug (i.e., 40 or 160 mg/day for 2 weeks) achieved clinical remission (primary end-point) as compared to 10% in the placebo group (85). Responders to

TGF-β1/Smad7 in the Gut

mongersen exhibited reduction in the serum levels of CCL20, a chemokine that contributes to recruit immune cells to the intestine ad is over-produced in the epithelium of CD patients (86). Next, an exploratory, phase 2, multicenter study confirmed the clinical efficacy of the drug and documented an endoscopic improvement in nearly one-third of the patients treated with mongersen for 4–12 weeks (87). Next, a phase III clinical trial was conducted in steroid-resistant/dependent CD patients with inflammatory lesions of the terminal ileum and/or colon and endoscopic evidence of active inflammation. The trial was discontinued in October 2017 as an interim analysis documented a lack of efficacy of the drug.

SMAD7 IN CRC

Colorectal cancer represents a leading cause of cancer-related morbidity and mortality, with 1.65 million new cases and almost 835,000 deaths estimated worldwide in 2015 (88). In 70% of cases, CRC arises as sporadic disease, with several environmental and genetic factors involved in the pathogenesis, most of which are still unknown (89). Instead, in 2% of cases, CRC arises in patients with long-standing UC or extensive CD (colitis-associated cancer, CAC), with a cumulative risk that has been related with disease duration, extension, and severity of inflammation (90, 91). TGF-\u00b31 seems to play both pro-tumorigenic and anti-tumorigenic roles in CRC depending on the tumor stage and probably reflecting the complexity of TGF-^{β1} function and the large number of biological processes in which the cytokine is involved. While at early stages of tumorigenesis, TGF-\u00df1 contributes to maintain cell differentiation and restricts epithelial cell growth, thus acting as a tumor suppressor, at later stages, it promotes epithelial-mesenchymal transition, neo-angiogenesis, cancer progression, and metastasis (12, 92). Similarly, a dual role of Smad7 has been described in various types of cancer with pro-tumorigenic or anti-tumorigenic effects according to the cancer site and biology (93). Single nucleotide polymorphisms of Smad7 gene associate with CRC (i.e., rs4939827, rs12953717) (93, 94). Moreover, in a study from Boulay and colleagues, Smad7 mutations were analyzed in 264 CRC biopsies, and amplification of Smad7 gene was associated with a poor prognosis, with a possible dose effect, while deletion of Smad7 gene associated with a better outcome (95). Our studies have recently evidenced a link between Smad7 expression in immune cells and CAC. In particular, a reduced number of Smad7-expressing CD4+ T lymphocytes were documented in the colonic mucosa of IBD patients who developed CAC compared to IBD patients with uncomplicated disease (79). In line with this observation, in an experimental model of CAC, Tg mice that overexpress Smad7 in T cells developed a more severe intestinal inflammation, characterized by an abundant infiltrate of cytotoxic CD8+ T cells and NKT cells, compared to control mice, and were largely protected from tumors. The antitumorigenic effect of Smad7 over-expression in T cells appeared related to the action of IFN- γ , as genetic deletion of such a cytokine abolished the protective effect of Smad7 on colon carcinogenesis (79). Consistent with these observations is the demonstration that Smad7 Tg mice develop less tumors than wild-type littermates

following the subcutaneous injection of syngenic MC38 colon carcinoma cells (96). Altogether, these data suggest that high Smad7 in immune cells promotes the amplification of Th1cytokine responses, which protect against colon carcinogenesis. However, in line with the above-referenced genetic studies, a different scenario emerges when the role of Smad7 is analyzed in sporadic CRC. Indeed, CRC cells produce huge amounts of Smad7 and knockdown of Smad7 with a specific AS inhibits the in vitro and in vivo growth of CRC cells (97). This effect of Smad7 AS relies on the modulation of cell cycle-related proteins and ultimately results in S phase arrest and cell death. Since these findings are seen in CRC cells unresponsive to TGF^{β1} and the anti-proliferative effect of Smad7 AS is not affected by stimulation of CRC cells with TGF-\u00b31 or anti-TGF-\u00b31, it is highly likely that Smad7 exerts pro-tumorigenic effects in a TGF_β1-independent manner (Figure 1) (97). Analysis of the basic mechanisms underlying the mitogenic effect of Smad7 in CRC cells showed that Smad7 knockdown causes phosphorylation of eukaryotic translation initiation factor 2α (eIF2 α), a transcription factor that regulates cell cycle arrest, and consequent upregulation of activating transcription factor 4 (ATF4) and CCAAT/enhancer binding protein homology protein (CHOP) (98). Silencing of the serine-threonine protein kinase RNA abrogates Smad7 AS induced eIF2a phosphorylation and ATF4/CHOP induction, thus preventing cell death (Figure 1) (98). In contrast, an antitumorigenic role for Smad7 has been recently reported by Wang and colleagues, who showed that nuclear reporter subfamily 2, group F, and member 2 (NR2F2), a molecule involved in many cancers, induces a TGFβ1-dependent epithelial-mesenchymal transition by inhibiting Smad7, thus promoting CRC metastasizing process (99).

Altogether, these data highlight the complex role of Smad7/ TGF β 1 signaling in colon carcinogenesis.

CONCLUSION

The findings discussed in this review underline the crucial role of TGF- β 1 in the maintenance of intestinal homeostasis and suggest that defective function of this cytokine can contribute to trigger and/or amplify detrimental signals in the gut. There is also discussion on the expression of Smad7 in patients with IBD and the crucial role played by this protein in inhibiting TGF-^{β1} function and sustaining IBD-related inflammation. Knockdown of Smad7 allows endogenous TGF-β to suppress effector responses. In line with this, CD patients treated with oral compound containing Smad7 AS showed clinical and endoscopic improvement during phase 1 and phase 2 clinical trials. However, a recent phase 3 clinical trial has been discontinued apparently due to the lack of efficacy of the drug, but the reasons for the discrepancy between phase 2 and phase 3 studies remain unknown. Similarly, some issues regarding the expression/function of Smad7 in IBD and CRC remain to be addressed. For instance, we still do not known whether, in IBD, Smad7 is regulated in a cell-specific manner and which factors/ mechanisms contribute to maintain the elevated levels of Smad7. It would also be relevant to know whether molecular profiling of IBD patients can help to identify better candidates to treatment

with Smad7 inhibitors. Further experimentation is also needed to clarify whether and which regulatory effects of Smad7 on the ongoing mucosal inflammation and colon carcinogenesis are in part independent on TGF- β 1, as it is known that Smad7 controls some biological functions in a TGF- β 1-independent manner.

REFERENCES

- Macdonald TT, Monteleone G. Immunity, inflammation, and allergy in the gut. Science (2005) 307(5717):1920–5. doi:10.1126/science.1106442
- Maloy KJ, Powrie F. Intestinal homeostasis and its breakdown in inflammatory bowel disease. *Nature* (2011) 474(7351):298–306. doi:10.1038/nature10208
- Artis D. Epithelial-cell recognition of commensal bacteria and maintenance of immune homeostasis in the gut. *Nat Rev Immunol* (2008) 8(6):411–20. doi:10.1038/nri2316
- Kotlarz D, Beier R, Murugan D, Diestelhorst J, Jensen O, Boztug K, et al. Loss of interleukin-10 signaling and infantile inflammatory bowel disease: implications for diagnosis and therapy. *Gastroenterology* (2012) 143(2):347–55. doi:10.1053/j.gastro.2012.04.045
- Glocker EO, Kotlarz D, Boztug K, Gertz EM, Schäffer AA, Noyan F, et al. Inflammatory bowel disease and mutations affecting the interleukin-10 receptor. N Engl J Med (2009) 361(21):2033–45. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa0907206
- Asseman C, Mauze S, Leach MW, Coffman RL, Powrie F. An essential role for interleukin 10 in the function of regulatory T cells that inhibit intestinal inflammation. *J Exp Med* (1999) 190(7):995–1004. doi:10.1084/jem.190. 7.995
- Kullberg MC, Ward JM, Gorelick PL, Caspar P, Hieny S, Cheever A, et al. *Helicobacter hepaticus* triggers colitis in specific-pathogen-free interleukin-10 (IL-10)-deficient mice through an IL-12- and gamma interferon-dependent mechanism. *Infect Immun* (1998) 66(11):5157–66.
- Kühn R, Löhler J, Rennick D, Rajewsky K, Müller W. Interleukin-10-deficient mice develop chronic enterocolitis. *Cell* (1993) 75(2):263–74. doi:10.1016/ 0092-8674(93)80068-P
- Nenci A, Becker C, Wullaert A, Gareus R, van Loo G, Danese S, et al. Epithelial NEMO links innate immunity to chronic intestinal inflammation. *Nature* (2007) 446(7135):557–61. doi:10.1038/nature05698
- Kulkarni AB, Karlsson S. Transforming growth factor-beta 1 knockout mice. A mutation in one cytokine gene causes a dramatic inflammatory disease. Am J Pathol (1993) 143(1):3–9.
- Gorelik L, Flavell RA. Abrogation of TGFbeta signaling in T cells leads to spontaneous T cell differentiation and autoimmune disease. *Immunity* (2000) 12(2):171–81. doi:10.1016/S1074-7613(00)80170-3
- Skeen VR, Paterson I, Paraskeva C, Williams AC.TGF-beta1 signalling, connecting aberrant inflammation and colorectal tumorigenesis. *Curr Pharm Des* (2012) 18(26):3874–88. doi:10.2174/138161212802083734
- Piek E, Heldin CH, Ten Dijke P. Specificity, diversity, and regulation in TGFbeta superfamily signaling. *FASEB J* (1999) 13(15):2105–24. doi:10.1096/fasebj. 13.15.2105
- Munger JS, Harpel JG, Gleizes PE, Mazzieri R, Nunes I, Rifkin DB. Latent transforming growth factor-beta: structural features and mechanisms of activation. *Kidney Int* (1997) 51(5):1376–82. doi:10.1038/ki.1997.188
- Munger JS, Harpel JG, Giancotti FG, Rifkin DB. Interactions between growth factors and integrins: latent forms of transforming growth factor-beta are ligands for the integrin alphavbeta1. *Mol Biol Cell* (1998) 9(9):2627–38. doi:10.1091/mbc.9.9.2627
- Massague J, Seoane J, Wotton D. Smad transcription factors. *Genes Dev* (2005) 19(23):2783–810. doi:10.1101/gad.1350705
- Nakao A, Afrakhte M, Morén A, Nakayama T, Christian JL, Heuchel R, et al. Identification of Smad7, a TGFbeta-inducible antagonist of TGF-beta signalling. *Nature* (1997) 389(6651):631–5. doi:10.1038/39369
- Hayashi H, Abdollah S, Qiu Y, Cai J, Xu YY, Grinnell BW, et al. The MADrelated protein Smad7 associates with the TGFbeta receptor and functions as an antagonist of TGFbeta signaling. *Cell* (1997) 89(7):1165–73. doi:10.1016/ S0092-8674(00)80303-7
- Shi W, Sun C, He B, Xiong W, Shi X, Yao D, et al. GADD34-PP1c recruited by Smad7 dephosphorylates TGFbeta type I receptor. *J Cell Biol* (2004) 164(2):291–300. doi:10.1083/jcb.200307151

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

ET and IM wrote the manuscript. CS supervised parts of the project. GM designed the paper, supervised the project, and wrote the manuscript.

- Ebisawa T, Fukuchi M, Murakami G, Chiba T, Tanaka K, Imamura T, et al. Smurfl interacts with transforming growth factor-beta type I receptor through Smad7 and induces receptor degradation. *J Biol Chem* (2001) 276(16):12477–80. doi:10.1074/jbc.C100008200
- Kavsak P, Rasmussen RK, Causing CG, Bonni S, Zhu H, Thomsen GH, et al. Smad7 binds to Smurf2 to form an E3 ubiquitin ligase that targets the TGF beta receptor for degradation. *Mol Cell* (2000) 6(6):1365–75. doi:10.1016/ S1097-2765(00)00134-9
- Zhang S, Fei T, Zhang L, Zhang R, Chen F, Ning Y, et al. Smad7 antagonizes transforming growth factor beta signaling in the nucleus by interfering with functional Smad-DNA complex formation. *Mol Cell Biol* (2007) 27(12): 4488–99. doi:10.1128/MCB.01636-06
- Travis MA, Sheppard D. TGF-beta activation and function in immunity. *Annu Rev Immunol* (2014) 32:51–82. doi:10.1146/annurev-immunol-032713-120257
- Fang D, Zhu J. Dynamic balance between master transcription factors determines the fates and functions of CD4 T cell and innate lymphoid cell subsets. *J Exp Med* (2017) 214(7):1861–76. doi:10.1084/jem.20170494
- Gorelik L, Constant S, Flavell RA. Mechanism of transforming growth factor beta-induced inhibition of T helper type 1 differentiation. *J Exp Med* (2002) 195(11):1499–505. doi:10.1084/jem.20012076
- Gorham JD, Güler ML, Fenoglio D, Gubler U, Murphy KM. Low dose TGFbeta attenuates IL-12 responsiveness in murine Th cells. *J Immunol* (1998) 161(4):1664–70.
- Gorelik L, Fields PE, Flavell RA. Cutting edge: TGF-beta inhibits Th type 2 development through inhibition of GATA-3 expression. *J Immunol* (2000) 165(9):4773–7. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.165.9.4773
- Heath VL, Murphy EE, Crain C, Tomlinson MG, O'Garra A. TGF-beta1 down-regulates Th2 development and results in decreased IL-4-induced STAT6 activation and GATA-3 expression. *Eur J Immunol* (2000) 30(9):2639–49. doi:10.1002/1521-4141(200009)30:9<2639::AID-IMMU2639>3.0.CO;2-7
- Fantini MC, Becker C, Monteleone G, Pallone F, Galle PR, Neurath MF. Cutting edge: TGF-beta induces a regulatory phenotype in CD4+CD25-T cells through Foxp3 induction and down-regulation of Smad7. *J Immunol* (2004) 172(9):5149–53. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.172.9.5149
- Josefowicz SZ, Lu LF, Rudensky AY. Regulatory T cells: mechanisms of differentiation and function. Annu Rev Immunol (2012) 30:531–64. doi:10.1146/ annurev.immunol.25.022106.141623
- Marie JC, Letterio JJ, Gavin M, Rudensky AY. TGF-beta1 maintains suppressor function and Foxp3 expression in CD4+CD25+ regulatory T cells. J Exp Med (2005) 201(7):1061–7. doi:10.1084/jem.20042276
- Li MO, Sanjabi S, Flavell RA. Transforming growth factor-beta controls development, homeostasis, and tolerance of T cells by regulatory T celldependent and -independent mechanisms. *Immunity* (2006) 25(3):455–71. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2006.07.011
- Liu Y, Zhang P, Li J, Kulkarni AB, Perruche S, Chen W. A critical function for TGF-beta signaling in the development of natural CD4+CD25+Foxp3+ regulatory T cells. *Nat Immunol* (2008) 9(6):632–40. doi:10.1038/ni.1607
- Chen W, Jin W, Hardegen N, Lei KJ, Li L, Marinos N, et al. Conversion of peripheral CD4+CD25- naive T cells to CD4+CD25+ regulatory T cells by TGF-beta induction of transcription factor Foxp3. *J Exp Med* (2003) 198(12):1875–86. doi:10.1084/jem.20030152
- Davidson TS, DiPaolo RJ, Andersson J, Shevach EM. Cutting edge: IL-2 is essential for TGF-beta-mediated induction of Foxp3+ T regulatory cells. *J Immunol* (2007) 178(7):4022–6. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.178.7.4022
- Benson MJ, Pino-Lagos K, Rosemblatt M, Noelle RJ. All-trans retinoic acid mediates enhanced T reg cell growth, differentiation, and gut homing in the face of high levels of co-stimulation. *J Exp Med* (2007) 204(8):1765–74. doi:10.1084/jem.20070719
- 37. Sun CM, Hall JA, Blank RB, Bouladoux N, Oukka M, Mora JR, et al. Small intestine lamina propria dendritic cells promote de novo generation of Foxp3

T reg cells via retinoic acid. J Exp Med (2007) 204(8):1775–85. doi:10.1084/ jem.20070602

- Coombes JL, Siddiqui KR, Arancibia-Cárcamo CV, Hall J, Sun CM, Belkaid Y, et al. A functionally specialized population of mucosal CD103+ DCs induces Foxp3+ regulatory T cells via a TGF-beta and retinoic acid-dependent mechanism. *J Exp Med* (2007) 204(8):1757–64. doi:10.1084/jem. 20070590
- Kashiwagi I, Morita R, Schichita T, Komai K, Saeki K, Matsumoto M, et al. Smad2 and Smad3 inversely regulate TGF-beta autoinduction in *Clostridium butyricum*-activated dendritic cells. *Immunity* (2015) 43(1):65–79. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2015.06.010
- Korn T, Bettelli E, Oukka M, Kuchroo VK. IL-17 and Th17 cells. Annu Rev Immunol (2009) 27:485–517. doi:10.1146/annurev.immunol.021908.132710
- Zhou L, Lopes JE, Chong MM, Ivanov II, Min R, Victora GD, et al. TGFbeta-induced Foxp3 inhibits T(H)17 cell differentiation by antagonizing RORgammat function. *Nature* (2008) 453(7192):236–40. doi:10.1038/ nature06878
- Zhang N, Bevan MJ. Transforming growth factor-beta signaling controls the formation and maintenance of gut-resident memory T cells by regulating migration and retention. *Immunity* (2013) 39(4):687–96. doi:10.1016/j. immuni.2013.08.019
- Ruane D, Chorny A, Lee H, Faith J, Pandey G, Shan M, et al. Microbiota regulate the ability of lung dendritic cells to induce IgA class-switch recombination and generate protective gastrointestinal immune responses. *J Exp Med* (2016) 213(1):53–73. doi:10.1084/jem.20150567
- Cazac BB, Roes J. TGF-beta receptor controls B cell responsiveness and induction of IgA in vivo. *Immunity* (2000) 13(4):443–51. doi:10.1016/ S1074-7613(00)00044-3
- Roes J, Choi BK, Cazac BB. Redirection of B cell responsiveness by transforming growth factor beta receptor. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2003) 100(12):7241–6. doi:10.1073/pnas.0731875100
- Kubinak JL, Round JL. Do antibodies select a healthy microbiota? Nat Rev Immunol (2016) 16(12):767–74. doi:10.1038/nri.2016.114
- Reboldi A, Arnon TI, Rodda LB, Atakilit A, Sheppard D, Cyster JG. IgA production requires B cell interaction with subepithelial dendritic cells in Peyer's patches. *Science* (2016) 352(6287):aaf4822. doi:10.1126/science.aaf4822
- Park SR, Lee JH, Kim PH. Smad3 and Smad4 mediate transforming growth factor-beta1-induced IgA expression in murine B lymphocytes. *Eur J Immunol* (2001) 31(6):1706–15. doi:10.1002/1521-4141(200106)31:6<1706::AID-IMMU1706>3.0.CO;2-Z
- Klein J, Ju W, Heyer J, Wittek B, Haneke T, Knaus P, et al. B cell-specific deficiency for Smad2 in vivo leads to defects in TGF-beta-directed IgA switching and changes in B cell fate. *J Immunol* (2006) 176(4):2389–96. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.176.4.2389
- Sedda S, Marafini I, Figliuzzi MM, Pallone F, Monteleone G. An overview of the role of innate lymphoid cells in gut infections and inflammation. *Mediators Inflamm* (2014) 2014:235460. doi:10.1155/2014/235460
- Cortez VS, Cervantes-Barragan L, Robinette ML, Bando JK, Wang Y, Geiger TL, et al. Transforming growth factor-beta signaling guides the differentiation of innate lymphoid cells in salivary glands. *Immunity* (2016) 44(5):1127–39. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2016.03.007
- Ramalingam R, Larmonier CB, Thurston RD, Midura-Kiela MT, Zheng SG, Ghishan FK, et al. Dendritic cell-specific disruption of TGF-beta receptor II leads to altered regulatory T cell phenotype and spontaneous multiorgan autoimmunity. *J Immunol* (2012) 189(8):3878–93. doi:10.4049/jimmunol. 1201029
- 53. Ihara S, Hirata Y, Serizawa T, Suzuki N, Sakitani K, Kinoshita H, et al. TGF-beta signaling in dendritic cells governs colonic homeostasis by controlling epithelial differentiation and the luminal microbiota. *J Immunol* (2016) 196(11):4603–13. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1502548
- Travis MA, Reizis B, Melton AC, Masteller E, Tang Q, Proctor JM, et al. Loss of integrin alpha(v)beta8 on dendritic cells causes autoimmunity and colitis in mice. *Nature* (2007) 449(7160):361–5. doi:10.1038/nature06110
- Siddiqui KR, Laffont S, Powrie F. E-cadherin marks a subset of inflammatory dendritic cells that promote T cell-mediated colitis. *Immunity* (2010) 32(4):557–67. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2010.03.017
- Smythies LE, Maheshwari A, Clements R, Eckhoff D, Novak L, Vu HL, et al. Mucosal IL-8 and TGF-beta recruit blood monocytes: evidence for cross-talk

between the lamina propria stroma and myeloid cells. *J Leukoc Biol* (2006) 80(3):492–9. doi:10.1189/jlb.1005566

- Varol C, Mildner A, Jung S. Macrophages: development and tissue specialization. Annu Rev Immunol (2015) 33:643–75. doi:10.1146/annurev-immunol-032414-112220
- Rani R, Smulian AG, Greaves DR, Hogan SP, Herbert DR. TGF-beta limits IL-33 production and promotes the resolution of colitis through regulation of macrophage function. *Eur J Immunol* (2011) 41(7):2000–9. doi:10.1002/ eji.201041135
- Howe KL, Reardon C, Wang A, Nazli A, McKay DM. Transforming growth factor-beta regulation of epithelial tight junction proteins enhances barrier function and blocks enterohemorrhagic *Escherichia coli* O157:H7-induced increased permeability. *Am J Pathol* (2005) 167(6):1587–97. doi:10.1016/ S0002-9440(10)61243-6
- Oshima H, Nakayama M, Han TS, Naoi K, Ju X, Maeda Y, et al. Suppressing TGFbeta signaling in regenerating epithelia in an inflammatory microenvironment is sufficient to cause invasive intestinal cancer. *Cancer Res* (2015) 75(4):766–76. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-14-2036
- 61. Biancheri P, Giuffrida P, Docena GH, MacDonald TT, Corazza GR, Di Sabatino A. The role of transforming growth factor (TGF)-beta in modulating the immune response and fibrogenesis in the gut. *Cytokine Growth Factor Rev* (2014) 25(1):45–55. doi:10.1016/j.cytogfr.2013.11.001
- Stallmach A, Schuppan D, Riese HH, Matthes H, Riecken EO. Increased collagen type III synthesis by fibroblasts isolated from strictures of patients with Crohn's disease. *Gastroenterology* (1992) 102(6):1920–9. doi:10.1016/0016-5085(92)90314-O
- Di Sabatino A, Jackson CL, Pickard KM, Buckley M, Rovedatti L, Leakey NA, et al. Transforming growth factor beta signalling and matrix metalloproteinases in the mucosa overlying Crohn's disease strictures. *Gut* (2009) 58(6):777–89. doi:10.1136/gut.2008.149096
- Leask A, Abraham DJ. TGF-beta signaling and the fibrotic response. FASEB J (2004) 18(7):816–27. doi:10.1096/fj.03-1273rev
- Mulsow JJ, Watson RW, Fitzpatrick JM, O'Connell PR. Transforming growth factor-beta promotes pro-fibrotic behavior by serosal fibroblasts via PKC and ERK1/2 mitogen activated protein kinase cell signaling. *Ann Surg* (2005) 242(6):880–7, discussion 887–9. doi:10.1097/01.sla.0000189606.58343.cd
- Xavier RJ, Podolsky DK. Unravelling the pathogenesis of inflammatory bowel disease. *Nature* (2007) 448(7152):427–34. doi:10.1038/nature06005
- 67. Bouma G, Strober W. The immunological and genetic basis of inflammatory bowel disease. *Nat Rev Immunol* (2003) 3(7):521–33. doi:10.1038/nri1132
- 68. Di Sabatino A, Pickard KM, Rampton D, Kruidenier L, Rovedatti L, Leakey NA, et al. Blockade of transforming growth factor beta upregulates T-box transcription factor T-bet, and increases T helper cell type 1 cytokine and matrix metalloproteinase-3 production in the human gut mucosa. *Gut* (2008) 57(5): 605–12. doi:10.1136/gut.2007.130922
- Monteleone G, Kumberova A, Croft NM, McKenzie C, Steer HW, MacDonald TT. Blocking Smad7 restores TGF-beta1 signaling in chronic inflammatory bowel disease. J Clin Invest (2001) 108(4):601–9. doi:10.1172/JCI12821
- Monteleone G, Mann J, Monteleone I, Vavassori P, Bremner R, Fantini M, et al. A failure of transforming growth factor-beta1 negative regulation maintains sustained NF-kappaB activation in gut inflammation. *J Biol Chem* (2004) 279(6):3925–32. doi:10.1074/jbc.M303654200
- Monteleone G, Del Vecchio Blanco G, Monteleone I, Fina D, Caruso R, Gioia V, et al. Post-transcriptional regulation of Smad7 in the gut of patients with inflammatory bowel disease. *Gastroenterology* (2005) 129(5):1420–9. doi:10.1053/j.gastro.2005.09.005
- Caruso R, Marafini I, Franzè E, Stolfi C, Zorzi F, Monteleone I, et al. Defective expression of SIRT1 contributes to sustain inflammatory pathways in the gut. *Mucosal Immunol* (2014) 7(6):1467–79. doi:10.1038/mi.2014.35
- Nakamura K, Kitani A, Fuss I, Pedersen A, Harada N, Nawata H, et al. TGFbeta 1 plays an important role in the mechanism of CD4+CD25+ regulatory T cell activity in both humans and mice. *J Immunol* (2004) 172(2):834–42. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.172.2.834
- Maloy KJ, Salaun L, Cahill R, Dougan G, Saunders NJ, Powrie F. CD4+CD25+ T(R) cells suppress innate immune pathology through cytokine-dependent mechanisms. J Exp Med (2003) 197(1):111–9. doi:10.1084/jem.20021345
- 75. Fantini MC, Rizzo A, Fina D, Caruso R, Sarra M, Stolfi C, et al. Smad7 controls resistance of colitogenic T cells to regulatory T cell-mediated

suppression. Gastroenterology (2009) 136(4):1308–16, e1–3. doi:10.1053/j. gastro.2008.12.053

- Neurath MF, Fuss I, Kelsall BL, Stüber E, Strober W. Antibodies to interleukin 12 abrogate established experimental colitis in mice. *J Exp Med* (1995) 182(5):1281–90. doi:10.1084/jem.182.5.1281
- Boirivant M, Fuss IJ, Chu A, Strober W. Oxazolone colitis: a murine model of T helper cell type 2 colitis treatable with antibodies to interleukin 4. *J Exp Med* (1998) 188(10):1929–39. doi:10.1084/jem.188.10.1929
- Boirivant M, Pallone F, Di Giacinto C, Fina D, Monteleone I, Marinaro M, et al. Inhibition of Smad7 with a specific antisense oligonucleotide facilitates TGF-beta1-mediated suppression of colitis. *Gastroenterology* (2006) 131(6): 1786–98. doi:10.1053/j.gastro.2006.09.016
- Rizzo A, Waldner MJ, Stolfi C, Sarra M, Fina D, Becker C, et al. Smad7 expression in T cells prevents colitis-associated cancer. *Cancer Res* (2011) 71(24):7423–32. doi:10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-11-1895
- Monteleone I, Rizzo A, Sarra M, Sica G, Sileri P, Biancone L, et al. Aryl hydrocarbon receptor-induced signals up-regulate IL-22 production and inhibit inflammation in the gastrointestinal tract. *Gastroenterology* (2011) 141(1):237–48, 248.e1. doi:10.1053/j.gastro.2011.04.007
- Monteleone I, Marafini I, Zorzi F, Di Fusco D, Dinallo V, Rizzo A, et al. Smad7 knockdown restores aryl hydrocarbon receptor-mediated protective signals in the gut. J Crohns Colitis (2016) 10(6):670–7. doi:10.1093/ecco-jcc/ jjw030
- Monteleone G, Fantini MC, Onali S, Zorzi F, Sancesario G, Bernardini S, et al. Phase I clinical trial of Smad7 knockdown using antisense oligonucleotide in patients with active Crohn's disease. *Mol Ther* (2012) 20(4):870–6. doi:10.1038/ mt.2011.290
- Zorzi F, Calabrese E, Monteleone I, Fantini M, Onali S, Biancone L, et al. A phase 1 open-label trial shows that smad7 antisense oligonucleotide (GED0301) does not increase the risk of small bowel strictures in Crohn's disease. *Aliment Pharmacol Ther* (2012) 36(9):850–7. doi:10.1111/apt.12051
- Izzo R, Bevivino G, De Simone V, Sedda S, Monteleone I, Marafini I, et al. Knockdown of Smad7 with a specific antisense oligonucleotide attenuates colitis and colitis-driven colonic fibrosis in mice. *Inflamm Bowel Dis* (2018) 24(6):1213–24. doi:10.1093/ibd/izy062
- Monteleone G, Neurath MF, Ardizzone S, Di Sabatino A, Fantini MC, Castiglione F, et al. Mongersen, an oral SMAD7 antisense oligonucleotide, and Crohn's disease. N Engl J Med (2015) 372(12):1104–13. doi:10.1056/ NEJMoa1407250
- Marafini I, Monteleone I, Dinallo V, Di Fusco D, De Simone V, Laudisi F, et al. CCL20 is negatively regulated by TGF-beta1 in intestinal epithelial cells and reduced in Crohn's disease patients with a successful response to mongersen, a Smad7 antisense oligonucleotide. *J Crohns Colitis* (2017) 11(5):603–9. doi:10.1093/ecco-jcc/jjw191
- Feagan BG, Sands BE, Rossiter G, Li X, Usiskin K, Zhan X, et al. Effects of mongersen (GED-0301) on endoscopic and clinical outcomes in patients with active Crohn's disease. *Gastroenterology* (2018) 154(1):61–64.e6. doi:10.1053/j. gastro.2017.08.035
- 88. Global Burden of Disease Cancer Collaboration, Fitzmaurice C, Allen C, Barber RM, Barregard L, Bhutta ZA, et al. Global, regional, and national cancer incidence, mortality, years of life lost, years lived with disability, and

disability-adjusted life-years for 32 cancer groups, 1990 to 2015: a systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease Study. *JAMA Oncol* (2017) 3(4):524–48. doi:10.1001/jamaoncol.2016.5688

- Amersi F, Agustin M, Ko CY. Colorectal cancer: epidemiology, risk factors, and health services. *Clin Colon Rectal Surg* (2005) 18(3):133–40. doi:10.1055/s-2005-916274
- Francescone R, Hou V, Grivennikov SI. Cytokines, IBD, and colitisassociated cancer. *Inflamm Bowel Dis* (2015) 21(2):409–18. doi:10.1097/MIB. 00000000000236
- Rutter M, Saunders B, Wilkinson K, Rumbles S, Schofield G, Kamm M, et al. Severity of inflammation is a risk factor for colorectal neoplasia in ulcerative colitis. *Gastroenterology* (2004) 126(2):451–9. doi:10.1053/j.gastro.2003. 11.010
- Katsuno Y, Lamouille S, Derynck R. TGF-beta signaling and epithelialmesenchymal transition in cancer progression. *Curr Opin Oncol* (2013) 25(1): 76–84. doi:10.1097/CCO.0b013e32835b6371
- Stolfi C, Marafini I, De Simone V, Pallone F, Monteleone G. The dual role of Smad7 in the control of cancer growth and metastasis. *Int J Mol Sci* (2013) 14(12):23774–90. doi:10.3390/ijms141223774
- Huang Y, Wu W, Nie M, Li C, Wang L. SMAD7 polymorphisms and colorectal cancer risk: a meta-analysis of case-control studies. *Oncotarget* (2016) 7(46): 75561–70. doi:10.18632/oncotarget.12285
- Boulay JL, Mild G, Lowy A, Reuter J, Lagrange M, Terracciano L, et al. SMAD7 is a prognostic marker in patients with colorectal cancer. *Int J Cancer* (2003) 104(4):446–9. doi:10.1002/ijc.10908
- Rizzo A, De Mare V, Rocchi C, Stolfi C, Colantoni A, Neurath MF, et al. Smad7 induces plasticity in tumor-infiltrating Th17 cells and enables TNFalpha-mediated killing of colorectal cancer cells. *Carcinogenesis* (2014) 35(7):1536–46. doi:10.1093/carcin/bgu027
- Stolfi C, De Simone V, Colantoni A, Franzè E, Ribichini E, Fantini MC, et al. A functional role for Smad7 in sustaining colon cancer cell growth and survival. *Cell Death Dis* (2014) 5:e1073. doi:10.1038/cddis.2014.49
- De Simone V, Bevivino G, Sedda S, Izzo R, Laudisi F, Dinallo V, et al. Smad7 knockdown activates protein kinase RNA-associated eIF2alpha pathway leading to colon cancer cell death. *Cell Death Dis* (2017) 8(3):e2681. doi:10.1038/ cddis.2017.103
- Wang H, Nie L, Wu L, Liu Q, Guo X. NR2F2 inhibits Smad7 expression and promotes TGF-beta-dependent epithelial-mesenchymal transition of CRC via transactivation of miR-21. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* (2017) 485(1):181–8. doi:10.1016/j.bbrc.2017.02.049

Conflict of Interest Statement: GM has filed a patent related to the treatment of inflammatory bowel diseases with Smad7 antisense oligonucleotides, while the remaining authors have no conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2018 Troncone, Marafini, Stolfi and Monteleone. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Effects of Anti-Integrin Treatment With Vedolizumab on Immune Pathways and Cytokines in Inflammatory Bowel Diseases

Timo Rath¹, Ulrike Billmeier¹, Fulvia Ferrazzi², Michael Vieth³, Arif Ekici², Markus F. Neurath¹ and Raja Atreya^{1*}

¹ Department of Medicine 1, Division of Gastroenterology, Pneumology and Endocrinology, Ludwig Demling Endoscopy Center of Excellence, University of Erlangen-Nuremberg, Erlangen, Germany, ²Institute of Human Genetics, Friedrich-Alexander-Universität Erlangen-Nuremberg, Erlangen, Germany, ³Institute of Pathology, Klinikum Bayreuth, Bayreuth, Germany

Background and aims: Despite proven clinical efficacy of vedolizumab (VDZ) for inducing and maintaining remission in patients with Crohn's disease (CD) and ulcerative colitis (UC), subgroups of patients have no therapeutic benefit from anti- α 4 β 7 integrin therapy with VDZ. Within this study, we aimed to identify genetic, cellular, and immunological mechanisms that define response and failure to VDZ treatment.

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Fabio Cominelli, Case Western Reserve University, United States

Reviewed by:

Marco De Andrea, University of Turin, Italy Luciana D'Apice, Consiglio Nazionale Delle Ricerche (CNR), Italy

*Correspondence: Raja Atreya raja.atreya@uk-erlangen.de

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Cytokines and Soluble Mediators in Immunity, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology

Received: 28 February 2018 Accepted: 10 July 2018 Published: 31 July 2018

Citation:

Rath T, Billmeier U, Ferrazzi F, Vieth M, Ekici A, Neurath MF and Atreya R (2018) Effects of Anti-Integrin Treatment With Vedolizumab on Immune Pathways and Cytokines in Inflammatory Bowel Diseases. Front. Immunol. 9:1700. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2018.01700 **Methods:** Intestinal RNA sequencing was performed in UC and CD patients before and at week 14 of VDZ therapy. $\alpha 4\beta 7$ expression on peripheral and mucosal immune cells was assessed by flow cytometry and immunohistochemistry. Cellular modes of VDZ-mediated action were analyzed *ex vivo* and in VDZ-treated inflammatory bowel disease patients.

Results: Transcriptome analysis showed an impairment of signaling cascades associated with adhesion, diapedesis, and migration of granulocytes and agranulocytes upon VDZ therapy. In non-remitters to VDZ therapy, a tissue destructive and leukocyte-mediated inflammatory activity with activation of TNF-dependent pathways was present, all of which were inhibited in remitters to VDZ. Clinical remission was associated with a significant reduction of $\alpha 4\beta7$ expression on Th2 and Th17 polarized mucosal CD4⁺ T cells at week 14 of VDZ therapy and with significantly higher numbers of $\alpha 4\beta7$ -expressing mucosal cells prior to the initiation of VDZ therapy compared with non-remitters.

Conclusion: Intestinal $\alpha 4\beta 7$ expression prior to VDZ therapy might represent a biomarker that predicts therapeutic response to subsequent VDZ treatment. Due to high activation of TNF signaling in VDZ non-remitters, anti-TNF treatment might represent a promising therapeutic strategy in VDZ refractory patients.

Keywords: inflammatory bowel diseases, ulcerative colitis, Crohn's disease, vedolizumab, RNA sequencing, integrin, cytokines

INTRODUCTION

Rapid recruitment of leukocytes from the blood stream into the intestinal lamina propria is a key process for the homeostatic immune surveillance and the exaggerated mucosal immune response that is observed in inflammatory bowel diseases (IBD) such as Crohn's disease (CD) and ulcerative colitis (UC). The process of leukocyte migration into the mucosa is a multistep cascade involving

59

tethering, rolling, adhesion, and finally diapedesis of leukocytes, all of which is orchestrated by a complex network of cell-intrinsic and -extrinsic factors as well as regulatory molecules on T cells and endothelial cells, such as PSGL-1, ICAM-1, and LFA-1 and in addition by chemokines and their specific receptors (1, 2). Since marked lymphocyte accumulation within the lamina propria is one of the pathogenic and histologic hallmarks observed in IBD patients, targeting T cell homing to the gut has emerged as a novel and promising therapeutic option in IBD patients.

This is particularly relevant for the integrin $\alpha 4\beta 7$ that is expressed on the surface of gut-tropic effector lymphocytes. Homing of $\alpha 4\beta$ 7-expressing T cells is mediated by the specific interaction between $\alpha 4\beta 7$ and its ligand mucosal addressin cell adhesion molecule-1 (MAdCAM-1), which is expressed under steady-state conditions by gut endothelial cells (3). Experimental models of chronic intestinal inflammation using a murine antibody against the $\alpha 4\beta$ 7 integrin have shown that the inhibition of the interaction between MAdCAM-1 and α4β7 can successfully inhibit the entry of CD4⁺ T cells to the intestinal mucosa system and efficiently suppress intestinal inflammation (4, 5). Based on this experimental evidence, vedolizumab (VDZ) was developed as a humanized antibody that binds to a conformational epitope that is unique to the heterodimerization of the human $\alpha 4$ with the β 7 chain (6, 7), thereby conferring specificity toward the $\alpha 4\beta 7$ integrin. Subsequently, VDZ was shown to suppress migration and accumulation of $\alpha 4\beta$ 7-bearing effector T cells from UC patients to the inflamed colon in vivo suggesting that this antibody may suppress lymphocyte trafficking in IBD (8, 9). Clinical studies revealed that VDZ has statistically significant therapeutic efficacy in placebo controlled phase 3 clinical trials of patients with moderately-to-severe active UC (10) or CD leading to the approval of VDZ in the US and Europe for the treatment of both IBD entities (11, 12).

Nevertheless, only a distinct proportion of 40–60% of IBD patients will achieve clinical response under VDZ therapy (11, 12), and only 15% of CD patients will achieve clinical remission at week 10 of treatment (12, 13). Furthermore, in light of the increasing diversification of biological therapy modalities (14, 15) and to allow a targeted, timely, effective, and economic treatment, factors that define or predict therapeutic response are needed in daily practice. Based on these considerations, we aimed to define genetic and immunological differences between responders and non-responders to VDZ therapy and to identify factors that predict therapeutic response prior to the initiation of anti-adhesion molecule therapy with VDZ.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Clinical Disease Activity and Definition of Response and Remission

During VDZ induction therapy, patients were seen at week 0, 2, 6, 10, and 14 in the IBD outpatient department. At each visit, clinical scoring was assessed using the Harvey–Bradshaw index (HBI) for CD (16) and the Mayo Clinic Score for UC (17, 18). At week 14, therapeutic response toward VDZ was assessed. Clinical remission was defined as a HBI < 5 for CD (19) and as

a Mayo Clinic score of 2 or lower and no subscore higher than 1 for UC (11). Clinical response was defined as a decrease from baseline in Mayo score by \geq 30% and \geq 3 points, with a decrease in rectal bleeding subscore \geq 1 or rectal bleeding subscore of 0 or 1 (UC) or a decrease in HBI > 4 points from baseline (CD).

IBD Patients and Flow Cytometric Analysis of Human Blood and Lamina Propria Mononuclear Cells

To determine the $\alpha 4\beta 7$ expression on subsets of T cells in humans, peripheral blood and colonic samples from IBD patients were analyzed. Human intestinal lamina propria cells and peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMCs) from IBD and control patients were isolated as previously described (20, 21). After gating on CD3⁺CD4⁺ T cells, the following signature cytokines and transcription factors were used with the following antibodies to analyze differentially polarized T cells: Th1: IFN γ (anti-human IFN γ APC, eBiosciences, Cat. 17-7319-82); Tbet (anti-human/mouse T-bet PerCPCy5.5, eBiosciences, Cat. 45-5825-82), Th2: IL-4 (anti-human IL-4 APC, eBiosciences, Cat. 17-7049-82), IL-13 (anti-human IL-13 PerCP/Cy5.5, BioLegend, Cat. 501911), GATA3 (anti-human/mouse Gata-3 PE, eBiosciences, Cat. 12-9966-42); Th17: IL-17 (anti-human IL-17A PerCP-Cy5.5, Cat. 45-7179-42).

 $\alpha 4\beta 7$ was visualized using commercially available VDZ (Takeda, Tokyo, Japan), which was stably labeled with fluorescein isothiocyanate (FITC). For analysis of $\alpha 4\beta 7$ expression on peripheral blood lymphocytes under VDZ therapy, 12 patients with CD and 10 patients with UC were included. From all patients, blood samples were obtained before the initiation of anti-integrin therapy with VDZ and directly before the second, third, and fourth administration of 300 mg VDZ by intravenous infusion at weeks 0, 2, 6, and 14 respectively (11). For analysis of $\alpha 4\beta 7$ expression on lamina propria mononuclear cells, a total of 11 patients with UC and 12 patients with CD were included. Of the 11 patients with UC, 5 had a clinical remission while 6 UC patients were refractory to VDZ therapy. Of the twelve patients with CD, six patients were remitters while six CD patients did not have remission to VDZ therapy and $\alpha 4\beta 7$ expression was comparatively assessed between remitters and non-remitters.

The study was carried out in accordance with the recommendations of the ethical committee of the University Hospital, Friedrich-Alexander-Universität Erlangen-Nürnberg, Germany. The protocol was approved by the ethical committee of the University Hospital, Friedrich-Alexander-Universität Erlangen-Nürnberg, Germany. Each patient gave written informed consent in accordance with the Declaration of Helsinki before inclusion into the study.

Expression of Th1, Th2, and Th17 Polarizing Cytokines From PBMCs and Regulation of Cell Death in the Presence of VDZ

Peripheral blood mononuclear cells from IBD patients were isolated and cultured in RPMI medium 1640 (Gibco) containing

10% FCS (Pan Biotech), and 1% penicillin/streptomycin. Cells were stimulated with anti-human CD3 (eBioscience, clone OKT3) and anti-human CD28 (BD Pharmingen, clone CD28.2) at a final concentration of 1 μ g/mL in the presence of 40 μ g/mL VDZ or IgG1 isotype control. After 24 and 48 h, supernatant was collected, and quantification of cytokine production was performed by ELISA for IFN-y (human IFNy ELISA Ready-SET-Go, eBiosciences, Cat. 88-7316), IL-4 (Human IL-4 ELISA Ready-SET-Go, eBiosciences, Cat. 88-7046), IL-17a (human IL-17A ELISA Ready-SET-Go, eBiosciences, Cat. 88-7176), and IL-10 (BD OptEIA Human IL-10 ELISA Kit II, BD Pharmingen, Cat. 550613). In separate experiments, PBMCs from IBD patients (UC: n = 7; CD: n = 7) were cultured for 24 and 48 h and induction of cell death in the presence of 40 µg/mL VDZ or IgG1 isotype control was assessed using the cell death detection plus Kit (Roche Diagnostics, Mannheim, Germany).

Effects of VDZ and Isotype Control on the Adhesion of PBMCs to MAdCAM-1 Expressing HeLa Cells

Expression of MAdCAM-1 on HeLa cells was verified by immunohistochemistry using rabbit anti-human MAdCAM-1 (anti-MAdCAM, Abcam, Cat. ab178549) or an isotpye control antibody at 1 µg/mL as primary antibodies and anti-rabbit Alexa-647 as a secondary antibody. For adhesion assays, MAdCAM-1 expressing HeLa cells were grown to confluence for 48 to 72 h in µ-Slides (µ-Slide 8 Well, Ibidi, Cat. 80826) Subsequently, 5×10^5 PBMCs labeled with a vital dye from healthy controls (n = 4) were preincubated with 40 µg/mL VDZ or IgG1 isotype control for 60 min and then added to HeLa cells. After 60 min, non-attaching PBMCs were washed of by three vigorous washes with TBS. Cells were fixed with 4% paraformaldehyde and HeLa cells were stained for MAdCAM-1 as described above followed by nuclear counterstaining with DAPI before final analyses by fluorescence microscopy (Keyence, Osaka, Japan).

In separate experiments, cryopreserved PBMCs from VDZ naïve IBD patients (UC: n = 3; CD: n = 3) and matched PBMC controls from the same patients after VDZ induction therapy were thawn, stained with vital dye, and added to confluently grown HeLa cells for 60 min. Afterward, non-attaching cells were similarly washed off and were fixed with 4% paraformaldehyde. HeLa cells were stained for MAdCAM-1 as described above followed by nuclear counterstaining with DAPI before final analyses by fluorescence microscopy (Keyence Corp., BZ-X710).

Internalization of $\alpha 4\beta 7$ Over Time in the Presence of VDZ

 1×10^6 PBMCs from each of seven IBD patients were isolated and cultured for the indicated time points in the presence of 40 µg/mL VDZ or IgG1 isotype control. Afterward, cells were stained for surface expression of CD3⁺, CD4⁺, and CD8⁺ for 15 min at room temperature. Subsequently, half of the cells were permeabilized before $\alpha4\beta7$ staining with FITC-labeled VDZ, while in the other $\alpha4\beta7$ staining with FITC-VDZ was performed prior to permeabilization of the cells. Mean fluorescence intensity (MFI) of the FITC signal in the respective CD3, CD4, and CD8 gates were analyzed by flow cytometry.

In another set of experiments, PBMCs or peripheral CD4⁺ T cells isolated from IBD patients using magnetic sorting (CD4 Microbeads, MACS, Miltenyi, Cat. No 130-045-101) were cultured in the presence of 40 μ g/mL FITC-labeled VDZ or FITC-labeled IgG1 isotype control for 24 h. Cells were then fixed in 4% paraformaldehyde and after nuclear counterstaining with DAPI, internalization of FITC-VDZ or FITC-IgG1 was assessed by confocal microscopy (Leica TCS SP8, Leica, Germany).

Immunohistochemistry of Mucosal $\alpha 4\beta 7$ Expression in IBD Patients

Cryosections from colonic biopsies of IBD patients were used for immunohistochemistry. Tissue sections were fixed in 4% paraformaldehyde, followed by sequential incubation with avidin/biotin- (Vector Laboratories), and protein-blocking reagent (Roth) to suppress unspecific background staining. Sections were incubated with primary antibodies specific for human CD3 (rat anti-human CD3, Bio-Rad, Cat. MCA1477), human CD4 (rat anti-human CD4, Bio-Rad, Cat. MCA484G), and FITC-labeled vedolizumab (Entyvio®, Takeda). Furthermore, sections were incubated with an isotype matched control antibody as negative controls. Subsequently, samples were incubated with Alexa 647 conjugated secondary antibodies. Nuclei were counterstained with DAPI before final analysis by confocal microscopy (Leica SP8 Microscope). Positive cells in 6–10 high power fields (HPFs) were subsequently counted in all patients. In some images, an inset of a higher magnification was included to better identify the stained nuclei.

RNA Sequencing Analysis

Total RNA was extracted from biopsy specimens using the RNeasy Mini Kit according to the manufacturer's instructions. Quality of RNA was analyzed using a 2100 Bioanalyzer system (Agilent Technologies). RNA sequencing was performed in the Next-Generation-Sequencing Core Unit of the University of Erlangen-Nürnberg. Library preparation, sequencing on a HighSeq-2500 platform (Illumina, San Diego, CA, USA), as well as mapping and counting of reads were performed as previously described (22).

Sequencing data analyses were performed using R version 3.2.1 (R Foundation for Statistical Computing, Vienna, Austria) and Bioconductor (23), separately for CD and UC samples. In particular, differential expression analysis of genes with nonzero median count was performed with the DESeq2 package v.1.8.1 (24). First, expression before vs. after therapy was compared, controlling for patient effects. Afterward, the response to therapy was included in the design to analyze expression in responders and non-responders. Genes with *p*-value <0.01 were considered to be differentially expressed. Heatmaps of differentially expressed genes were obtained using for each gene regularized log-transformed data standardized across samples. Functional annotation analysis was performed using Ingenuity Pathway Analysis (IPA, QIAGEN Redwood City). A network-level visualization of the relationships between enriched pathways identified by IPA was obtained relying on Cytoscape (25). Similarity between a pair of pathways was taken equal to the Jaccard similarity coefficient calculated

between the associated gene sets. Only pathways with p-value <0.025 and similarity >0.3 with at least one other pathway were visualized.

Statistical Analysis

Statistics were processed using SPSS (SPSS Inc., Chicago, IL, USA) and GraphPad Prism (GraphPad Software, La Jolla, CA, USA). Values presented in this manuscript represent mean \pm SEM. For statistical analyses, after testing for normal distribution, significant differences between samples were calculated using non-parametric tests (Mann–Whitney *U* test). A two-tailed $p \leq 0.05$ was considered statistical significant: * $p \leq 0.05$; ** $p \leq 0.01$; *** $p \leq 0.001$.

RESULTS

RNA Sequencing of Responders and Non-Responders Before and After VDZ Induction Therapy

To gain large-scale insights into underlying differences between remitters and non-remitters to anti-integrin therapy with VDZ, we initially performed whole transcriptome expression analysis using an RNA sequencing approach. For this purpose, we analyzed mucosal gene expression in 10 IBD patients both before and at week 14 of VDZ therapy. Sequencing yielded a median of 47 M reads per sample, with 58% median counted reads. The analyzed cohorts were comprised of three CD and two UC patients with remission upon VDZ therapy (remitters), as well as three CD and two UC patients in which VDZ failed to induce clinical remission (non-remitters). For all patients, biopsies obtained before commencement of VDZ and at week 14 of VDZ therapy were analyzed, thereby allowing control for patient-specific variability.

Given the high differences expected between CD and UC, biopsy samples for the two diseases were analyzed separately. In a first set of analyses, differences in the composition of the transcriptome before and after VDZ induction therapy in CD and UC patients were analyzed. To identify which genes were differentially expressed, we relied on the DESeq2 package within the R/Bioconductor environment. This analysis identified a total of 883 differentially expressed genes in CD (p-value <0.01), with 382 genes showing an increased expression and 501 genes showing a decreased expression at week 14 of VDZ therapy when compared with before initiation of VDZ therapy (Table S1 in Supplementary Material). As shown in Figure 1A, unsupervised hierarchical clustering of the expression profiles of differentially expressed genes showed clear discrimination between CD patients before and after completion of VDZ induction therapy. Interestingly, when analyzing underlying signaling pathways in the differentially expressed genes in CD with IPA program, both granulocyte adhesion and diapedesis as well as agranulocyte adhesion and diapedesis were among the top three canonical pathways identified (Table S2 in Supplementary Material), thereby not only corroborating the proclaimed mode of action of VDZ at the transcriptional level but also extending these mechanisms to agranulocytic cells.

To better understand differences in the composition of the transcriptome between remitters and non-remitters to VDZ therapy on RNA level, we comparatively assessed canonical pathways as well as upstream regulators that were differentially regulated between CD patients with remission and those without remission upon VDZ therapy, with disease remission defined *via* clinical disease activity scoring (HBI < 5) (19). Baseline disease and clinical characteristics before and after VDZ induction therapy are comparatively shown for CD patients with remission to VDZ induction therapy and those exhibiting no remission toward VDZ in **Table 1**. No significant confounder regarding therapeutic response could be found in this comparative listing.

When analyzing the transcriptional expression profile in three CD patients with no remission upon VDZ therapy, we found a total of 1,014 genes to be differentially regulated (p < 0.01) in biopsies obtained at week 14 of VDZ therapy compared with matched biopsies form the same colonic segment obtained prior to VDZ induction (Table S3 in Supplementary Material). Importantly, among those genes significantly upregulated by at least 1.5-fold, many contained pro-inflammatory properties such as members of the TNF signaling cascade (TNI3P, TNFAIP6, TNFRSF10C, TNFSF8, TNFSF15, and TNFSF13B) and various pro-inflammatory cyto- and chemokines or its corresponding receptors (IL31RA, IL23A, IL7R, IRAK2, IL33, and CXCL6). Of note, many of the chemo- and cytokines found to be upregulated in CD patients with no remission upon VDZ have been previously shown to be involved in the generation of pathogenic Th2 and Th17 responses such as IL-33 and IL-31 (26-29) and furthermore, the IL-33/ST2 axis (30-35), IL-31 (36), as well as IL-23 (37-39) all of which have been previously implicated in the pathogenesis of T cell-mediated intestinal inflammation. Furthermore, several members of the metalloproteinase family were upregulated (MME, MMP3, MMP10, ADAM12, MMP2, MMP7, and MMP12), indicative of the presence of a tissue destructive milieu in CD patients with no remission to VDZ. When analyzing underlying signaling pathways of the differentially expressed genes in non-remitters to therapy, granulocyte adhesion and diapedesis were the most significantly regulated canonical pathway and TNF as well as TGF^{β1} were the most significantly regulated upstream regulators with a predicted activation of both cytokines (Figure 1B). Altogether, these analyses were suggestive of a persistent level of leukocytemediated inflammatory activity that is driven by TNF as a major pro-inflammatory cytokine and TGFβ1, the latter of which has been associated with stricturing CD (40).

When analyzing the transcriptome in CD patients with remission to VDZ therapy, 263 genes were differentially expressed (p < 0.01) and the pro-inflammatory signature was considerably less present: among those genes significantly upregulated by at least 1.5-fold, only three contained immunogenic and proinflammatory properties (*CXCL13*, *TGFβ2*, and *TNFSF11*) and no tissue destructive signature was observed in CD patients with remission to VDZ therapy (Table S4 in Supplementary Material). On IPA, RANK signaling and CD27 signaling in lymphocytes were among the most significantly regulated pathways and NCR2 and EGF were the most significantly regulated upstream regulators (**Figure 1C**). Hence, while TNF-driven inflammatory



FIGURE 1 | RNA sequencing in patients with Crohn's disease under treatment with anti- $\alpha 4\beta7$ therapy with vedolizumab (VDZ). (A) Unsupervised hierarchical clustering of the expression profiles of differentially expressed genes showed two distinct clusters of expression, discriminating Crohn's disease (CD) patients before and after VDZ therapy. (B) Canonical pathways and upstream regulators associated with differentially expressed genes in CD patients with no remission to VDZ therapy. In non-remitters, among the 1,014 genes that were differentially regulated in biopsies obtained after completed VDZ therapy compared with matched biopsies obtained prior to VDZ induction, many contained pro-inflammatory properties such as members of the TNF signaling cascade, various pro-inflammatory cyto- and chemokines or its receptors, and several members of the metalloproteinase family. In CD patients with no remission to VDZ therapy, granulocyte adhesion and diapedesis were the most significantly regulated canonical pathways and upstream regulators associated with differentially expressed genes in CD patients with regulated upstream regulators and to VDZ therapy. In VDZ therapy, In NDZ remitters, RANK signaling and CD27 signaling in lymphocytes were among the most significantly regulated pathways and NCR2 and EGF were the most significantly regulated upstream regulators. Compared with non-remitters the pro-inflammatory signature was considerably less present, and among all genes significantly regulated upstream regulators. Compared with non-remitters the pro-inflammatory properties. Turquoise dots represent pathways and NCR2 and EGF were the most significantly regulated by at least 1.5-fold, only three contained immunogenic and pro-inflammatory properties. Turquoise dots represent pathway enrichment *p*-values; similarity of the pathways is represented by red lines.

 TABLE 1 | Clinical data of Crohn's disease (CD) patients included for RNA sequencing.

	CD				
	Remit (n =		Non-remitters (n = 3)		
Baseline characteristics					
Sex (m/f)	0/3		2/1		
Age (years)					
Mean ± SD	38.6 ±	19.5	44.9 ± 5.2		
Disease manifestation lleum					
lleum + colon	1		2		
lleum + colon + upper Gl tract	2		1		
Disease duration					
Mean ± SD (years)	6.7 ± 1.6		7.3 ± 4.5		
Prior anti-TNF treatment	3		3		
Concomittant medication					
Glucocorticoids only Immunosuppressants onlyª	1		1 1		
No glucocorticoids and immunosuppressants	d 2		1		
	Before vedolizumab (VDZ)	VDZ week 14	Before VDZ	VDZ week 14	
Disease activity, CD					
HBI, mean ± SD⁵	14 ± 1.2	2.3 ± 1	14.3 ± 1.5	12 ± 6	
SES-CD, mean ± SD°	15.6 ± 3.2	7.6 ± 2.1	5.6 ± 4.9	6.3 ± 5.5	
Leukocyte count \pm SD (×10 ⁹ /L)	9.5 ± 2.4	10.6 ± 6.4	7.3 ± 1	7.2 ± 1.1	
$CrP \pm SD (mg/L, reference < 5)$	8.3 ± 10.9	10.3 ± 11	6.2 ± 9.8	4.5 ± 4.9	

^almmunosuppressants included azathioprine, methotrexate, and mercaptopurine. ^bThe Harvey–Bradshaw index (HBI) ranges from 0 to 26, with higher scores indicating more active disease. Disease remission was defined as a HBI < 5.

^cThe Simple Endoscopic Score for Crohn's Disease (SES-CD) assesses ulcer size, ulcerated surface, surface affected from disease and the presence of stenosis and ranges from 0 to 56, with higher scores indicating more severe disease.

activity was observed in non-remitters to VDZ, remitters to therapy showed no clear pro-immunogenic milieu consistent with the idea that non-remitters are characterized by TNFmediated mucosal inflammation. Our findings thus suggest that these patients may benefit from therapeutic strategies that target alternative pathways to leukocyte migration, especially anti-TNF targeted treatment. When comparing expression profiles in UC patients before and after VDZ therapy, a total of 565 genes were differently expressed, with 297 genes showing an increased expression and 268 genes showing a decreased expression upon VZD therapy (Table S5 in Supplementary Material). Hierarchical clustering revealed more variability across patients than observed for CD (**Figure 2A**). As already observed for CD, IPA of the differentially regulated genes in UC upon VDZ therapy revealed agranulocyte adhesion and diapedesis to be significantly regulated (Table S6 in Supplementary Material).

When performing similar comparative analyses according to therapeutic response in UC patients with disease remission defined *via* clinical disease activity scoring (Mayo Clinic score of 2 or lower and no subscore higher than 1) (11), we found a total of 788 genes to be differentially regulated in mucosal biopsies from non-remitters obtained at week 14 of VDZ therapy compared with matched samples obtained prior to VDZ induction in the same patients. Baseline disease and clinical characteristics before and at week 14 of VDZ therapy are comparatively shown for UC patients with remission to VDZ induction therapy and those exhibiting no remission toward VDZ in **Table 2**. No significant confounder regarding therapeutic response could be found in this comparative listing.

Importantly, as observed for CD, among those genes significantly upregulated by at least 1.5-fold in UC patients with no remission to VDZ therapy, many were involved in the recruitment of T cells and the T cell polarization such as the CXCR3 binding cytokines CXCL9, CXCL10, and CXCL11 (41-46), the Th2-dependent cytokine CCL26 (47), or the receptor of the Th2dependent cytokine IL-13RA2 (48, 49) and the p40 containing cytokine IL23A, which has previously been shown to be essential for T cell-mediated colitis (39) (Table S7 in Supplementary Material). Furthermore, several members of the matrix metalloproteinase (MMP) family were upregulated such as MMP-1, MMP-3, MMP7, ADAM12, ADAMTS12, and ADAMTS2 consistent with the known role of MMPs for tissue degradation, the persistence of the inflammatory state, and fibrosis associated with IBD (50). When analyzing underlying signaling pathways in the differentially expressed genes in UC patients with no remission to therapy, both granulocyte adhesion and diapedesis and agranulocyte adhesion and diapedesis were among the three most significantly regulated pathways, and both $IL1\beta$ and TNF were among the most significantly modulated upstream regulators, with a predicted activation of both upstream regulators on IPA (Figure 2B).



FIGURE 2 | RNA sequencing in patients with ulcerative colitis (UC) under treatment with anti- $\alpha4\beta7$ therapy with vedolizumab (VDZ). (A) Unsupervised hierarchical clustering of the expression profiles of differentially expressed genes upon VDZ therapy. (B) Canonical pathways and upstream regulators in UC patients with no remission to VDZ therapy. Ingenuity Pathway Analysis (IPA) of the differentially regulate genes in UC before and after VDZ therapy revealed granulocyte and agranulocyte adhesion and diapedesis to be among the three most significantly regulated pathways and TGF $\beta1$ and TNF were among the three most significantly regulated upstream regulators in UC patients with remission to VDZ therapy. In VDZ remitters, LXR/RXR activation and guanosine nucleotides degradation III were the most significantly regulated pathways on IPA and TNF and IFN γ as pro-inflammatory cytokines and upstream regulators were predicted to be inhibited in UC patients with remission to VDZ therapy. Turquoise dots represent pathway enrichment *p*-values; similarity of the pathways is represented by red lines.

TABLE 2 Clinical data of ulcerative colitis (UC) patients included for RNA
sequencing.

	UC				
	Remitters (<i>n</i> = 2)		Non-remitters (n = 2)		
Baseline characteristics					
Sex (m/f)	2/0		2/0		
Age (years)					
Mean ± SD	27.9 ±	27.9 ± 7.2		38.5 ± 22	
Disease manifestation					
Rectum and sigmoid					
colon only					
Left-sided					
Pancolitis	2		2		
Disease duration					
Mean \pm SD (years)	4 ± 0		5.5 ± 2.1		
Prior anti-TNF treatment	2		2		
Concomittant medication			0		
Glucocorticoids only			2		
Immunosuppressants					
only ^a	2				
No glucocorticoids and immunosuppressants	2				
	Before	VDZ	Before	VDZ	
	vedolizumab (VDZ)	week 14	VDZ	week 14	
Disease activity ^b					
Total Mayo Score,	7.5 ± 3.5	3±1.4	6 ± 1.4	6.5 ± 2.1	
mean \pm SD					
Mayo Endoscopic	2 ± 1.4	1 ± 1.4	5.6 ± 4.9	6.3 ± 5.5	

^bThe partial Mayo Score ranges from 0 to 9, with higher scores indicating more active disease. The total Mayo Score consists of partial Mayo Score + Mayo Endoscopic Score and ranges from 0 to 12. Disease remission was defined as a Mayo Clinic score of 2 or lower and no subscore higher than 1.

By contrast, as already observed for CD, the pro-inflammatory signature was considerably less present in UC patients with remission to VDZ therapy. In VDZ remitters, a total of 504 genes were differentially regulated before and at week 14 of VDZ therapy, and the only cyto- or chemokines with broad immunogenic properties that were upregulated by at least 1.5-fold were TNFSF9, IL-11, CXCL6, and IL-34 (Table S8 in Supplementary Material). Conversely, when performing IPA in these patients, the two most significantly modulated upstream regulators were TNF and IFN γ with a predicted level of inhibition instead of activation as observed in UC patients who showed no remission to VDZ treatment (**Figure 2C**).

Taken together, these data substantiate the concept that distinct gene signatures characterize remitters and non-remitters to VDZ treatment. In fact, IBD patients with no remission to VDZ therapy are characterized by a persistent activation of TNF-dependent signaling pathways and genes that mediate mucosal inflammation and tissue destruction while induction of remission with VDZ was associated with a decreased inflammatory signature and downregulated TNF signaling.

$\alpha 4\beta 7$ Expression on Lymphocyte Subsets in Patients With IBD

Based on the above findings, we hypothesized that systemic and mucosal leukocytes within the lamina propria of the gut might also show certain immunologic properties that define or indicate therapeutic response to VDZ therapy. In a first set of experiments, we thus quantified $\alpha 4\beta 7$ expression on different subsets of T cells in IBD patients before as well as after induction therapy with VDZ. For this purpose, we labeled commercially available VDZ and a human IgG1 isotype with FITC. Staining with FITC-VDZ allowed a clear discrimination of α4β7 expression on peripheral blood CD3⁺, CD4⁺, and CD8⁺ positive T cells, on B cells (CD19⁺), macrophages (CD14⁺), and on natural killer (NK) cells (CD56⁺) (Figure S1A in Supplementary Material) as well as on Th1, Th2, and Th17 polarized CD4+ T cells, as defined by the expression of IFNy or T-bet and IL-4 or IL-13 or GATA3 and IL-17a, respectively (Figure 3A). Prior to VDZ therapy, highest expression of $\alpha 4\beta 7$ was observed in B cells (34%), followed by CD8⁺ T cells (27%), CD3⁺ T cells (18%), and CD4⁺ T cells (20%) (Figure S1B in Supplementary Material) from IBD patients. Importantly, two applications of 300 mg VDZ led to a significant decline of $\alpha 4\beta 7$ expression on peripheral CD3⁺, CD4⁺, and CD8⁺ T cells as well as in B cells and NK cells (Figure S1C in Supplementary Material). Consistent with the robust decline of $\alpha 4\beta 7$ expression on overall peripheral CD4⁺ T cells, anti- $\alpha 4\beta 7$ therapy with VDZ led to a progressive decline of $\alpha 4\beta$ 7 expression in Th1, Th2, and Th17 polarized CD4+ T cells from patients with CD (Figure 3B) and in Th17 polarized CD4⁺ T cells from UC patients under anti- α 4 β 7 therapy with VDZ (**Figure 3C**).

We then turned our attention to $\alpha 4\beta 7$ expression on gut immune cells of IBD patients. Of note, when quantifying $\alpha 4\beta 7$ expression in LPMCs from seven IBD patients prior to initiation of VDZ therapy, we observed similar expression levels compared with those seen in peripheral blood lymphocytes with highest expression in mucosal CD19⁺ B cells (32%) and CD3⁺ (20%), CD4+ (11%), and CD8+ (25%) T cells (Figure S1D in Supplementary Material). To address the potential relevance of altered intestinal $\alpha 4\beta 7$ expression for driving and perpetuating mucosal inflammation in IBD, we comparatively analyzed differences of α4β7 expression in lamina propria T cell subsets in remitters and non-remitters to VDZ treatment (11 UC, 5 remitters, 6 non-remitters; 12 CD, 6 remitters, 6 non-remitters), with disease remission defined via clinical disease activity scoring [UC: Mayo Clinic score of 2 or lower and no subscore higher than 1 (11); CD: HBI < 5 (19)]. Importantly, in UC patients with clinical remission upon anti-integrin therapy with VDZ, we observed a significantly decreased $\alpha 4\beta 7$ expression in Th1 polarized lamina propria CD4+ T cells, as defined by expression of IFNy or the transcription factor T-bet, in Th2 polarized lamina propria CD4⁺ T cells expressing either IL-4 or the transcription factor GATA3, as well as in Th17 cells expressing IL-17a (Figure 3D). In CD patients, a significant reduction of $\alpha 4\beta 7$ expression on Th2 and Th17 lamina propria CD4+ T cells was likewise observed in VDZ



FIGURE 3 | $\alpha 4\beta 7$ expression on lymphocyte subsets in inflammatory bowel disease (IBD) patients. (A) Representative flow cytometric stainings of $\alpha 4\beta 7$ expression on Th1, Th2, and Th17 polarized CD4⁺ T cells (previously gated on CD3 and CD4) before and after induction therapy with vedolizumab (VDZ) (week 14). Gray line: isotype control. (B,C) Quantification of $\alpha 4\beta 7$ expression in different subsets of peripheral T cells (previously gated on CD3, CD4, and T-bet, IFN_Y, IL-4, GATA-3, or IL-17, respectively) from patients with Crohn's disease (CD) [(B), n = 12] and ulcerative colitis (UC) [(C), n = 10] before initiation of anti-integrin therapy with VDZ (indicated by "0") (week 0) and directly before the second (week 2), third (week 6), and fourth (week 14) administration of 300 mg VDZ (indicated by "1," "2," and "3," respectively). (D,E) Quantitative comparison of $\alpha 4\beta 7$ expression in different subsets of lamina propria T cells in patients with UC [(D), n = 11] and CD [(E), n = 12]. $\alpha 4\beta 7$ expression was compared between remitters and non-remitters for each disease after completed induction therapy with VDZ (UC: n = 5 remitters, n = 6 non-remitters; CD: n = 6 remitters, n = 6 non-remitters). (F) Cryosections of colonic biopsies from IBD patients were stained with fluorescein isothiocyanate (FITC)-VDZ or FITC-IgG1. After counterstaining with DAPI (Thermo Fischer Scientific, Cat. D1306), cryosections were analyzed with confocal microscopy. The arrows indicate $\alpha 4\beta 7$ -expressing cells within the lamina propria was assessed in 15 IBD patients (8 CD and 7 UC) patients prior to the commencement of VDZ therapy. For each patient a mean of 5 high power field (HPF) were analyzed by fluorescence microscopy and the amount of $\alpha 4\beta 7$ -expressing cells within the lamina propria usa assessed in 15 IBD patients (8 CD and 7 UC) patients prior to the commencement of VDZ therapy. For each patient a mean of 5 high power field (HPF) were analyzed by fluorescence microscopy and the amount of $\alpha 4\beta 7$ -e

remitters compared with CD non-remitters, whereas the reduction of $\alpha 4\beta 7$ expression on Th1 polarized CD4⁺ T cells did not reach statistical significance (**Figure 3E**).

To further substantiate these findings, we hypothesized that the amount of α4β7-expressing mucosal cells prior to the initiation of VDZ therapy might be directly related to the outcome and the rapeutic efficacy of subsequent anti- $\alpha 4\beta 7$ VDZ the rapy. To address this question, we first verified that FITC-VDZ allowed immunohistochemical identification of $\alpha 4\beta$ 7-expressing cells in the lamina propria in intestinal cryosections of IBD patients compared with staining with a FITC-IgG1 isotpye control (Figure 3F). To analyze whether the initial amount of $\alpha 4\beta$ 7-expressing cells in the lamina propria of IBD patients correlated to the outcome of anti- $\alpha 4\beta 7$ therapy with VDZ, we assessed $\alpha 4\beta 7$ expression in gut immune cells in cryosections from 15 IBD patients (8 CD and 7 UC) prior to the commencement of VDZ therapy. Of these 15 IBD patients, 7 patients (3 UC and 4 CD) exhibited remission at week 14 of VDZ therapy as defined by clinical scoring. Importantly, these remitters were characterized by significantly higher levels of $\alpha 4\beta 7$ expression on mucosal immune cells prior to VDZ therapy initiation compared with non-remitters (Figure 3G). As shown in Figure 3G, in the cohort of IBD patients, remitters were characterized by a mean number of 14.5 $\alpha 4\beta 7^+$ cells per HPF in the lamina propria prior to the initiation of VDZ therapy compared with 4.4 α 4 β 7-expressing cells per HPF in patients which showed no remission to subsequent VDZ therapy (p < 0.0001). Similar observations were made when UC and CD patients were analyzed separately. CD patients with remission upon VDZ were characterized by a mean number of 15.4 α 4 β 7⁺ cells/HPF prior to commencement of VDZ therapy compared with only 3.4 α4β7expressing cells/HPF in non-remitters (p < 0.0001). Similarly, UC patients with remission to subsequent VDZ therapy exhibited significantly higher amounts of $\alpha 4\beta 7^+$ cells in the lamina propria before VDZ therapy compared with non-remitters (13.4 vs. 5.8, p = 0.0003). Importantly, for both CD and UC, there were no differences in histopathologic scoring prior to VDZ therapy between remitters and those without remission toward subsequent anti-integrin therapy with VDZ (Figure 3H). This observation excludes differences in histological baseline disease activity in remitters and non-remitters before initiation of VDZ therapy as a potential confounder of therapeutic efficacy and thus confirms that the amount of $\alpha 4\beta 7^+$ cells within the lamina propria might

represent a determinant for subsequent outcome of anti-integrin with VDZ. Furthermore, UC and CD patients with remission toward VDZ did not exhibit differences in leukocyte counts, serum CrP levels, clinical disease activity, concomitant use of glucocorticosteroids and immunosuppressant, or prior exposure to anti-TNF therapy compared with non-remitters (**Table 3**), thereby corroborating that remitters and non-remitters to VDZ exhibited similar clinical parameters of disease activity and severity as well. Individual phenotypical and clinical characteristics of every patient included in each experiment are shown in Table S9 in Supplementary Material.

Taken together, our findings suggest that the amount of mucosal $\alpha 4\beta$ 7-expressing cells prior to the initiation of VDZ therapy might well function as an *a priori* indicator or predictive biomarker for therapeutic efficacy of subsequent VDZ therapy. Hence, the quantification of $\alpha 4\beta$ 7 expression within the lamina propria might allow for stratification of IBD patients according to their individual expression of the therapeutic target and the associated likelihood to achieve subsequent therapeutic remission to the VDZ treatment directed against it.

Cellular Modes of Action of VDZ

Having shown that the adhesion and diapedesis of granulocytes and agranulocytes is among the most significantly regulated pathways under VDZ therapy and that $\alpha 4\beta 7$ expression shows a progressive decline on effector T cells upon VDZ therapy, we hypothesized that surface $\alpha 4\beta 7$ is internalized under VDZ therapy, leading to an impaired adhesion of lymphocytes. At the same time, we aimed to rule out other major cellular and immunological modes of action of VDZ. Since the induction of cytokine release by therapeutic antibodies is a known side effect that can have deleterious clinical consequences (51), we first analyzed whether VDZ alters or induces the expression of various cytokines. For this purpose, peripheral blood leukocytes from IBD patients were incubated with VDZ or IgG1 Isotype control for 24 and 48 h. Based on pharmacokinetic data that IBD patients responding to VDZ therapy exhibit therapeutic serum trough levels from 11 to $38 \,\mu\text{g/mL}$ (11, 12), we chose a concentration of 40 µg/mL to study in vitro effects of VDZ. Incubation of peripheral leukocytes with VDZ did not elicit release of the Th1 cytokine IFNy, the Th2 cytokine IL-4, the Th17 cytokine IL17a, or IL-10 in cultivated leukocytes from patients with CD (Figure 4A)

	Ulcerative	colitis (UC)	Crohn's disease (CD)		
	Remitter (n = 3)	Non- Remitter (n = 4)	Remitter (n = 4)	Non- Remitter (n = 4)	
Baseline characteristic	s				
Sex (m/f)	2/1	3/1	1/3	1/3	
Age (years)					
Mean ± SD	46.6 ± 12.9		38.9 ± 15.8		
Leukocyte count ± SD	10 ± 2.1	9.8 ± 1.6	9 ± 4.9	11.1 ± 6.2	
(×10 ⁹ /L)					
CrP ± SD (mg/L, reference < 5)	10 ± 2.1	9.8 ± 1.6	9.3 ± 7.6	18.1 ± 29	
Disease characteristics	6				
Extend, UC					
Rectum and	1	1			
sigmoid colon only					
Left-sided					
Pancolitis		1			
Extend, CD	2	2			
lleum					
lleum + colon			2	3	
lleum + colon + upper			2	1	
GI tract					
Disease duration					
Mean \pm SD (years)	8.3 ± 3.2	6.75 ± 5.3	9 ± 4.9	11.3 ± 8	
Disease activity, UC ^a					
Partial Mayo Score,	5.6 ± 2.1	6 ± 2.2			
mean \pm SD					
Mayo Endoscopic	2.3 ± 1.2	2 ± 0.8			
Score, mean \pm SD					
Disease activity, CD					
HBI, mean ± SD⁵			13 ± 2.6	13.2 ± 7.8	
SES-CD, mean ± SD°			13.6 ± 6.7	16.3 ± 2.5	
Prior anti-TNF treatment	3	3	4	4	
Concomittant					
medication					
Glucocorticoids only	1	1	1	4	
Immunosuppressants			1		
only ^d					
No glucocorticoids and	2	3	2		
immunosuppressants					
Prednisone-equivalent					
dose (mg)					
Mean ± SD	7.5 ± 0	20 ± 0	20 ± 0	22.5 ± 13.	

TABLE 3 | Clinical data of inflammatory bowel disease patients with $\alpha 4\beta 7$ quantification prior to anti-integrin therapy with vedolizumab.

^aThe partial Mayo Score ranges from 0 to 9, with higher scores indicating more active disease. The total Mayo Score consists of partial Mayo Score + Mayo Endoscopic Score and ranges from 0 to 12. Disease remission was defined as a Mayo Clinic score of 2 or lower and no subscore higher than 1.

^bThe Harvey–Bradshaw index (HBI) ranges from 0 to 26, with higher scores indicating more active disease. Disease remission was defined as a HBI < 5.

°The Simple Endoscopic Score for Crohn's Disease (SES-CD) assesses ulcer size, ulcerated surface, surface affected from disease and the presence of stenosis and ranges from 0 to 56, with higher scores indicating more severe disease.

^dImmunosuppressants included azathioprine, methotrexate, and mercaptopurine,

or UC (Figure 4B) compared with isotype control treated cells. To rule out induction of programmed cell death by VDZ, we then followed a similar approach and measured the release of cytoplasmic histone-associated DNA fragments as an established marker of induced cell death. Importantly, there was no difference in the quantity of histone-associated DNA fragments in leukocytes that have been incubated with VDZ, isotype control, or media only (**Figure 4C**).

To gain first insights into the potential internalization of $\alpha 4\beta 7$ after binding to VDZ, we co-incubated peripheral blood leukocytes with fluorescent labeled VDZ and visualized cells with confocal microscopy. As shown in Figure 4D, after 24 h of incubation at 37°C, we observed a punctate perinuclear staining pattern indicative of a successfully cellular internalized $\alpha 4\beta 7$ receptor complex. Furthermore, a clear intracellular FITC signal was present in sorted peripheral CD4⁺ T cells from IBD patients after 24 h of incubation with FITC-VDZ (Figure 4D). Based on these observations, we then quantified internalization of $\alpha 4\beta 7$ after binding to VDZ in peripheral leukocytes from seven IBD patients over a specified time period in flow cytometric analyses (Figure 4E). After incubation of peripheral blood leukocytes for different periods of time with VDZ, half of the cells from each patient were first permeabilized to make the intracellular compartment accessible for staining, followed by staining with fluorescent labeled VDZ (upstream permeabilization) while the other half of the cells were first stained with FITC-VDZ and then permeabilized (downstream permeabilization). As shown in Figure 4E, there was no difference in the FITC MFI between upstream and downstream permeabilized cells at baseline. However, over time we observed a progressive increase in the FITC MFI in CD3⁺, CD4⁺, and CD8⁺ T cells, in which the intracellular compartment has been made accessible prior to staining with FITC-VDZ and upstream permeabilized cells exhibited a significantly higher FITC MFI after 12 and 24 h compared with downstream permeabilized cells. These results therefore indicate that after addition of VDZ, surface $\alpha 4\beta 7$ is internalized over time with a peak of the receptor internalization after 12 and 24 h.

To demonstrate that $\alpha 4\beta 7$ internalization by VDZ directly impairs the interaction with MAdCAM-1, we established *in vitro* adhesion assays using MAdCAM-1 expressing HeLa cells. First, strong MAdCAM-1 expression in HeLa cells was verified by immunohistochemistry (**Figure 4F**). HeLa cells were then grown to confluence and after 2 days, peripheral leukocytes from healthy donors were labeled with a vital dye and preincubated with VDZ or IgG1 for 60 min. Subsequently, leukocytes were co-incubated with HeLa cells, and after washing away non-attaching cells, fixed cells were analyzed with fluorescence microscopy (**Figure 4G**). Importantly, leukocytes preincubated with VDZ were significantly impaired to adhere to MAdCAM-1 expressing HeLa cells when compared with IgG1 treated cells (**Figure 4H**).

In a similar set of experiments, adherence of peripheral leukocytes from IBD patients before and after completion of VDZ induction therapy was assessed. For this purpose, peripheral leukocytes from CD (n = 3) and UC (n = 3) patients were obtained and for each patient, leukocytes before and after completion of VDZ induction therapy were available, thereby directly allowing assessment of VDZ treatment on the adherence of leukocytes for each individual patient. As shown in **Figure 4I**, after washing away non-attaching cells, leukocytes derived from CD and UC patients after completed VDZ induction therapy were significantly impaired to adhere to MAdCAM-1 expressing HeLa cells when compared with matched leukocytes derived from the same patients prior to the initiation of VDZ therapy.

In their totality, these data provide evidence that the main mode of action by which VDZ acts on the cellular levels is indeed the internalization of surface $\alpha 4\beta 7$, leading to the biological effect of impaired interaction with MAdCAM-1.

DISCUSSION

Vedolizumab is the first anti-integrin antibody therapy that has been approved for the treatment of UC and CD patients. Despite clinically proven therapeutic efficacy in up to 50% of treated IBD patients showing clinical response upon VDZ induction therapy and a favorable safety profile, data from large clinical studies show



FIGURE 4 | Cellular mechanism of action of vedolizumab (VDZ). (A,B) Peripheral blood leukocytes from patients with Crohn's disease (CD) [(A), n = 7] and ulcerative colitis (UC) [(B), n = 7] were incubated with VDZ or isotype (IT) control for 24 and 48 h. Afterward, concentration of IFNγ, IL-4, IL17a, and IL-10 in the supernatant was quantified by ELISA. (C) Peripheral blood leukocytes from patients with CD (n = 7) and UC (n = 7) were incubated with VDZ, IT, or media only for 24 h. Afterward, release of cytoplasmic histone-associated DNA fragments as a marker of induced cell death was guantified by ELISA. (D) Confocal microscopy of peripheral blood leukocytes (left panels) and sorted CD4+ T cells (right panels) incubated for 24 h with fluorescein isothiocyanate (FITC)-labeled VDZ. (E) Internalization of α4β7 after binding to VDZ over time. Peripheral leukocytes from seven inflammatory bowel disease patients were incubated for the indicated time points with VDZ. From each patient, 5 x 10⁵ peripheral leukocytes were first permeabilized to make the intracellular compartment accessible for staining followed by staining with fluorescent labeled VDZ. Another 5 x 10⁵ cells were first stained with FITC-VDZ and were then permeabilized. Afterward, α4β7 expression was quantified in CD3+, CD4+, and CD8+T cells. (F) Mucosal addressin cell adhesion molecule-1 (MAdCAM-1) expression in HeLa cells. Upper panel: staining of MACCAM-1. Lower panel: isotype control. (G,H) Peripheral blood leukocytes from healthy controls (n = 4) were labeled with a vital dye (green) and co-incubated with IgG1 and VDZ for 60 min on confluent grown MAdCAM-1 expressing HeLa cells (red). Afterward, non-attaching cells were removed by repeated washing. Adhering cells were visualized with fluorescence microscopy and attaching leukocytes per high power field (HPF) were counted. (I) Peripheral leukocytes from CD (n = 3) and UC (n = 3) patients before and after completion of VDZ induction therapy from the same patient were labeled with a vital dye and co-incubated with IgG1 and VDZ for 60 min on confluent grown MAdCAM-1 expressing HeLa cells. Afterward, non-attaching cells were removed by repeated washing. Adhering cells were visualized with fluorescence microscopy and attaching leukocytes per HPF were counted. Results are presented as mean ± SEM. Differences between samples are compared with the Mann–Whitney U test (*p < 0.05; **p < 0.01; ***p < 0.001).

that VDZ is not effective in subgroups of IBD patients. Given these considerations, it is important not only to understand the biologic mode of action but also to characterize differences between responders and non-responders to anti-integrin therapy with VDZ on the cellular and molecular level. In this study, we therefore set off to explore factors that define clinical response toward VDZ and to delineate the immunologic differences between responders and non-responders to anti-integrin therapy with VDZ.

In an initial approach, we performed whole transcriptome analysis using RNA Sequencing in UC and CD patients responding to VDZ compared with non-responders. For both diseases, we found that failure of VDZ to induce clinical remission was associated with an upregulation of several pro-inflammatory and immunogenic genes such as several pro-inflammatory chemoand cytokines or its receptors and a tissue destructive signature as indicated by the upregulation of a large panel of genes encoding for various proteases. Furthermore, IPA revealed a strong activation of TNF-dependent signaling in non-remitters to VDZ treatment. By contrast, in UC and CD patients with remission to VDZ treatment, no clear pro-inflammatory or immunogenic signature was present. Instead, in UC patients with remission to VDZ, TNF, and IFNy as broad and potent pro-inflammatory cytokines were predicted to be inhibited instead of activated on Ingenuity analyses.

Importantly, endoscopic and clinical parameters of disease severity such as leukocyte counts, serum CrP levels, clinical disease activity, concomitant use of glucocorticosteroids and immunosuppressant, or prior exposure to anti-TNF therapy were not different between remitters and non-remitters before initiation of VDZ therapy. Thus, it can be ruled out that the observed regulations of the above-mentioned genes and related pathways are due to pre-existent differences in disease severity between remitters and non-remitters but can be rather related to VDZ treatment itself.

To further delineate the effects of VDZ treatment on the expression of $\alpha 4\beta 7$ on systemic and gut immune cells, we comparatively quantified the amount of surface $\alpha 4\beta 7$ on various systemic and intestinal effector T cells. Interestingly, $\alpha 4\beta 7$ expression showed a progressive decline on systemic Th1, Th2, and Th17 polarized CD4⁺ T cells from patients with CD and on Th17 cells from patients with UC. These observations fit well to our mechanistic studies on the mode of action of VDZ therapy. Using flow

cytometric analyses and confocal microscopy, we were able to show that treatment with VDZ leads to internalization of the $\alpha 4\beta 7$ receptor which results in significantly impaired interaction with and adherence to MAdCAM-1 as shown in vitro in this report, while cellular effects such as cytokine production or the induction of programmed cell death remained unaltered. These data are consistent with observations made in clinical trials in which no changes in serum levels of cytokines such as TNF, IL-1, or IFNy were observed under VDZ treatment (10-12, 52, 53). Furthermore, during the antibody engineering of VDZ, point mutations were made to the Fc receptor (FcR) binding motif ELLGGP. As such, Leu239 and Gly241 were mutated to Ala to reduce FcR binding, and the unaltered cytokine production and apoptosis induction very well fit to the lack of elicitation of FcR effector functions from VDZ and results of a previous study which has shown that VDZ does not induce complementdependent cytotoxicity and antibody-dependent cytotoxicity (54). Consistent with the internalization observed in vitro and the progressive decline of surface $\alpha 4\beta 7$ expression during VDZ induction therapy, we were able to show in functional studies that cells exposed to exogenously added VDZ as well as cells taken from patients after completed VDZ induction therapy are significantly impaired in their attachment to MAdCAM-1 expressing cells. Hence, the observed progressive decrease of surface $\alpha 4\beta 7$ on peripheral effector T cells during VDZ induction therapy might well reflect VDZ-induced internalization of \$\alpha4\beta7\$. One might argue that receptor internalization and re-surfacing of unbound and biologically active receptor is a continuous process, leading to the re-appearance of $\alpha 4\beta 7$ on the surface. However, in this regard, it is important to note that the mean half-life of VDZ is approximately 15-22 days and it has been shown in clinical trials that, after administration of VDZ at weeks 0 and 2, followed by dosing at every fourth or eighth week, greater than 95% of $\alpha 4\beta 7$ receptors were saturated (11, 12). Hence, it appears plausible that steady-state serum concentrations of VDZ lead to immediate binding and subsequent internalization of re-surfacing or newly synthesized $\alpha 4\beta 7$ receptor, so that the majority of $\alpha 4\beta 7$ is internalized at steady-state serum levels of VDZ.

Based on the decline of $\alpha 4\beta 7$ on the surface of effector T cells during VDZ therapy, we expected that also a decrease of $\alpha 4\beta 7$ expressing cells within the lamina propria of IBD patients would be noted after completed VDZ induction therapy. Indeed, both
UC and CD patients with remission to VDZ therapy exhibited a robust decrease of $\alpha4\beta7$ on Th1, Th2, and Th17 polarized CD4+ T cells after completed VDZ induction therapy compared with non-remitters.

To allow a timely, targeted, and economic treatment regimen with biological agents, the identification of factors that predict therapeutic responses to treatment is of central importance for the management of IBD patients. Recently, our group demonstrated that the amount of mTNF-expressing cells in the lamina propria of CD patients prior to the initiation of anti-TNF therapy is directly related to the outcome of subsequent anti-TNF therapy (55). Specifically, patients with high numbers of mTNF⁺ cells showed significantly higher short-term response rates at week 12 upon subsequent anti-TNF treatment when compared with patients with low amounts of mTNF⁺ cells (55). Furthermore, the clinical response in patients with high mTNF⁺ cells was sustained over a follow-up period and was associated with mucosal healing (55). In addition, exploratory studies from an UC clinical phase II trial with the anti-adhesion molecule antibody etrolizumab, which binds to the β 7 subunit of the α 4 β 7 and α E β 7 integrins, strengthen the approach of assessing the expression of the target molecule of anti-adhesion molecule antibody treatment. In this regard, it was shown *via* immunofluorescence staining that high expression of αE-positive cells in colonic biopsies at baseline was directly related to the therapeutic response upon etrolizumab treatment (56).

In this report, we followed a similar approach and quantified $\alpha 4\beta 7$ expression in colonic biopsies from UC and CD patients before the commencement of anti-integrin therapy with VDZ. Importantly, UC and CD patients with remission to subsequent VDZ therapy exhibited significantly higher amounts of $\alpha 4\beta 7$ -expressing cells at baseline compared with non-remitters. These data further substantiate the concept that the expression of the target molecule can be used as a prognostic marker for therapeutic response, and to the best of our knowledge, our report is the first to demonstrate that the expression of $\alpha 4\beta 7$ at baseline might well be used for prediction of therapeutic responses toward subsequent anti-integrin therapy with VDZ.

Limitations of the study should also be discussed, one of which is the low number of patients included in RNA sequencing, thereby rendering these results exploratory in nature. However, our approach of comparatively including both UC and CD remitters and non-remitters before and at week 14 of VDZ therapy allowed to analyze drug effects and difference between remitters and non-remitters while controlling for patient-specific factors. Furthermore, we used colonic biopsies for RNA sequencing so that changes in the transcriptome cannot be related to a certain cell type. Given these considerations, it seems clears that results should be corroborated in larger patient cohort using more specific sequencing analyses such as single-cell sequencing.

In summary, we have shown that remitters and non-remitters to VDZ therapy exhibit distinct genetic signatures, which are characterized by the upregulation of genes that mediate mucosal inflammation and tissue destruction in IBD patients with remission to VDZ treatment. Furthermore, RNA sequencing revealed a strong activation of TNF-dependent signaling pathways in non-remitters to VDZ treatment, thereby providing first evidence that anti-TNF therapy might be therapeutically effective in IBD patients with VDZ failure. Treatment with VDZ was associated with a progressive decline of $\alpha 4\beta 7$ expression on the surface of peripheral leukocytes while therapeutic remission was characterized by significantly higher amounts of $\alpha 4\beta 7$ -expressing cells in the lamina propria of CD and UC patients at baseline compared with non-responders. Hence, quantification of $\alpha 4\beta 7$ -expressing cells within the lamina propria might represent a novel approach which may allow prediction of therapeutic success prior to the initiation of anti-integrin therapy with VDZ, thereby opening up new avenues for personalized medicine in IBD patients.

AVAILABILITY OF DATA

All data generated or analyzed during this study are included in this published article (and its supplementary files). RNA sequencing data have been submitted to the Sequence Read Archive (study accession number SRP151738).

ETHICS STATEMENT

The study was carried out in accordance with the recommendations of the ethical committee of the University Hospital, Friedrich-Alexander-Universität Erlangen-Nürnberg, Germany. The protocol was approved by the ethical committee of the University Hospital, Friedrich-Alexander-Universität Erlangen-Nürnberg, Germany. Each patient gave written informed consent in accordance with the Declaration of Helsinki before inclusion into the study.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

All the authors made substantial contributions to the conception and design of the study (or the acquisition of data, or analysis and interpretation of data), the drafting the article (or critically revising it for important intellectual content), and to the final approval of the version to be submitted. TR performed the experiments and wrote the manuscript and together with MN and RA designed the study. UB performed experiments, helped in study design, and critically revised the manuscript for important intellectual content. FF and AE performed RNA sequencing and analyzed sequencing data. MV performed histopathological scoring and critically revised the manuscript. MN and RA designed the study and critically revised the manuscript.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The authors are grateful to Rosina Spiegl, Ludmilla Sologub, Ingrid Zöller-Utz, and Marina Rakhimova (Department of Medicine 1, University of Erlangen-Nuremberg) and Ralf Palmisano (Optical Imaging Centre Erlangen, University of Erlangen-Nuremberg) for excellent technical assistance.

FUNDING

This study was supported by the DFG-KFO257 (TP13) to RA, DFG-CRC1181 (Project C02) to RA, DFG-SFB/TRR241

(C02) to RA, and by the Emerging Fields Initiative of the University Erlangen-Nürnberg to TR, MN, and RA. The Heisenberg Professorship of RA is funded by the Deutsche Forschungsgemeinschaft.

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fimmu.2018.01700/ full#supplementary-material.

FIGURE S1 | $\alpha 4\beta 7$ expression on lymphocyte subsets in inflammatory bowel disease (IBD) patients. **(A)** Staining of $\alpha 4\beta 7$ expression on CD3⁺, CD4⁺, and CD8⁺ positive T cells, on B-cells (CD19⁺), macrophages (CD14⁺), and on natural killer (NK) cells (CD56⁺) with fluorescein isothiocyanate (FITC)-labeled vedolizumab (VDZ) on lamina propria lymphocytes. Gray line: isotype control. **(B)** Quantification of $\alpha 4\beta 7$ expression by flow cytometry in different subsets of peripheral leukocytes from 11 IBD patients prior to VDZ therapy. **(C)** $\alpha 4\beta 7$ expression in peripheral blood lymphocytes in 13 IBD patients before VDZ therapy (indicated by "0") (week 0) and directly before the second (week 2)

REFERENCES

- Haddad W, Cooper CJ, Zhang Z, Brown JB, Zhu Y, Issekutz A, et al. P-selectin and P-selectin glycoprotein ligand 1 are major determinants for Th1 cell recruitment to nonlymphoid effector sites in the intestinal lamina propria. *J Exp Med* (2003) 198:369–77. doi:10.1084/jem.20020691
- Nourshargh S, Hordijk PL, Sixt M. Breaching multiple barriers: leukocyte motility through venular walls and the interstitium. *Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol* (2010) 11:366–78. doi:10.1038/nrm2889
- Agace WW. Tissue-tropic effector T cells: generation and targeting opportunities. Nat Rev Immunol (2006) 6:682–92. doi:10.1038/nri1869
- Podolsky DK, Lobb R, King N, Benjamin CD, Pepinsky B, Sehgal P, et al. Attenuation of colitis in the cotton-top tamarin by anti-alpha 4 integrin monoclonal antibody. *J Clin Invest* (1993) 92:372–80. doi:10.1172/ JCI116575
- Picarella D, Hurlbut P, Rottman J, Shi X, Butcher E, Ringler DJ. Monoclonal antibodies specific for beta 7 integrin and mucosal addressin cell adhesion molecule-1 (MAdCAM-1) reduce inflammation in the colon of SCID mice reconstituted with CD45RBhigh CD4+ T cells. *J Immunol* (1997) 158: 2099–106.
- Schweighoffer T, Tanaka Y, Tidswell M, Erle DJ, Horgan KJ, Luce GE, et al. Selective expression of integrin alpha 4 beta 7 on a subset of human CD4+ memory T cells with Hallmarks of gut-trophism. *J Immunol* (1993) 151:717–29.
- Tidswell M, Pachynski R, Wu SW, Qiu SQ, Dunham E, Cochran N, et al. Structure-function analysis of the integrin beta 7 subunit: identification of domains involved in adhesion to MAdCAM-1. *J Immunol* (1997) 159:1497–505.
- Fischer A, Zundler S, Atreya R, Rath T, Voskens C, Hirschmann S, et al. Differential effects of alpha4beta7 and GPR15 on homing of effector and regulatory T cells from patients with UC to the inflamed gut in vivo. *Gut* (2016) 65:1642–64. doi:10.1136/gutjnl-2015-310022
- Zundler S, Schillinger D, Fischer A, Atreya R, Lopez-Posadas R, Watson A, et al. Blockade of alphaEbeta7 integrin suppresses accumulation of CD8+ and Th9 lymphocytes from patients with IBD in the inflamed gut in vivo. *Gut* (2017) 66(11):1936–48. doi:10.1136/gutjnl-2016-312439
- Feagan BG, Greenberg GR, Wild G, Fedorak RN, Pare P, McDonald JW, et al. Treatment of ulcerative colitis with a humanized antibody to the alpha4beta7 integrin. N Engl J Med (2005) 352:2499–507. doi:10.1056/ NEJMoa042982
- Feagan BG, Rutgeerts P, Sands BE, Hanauer S, Colombel JF, Sandborn WJ, et al. Vedolizumab as induction and maintenance therapy for ulcerative colitis. *N Engl J Med* (2013) 369:699–710. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa1215734
- Sandborn WJ, Feagan BG, Rutgeerts P, Hanauer S, Colombel JF, Sands BE, et al. Vedolizumab as induction and maintenance therapy for Crohn's disease. *N Engl J Med* (2013) 369:711–21. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa1215739

and third (week 6) administration of 300 mg VDZ (indicated by "1" and "2," respectively). (**D**) Quantification of $\alpha 4\beta 7$ expression by flow cytometry in different subsets of lamina propria lymphocytes from five IBD patients. Results are presented as mean \pm SEM. Differences between samples are compared with the Mann–Whitney U test.

TABLE S1 | CD Genes before and after VDZ.

TABLE S2 | CD pathways before and after VDZ.

- TABLE S3 | CD Non-Remitter Genes before and after VDZ.
- **TABLE S4** | CD Remitter Genes before and after VDZ.
- TABLE S5 | UC Genes before and after VDZ.
- TABLE S6 | UC pathways before and after VDZ.

TABLE S7 | UC Non-Remitter Genes before and after VDZ.

TABLE S8 | UC Remitter Genes before and after VDZ.

TABLE S9 | Individual phenotypical and clinical characteristics of patients included in each experiment.

- Sands BE, Feagan BG, Rutgeerts P, Colombel JF, Sandborn WJ, Sy R, et al. Effects of vedolizumab induction therapy for patients with Crohn's disease in whom tumor necrosis factor antagonist treatment failed. *Gastroenterology* (2014) 147:618–27.e3. doi:10.1053/j.gastro.2014.05.008
- Coskun M, Vermeire S, Nielsen OH. Novel targeted therapies for inflammatory bowel disease. *Trends Pharmacol Sci* (2017) 38:127–42. doi:10.1016/j. tips.2016.10.014
- Verstockt B, Ferrante M, Vermeire S, Van Assche G. New treatment options for inflammatory bowel diseases. J Gastroenterol (2018) 53:585–90. doi:10.1007/ s00535-018-1449-z
- Harvey RF, Bradshaw JM. A simple index of Crohn's-disease activity. Lancet (1980) 1:514. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(80)92767-1
- D'Haens G, Sandborn WJ, Feagan BG, Geboes K, Hanauer SB, Irvine EJ, et al. A review of activity indices and efficacy end points for clinical trials of medical therapy in adults with ulcerative colitis. *Gastroenterology* (2007) 132:763–86. doi:10.1053/j.gastro.2006.12.038
- Schroeder KW, Tremaine WJ, Ilstrup DM. Coated oral 5-aminosalicylic acid therapy for mildly to moderately active ulcerative colitis. A randomized study. N Engl J Med (1987) 317:1625–9. doi:10.1056/NEJM198712243172603
- Vermeire S, Schreiber S, Sandborn WJ, Dubois C, Rutgeerts P. Correlation between the Crohn's disease activity and Harvey-Bradshaw indices in assessing Crohn's disease severity. *Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol* (2010) 8:357–63. doi:10.1016/j.cgh.2010.01.001
- Atreya R, Mudter J, Finotto S, Mullberg J, Jostock T, Wirtz S, et al. Blockade of interleukin 6 trans signaling suppresses T-cell resistance against apoptosis in chronic intestinal inflammation: evidence in crohn disease and experimental colitis in vivo. *Nat Med* (2000) 6:583–8. doi:10.1038/75068
- Gerlach K, Hwang Y, Nikolaev A, Atreya R, Dornhoff H, Steiner S, et al. TH9 cells that express the transcription factor PU.1 drive T cell-mediated colitis via IL-9 receptor signaling in intestinal epithelial cells. *Nat Immunol* (2014) 15:676–86. doi:10.1038/ni.2920
- 22. Eisenhut F, Heim L, Trump S, Mittler S, Sopel N, Andreev K, et al. FAM13A is associated with non-small cell lung cancer (NSCLC) progression and controls tumor cell proliferation and survival. *Oncoimmunology* (2017) 6:e1256526. doi:10.1080/2162402X.2016.1256526
- Huber W, Carey VJ, Gentleman R, Anders S, Carlson M, Carvalho BS, et al. Orchestrating high-throughput genomic analysis with bioconductor. *Nat Methods* (2015) 12:115–21. doi:10.1038/nmeth.3252
- Love MI, Huber W, Anders S. Moderated estimation of fold change and dispersion for RNA-seq data with DESeq2. *Genome Biol* (2014) 15:550. doi:10.1186/s13059-014-0550-8
- Shannon P, Markiel A, Ozier O, Baliga NS, Wang JT, Ramage D, et al. Cytoscape: a software environment for integrated models of biomolecular interaction networks. *Genome Res* (2003) 13:2498–504. doi:10.1101/gr. 1239303

- Dillon SR, Sprecher C, Hammond A, Bilsborough J, Rosenfeld-Franklin M, Presnell SR, et al. Interleukin 31, a cytokine produced by activated T cells, induces dermatitis in mice. *Nat Immunol* (2004) 5:752–60. doi:10.1038/ni1084
- Palmer G, Talabot-Ayer D, Lamacchia C, Toy D, Seemayer CA, Viatte S, et al. Inhibition of interleukin-33 signaling attenuates the severity of experimental arthritis. *Arthritis Rheum* (2009) 60:738–49. doi:10.1002/art.24305
- Schmitz J, Owyang A, Oldham E, Song Y, Murphy E, McClanahan TK, et al. IL-33, an interleukin-1-like cytokine that signals via the IL-1 receptor-related protein ST2 and induces T helper type 2-associated cytokines. *Immunity* (2005) 23:479–90. doi:10.1016/j.immuni.2005.09.015
- Xu D, Jiang HR, Kewin P, Li Y, Mu R, Fraser AR, et al. IL-33 exacerbates antigen-induced arthritis by activating mast cells. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2008) 105:10913–8. doi:10.1073/pnas.0801898105
- Beltran CJ, Nunez LE, Diaz-Jimenez D, Farfan N, Candia E, Heine C, et al. Characterization of the novel ST2/IL-33 system in patients with inflammatory bowel disease. *Inflamm Bowel Dis* (2010) 16:1097–107. doi:10.1002/ibd.21175
- Kobori A, Yagi Y, Imaeda H, Ban H, Bamba S, Tsujikawa T, et al. Interleukin-33 expression is specifically enhanced in inflamed mucosa of ulcerative colitis. *J Gastroenterol* (2010) 45:999–1007. doi:10.1007/s00535-010-0245-1
- 32. Pastorelli L, Garg RR, Hoang SB, Spina L, Mattioli B, Scarpa M, et al. Epithelial-derived IL-33 and its receptor ST2 are dysregulated in ulcerative colitis and in experimental Th1/Th2 driven enteritis. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2010) 107:8017–22. doi:10.1073/pnas.0912678107
- Seidelin JB, Bjerrum JT, Coskun M, Widjaya B, Vainer B, Nielsen OH. IL-33 is upregulated in colonocytes of ulcerative colitis. *Immunol Lett* (2010) 128:80–5. doi:10.1016/j.imlet.2009.11.001
- Seidelin JB, Coskun M, Kvist PH, Holm TL, Holgersen K, Nielsen OH. IL-33 promotes GATA-3 polarization of gut-derived T cells in experimental and ulcerative colitis. *J Gastroenterol* (2015) 50:180–90. doi:10.1007/ s00535-014-0982-7
- Sponheim J, Pollheimer J, Olsen T, Balogh J, Hammarstrom C, Loos T, et al. Inflammatory bowel disease-associated interleukin-33 is preferentially expressed in ulceration-associated myofibroblasts. *Am J Pathol* (2010) 177:2804–15. doi:10.2353/ajpath.2010.100378
- 36. Dambacher J, Beigel F, Seiderer J, Haller D, Goke B, Auernhammer CJ, et al. Interleukin 31 mediates MAP kinase and STAT1/3 activation in intestinal epithelial cells and its expression is upregulated in inflammatory bowel disease. *Gut* (2007) 56:1257–65. doi:10.1136/gut.2006.118679
- Hue S, Ahern P, Buonocore S, Kullberg MC, Cua DJ, McKenzie BS, et al. Interleukin-23 drives innate and T cell-mediated intestinal inflammation. *J Exp Med* (2006) 203:2473–83. doi:10.1084/jem.20061099
- Kullberg MC, Jankovic D, Feng CG, Hue S, Gorelick PL, McKenzie BS, et al. IL-23 plays a key role in *Helicobacter hepaticus*-induced T cell-dependent colitis. J Exp Med (2006) 203:2485–94. doi:10.1084/jem.20061082
- Yen D, Cheung J, Scheerens H, Poulet F, McClanahan T, McKenzie B, et al. IL-23 is essential for T cell-mediated colitis and promotes inflammation via IL-17 and IL-6. J Clin Invest (2006) 116:1310–6. doi:10.1172/JCI21404
- Li C, Iness A, Yoon J, Grider JR, Murthy KS, Kellum JM, et al. Noncanonical STAT3 activation regulates excess TGF-beta1 and collagen I expression in muscle of stricturing Crohn's disease. *J Immunol* (2015) 194:3422–31. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.1401779
- Bondar C, Araya RE, Guzman L, Rua EC, Chopita N, Chirdo FG. Role of CXCR3/CXCL10 axis in immune cell recruitment into the small intestine in celiac disease. *PLoS One* (2014) 9:e89068. doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0089068
- Dufour JH, Dziejman M, Liu MT, Leung JH, Lane TE, Luster AD. IFN-gammainducible protein 10 (IP-10; CXCL10)-deficient mice reveal a role for IP-10 in effector T cell generation and trafficking. *J Immunol* (2002) 168:3195–204. doi:10.4049/jimmunol.168.7.3195
- Fae KC, Palacios SA, Nogueira LG, Oshiro SE, Demarchi LM, Bilate AM, et al. CXCL9/Mig mediates T cells recruitment to valvular tissue lesions of chronic rheumatic heart disease patients. *Inflammation* (2013) 36:800–11. doi:10.1007/s10753-013-9606-2

- 44. Harlin H, Meng Y, Peterson AC, Zha Y, Tretiakova M, Slingluff C, et al. Chemokine expression in melanoma metastases associated with CD8+ T-cell recruitment. *Cancer Res* (2009) 69:3077–85. doi:10.1158/0008-5472. CAN-08-2281
- 45. Singh UP, Singh R, Singh S, Karls RK, Quinn FD, Taub DD, et al. CXCL10+ T cells and NK cells assist in the recruitment and activation of CXCR3+ and CXCL11+ leukocytes during Mycobacteria-enhanced colitis. *BMC Immunol* (2008) 9:25. doi:10.1186/1471-2172-9-25
- Zohar Y, Wildbaum G, Novak R, Salzman AL, Thelen M, Alon R, et al. CXCL11-dependent induction of FOXP3-negative regulatory T cells suppresses autoimmune encephalomyelitis. *J Clin Invest* (2014) 124:2009–22. doi:10.1172/JCI71951
- 47. Takahashi K, Imaeda H, Fujimoto T, Ban H, Bamba S, Tsujikawa T, et al. Regulation of eotaxin-3/CC chemokine ligand 26 expression by T helper type 2 cytokines in human colonic myofibroblasts. *Clin Exp Immunol* (2013) 173:323–31. doi:10.1111/cei.12117
- Heller F, Florian P, Bojarski C, Richter J, Christ M, Hillenbrand B, et al. Interleukin-13 is the key effector Th2 cytokine in ulcerative colitis that affects epithelial tight junctions, apoptosis, and cell restitution. *Gastroenterology* (2005) 129:550–64. doi:10.1053/j.gastro.2005.05.002
- Rosen MJ, Frey MR, Washington MK, Chaturvedi R, Kuhnhein LA, Matta P, et al. STAT6 activation in ulcerative colitis: a new target for prevention of IL-13-induced colon epithelial cell dysfunction. *Inflamm Bowel Dis* (2011) 17:2224–34. doi:10.1002/ibd.21628
- O'Shea NR, Smith AM. Matrix metalloproteases role in bowel inflammation and inflammatory bowel disease: an up to date review. *Inflamm Bowel Dis* (2014) 20:2379–93. doi:10.1097/MIB.00000000000163
- Suntharalingam G, Perry MR, Ward S, Brett SJ, Castello-Cortes A, Brunner MD, et al. Cytokine storm in a phase 1 trial of the anti-CD28 monoclonal antibody TGN1412. N Engl J Med (2006) 355:1018–28. doi:10.1056/NEJMoa063842
- Feagan BG, Greenberg GR, Wild G, Fedorak RN, Pare P, McDonald JW, et al. Treatment of active Crohn's disease with MLN0002, a humanized antibody to the alpha4beta7 integrin. *Clin Gastroenterol Hepatol* (2008) 6:1370–7. doi:10.1016/j.cgh.2008.06.007
- Parikh A, Leach T, Wyant T, Scholz C, Sankoh S, Mould DR, et al. Vedolizumab for the treatment of active ulcerative colitis: a randomized controlled phase 2 dose-ranging study. *Inflamm Bowel Dis* (2012) 18:1470–9. doi:10.1002/ ibd.21896
- Wyant T, Yang L, Fedyk E. In vitro assessment of the effects of vedolizumab binding on peripheral blood lymphocytes. *MAbs* (2013) 5:842–50. doi:10.4161/ mabs.26392
- 55. Atreya R, Neumann H, Neufert C, Waldner MJ, Billmeier U, Zopf Y, et al. In vivo imaging using fluorescent antibodies to tumor necrosis factor predicts therapeutic response in Crohn's disease. *Nat Med* (2014) 20:313–8. doi:10.1038/nm.3462
- Vermeire S, O'Byrne S, Keir M, Williams M, Lu TT, Mansfield JC, et al. Etrolizumab as induction therapy for ulcerative colitis: a randomised, controlled, phase 2 trial. *Lancet* (2014) 384:309–18. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(14) 60661-9

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2018 Rath, Billmeier, Ferrazzi, Vieth, Ekici, Neurath and Atreya. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Adipokines and Their Role in Intestinal Inflammation

Carl Weidinger^{1,2}, Jörn F. Ziegler¹, Marilena Letizia¹, Franziska Schmidt¹ and Britta Siegmund^{1*}

¹ Charité – Universitätsmedizin Berlin, Corporate Member of Freie Universität Berlin, Humboldt-Universität zu Berlin, Berlin Institute of Health, Medizinische Klinik für Gastroenterologie, Infektiologie und Rheumatologie, Berlin, Germany, ² Clinician Scientist Program, Berlin Institute of Health, Berlin, Germany

Fat tissue was initially described for its endocrine and metabolic function. Over the last two decades increasing evidence indicated a close interaction with the immune system. Partly responsible for this immune modulatory function are soluble factors released by the fat tissue, most prominently the so-called adipokines. These discoveries led to the question how adipokines influence inflammatory diseases. Linking inflammation and adipose tissue, Crohn's disease, a chronic inflammatory bowel disease, is of particular interest for studying the immune modulatory properties of adipokines since it is characterized by a hyperplasia of the mesenteric fat that subsequently is creeping around the inflamed segments of the small intestine. Thus, the role of several adipokines in the creeping fat as well as in intestinal inflammation was recently explored. The present review selected the four adipokines adiponectin, apelin, chemerin, and leptin and provides a working model based on the available literature how these factors participate in the maintenance of intestinal immune homeostasis.

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Fabio Cominelli, Case Western Reserve University, United States

Reviewed by:

Angela Bonura, Consiglio Nazionale Delle Ricerche (CNR), Italy Giovanna Montana, Istituto di biomedicina e di immunologia molecolare Alberto Monroy (IBIM), Italy

> *Correspondence: Britta Siegmund britta.siegmund@charite.de

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Cytokines and Soluble Mediators in Immunity, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology

> Received: 27 May 2018 Accepted: 10 August 2018 Published: 12 October 2018

Citation:

Weidinger C, Ziegler JF, Letizia M, Schmidt F and Siegmund B (2018) Adipokines and Their Role in Intestinal Inflammation. Front. Immunol. 9:1974. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2018.01974 Keywords: adipokines, inflammatory bowel disease, Crohn's disease, creeping fat, immune modulation

INTRODUCTION

Adipokines represent a group of mediators primarily released by adipocytes that modulate a variety of metabolic functions within the fat tissue and additional organs such as liver, brain and muscle. In addition to the metabolic functions, a regulatory role within the immune system was identified early on for a number of adipokines. This includes adiponectin which in first reports was shown to suppress mature macrophage function (1) as well as leptin that was identified as a T cell stimulatory factor (2). These initial publications induced a plethora of studies exploring the impact of various adipokines in several inflammatory diseases. Why is intestinal inflammation of particular interest for the regulatory function of adipokines?

In Crohn's disease, one subtype of inflammatory bowel disease (IBD), characteristic changes of the mesenteric fat suggest that the mesenteric fat might play a central immune modulatory role in the pathogenesis of Crohn's diseases (3). In this disease, the mesenteric fat becomes hyperplastic and is creeping around the inflamed segments of the small intestine, suggesting a direct role of this fat tissue compartment in Crohn's disease. In order to provide a concise overview how adipokines regulate intestinal inflammation, we here selected adipokines for which experimental data in intestinal inflammation were available. Thus, we chose apelin, adiponectin, chemerin, and leptin. In order to include the relevant literature, we chose the names of the respective adipokine in combination with either colitis, IBD, Crohn's disease, or ulcerative colitis as search terms in PubMed. This review will first focus on the selected adipokines (summary provided in **Table 1**), namely apelin, adiponectin, chemerin and leptin, and then provide a disease-relevant working model.

75

TABLE 1 | Adipokines and the regulatory effect on intestinal homeostasis.

Adipokine	Effect on mucosal homeostasis	References
Adiponectin	<i>Function</i> Adiponectin plays a key role in regulating insulin sensitivity. In addition, an anti-inflammatory effect has been demonstrated for atherosclerosis.	(4)
	<i>in vitro</i> Globular adiponectin has been shown to enhance intestinal epithelial cell proliferation and prevented these cells from apoptosis. In line, <i>adiponectin^{-/-}</i> mice developed more severe DSS-induced colitis accompanied by a decreased epithelial proliferation, increased apoptosis and cellular stress. This could be reversed <i>in vitro</i> in the presence of adiponectin.	(5, 6)
	<i>in vivo models</i> The data on the <i>in vivo</i> role are controversial. Fayad et al. provided evidence suggesting a pro-inflammatory role for adiponectin in DSS- as well as TNBS-induced colitis. Conversely, Nishihara et al. found the opposite. In addition, work by Sideri et al. demonstrated that silencing of AdipoR1 was followed by deterioration of TNBS-induced colitis. These obvious discrepancies might be explained by differences in knockout mice.	(7–10)
	Human data Adiponectin has been shown to be upregulated in the creeping fat of Crohn's disease as compared to non-creeping fat of Crohn's disease, ulcerative colitis and healthy controls.	(11)
Apelin	<i>Function</i> Apelin induces proliferation of intestinal epithelial cells. Apelin plays a role in the development and stabilization of lymphatic vessels.	(12)
	<i>in vivo models</i> Apelin is upregulated in the intestinal epithelial cells of colitic mice. Apelin administration ameliorated colitis in $l/10^{-/-}$ mice by enhancing intestinal lymphatic function.	(13, 14)
	<i>Human data</i> Apelin is upregulated in the intestinal epithelial cells of IBD patients. Apelin is highly expressed in the mesenteric adipose tissue of Crohn's disease patients.	(12, 15)
Chemerin	<i>Function</i> Chemerin has been shown to serve as chemoattractant for cells of the innate immune system.	(16)
	<i>in vivo models</i> Administration of chemerin aggravated DSS-induced colitis and was associated with a decrease in anti-inflammatory macrophages. Accordingly, mice deficient in the chemerin receptor, chemokine-like receptor 1 (CMKLR1), develop colitis in a delayed course, ultimately resulting in similar disease severity.	(17, 18)
	Human data Chemerin was elevated in the serum of IBD patients.	(19)
Leptin	<i>Function</i> Leptin was initially identified as a hormone and satiety factor. Early work revealed an enhancing effect on T cell proliferation and polarization.	(2, 20)
	<i>in vitro</i> Leptin has been shown to induce an increased intestinal epithelial cell proliferation. In addition, intestinal epithelial cells produce leptin and luminal leptin <i>vice versa</i> activates the NF- κB pathway in intestinal epithelial cells. In line, rectal application <i>in vivo</i> results in intestinal inflammation. Leptin signaling is required for <i>in vitro</i> polarization of T _{h17} cells as leptin receptor (Lepr) deficient T cells display decreased STAT3 signaling and consecutively less RORyt expression and impaired IL-17 and IFNy production.	(21–23)
	<i>in vivo models</i> Leptin-deficient <i>ob/ob</i> mice are protected from experimental colitis. Colitis induction depends on the activation of T cells by leptin as proven in the T cell transfer model of colitis. Leptin produced by T cells does not contribute to colitis development.	(24–27)
	Human data Leptin is upregulated in the mesenteric fat of Crohn's disease patients. The presence of leptin in the mesenteric fat favors the polarization of tissue macrophages toward an anti-inflammatory phenotype.	(28, 29)

AdipoR1, adiponectin receptor type 1; DSS, dextran sodium sulfate; IBD, inflammatory bowel diseases; NF- KB, nuclear factor "kappa-light-chain-enhancer" of activated B-cells; TNBS, trinitrobenzene sulphonic acid.

ADIPOKINES

Apelin

Early on, apelin has been shown to be elevated in the colonic tissue of mice suffering from colitis as well as in humans with IBD. Apelin was mainly expressed by epithelial cells and addition of synthetic apelin in cell culture increased epithelial cell proliferation (12). More recently, apelin was described to play a significant role in the development as well as the stabilization of lymphatic vessels (13, 14). Remarkably, defects in the lymphatic transport of the mesentery have previously been suggested to be involved in the pathogenesis of Crohn's disease. This is reflected by an increased density of lymphatic vessels as well as the presence of tertiary lymphoid organs in the mesentery

of Crohn's disease patients (30, 31). Accordingly, apelin was shown to be highly expressed in the mesenteric adipose tissue of Crohn's disease patients. In addition, the administration of apelin to $Il10^{-/-}$ mice with established colitis resulted not only in an amelioration of disease by lowering the production of pro-inflammatory cytokines such as TNF α , IL-6, and IL-1 β but furthermore enhanced intestinal lymphatic function. This was shown by an increased lymphatic vessel density. In addition, lymphangiography indicated an augmented lymphatic drainage (15). Based on these findings, one can propose a regenerative function of apelin on intestinal epithelial cells as well as a supportive role with regard to intestinal lymphatic drainage.

Adiponectin

The adipokine adiponectin plays a key role in regulating insulin sensitivity and had previously been shown to play an antiinflammatory role in atherosclerosis (4). The study by Yamamoto et al. analyzed the adiponectin expression in the creeping fat of Crohn's disease patients, that revealed an upregulation of adiponectin expression in creeping fat of Crohn's disease patients when compared to non-creeping fat of Crohn's disease patients as well as fat from ulcerative colitis patients or controls (11).

A study by Fayad et al. explored the function of adiponectin in intestinal inflammation by subjecting adiponectin-deficient animals to two models of experimental colitis, the model of dextran sulfate sodium (DSS)- and the model of trinitrobenzene sulphonic acid (TNBS)-induced colitis. Adiponectin was shown to rather induce the production of pro-inflammatory cytokines in the colon as adiponectin stimulation of colon organ cultures of DSS-treated mice resulted in increased production of IL-6 and MIP-2, whereas adiponectin-deficient APN knock out mice were protected from experimental colitis. Thus, these data were somewhat contrary to the findings described for atherosclerosis (8). A second study by Nishihara et al. explored again adiponectin-deficient mice in the DSS and TNBS model of colitis. In contrast to the previous study, adiponectin protected from inflammation, possibly mediated by a direct antiinflammatory effect on the colonic epithelial cells (7). These discrepancies between the two studies as well as in several in vitro studies are most likely due to different types of knockout mice or adiponectin used (9).

In line with the first study, Ogunwobi and colleagues provide data analyzing the effect of adiponectin on colon epithelial cells by using the colonic epithelial cell line HT-29 and by carefully distinguishing globular adiponectin from full-length adiponectin. Remarkably, in particular globular adiponectin mediated pro-proliferative as well as pro-inflammatory effects through activation of extracellular-signal regulated kinase (ERK), p38 mitogen-activated protein kinase (MAPK) NF- κ B signaling on colonic epithelial cells (5). When the human NCM60 epithelial cell line was exposed to fat-conditioned media obtained from IBD patients, cells showed a reduced expression of adiponectin receptor 1 (AdipoR1). Silencing of AdipoR1 in mice resulted in an exacerbation of TNBS-induced colitis (10).

In a recent study, adiponectin-deficient mice treated with DSS exhibited more severe colitis accompanied by an increased presence of activated B cells, pro-inflammatory cytokines such as IL-1 β , IL-4, and IL-6 and increased STAT3 signaling in the colon.

The epithelium of the knockout animals revealed a decrease in cell proliferation as well as increased apoptosis and cellular stress. In *in vitro* experiments these effects could be reversed by adiponectin. These data are supporting the concept that adiponectin maintains intestinal homeostasis (6).

Chemerin

Chemerin has been shown to serve as chemo-attractant for cells of the innate immune system (16). Serum from Crohn's disease (n = 230), ulcerative colitis patients (n = 80), and healthy controls (n = 80) was recently compared for the expression of chemerin and adiponectin. Chemerin was elevated in IBD patients, whereas adiponectin was decreased (19). An in vivo study furthermore indicated that the administration of chemerin resulted in aggravation of DSS-induced colitis in mice by augmenting TNFα and IL-6 production, whereas a decrease in IL-10-producing anti-inflammatory macrophages could be detected. This could be confirmed in vitro, where the presence of chemerin prevented macrophages from polarizing into an anti-inflammatory phenotype resulting in impaired expression of Arginase-1 and IL-10 (17). The chemokine-like receptor 1 (CMKLR1) is the receptor for chemerin. Mice deficient in CMKLR1 developed DSS-induced colitis in a delayed time course, albeit ultimately presenting with a similar disease activity (18).

Leptin

Leptin was initially identified as a satiety factor (20, 32). Work by Lord and colleagues revealed that the adipokine leptin supports T cell proliferation and results in increased T helper cell type 1 (T_{h1}) and in suppressed T_{h2} cytokine production. In addition, administration of leptin to starved mice resulted in an abrogation of starvation-induced immunosuppression (2). The additional characterization of three children with congenital leptin deficiency indicated that leptin substitution not only reversed their metabolic dysfunction including insulin resistance and fatty liver degeneration, but furthermore increased the number of circulating CD4⁺ T cells as well as their proliferative capacity (33). These findings raised the question whether leptin exerts a modulating effect on autoimmune diseases. First evidence was provided from the model of experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis. Here, leptin-deficient (ob/ob) mice were protected from T cell-mediated neuronal damage and leptin substitution augmented the disease susceptibility in mice. Additional work on the same model revealed that CNSinfiltrating T cells themselves are able to produce leptin and that this effect could be blocked by an anti-leptin receptor antibody (34, 35).

In an early study, systemic leptin concentrations were determined during the course of acute experimental colitis. In this study, the concentration of leptin in the plasma increased in TNBS-induced colitis and indomethacin-induced ileitis and correlated with disease severity. However, this observed increase was only transient and returned to control concentrations over time (36). The association of a distinct disease to plasma levels has proven difficult for several disease entities in the past. However, independent studies revealed a strong up-regulation of leptin

expression in the mesenteric fat of Crohn's disease patients (28, 37).

In our own work, we were able to demonstrate that leptindeficient *ob/ob* mice are protected from DSS-induced colitis and that leptin administration reverses disease susceptibility in mice (24). To confirm the previously established concept that leptin mediates pro-inflammatory effects, at least partly, via T cells, we performed a T cell transfer model of colitis and transferred naive CD4⁺ T cells lacking the signaling Ob-Rb-isoform of the leptin receptor. In fact, the development of colitis was significantly delayed using this approach, indicating that the stimulatory effect of leptin plays a crucial role in this model (25). Additional data showing that *ob/ob* mice are protected in models driven by either T_{h1} (TNBS) or T_{h2} (oxazolone) cells underline that the T cellstimulating capacity of leptin is important for the observed effects (27). However, this enhancing factor does not apply for all T cell subpopulations, since leptin has been shown to inhibit the proliferation of regulatory T (T_{reg} , FoxP3⁺CD4⁺CD25⁺) cells. Accordingly, the absence of leptin, as demonstrated for ob/ob and *db/db* mice (mice deficient for the signaling Ob-Rb isoform of the leptin receptor), resulted in an increased proliferation of functional T_{reg} cells (38). Likewise, Reis and colleagues could demonstrate that Leprfl/fl-CD4-Cre mice harboring a conditional knock out of the leptin receptor in their CD4⁺ T cell compartment also showed higher frequencies of FOXP3⁺ T_{reg} cells under steady state conditions. Importantly, Lepr-deficient T cells displayed a severe defect in T_{h17} differentiation due to a decreased activation of the STAT3 signaling cascade, resulting in impaired cytokine production of IL-17 and IFNy, which protected recipient $Rag^{-/-}$ mice receiving *Lepr*-deficient T cells from transfer colitis (23).

Data from the experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis model have previously indicated that leptin produced by T cells might play a key role in mediating disease severity (23, 35). Thus, we performed again the T cell transfer model of colitis and chose this time naive T cells isolated from *ob/ob* mice as disease-inducing cell population in comparison to wild-type cells. In contrast to the data cited above, no differences were observed with regard to disease severity or cytokine production, implying that leptin produced by T cells is irrelevant for intestinal inflammation (26).

Recent data indicate that the administration of a pegylated leptin antagonist (PG-MLA) was sufficient to protect from chronic experimental colitis. Amelioration of colitis was here associated with a decrease in the expression of mucosal pro-inflammatory cytokines and an increase of mucosal T_{reg} cells (39).

Having shown that leptin modulates intestinal inflammation via the T cell compartment, the question arose whether there is an additional effect on epithelial cells. The leptin receptor (Ob-Rb) is in fact expressed in human colonic tissue as well as on the HT-29 colon cancer cell line. Stimulation of HT-29 cells with leptin was followed by activation of p42/44 MAPK as well as increased proliferation *in vitro* and *in vivo* (21). An interesting aspect was added by the study of Sitaraman and colleagues that were able to demonstrate that inflamed colonic epithelial cells produce and release leptin into the intestinal lumen. The presence of luminal leptin resulted in the activation of the NF- κ B pathway in intestinal epithelial cells. Rectal application of leptin was followed by intestinal inflammation and epithelial wall damage (22). Following up on these luminal effects, Hoda et al. analyzed the effect of luminal leptin on ion transport capacities under inflammatory conditions. Human intestinal epithelial cells (T84) as well as intestinal tissue from a rat model of chemotherapyinduced enterocolitis were analyzed in Ussing chambers. These served to determine the transepithelial short-circuit current I(sc). The presence of leptin resulted in an increase of basal I(sc) of T84 cells, which was mediated by activation of the MAPK pathway. In line, in the enterocolits model luminal leptin equally induced an increase in I(sc), that was more prominent in the proximal colon (40).

A recent study was able to link leptin, cell metabolism and intestinal epithelial function. The authors provided evidence indicating that leptin is able to induce lipid droplet formation in intestinal epithelial cells (IEC-6). This was accompanied by an increased production of CXCL1/CINC-1, CCL2/MCP-1, and TGF β . In line with previous data, leptin induced cell proliferation. The process of lipid droplet induction and the associated effects depended on the mammalian target of rapamycin (mTOR) pathway, since it was completely abrogated in the presence of rapamycin (41). Thus, one can conclude that leptin, very similar to adiponectin, exerts direct effects on intestinal epithelial cells and consequently plays a role in intestinal homeostasis.

HOW GETS THE MESENTERIC FAT TISSUE STIMULATED AND ADIPOKINES RELEASED?

The question arises how the mesenteric fat gets involved in the first place. Courageous proposals suggest that changes in the mesenteric fat tissue might in fact be the initiating event of Crohn's disease. However, this is not only difficult to proof but it also seems to be more likely that the transmural inflammation and consecutive chronic bacterial translocation is the initiating factor for these changes. Crohn's disease, in contrast to ulcerative colitis, presents with a transmural inflammation and can also affect the small intestine. Several experimental models as well as studies in humans provided evidence of an increased translocation of bacteria into the mesenteric fat (42, 43). Previous data had already proven that adipocytes as well as preadipocytes express functional receptors of the innate immune system including toll-like receptors (Tlr) and nucleotide oligomerization domains 1 (NOD1) and 2 (NOD2) (44, 45). Accordingly, while wild type mice featured an up-regulation of pro-inflammatory mediators in chronic DSS colitis, Myd88^{-/-} mice, thus mice with a dysfunctional innate immune system, failed to respond to these translocalizing bacteria and showed a significantly increased mortality, suggesting that the mesenteric fat serves as a potential second barrier (42, 46). In line, wild-type mice revealed an up-regulation of leptin in the mesenteric fat, whereas this was not observed in Tlr9^{-/-} mice. However, IL-6 production was unaffected by the absence of Tlr9 (47), indicating that other innate receptors contribute to the effects described before (42).



enhance barrier function. The majority of these data derive from *in vitro* data, thus it remains open how these adipokines contribute to the complex crosstalk between epithelial cells and immune cells *in vivo*. Green indicates the lamina propria with all cell populations included. Chemerin has been shown here to attract innate immune cells resulting in a deterioration of colitis. Leptin induces T cell proliferation thus enhancing inflammation. Yellow indicates the mesenteric fat tissue. Adiponectin, apelin and leptin are all up-regulated in this compartment. Apelin enhances the function of the lymphatic vessels, that are known to be dysfunctional in Crohn's disease. Leptin strongly influences the polarization of infiltrating monocytes toward rather anti-inflammatory macrophages.

What is the subsequent effect of adipokines produced within the mesenteric adipose tissue? Leptin has been shown to not only modulate the polarization of the T helper cell compartment but to equally affect together with adiponectin the myeloid compartment. Leptin as well as adiponectin favored the polarization of anti-inflammatory macrophages, the dominant macrophage population detectable in creeping fat of Crohn's disease patients (29). In addition, as described above for mice (42) and patients with Crohn's disease (43), the mesenteric fat develops an effector response to the translocalizing antigens. Remarkably, a dysfunction of this effector response, as discussed above for the $Myd88^{-/-}$ mice, results in an increased mortality, thus suggesting a primarily protective function. Together this fits into the concept that the mesenteric fat represents a second barrier and thereby prevents the Crohn's disease patient from continuous bacteremia (48, 49).

A summary of the effects mediated by adipokines is provided in **Figure 1**.

CONCLUSIONS

Continuous work over the last two decades has substantially provided insights into the regulation of adipokines and intestinal inflammation. The data discussed for adiponectin, apelin, chemerin, and leptin within this review indicate a complex specific function for each individual adipokine in the regulation of intestinal inflammation. However, the summary also reveals the shortcomings of our current understanding. Thus, the complex interplay between the adipose tissue and the immune system presents a hot topic for current research. In our view, it is rather unlikely that adipokines will serve as therapeutic option for patients with IBD. Nevertheless, the overall metabolic condition of a patient, e.g., body mass index, presence of diabetes, might strongly influence the adipokine response on one hand, on the other hand, anti-inflammatory treatment in IBD patients might result in direct changes of the adipokine and thus metabolic profile. Therefore, this particular crossregulation will become even more important in the foreseeable future.

AUTHORS CONTRIBUTIONS

JZ, ML, and FS contributed distinct parts of the manuscript. CW participated in writing and finalizing the manuscript. BS wrote the first draft and finalized the manuscript.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

CW acknowledges funding by the Berlin Institute of Health and the German Research Foundation (DFG, We-5303/3-1); BS acknowledges funding by the DFG, the Deutsche Krebshilfe, the Berlin Institute of Health. CW and BS are

REFERENCES

- Yokota T, Oritani K, Takahashi I, Ishikawa J, Matsuyama A, Ouchi N, et al. Adiponectin, a new member of the family of soluble defense collagens, negatively regulates the growth of myelomonocytic progenitors and the functions of macrophages. *Blood* (2000) 96:1723–32.
- Lord GM, Matarese G, Howard JK, Baker RJ, Bloom SR, Lechler RI. Leptin modulates the T-cell immune response and reverses starvation-induced immunosuppression. *Nature* (1998) 394:897–901. doi: 10.1038/29795
- Crohn BB, Ginzburg L, Oppenheimer GD. Regional ileitis, a pathologic and clinical entity. J Am Med Assoc. (1932) 99:1323–9. doi: 10.1001/jama.1932.02740680019005
- Yamauchi T, Kamon J, Ito Y, Tsuchida A, Yokomizo T, Kita S, et al. Cloning of adiponectin receptors that mediate antidiabetic metabolic effects. *Nature* (2003) 423:762–9. doi: 10.1038/nature01705
- Ogunwobi OO, Beales IL. Adiponectin stimulates proliferation and cytokine secretion in colonic epithelial cells. *Regul Pept.* (2006) 134:105–13. doi: 10.1016/j.regpep.2006.02.001
- Obeid S, Wankell M, Charrez B, Sternberg J, Kreuter R, Esmaili S, et al. Adiponectin confers protection from acute colitis and restricts a B cell immune response. J Biol Chem. (2017) 292:6569–82. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M115.712646
- Nishihara T, Matsuda M, Araki H, Oshima K, Kihara S, Funahashi T, et al. Effect of adiponectin on murine colitis induced by dextran sulfate sodium. *Gastroenterology* (2006) 131:853–61. doi: 10.1053/j.gastro.2006.06.015
- Fayad R, Pini M, Sennello JA, Cabay RJ, Chan L, Xu A, et al. Adiponectin deficiency protects mice from chemically induced colonic inflammation. *Gastroenterology* (2007) 132:601–14. doi: 10.1053/j.gastro.2006.11.026
- Fantuzzi G. Adiponectin in inflammatory and immune-mediated diseases. Cytokine (2013) 64:1–10. doi: 10.1016/j.cyto.2013.06.317
- Sideri A, Stavrakis D, Bowe C, Shih DQ, Fleshner P, Arsenescu V, et al. Effects of obesity on severity of colitis and cytokine expression in mouse mesenteric fat. Potential role of adiponectin receptor 1. *Am J Physiol Gastrointest Liver Physiol.* (2015) 308:G591–604. doi: 10.1152/ajpgi.00269.2014
- Yamamoto K, Kiyohara T, Murayama Y, Kihara S, Okamoto Y, Funahashi T, et al. Production of adiponectin, an anti-inflammatory protein, in mesenteric adipose tissue in Crohn's disease. *Gut* (2005) 54:789–96. doi: 10.1136/gut.2004.046516
- Han S, Wang G, Qiu S, De La Motte C, Wang HQ, Gomez G, et al. Increased colonic apelin production in rodents with experimental colitis and in humans with IBD. *Regul Pept.* (2007) 142:131–7. doi: 10.1016/j.regpep.2007.02.002
- Sawane M, Kajiya K, Kidoya H, Takagi M, Muramatsu F, Takakura N. Apelin inhibits diet-induced obesity by enhancing lymphatic and blood vessel integrity. *Diabetes* (2013) 62:1970–80. doi: 10.2337/db12-0604
- Kim JD, Kang Y, Kim J, Papangeli I, Kang H, Wu J, et al. Essential role of Apelin signaling during lymphatic development in zebrafish. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol.* (2014) 34:338–45. doi: 10.1161/ATVBAHA.113. 302785
- Ge Y, Li Y, Chen Q, Zhu W, Zuo L, Guo Z, et al. Adipokine apelin ameliorates chronic colitis in Il-10(-/-) mice by promoting intestinal lymphatic functions. *Biochem Pharmacol.* (2018) 148:202–12. doi: 10.1016/j.bcp.2018.01.011
- Wittamer V, Franssen JD, Vulcano M, Mirjolet JF, Le Poul E, Migeotte I, et al. Specific recruitment of antigen-presenting cells by chemerin, a novel processed ligand from human inflammatory fluids. *J Exp Med.* (2003) 198:977–85. doi: 10.1084/jem.20030382
- Lin Y, Yang X, Yue W, Xu X, Li B, Zou L, et al. Chemerin aggravates DSS-induced colitis by suppressing M2 macrophage polarization. *Cell Mol Immunol.* (2014) 11:355–66. doi: 10.1038/cmi.2014.15

PIs in the TRR 241 IEC in IBD funded by the DFG, JZ is supported by a student grant of the German Society of Internal Medicine (DGIM). We acknowledge support from the German Research Foundation (DFG) and the Open Access Publication Fund of Charité–Universitätsmedizin Berlin.

- Dranse HJ, Rourke JL, Stadnyk AW, Sinal CJ. Local chemerin levels are positively associated with DSS-induced colitis but constitutive loss of CMKLR1 does not protect against development of colitis. *Physiol Rep.* (2015) 3:e12497. doi: 10.14814/phy2.12497
- Weigert J, Obermeier F, Neumeier M, Wanninger J, Filarsky M, Bauer S, et al. Circulating levels of chemerin and adiponectin are higher in ulcerative colitis and chemerin is elevated in Crohn's disease. *Inflamm Bowel Dis.* (2010) 16:630–7. doi: 10.1002/ibd.21091
- Zhang Y, Proenca R, Maffei M, Barone M, Leopold L, Friedman JM. Positional cloning of the mouse obese gene and its human homologue. *Nature* (1994) 372:425–32. doi: 10.1038/372425a0
- Hardwick JC, Van Den Brink GR, Offerhaus GJ, Van Deventer SJ, Peppelenbosch MP. Leptin is a growth factor for colonic epithelial cells. *Gastroenterology* (2001) 121:79–90. doi: 10.1053/gast.2001.25490
- Sitaraman S, Liu X, Charrier L, Gu LH, Ziegler TR, Gewirtz A, et al. Colonic leptin: source of a novel proinflammatory cytokine involved in IBD. *FASEB J*. (2004) 18:696–8. doi: 10.1096/fj.03-0422fje
- Reis BS, Lee K, Fanok MH, Mascaraque C, Amoury M, Cohn LB, et al. Leptin receptor signaling in T cells is required for Th17 differentiation. *J Immunol.* (2015) 194:5253–60. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1402996
- Siegmund B, Lehr HA, Fantuzzi G. Leptin: a pivotal mediator of intestinal inflammation in mice. *Gastroenterology* (2002) 122:2011–25. doi: 10.1053/gast.2002.33631
- Siegmund B, Sennello JA, Jones-Carson J, Gamboni-Robertson F, Lehr HA, Batra A, et al. Leptin receptor expression on T lymphocytes modulates chronic intestinal inflammation in mice. *Gut* (2004) 53:965–72. doi: 10.1136/gut.2003.027136
- 26. Fantuzzi G, Sennello JA, Batra A, Fedke I, Lehr HA, Zeitz M, et al. Defining the role of T cell-derived leptin in the modulation of hepatic or intestinal inflammation in mice. *Clin Exp Immunol.* (2005) 142:31–8. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2249.2005.02898.x
- Batra A, Okur B, Glauben R, Erben U, Ihbe J, Stroh T, et al. Leptin: a critical regulator of CD4+ T-cell polarization *in vitro* and *in vivo*. *Endocrinology* (2010) 151:56–62. doi: 10.1210/en.2009-0565
- Zulian A, Cancello R, Micheletto G, Gentilini D, Gilardini L, Danelli P, et al. Visceral adipocytes: old actors in obesity and new protagonists in Crohn's disease? *Gut* (2012) 61:86–94. doi: 10.1136/gutjnl-2011-300391
- 29. Kredel LI, Batra A, Stroh T, Kuhl AA, Zeitz M, Erben U, et al. Adipokines from local fat cells shape the macrophage compartment of the creeping fat in Crohn's disease. *Gut* (2013) 62:852–62. doi: 10.1136/gutjnl-2011-301424
- Rahier JF, De Beauce S, Dubuquoy L, Erdual E, Colombel JF, Jouret-Mourin A, et al. Increased lymphatic vessel density and lymphangiogenesis in inflammatory bowel disease. *Aliment Pharmacol Ther.* (2011) 34:533–43. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2036.2011.04759.x
- Randolph GJ, Bala S, Rahier JF, Johnson MW, Wang PL, Nalbantoglu I, et al. Lymphoid aggregates remodel lymphatic collecting vessels that serve mesenteric lymph nodes in Crohn disease. *Am J Pathol.* (2016) 186:3066–73. doi: 10.1016/j.ajpath.2016.07.026
- 32. Friedman JM, Halaas JL. Leptin and the regulation of body weight in mammals. *Nature* (1998) 395:763–70. doi: 10.1038/27376
- Farooqi IS, Matarese G, Lord GM, Keogh JM, Lawrence E, Agwu C, et al. Beneficial effects of leptin on obesity, T cell hyporesponsiveness, and neuroendocrine/metabolic dysfunction of human congenital leptin deficiency. *J Clin Invest.* (2002) 110:1093–103. doi: 10.1172/JCI0215693
- Matarese G, Di Giacomo A, Sanna V, Lord GM, Howard JK, Di Tuoro A, et al. Requirement for leptin in the induction and progression of autoimmune encephalomyelitis. *J Immunol.* (2001) 166:5909–16. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.166.10.5909

- 35. Sanna V, Di Giacomo A, La Cava A, Lechler RI, Fontana S, Zappacosta S, et al. Leptin surge precedes onset of autoimmune encephalomyelitis and correlates with development of pathogenic T cell responses. J Clin Invest. (2003) 111:241–50. doi: 10.1172/JCI200316721
- Barbier M, Cherbut C, Aube AC, Blottiere HM, Galmiche JP. Elevated plasma leptin concentrations in early stages of experimental intestinal inflammation in rats. *Gut* (1998) 43:783–90. doi: 10.1136/gut.43.6.783
- Siegmund B. Mesenteric fat in Crohn's disease: the hot spot of inflammation? Gut (2012) 61:3–5. doi: 10.1136/gutjnl-2011-301354
- De Rosa V, Procaccini C, Cali G, Pirozzi G, Fontana S, Zappacosta S, et al. A key role of leptin in the control of regulatory T cell proliferation. *Immunity* (2007) 26:241–55. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2007.01.011
- Singh UP, Singh NP, Guan H, Busbee B, Price RL, Taub DD, et al. Leptin antagonist ameliorates chronic colitis in IL-10(-)/(-) mice. *Immunobiology* (2013) 218:1439–51. doi: 10.1016/j.imbio.2013.04.020
- Hoda MR, Scharl M, Keely SJ, Mccole DF, Barrett KE. Apical leptin induces chloride secretion by intestinal epithelial cells and in a rat model of acute chemotherapy-induced colitis. *Am J Physiol Gastrointest Liver Physiol.* (2010) 298:G714–721. doi: 10.1152/ajpgi.00320.2009
- Fazolini NP, Cruz AL, Werneck MB, Viola JP, Maya-Monteiro CM, Bozza PT. Leptin activation of mTOR pathway in intestinal epithelial cell triggers lipid droplet formation, cytokine production and increased cell proliferation. *Cell Cycle* (2015) 14:2667–76. doi: 10.1080/15384101.2015.1041684
- Batra A, Heimesaat MM, Bereswill S, Fischer A, Glauben R, Kunkel D, et al. Mesenteric fat - control site for bacterial translocation in colitis? *Mucosal Immunol.* (2012) 5:580–91. doi: 10.1038/mi.2012.33
- Peyrin-Biroulet L, Gonzalez F, Dubuquoy L, Rousseaux C, Dubuquoy C, Decourcelle C, et al. Mesenteric fat as a source of C reactive protein and as a target for bacterial translocation in Crohn's disease. *Gut* (2012) 61:78–85. doi: 10.1136/gutjnl-2011-300370
- Batra A, Pietsch J, Fedke I, Glauben R, Okur B, Stroh T, et al. Leptindependent toll-like receptor expression and responsiveness in preadipocytes and adipocytes. *Am J Pathol.* (2007) 170:1931–41. doi: 10.2353/ajpath.2007. 060699

- 45. Stroh T, Batra A, Glauben R, Fedke I, Erben U, Kroesen A, et al. Nucleotide oligomerization domains 1 and 2: regulation of expression and function in preadipocytes. J Immunol. (2008) 181:3620–7. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.181.5.3620
- Kredel L, Batra A, Siegmund B. Role of fat and adipokines in intestinal inflammation. *Curr Opin Gastroenterol.* (2014) 30:559–65. doi: 10.1097/MOG.00000000000116
- Karrasch T, Schmid A, Kopp A, Obermeier F, Hofmann C, Schaffler A. Impact of toll-like-receptor-9 (TLR9) deficiency on visceral adipose tissue adipokine expression during chronic DSS-induced colitis in mice. *Exp Clin Endocrinol Diabetes* (2015) 123:80–7. doi: 10.1055/s-0034-1398502
- Kredel LI, Siegmund B. Adipose-tissue and intestinal inflammation

 visceral obesity and creeping fat. Front Immunol. (2014) 5:462. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2014.00462
- Weidinger C, Hegazy AN, Siegmund B. The role of adipose tissue in IBD. Curr Opin Gastroenterol. (2018) 34:183–186. doi: 10.1097/MOG.00000000000445

Conflict of Interest Statement: BS served as consultant for Abbvie, Falk, Janssen, Hospira, MSD and Takeda and received speaker's fees from Abbvie, Falk, Ferring, Hospira, Janssen MSD, Takeda. BS received a research grant from Pfizer. All money went to the Charité.

The remaining authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2018 Weidinger, Ziegler, Letizia, Schmidt and Siegmund. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





The Tumor Necrosis Factor Superfamily Members TNFSF14 (LIGHT), Lymphotoxin β and Lymphotoxin β Receptor Interact to Regulate Intestinal Inflammation

Daniel A. Giles¹, Sonja Zahner¹, Petra Krause¹, Esmé Van Der Gracht¹, Thomas Riffelmacher¹, Venetia Morris¹, Alexei Tumanov² and Mitchell Kronenberg^{1*}

¹ Division of Developmental Immunology, La Jolla Institute for Allergy and Immunology, La Jolla, CA, United States, ² Department of Microbiology, Immunology and Molecular Genetics, University of Texas Health Science Center San Antonio, San Antonio, TX, United States

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Fabio Cominelli, Case Western Reserve University, United States

Reviewed by:

Giorgos Bamias, National and Kapodistrian University of Athens, Greece Oberdan Leo, Free University of Brussels, Belgium

> *Correspondence: Mitchell Kronenberg mitch@lji.org

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Cytokines and Soluble Mediators in Immunity, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology

> Received: 31 August 2018 Accepted: 19 October 2018 Published: 22 November 2018

Citation:

Giles DA, Zahner S, Krause P, Van Der Gracht E, Riffelmacher T, Morris V, Tumanov A and Kronenberg M (2018) The Tumor Necrosis Factor Superfamily Members TNFSF14 (LIGHT), Lymphotoxin β and Lymphotoxin β Receptor Interact to Regulate Intestinal Inflammation. Front. Immunol. 9:2585. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2018.02585

Over 1.5 million individuals in the United States are afflicted with inflammatory bowel disease (IBD). While the progression of IBD is multifactorial, chronic, unresolved inflammation certainly plays a key role. Additionally, while multiple immune mediators have been shown to affect pathogenesis, a comprehensive understanding of disease progression is lacking. Previous work has demonstrated that a member of the TNF superfamily, TNFSF14 (LIGHT), which is pro-inflammatory in several contexts, surprisingly plays an important role in protection from inflammation in mouse models of colitis, with LIGHT deficient mice having more severe disease pathogenesis. However, LIGHT is a single member of a complex signaling network. It signals through multiple receptors, including herpes virus entry mediator (HVEM) and lymphotoxin beta receptor (LTβR); these two receptors in turn can bind to other ligands. It remains unknown which receptors and competing ligands can mediate or counteract the outcome of LIGHT-signaling during colitis. Here we demonstrate that LIGHT signaling through LTBR, rather than HVEM, plays a critical role in the progression of DSS-induced colitis, as LTBR deficient mice exhibit a more severe disease phenotype. Further, mice deficient in $LT\alpha\beta$ do not exhibit differential colitis progression compared to WT mice. However, deletion of both LIGHT and $LT\alpha\beta$, but not deletion of both $LT\alpha\beta$ and $LT\betaR$, resulted in a reversal of the adverse effects associated with the loss of LIGHT. In sum, the LIGHT/LT $\alpha\beta$ /LT β R signaling network contributes to DSS colitis, but there may be additional receptors or indirect effects, and therefore, the relationships between these receptors and ligands remains enigmatic.

Keywords: TNF superfamily, Colitis, Lymphotoxin (LT), Light, DSS (dextran sulfate sodium)

INTRODUCTION

Inflammatory bowel disease is an immune-mediated disease in which, among other components, the microbiome, genetics and immune system all contribute to disease (1). Multitudes of bacteria and other microbes reside in the intestine, and at steady state homeostasis is maintained by a controlled and balanced intestinal mucosal immune system (2).

82

This immune system includes various types of epithelial cells, myeloid cells and lymphocytes, along with a plethora of antimicrobial peptides and inflammatory and regulatory mediators that these cells actively produce (3). While the initial driving forces may vary, an imbalance in this immune response can lead to the development of IBD (4). Of interest, different mediators of the mucosal immune system can either protect from, or exacerbate disease (1). Thus, our understanding of the role of different mediators during IBD is evolving.

The tumor necrosis factor (TNF) superfamily of cytokines and receptors have a diverse, but not fully defined, function in mucosal immunity and IBD pathogenesis (5-7). In fact, antibodies blocking TNF are commonly used as therapeutic agents for IBD patients (8). Over expression of TNF superfamily member 14 (TNFSF14, or LIGHT [homologous to lymphotoxins, exhibits inducible expression, and competes with HSV glycoprotein D for HVEM, a receptor expressed by T cells]) in transgenic mice leads to colitis (9, 10). Also, LIGHT expression by T cells is increased in Crohn's disease patients (11), and LIGHT promotes inflammation in the skin and lung (12, 13). On the other hand, our previous work has shown that LIGHT, surprisingly, exhibits a protective effect in colitis induced by dextran sulfate sodium (DSS) and by transfer of naïve CD4⁺ T cells to immune deficient mice (5). This was most thoroughly studied in the DSS model, in which mice deficient in LIGHT had decreased colon length, increased pathology scores and increased immune cell infiltration to the colonic lamina propria in a chronic DSS model, in which at least two rounds of the chemical were administered. However, whether other members of LIGHT's signaling network affect the progression of DSS-induced colitis remains to be determined.

LIGHT can bind two receptors, the lymphotoxin beta receptor (LTBR or TNFRSF3) and the herpes virus entry mediator (HVEM or TNFRSF14) (14). Both receptors are members of the TNF receptor superfamily. Accordingly, stimulation of either receptor has been previously shown to drive an inflammatory response (14). However, in the context of DSS-induced colitis, these two receptors may have different effects. While LIGHT appears to be protective during DSS-induced colitis (5), HVEM deficient mice exhibit disease pathology similar to wild type (WT) mice (6). Conversely, antibody mediated blockade of LTBR results in worsened colitis (5). The results from these experiments suggest that LTBR is the critical receptor in maintaining the protective effect of LIGHT during DSS-induced colitis. Interestingly, in addition to LIGHT, LTBR can also be activated by surface lymphotoxin (LT $\alpha\beta$), a heterotrimer comprised of two TNF superfamily members, a single unit of TNFSF1 (LT α) and two units TNFSF3 (LTβ) (15). Signaling of LTβR by LTαβ is required for the formation of lymph nodes (16). Additionally, activation of LT β R by LT $\alpha\beta$ has also been shown to play a role in a variety of inflammatory disorders (17), but whether $LT\alpha\beta$ signaling through $LT\beta R$ plays a role in intestinal inflammation remains undefined.

Here, we report the generation and analysis of a variety of double-mutant mice to delineate the complex interplay of LIGHT/LT $\alpha\beta$ with LT β R/HVEM signaling during DSS-induced colitis. We demonstrate that LIGHT signaling through

LT β R is indispensable for protection from exacerbated DSSinduced colitis. Additionally, HVEM activation does not seem to contribute to DSS-induced colitis, even in the absence of LT β R. While LT $\alpha\beta$ signaling by itself is not critical for altering the severity of colitis, LT $\alpha\beta$ deletion rescued the pathogenic effect of LIGHT deletion, but not of LT β R deletion. This shows that the role of specific ligands becomes difficult to predict when multiple members of the TNF superfamily are depleted, and suggests the possibility that LT $\alpha\beta$ has effects that extend beyond its interaction with LT β R, or alternatively, that LT β R integrates additional signals to affect the outcome in DSS-colitis.

RESULTS

Lymphotoxin Beta Receptor Activation Prevents Exacerbated Colitis

Previous results demonstrated that LIGHT signaling protects from DSS-induced colitis (5). In the absence of LIGHT, the innate immune response was augmented, especially in the chronic DSS model, with increased IL-6, IL-1 β , and oncostatin M (5). Further, one of LIGHT's receptors, HVEM, was not found to contribute to colitis, when mice deficient for HVEM expression were tested. Additionally, an antibody that blocks LIGHT-LTBR but not LTaB-LTBR binding led to more severe DSSinduced colitis, strongly implicating a role for the LT β R (6). However, the antibody epitope and how it selectively blocked one TNFSF ligand and not the other remains undefined, and it is possible that the antibody has mixed agonist-antagonist properties. Therefore, to more definitively address whether LTBR contributes to LIGHT mediated protection from DSSinduced colitis, we administered DSS in drinking water to LTBR deficient mice and controls. Of note, gene knockout mice were created by crossing Ltbrfl/fl mice to CMV-cre for ubiquitous depletion of LTBR (18, 19). DSS administration resulted in increased weight loss in Ltbrfl/fl-CMV-cre mice, compared to controls, indicative of increased disease (Figure 1A) (20). Additionally, *Ltbr^{fl/fl}*-CMV-cre mice displayed a decreased colon length (Figure 1B), typically indicative of fibrosis and a more severe colitis phenotype (20). Indeed, histological analysis of both the colon and cecum of *Ltbr^{fl/fl}*-CMV-cre mice revealed an increased histological score (Figures 1C-E) (5), indicating that DSS-induced colitis is more severe in these mice. Similar to mice deficient for LIGHT protein, mice lacking LTBR had increased inflammatory cell infiltrates, epithelial disruption and evidence for intestinal edema. Additionally, these mice had increased mRNA encoding IL-1β, similar to mice lacking LIGHT (data not shown). Together, these results demonstrate that $LT\beta R$ activation is necessary for protection from exacerbated DSSinduced colitis, with a phenotype similar to the absence of LIGHT.

Lymphotoxin Signaling Does Not Contribute to Colitis Progression

In addition to activation via LIGHT, LT β R can also be activated by a second ligand, LT $\alpha\beta$ (15). While LIGHT can be both soluble and a cell surface protein, LT $\alpha\beta$ is exclusively a cell-surface



drinking water. (A) Weight loss was monitored daily. (B) Following termination of experiment, colon lengths were measured. (C) Representative H&E staining of cec and distal colon cross-section (scale bar = $200 \,\mu$ M). (D) Magnified section of cecum and distal colon cross-section from C (scale bar = $100 \,\mu$ M). (E) Histologic scoring of ceca and distal colons. Data are representative of one of three individual experiments. Data represent mean \pm S.E.M. Student's *t*-test, *p < 0.05, **p < 0.01.

heterotrimer comprised of one LT α unit two LT β units. Notably, LT β is required for LT α to bind LT β R, so in LT β deficient mice the only available signaling through LT β R is via LIGHT (15). Thus, to determine whether LT $\alpha\beta$ contributes to LT β R protective effects in in DSS-induced colitis, LT β deficient mice were treated with DSS. Unlike LT β R deficient and LIGHT deficient mice, $Ltb^{-/-}$ mice exhibited weight loss and colon lengths similar to WT controls after DSS treatment (**Figures 2A,B**). Further, histological analysis revealed that $Ltb^{-/-}$ mice also exhibited a phenotype similar to WT controls (**Figures 2C–E**). These data demonstrate that LT $\alpha\beta$ signaling through LT β R does not contribute to preventing severe DSS-induced colitis, consistent with the hypothesis that LIGHT-LT β R binding is essential.

Mice Deficient in Both Light and LTβ Are Protected From Exacerbated Colitis

Given that LIGHT protects from exacerbated DSS-induced colitis and that LT $\alpha\beta$ does not contribute to enhanced colitis progression, we hypothesized that mice deficient for both LIGHT and LT β would develop augmented colitis. To test whether the absence of both TNFSF cytokines would affect colitis progression, DSS was administered to $Light^{-/-}Ltb^{-/-}$ mice and WT controls. After 12 days, the effects of DSS administration were evaluated. Unlike $Light^{-/-}$ mice, which displayed a more rapid weight loss, $Light^{-/-}Ltb^{-/-}$ mice exhibited little weight loss and had colon lengths similar to controls (Figures 3A,B). Further, $Light^{-/-}Ltb^{-/-}$ colons and cecal tissue appeared similar to those of DSS-treated WT controls, while the colon



the drinking water. (A) Weight loss was monitored daily. (B) Following termination of experiment, colon lengths were measured. (C) Representative H&E staining of cecum and distal colon cross-section (scale bar = $200 \,\mu$ M). (D) Magnified section of cecum and distal colon cross-section from C (scale bar = $100 \,\mu$ M). (E) Histologic scoring of ceca and distal colons. Data are representative of one of three individual experiments. Data represent mean \pm S.E.M. Student's *t*-test.

and cecum Light^{-/-} mice displayed increased inflammation, quantified by an increased histological score (**Figures 3C-E**). These results indicate that deficiency of LIGHT is not sufficient to exacerbate DSS-induced colitis when LT β R signaling by LT $\alpha\beta$ is also impaired. Additionally, these observations confound our understanding of this signaling network in DSS and suggest that other mechanisms may be contributing. One possible explanation is that in the absence of LIGHT signaling, LT $\alpha\beta$ binds to LT β R and drives increased inflammation.

Mice Deficient in Both $LT\beta$ and $LT\beta R$ Exhibit Exacerbated Colitis

To directly test the hypothesis that LTβ-LTβR signals drive severe colitis, we crossed two strains to generate double knock out (DKO) mice deficient for LTαβ and LTβR and determined if these mice exhibited augmented DSS-induced colitis progression. In these DKO mice, LIGHT-HVEM interactions occur independently of a possible HVEM competition with LTβR for binding to this ligand. Administration of DSS to $Ltb^{-/-}Ltbr^{-/-}$ mice resulted increased weight loss compared to

WT controls (**Figure 4A**). This increased weight loss correlated with decreased colon length in $Ltb^{-/-}Ltbr^{-/-}$ mice (**Figure 4B**). Further, histological analysis of the colon and cecum revealed that $Ltb^{-/-}Ltbr^{-/-}$ mice exhibited an increased histology score, indicative of increased inflammation in the tissue (**Figures 4C-E**). The exacerbation of colitis in the combined absence of LT $\alpha\beta$ and LT β R disproves the hypothesis that in the absence of LIGHT increased binding of LT β to LT β R drives disease.

Mice Deficient in HVEM and LTβR Exhibit Exacerbated Colitis

It is possible that LT β R and HVEM compete for LIGHT and that in the absence of LT β R, LIGHT binding to HVEM drives inflammation. In this proposed mechanism, LT β R acts in part as a sink for LIGHT protein, preventing it from binding HVEM to the fullest extent. To test this mechanism, we analyzed DSS colitis in *Ltbr^{-/-}Hvem^{-/-}* DKO mice. Notably, if HVEM signals drive severe inflammation in the absence of LT β R, mice deficient in both receptors should be protected from





exacerbated DSS-induced colitis. However, after administration of DSS, $Ltbr^{-/-}Hvem^{-/-}$ mice exhibited increased weight loss after DSS treatment, similar to $Ltbr^{-/-}Hvem^{het(+/-)}$ mice (Figure 5A). $Ltbr^{het}Hvem^{-/-}$ mice displayed weight loss similar to $Ltbr^{het}Hvem^{het}$ mice. In addition to increased weight loss compared to $LT\beta R^{het}HVEM^{het}$ mice, subsequent studies found that $Ltbr^{-/-}Hvem^{-/-}$ mice also exhibited increased weight loss compared to WT mice (Figure 5B). Additionally, this increased weight loss correlated with shorter colon lengths (Figure 5C). In sum, these data suggest that LIGHT does not signal through HVEM to drive severe inflammation in the absence of LT βR .

DISCUSSION

Inflammatory bowel disease affects over 1.5 million Americans, and effective treatment options for this debilitating autoimmune disorder are lacking (21). While anti-TNF therapies have proved efficacious in certain patient populations, more therapeutic approaches are clearly needed (22). Given that other members of the TNF superfamily have been shown to play a role in a mouse model of colitis, we aimed to interrogate the LIGHT/LT $\alpha\beta$ /LT β R/HVEM signaling network to determine if one or more of the involved components displays an important role in DSS-induced colitis pathogenesis. Analysis of this



Student's t-test, *p < 0.05, **p < 0.001.

signaling cascade revealed a complex interaction between ligands and receptors that is influenced by which members are present.

Our previous work demonstrated that deficiency of LIGHT leads to exacerbated DSS-driven colitis (5). This suggested that LIGHT plays a protective role, directly or indirectly, in the context of colitis pathogenesis. Herein, we demonstrate that the likely LIGHT binding receptor for this phenomenon is $LT\beta R$. Similar to LIGHT deficient mice, genetic ablation of $LT\beta R$ resulted in exacerbated colitis with a similar overall phenotype, consistent with previous reports (23, 24). Conversely, removal of the other LIGHT receptor, HVEM, had no effect on DSS-induced colitis, even in the absence of LTBR (Figure 5). It remains to be determined which cells in the colon are critical for LIGHT and LTBR expression. Determining the critical LIGHT expressing cell type in disease models has proven difficult given that antibodies reactive for mouse LIGHT are of insufficient quality. On the other hand, it is well known that epithelial, stromal and myeloid cells express LT β R, but lymphocytes do not (5, 18, 25). We found that $LT\beta R$ mRNA is expressed by fibroblasts, neutrophils and other CD11b⁺ cells at steady-state and during DSS-induced colitis (5). Examining cell type specific LT β R knockouts in the context of disease could aid in identifying which cell type(s) is most important and help to improve our understanding of the mechanisms underlying severe disease. Thus, although the full mechanism remains elusive, our data strongly suggest that signaling of LT β R via LIGHT is necessary for protection from exacerbated DSS-induced colitis.

On the other hand, $Ltb^{-/-}$ and $Light^{-/-}Ltb^{-/-}$ mice are protected from exacerbated colitis pathogenesis. The fact that $Ltb^{-/-}$ mice do not display differential colitis pathogenesis led to our initial belief that LT $\alpha\beta$ does not contribute to DSS-induced colitis. However, if this were the case then $Light^{-/-}Ltb^{-/-}$ mice should show a similar phenotype to $Light^{-/-}$ mice, which is not the case. This could indicate that in the absence of LIGHT, LT $\alpha\beta$ drives inflammation through LT β R. However, as demonstrated in **Figure 4**, $Ltb^{-/-}Ltbr^{-/-}$ mice exhibited exacerbated colitis, which opposes this hypothesis.

The fundamental conundrum is that mice deficient for $LT\beta R$ expression have a different phenotype in DSS colitis from mice deficient for both of its known ligands, LIGHT and LT β . This



cannot be explained by a compensating effect of increased signaling by LIGHT-HVEM when $LT\beta R$ is missing (Figure 5). We cannot rule out the possibility of an indirect effect, such that when Ltb is deleted there is increased LTa3 expression. This cytokine can signal through both TNFR1 and TNFR2, and the increased signaling could be protective. It is uncertain, however, why increased LTa3 would be protective in the context of LIGHT deficiency but not LTBR deficiency. It is also possible that there is another player in this signaling network, either an additional receptor for LTB or another ligand for LTBR. Recent findings have indicated that some TNFSF receptors have multiple ligands, including HVEM and 4-1BB (26), including binding partners for these receptors that are not TNFSF proteins. In this regard, it is of interest that LTBR deficiency has a greater effect on lymph node genesis than either $LT\beta$ deficiency or LIGHT deficiency, suggesting LTBR might integrate other signals. We note that the absence of LIGHT has little or no effect on lymph node genesis, in the absence of $LT\beta$ caudal and mesenteric lymph nodes are still present, while all lymph nodes require LT β R (14). Additionally, we cannot rule out a technical issue in comparing different gene deficient strains, such as an effect of a gene deletion on a nearby gene or the presence of a few non-C57BL/6 genes remaining in one of the strains not created on the C57BL/6 background, despite extensive back crossing. In sum, the LIGHT/LTBR signaling critically contributes to DSSinduced colitis, but is subject to a degree of opposing regulation in the absence of $LT\alpha\beta$. Further work is needed to fully delineate this signaling network and how it affects intestinal disease in a cell-type specific manner.

METHODS

Animals

All mice were bred and housed under specific pathogenfree conditions at the La Jolla Institute for Allergy and Immunology (La Jolla, CA). All mice were on the C57BL/6J background. C57BL/6J were originally purchased from the Jackson Laboratory. HVEM mice were bred and described previously (27). $Ltbr^{-/-}$ mice were generated by crossing mice with a CMV-cre construct (Jackson Laboratories; Bar Harbor, ME) to $Ltrb^{fl/fl}$ mice, that were previously described (18). LIGHT deficient mice ($Tnfsf14^{-/-}$) and $Ltb^{-/-}$ mice were provided by Dr. Klaus Pfeffer (University of Düsseldorf, Germany) (28). Double mutants were created by inter-crossing of the above strains. All procedures were approved by the La Jolla Institute for Allergy and Immunology Animal Care and Use Committee.

Chronic Dextran Sulfate Sodium-Induced Colitis

Mice received 2.5% DSS (Affymetrix) in the drinking water for a maximum of two cycles. As previously described, 1 cycle is comprised of 5 days of water plus DSS and 2 days with regular drinking water without DSS (29). Given that both male and female mice develop robust colitis after DSS administration (30), both sexes were used for separate experiments but never mixed, as noted in the figure legends. Body weight and appearance were monitored daily. Mice were euthanized in compliance with our animal protocols within 24 h of losing more than 20% of their starting body weight.

Histology

Upon termination of an experiment, cecum and colon were isolated. Following measurement of colon length, a piece of distal colon and cecum were fixed in zinc formalin (Medical Chemical Corporation). Following paraffin embedding, fixed tissue was stained with hematoxylin and eosin. Resulting slides were then blinded and scored according to previously described criteria (5). Representative images were selected from 5 or more sections per organ, generated on an Axioscan Z1 platform (Zeiss) with a 40x objective in automatic scan mode and Zeiss Zen 2.3 software. Scale bars represent 200 μ m for cross-sections and 100 μ m for magnified images.

REFERENCES

- Abraham C, Cho JH. Inflammatory bowel disease. N Engl J Med. (2009) 361:2066–78. doi: 10.1056/NEJMra0804647
- 2. Quigley EM. Gut bacteria in health and disease. *Gastroenterol Hepatol.* (2013) 9:560–9.
- Round JL, Mazmanian SK. The gut microbiota shapes intestinal immune responses during health and disease. *Nat Rev Immunol.* (2009) 9:313–23. doi: 10.1038/nri2515
- Kostic AD, Xavier RJ, Gevers D. The microbiome in inflammatory bowel disease: current status and the future ahead. *Gastroenterology* (2014) 146:1489–99. doi: 10.1053/j.gastro.2014.02.009
- Krause P, Zahner SP, Kim G, Shaikh RB, Steinberg MW, Kronenberg M. The tumor necrosis factor family member TNFSF14 (LIGHT) is required for resolution of intestinal inflammation in mice. *Gastroenterology* (2014) 146:1752–62 e1754. doi: 10.1053/j.gastro.2014.02.010
- Steinberg MW, Turovskaya O, Shaikh RB, Kim G, McCole DF, Pfeffer K, et al. A crucial role for HVEM and BTLA in preventing intestinal inflammation. J Exp Med. (2008) 205:1463–76. doi: 10.1084/jem.20071160
- Bamias G, Martin C, Marini M, Hoang S, Mishina M, Ross WG, et al. Expression, localization, and functional activity of TL1A, a novel Th1polarizing cytokine in inflammatory bowel disease. *J Immunol.* (2003) 171:4868–74. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.171.9.4868
- 8. Neurath M. Current and emerging therapeutic targets for IBD. *Nat Rev Gastroenterol Hepatol.* (2017) 14:688. doi: 10.1038/nrgastro.2017.138
- Wang J, Lo JC, Foster A, Yu P, Chen HM, Wang Y, et al. The regulation of T cell homeostasis and autoimmunity by T cell-derived LIGHT. J Clin Invest. (2001) 108:1771–80. doi: 10.1172/JCI13827
- Shaikh RB, Santee S, Granger SW, Butrovich K, Cheung T, Kronenberg M, et al. Constitutive expression of LIGHT on T cells leads to lymphocyte activation, inflammation, and tissue destruction. *J Immunol.* (2001) 167:6330– 37. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.167.11.6330
- Shih DQ, Targan SR. Immunopathogenesis of inflammatory bowel disease. World J Gastroenterol. (2008) 14:390–400. doi: 10.3748/wjg.14.390
- Herro R, Da Silva Antunes R, Aguilera AR, Tamada K, Croft M. Tumor necrosis factor superfamily 14 (LIGHT) controls thymic stromal lymphopoietin to drive pulmonary fibrosis. J Allergy Clin Immunol. (2015) 136:757–68. doi: 10.1016/j.jaci.2014. 12.1936
- 13. Herro R, Antunes RDS, Aguilera AR, Tamada K, Croft M. The tumor necrosis factor superfamily molecule LIGHT promotes keratinocyte activity

Statistical Methods

All data were analyzed using GraphPad Prism 7 software. Statistical significance was determined by unpaired Student's *t*test for direct comparisons when there were two groups. For determination of statistical significance for three or more groups, one-way ANOVA was employed with Tukey's *post hoc* test to assess differences between specific groups. All data are displayed as mean with standard error of the mean (S.E.M.).

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

MK and AT contributed to the design of the study. DG, SZ, PK, EV, TR, and VM performed the experiments. DG, SZ, PK, and MK analyzed the data. DG and MK drafted the manuscript.

FUNDING

This work was supported by National Institutes of Health grant P01 DK46763 to MK. DG is a research fellow supported by F32 AI140581.

and skin fibrosis. J Invest Dermatol. (2015) 135:2109-18. doi: 10.1038/jid. 2015.110

- Steinberg MW, Shui JW, Ware CF, Kronenberg M. Regulating the mucosal immune system: the contrasting roles of LIGHT, HVEM, and their various partners. *Semin Immunopathol.* (2009) 31:207–21. doi: 10.1007/s00281-009-0157-4
- Schneider K, Potter KG, Ware CF. Lymphotoxin and LIGHT signaling pathways and target genes. *Immunol Rev.* (2004) 202:49–66. doi: 10.1111/j.0105-2896.2004.00206.x
- Futterer A, Mink K, Luz A, Kosco-Vilbois MH, Pfeffer K. The lymphotoxin beta receptor controls organogenesis and affinity maturation in peripheral lymphoid tissues. *Immunity* (1998) 9:59–70.
- Wolf MJ, Seleznik GM, Zeller N, Heikenwalder M. The unexpected role of lymphotoxin beta receptor signaling in carcinogenesis: from lymphoid tissue formation to liver and prostate cancer development. *Oncogene* (2010) 29:5006–18. doi: 10.1038/onc.2010.260
- Wang Y, Koroleva EP, Kruglov AA, Kuprash DV, Nedospasov SA, Fu YX et al. Lymphotoxin beta receptor signaling in intestinal epithelial cells orchestrates innate immune responses against mucosal bacterial infection. *Immunity* (2010) 32:403–13. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2010. 02.011
- Schwenk F, Baron U, Rajewsky K. A cre-transgenic mouse strain for the ubiquitous deletion of loxP-flanked gene segments including deletion in germ cells. *Nucleic Acids Res.* (1995) 23:5080–1.
- Axelsson LG, Landstrom E, Bylund-Fellenius AC. Experimental colitis induced by dextran sulphate sodium in mice: beneficial effects of sulphasalazine and olsalazine. *Aliment Pharmacol Ther.* (1998) 12:925–34.
- Akhuemonkhan E, Parian A, Miller K, Hanauer S, Hutfless S. Prevalence and screening for anaemia in mild to moderate Crohn's disease and ulcerative colitis in the United States, 2010-2014. *BMJ Open Gastroenterol.* (2017) 4:e000155. doi: 10.1136/bmjgast-2017-000155
- Roda G, Jharap B, Neeraj N, Colombel JF. Loss of Response to Anti-TNFs: Definition, Epidemiology, and Management. *Clin Transl Gastroenterol.* (2016) 7:e135. doi: 10.1038/ctg.2015.63
- 23. Macho-Fernandez E, Koroleva EP, Spencer CM, Tighe M, Torrado E, Cooper AM, et al. Lymphotoxin beta receptor signaling limits mucosal damage through driving IL-23 production by epithelial cells. *Mucosal Immunol* (2015) 8:403–13. doi: 10.1038/mi.2014.78
- 24. Jungbeck M, Stopfer P, Bataille F, Nedospasov SA, Männel DN, Hehlgans T. Blocking lymphotoxin beta receptor signalling exacerbates

acute DSS-induced intestinal inflammation-opposite functions for surface lymphotoxin expressed by T and B lymphocytes. *Mol Immunol.* (2008) 45:34–41. doi: 10.1016/j.molimm.2007. 05.007

- Murphy M, Walter BN, Pike-Nobile L, Fanger NA, Guyre PM, Browning JL, et al. Expression of the lymphotoxin beta receptor on follicular stromal cells in human lymphoid tissues. *Cell Death Differ*. (1998) 5:497–505. doi: 10.1038/sj.cdd.4400374
- Madireddi S, Eun SY, Lee SW, Nemčovičová I, Mehta AK, Zajonc DM, et al. Galectin-9 controls the therapeutic activity of 4-1BB-targeting antibodies. J Exp Med. (2014) 211:1433–48. doi: 10.1084/jem.20132687
- Shui JW, Larange A, Kim G, Vela JL, Zahner S, Cheroutre H, et al. HVEM signalling at mucosal barriers provides host defence against pathogenic bacteria. *Nature* (2012) 488:222–5. doi: 10.1038/nature11242
- Scheu S, Alferink J, Pötzel T, Barchet W, Kalinke U, Pfeffer K. Targeted disruption of LIGHT causes defects in costimulatory T cell activation and reveals cooperation with lymphotoxin beta in mesenteric lymph node genesis. J Exp Med. (2002) 195:1613–24. doi: 10.1084/jem. 20020215

- Takedatsu H, Michelsen KS, Wei B, Landers CJ, Thomas LS, Dhall D et al. TL1A (TNFSF15) regulates the development of chronic colitis by modulating both T-helper 1 and T-helper 17 activation. *Gastroenterology* (2008) 135:552– 67. doi: 10.1053/j.gastro.2008.04.037
- Chassaing B, Aitken JD, Malleshappa M, Vijay-Kumar M. Dextran sulfate sodium (DSS)-induced colitis in mice. *Curr Protoc Immunol.* (2014) 104:Unit 1525. doi: 10.1002/0471142735.im1525s104

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2018 Giles, Zahner, Krause, Van Der Gracht, Riffelmacher, Morris, Tumanov and Kronenberg. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Divergent Innate and Epithelial Functions of the RNA-Binding Protein HuR in Intestinal Inflammation

Eleni Christodoulou-Vafeiadou^{1†}, Fotis Ioakeimidis^{1†}, Margarita Andreadou¹, Giorgos Giagkas¹, George Stamatakis¹, Martin Reczko¹, Martina Samiotaki¹, Anastasios D. Papanastasiou¹, Ioannis Karakasiliotis^{1‡} and Dimitris L. Kontoyiannis^{1,2*}

¹ Division of Immunology, Biomedical Sciences Research Center Alexander Fleming, Vari, Greece, ² Department of Genetics, Development and Molecular Biology, School of Biology, Aristotle University of Thessaloniki, Thessaloniki, Greece

HuR is an abundant RNA-binding protein acting as a post-transcriptional regulator of many RNAs including mRNAs encoding inflammatory mediators, cytokines, death signalers and cell cycle regulators. In the context of intestinal pathologies, elevated HuR is considered to enhance the stability and the translation of pro-tumorigenic mRNAs providing the rationale for its pharmacological targeting. However, HuR also possesses specific regulatory functions for innate immunity and cytokine mRNA control which can oppose intestinal inflammation and tumor promotion. Here, we aim to identify contexts of intestinal inflammation where the innate immune and the epithelial functions of HuR converge or diverge. To address this, we use a disease-oriented phenotypic approach using mice lacking HuR either in intestinal epithelia or myeloid-derived immune compartments. These mice were compared for their responses to (a) Chemically induced Colitis; (b) Colitis- associated Cancer (CAC); (c) T-cell mediated enterotoxicity; (d) Citrobacter rodentium-induced colitis; and (e) TNF-driven inflammatory bowel disease. Convergent functions of epithelial and myeloid HuR included their requirement for suppressing inflammation in chemically induced colitis and their redundancies in chronic TNF-driven IBD and microbiota control. In the other contexts however, their functions diversified. Epithelial HuR was required to protect the epithelial barrier from acute inflammatory or infectious degeneration but also to promote tumor growth. In contrast, myeloid HuR was required to suppress the beneficial inflammation for pathogen clearance and tumor suppression. This cellular dichotomy in HuR's functions was validated further in mice engineered to express ubiguitously higher levels of HuR which displayed diminished pathologic and beneficial inflammatory responses, resistance to epithelial damage yet a heightened susceptibility to CAC. Our study demonstrates that epithelial and myeloid HuR affect different cellular dynamics in the intestine that need to be carefully considered for its pharmacological exploitation and points toward potential windows for harnessing HuR functions in intestinal inflammation.

Keywords: cytokine regulation, intestinal inflammation and cancer, post-transcriptional regulation, inflammatory bowel disease, animal models of human disease

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Fabio Cominelli, Case Western Reserve University, United States

Reviewed by:

Aldo Tagliabue, Istituto di Ricerca Genetica e Biomedica (IRGB), Italy Maria Rosaria Coscia, Istituto di Biochimica delle Proteine (IBP), Italy

*Correspondence:

Dimitris L. Kontoyiannis kontoyiannis@fleming.gr

[†]These authors have contributed equally to this work

[‡]Present Address:

Ioannis Karakasiliotis, Laboratory of Medical Biology, Department of Medicine, Democritus University of Thrace, Alexandroupolis, Greece

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Cytokines and Soluble Mediators in Immunity, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology

Received: 03 September 2018 Accepted: 06 November 2018 Published: 23 November 2018

Citation:

Christodoulou-Vafeiadou E, loakeimidis F, Andreadou M, Giagkas G, Stamatakis G, Reczko M, Samiotaki M, Papanastasiou AD, Karakasiliotis I and Kontoyiannis DL (2018) Divergent Innate and Epithelial Functions of the RNA-Binding Protein HuR in Intestinal Inflammation. Front. Immunol. 9:2732. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2018.02732

91

INTRODUCTION

The effective post-transcriptional control of mRNAs involved in mucosal responses and immunity by specific RNA-binding proteins is emerging as important for the homeostasis of intestinal epithelial barrier (1). In the context of intestinal inflammation, cytokine and other inflammatory mRNAs are actively controlled by degradation or translation regulation within the immune repertoires that act to safeguard the intestinal epithelium and to provide tolerance to commensal microbiota (2, 3). Similarly, the ever-changing life-cycle of resident intestinal epithelial cells and their response to commensal and threatening signals may be affected by selective posttranscriptional programs altering the fate of mRNAs involved in differentiation, proliferation and death (1). The lack of prudent post-transcriptional controls in either mucosal immune cells or constituent epithelia can alter their cross-talk to provide the impetus for uncontrollable inflammation, intestinal degeneration and cancer.

A prototypical system of post-transcriptional control that is seemingly active in immune and epithelial layers of the intestine concerns mRNAs containing U-and AU-rich elements in their untranslated termini. As exemplified by the paradigm of the ARE-containing TNF mRNA (2-5), such mRNAs encode for a variety of factors relevant to the responses of the intestinal mucosa and are targeted by a class of RNA binding proteins (RBPs) such as the decay promoting family of Zfp36 proteins and hnRNPD/AUF1; translational inhibitors like TIA1 and TIAR; several associated factors and non-coding RNAs; and the pleiotropic factor Elavl1/HuR. Although most of these AREassociated factors have gained attention as post-transcriptional modifiers in immunopathology (2), Elavl1/HuR is a well-studied example of clinical relevance to intestinal diseases. HuR is a ubiquitous and conserved RBP that binds to U- and AU- rich RNA motifs and shuttles between nucleus and cytoplasm via signal-induced interactions (6, 7) with nuclear export/import adaptors. In the nucleus, HuR may act to modify the maturation and/or processing of coding and non-coding RNAs (8). In the cytoplasm, HuR may promote the synthesis of inflammatory mediators and tumor-associated proteins by stabilizing the corresponding mRNAs thus acting as a pro-inflammatory and pro-tumorigenic factor (9). However, it may also alter AREmediated mRNA translation and turnover differentially, through synergies and antagonisms with other RBPs, miRNAs and long non-coding RNAs (10-12). HuR binds to an extensive list of RNAs (13, 14), and as such may appear as non-discriminatory in terms of pathologic and homeostatic functions. However, the expanding list of tissue restricted mouse mutations (15-24) reveal that HuR can have-sometimes unpredictable-tissue and signal restricted functions.

With respect to intestinal epithelia, a pathologic role for HuR is supported by the clinical connection of its -total or cytoplasmic—elevation to intestinal cancers. These elevations correlated: (a) positively to the degree of transformation, malignancy and tumor angiogenesis; and (b) negatively to the overall survival of patients with rectal and colonic tumor (25-32). A multitude of cellular studies connected HuR to the

stabilization of mRNAs promoting cancer traits like tumor cell proliferation, survival, tumor angiogenesis, and metastasis (33, 34). Most experimental data stem from such cellular studies or from the xenotransplantation of tumor epithelia, and point toward the regulation of cell cycle and proliferation as the major function regulated by HuR in intestinal epithelia (29). A set of genetic studies supported this notion; when HuR was deleted inducibly post-birth in intestinal epithelia, its loss hampered epithelial regeneration under several conditions whereas models of colitis associated cancer (CAC) and APC driven cancers showed signs of remission (16). A pathologic profile of elevated total HuR has been detected in histological samples from active IBD-namely Crohn's disease and Ulcerative Colitis. Collectively, these observations rendered HuR as target of clinical relevance in intestinal disease and colon cancer; and culminated the search for specific pharmacological modulators inhibiting HuR's translocation or binding (35).

However, disparate data did point toward a differential role for HuR in both the intestinal epithelium and mucosal immunity. When HuR is deleted acutely post-birth, its loss leads either to barrier degeneration and progenitor loss (if deletion is systemic) or villus shortening (if deletion is IEC-restricted) connecting to developmental changes in cell survival and death (15, 16). However, when deleted earlier and continuously in IECs, its loss induces a partial shortening of jejunum villi but does not affect intestinal ontogeny and barrier function (18); however and depending on the challenge, the latter group of mice reveal problems either in regeneration or cadherin-mediated junctions (18, 36). These studies provide support for HuR functions in IEC ontogeny, survival, and barrier integrity. In the context of IBD, and although HuR appears elevated in inflamed epithelia, its expression in transitory dysplastic epithelia connecting IBD to CAC seems to reduce to normal levels (37). With regard to its function in inflammatory cells, HuR's sole function as an RNA activator has been revisited, primarily because genetic studies on innate immune effector cells did not fully support this notion. In mice rendered deficient for HuR in myeloid cells and the immune derivatives, inflammation was not suppressed but rather enhanced to a pathologic extent (20, 38). With respect to mucosal responses, these mice displayed an exacerbated response to the model of chemical colitis and -most profoundly- to CAC (20). The opposite experiment was even more revealing with elevated macrophage HuR suppressing pro-inflammatory reactions including chemical colitis and CAC (17, 20).

The consideration of HuR inhibition as a therapeutic strategy against intestinal inflammation and cancer was most profoundly challenged during the pre-clinical testing of one of its pharmacological inhibitors (37). In models of familial CRC, HuR inhibition appeared effective in suppressing tumor growth and progression. In the context of inflammatory CAC, HuR inhibition not only failed but also exacerbated tumor progression.

As such the current data as to whether HuR plays a pathologic or protective role in intestinal inflammation appear ambiguous possibly due to divergent cell type specific effects. Here we focus on two prototypical subsets located in the intestinal mucosa, involved in inflammatory disease—myeloid-derived immune cells vs. intestinal epithelia- and dissect the

functions of HuR in several models of pathologic and beneficial inflammation. Our data reveal that the cell-restricted functions of HuR drive divergent, non-overlapping and context-dependent inflammatory responses in the intestinal mucosa, altering the clinical outcome of intestinal disease that need to be considered for clinical intervention.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Mice and Study Approvals

Elavl1^{fl/fl}, VillinCre⁺, LysozymeCre⁺, LysozymeCre⁺HuR^{fl/fl}, and $Tnf^{\Delta ARE/+}$ mice have been previously described (4, 17, 20, 39). To generate *VillinCre*⁺*Elavl1*^{fl/fl} mice, *Elavl1*^{fl/fl} mice were crossed with VillinCre⁺. For TgATFHuR⁺ mice the complete cDNA sequence for human HuR was obtained from the IMAGE clone number 2901220 (GenBank accession number BC003376) and was subcloned in-frame to an AviTEVFLAG (ATF) sequence for the expression of an N-terminally tagged form. Fusion was verified by sequencing. Subsequently, the ATF-HuR cDNA was used for the generation of the transgenic construct. The device was removed from the carrier vector via the digestion of flanking PmeI sites. For the production of transgenic mice, fertilized C57Bl/6J zygotes were coinjected with the transgenic device procedures employed by the INFRAFRONTIER-GR/Trangenesis Unit of BSRC "Al. Fleming" (http://www.infrafrontier.gr/). To identify and maintain transgenic founder mice, tail DNA was used for Southern blot hybridizations and PCR with specific probes and primers to detect the transgene. Five founder lines were identified; line Tg6105 is the one employed in this study. All mouse lines were maintained in a C57BL/6J background and in the animal facilities of the BSRC "Alexander Fleming" under specific-pathogen free conditions. All experiments were performed with mice aged between 8 and 16 weeks, with a minimum of 3 mice per genotype and a maximum of 30, according to the experiment, as indicated in the figure legends. Littermates were used as controls. Animal experiments were approved by the Prefecture of Attica (licenses #5995/2012, 4371-4376/2014, #6198/2017, #3547/2018, #2824/2018) in accordance to national legislation and the European Union Directive 63/2010.

DSS Colitis and CAC

Mice 6–8 week old were fed *ad libitum* for up to 2 cycles with water containing 1.5–2% (wt/vol) DSS (MW 40,000 kDa; MP Biomedicals Inc.) for 6 days, followed by intervals of 15 days on regular water. For induction of CAC, 6–8-week-old mice were injected i.p. with 20 mg/kg mouse DMH (SIGMA-Aldrich). After 5 days, 1.5–2% (wt/vol) DSS was provided in drinking water for 6 days, followed by 15 days of regular water. This cycle was repeated twice. During the course of the experiment of acute inflammation or tumorigenesis, mice were monitored daily for body weight, diarrhea, and rectal bleeding. Values were used for calculation of DAI (40, 41). Mice were sacrificed at indicated time points or at the end of the protocol (15 weeks) for the isolation of colonic tissue. Tumor sizes were measured using an electronic Vernier caliper.

Colon Explant Cultures

Colon explant cultures were performed as previously described (20). Briefly, whole colons were opened longitudinally, washed with PBS supplemented with 20 mg/ml gentamycin to remove residual intestinal bacteria and cut in 1.5-cm pieces into a 48-well plate containing 500 μ l RPMI-1640 per well. Tissues were incubated at 37°C, 5% CO₂ for 24 h, and supernatants were collected for cytokine/chemokine ELISA measurements.

Immunoblotting and ELISAs

For Western blots, lysates were analyzed on SDS-polyacrylamide gels (7–14%), along with protein molecular weight markers (SM0431; Nippon MWP03; Fermentas, Thermo Scientific) and blotted onto nitrocellulose membrane (GE Healthcare). After blocking with 5% milk or 4% BSA in TBS-Tween 20 buffer, membranes were incubated with primary and HRPconjugated secondary antibodies; signals were visualized by enhanced chemiluminescence (ECL; GE Healthcare) using films or a ChemiDocTMXRS+ System with Image LabTM software. Antibody used: HuR (Santa Cruz, sc-5261). Supernatants were analyzed via specific ELISAs (Peprotech; eBioscience) or Cytometric Bead Arrays (BD Biosciences).

Histology and Immunohistochemistry

Dissected intestines were mounted onto a solid surface and fixed in formalin 10% (pH = 6.9–7.1) O/N at 4° C before processing for paraffin embedding. At least 2 serial sections of 5 µm were stained with: hematoxylin and eosin (H&E) for general histology. Periodic Acid Schiff and Nuclear Fast Red stains were carried out using standard protocols. For Immunohistochemistry of paraffin embedded tissues sections were deparaffinized, hydrated, and treated with boiling Citrate buffer pH 6.0 under microwaves for 20 min. Sections were blocked in diluent (0.1% gelatin, 0.5% Triton-X, 0.05% Tween-20 in TBS) supplemented with 1%BSA, 3% FBS, and 3% H2O2 for 1 h. Primary (HuR 3A2, SantaCruz, sc-5261; Lysozyme, DAKO Cytomation, A0099; Ki67, Abcam, ab15580 (*TgATFHuR*⁺ characterization) or Thermo, MA5-14520 (C. rodentium experiment) and HRP-conjugated secondary antibodies (Southern Biotech) were incubated in diluent for 1-24 h. Visualization was performed with DAB (Vector) and counterstained with hematoxylin; Photomicrographs were acquired using a Nikon ECLIPSE E200 microscope equipped with a Nikon Digital Sight DS-5M digital camera.

T Cell Mediated Enteropathy

Mice received a single i.p. injection of $50 \ \mu$ g hamster anti-CD3 antibody (2C11; LEAF grade-Biolegend) in saline and were fasted 16 h before their sacrifice. Mice were sacrificed at different time points for histology and luminal exudate collection. For the latter, the whole intestine was removed, the small intestine was cut in two halves and its luminal exudate was collected with two flushes of 5 ml PBS, 5% FBS for each half. Fecal pellets were gently removed from the colon using forceps before collecting the luminal exudate in 5 ml of the same buffer. For the flow cytometric detection of cell death, cells were stained with PI or 7AAD (Sigma) and Annexin-V (eBioscience) and were analyzed with a FACSCanto II flow cytometer. Analysis of luminal cells was performed as in Piguet et al. (42).

Citrobacter Rodentium Infections

C. rodentium strain DBS100 (ATCC 51459) was cultured to exponential phase (1 $< OD_{600} < 1.4$) in Luria-Bertani Broth overnight at 37°C with shaking at 200 rpm. Culture was spun 10 min at 3,000 g at 4°C the pellet was washed twice in ice-cold PBS and cells were resuspended in ice-cold PBS. Eight to twelve weeks old mice received an oral gavage of 2×10^9 CFUs in 200 μl suspension in PBS after 8 h of fasting. To reduce mouse-to-mouse transmission, mice were caged single or in duplet. For CFU determination in feces, 20-60 mg of fecal matter was collected, weighed and homogenized in 1 ml PBS, serial dilutions were prepared in PBS in 96-well plates and single drops of 10 µl from each dilution were plated in duplicate on McConkey-agar plates before overnight incubation at 37°C. CFUs were counted from the same dilution for every sample and were normalized with respective fecal weight. C. rodentium colonies were identified as pink with a narrow white trim. Experiments with C. rodentium were carried out in the Biosafaty Level 2 facility of "Alexander Fleming."

Microbiome Analysis

Fecal samples were collected fresh, weighed, and homogenized in 1 ml PBS at room temperature before transfer to -80° C until use. Samples were thawed and centrifuged at 100 g for 3 min. The supernatant was mixed 1:1 with 2x lysis buffer (8% SDS, 0.2 M DTT, 0.2 M Tris-HCl pH 7.5) and subjected to heating at 95°C for 5 min and pulsed probed sonication 30 s × 2 with 45 s interval. The sample was finally cleared from insoluble material by centrifugation at 14,000 g for 20 min. The protein extract was subjected to trypsin digestion using the sp3 procedure (single pot protocol) (43). The resulting peptides mix were analyzed with LC-MS/MS using a 4 h gradient as described in Elkouris et al. (44). Methods for data processing is provided in **Supplementary Material**.

Histopathological Scoring of DSS Colitis and CAC, T-Cell Mediated Enteropathy, and *C. rodentium* Infection

The histological scoring system of DSS-induced colitis and CAC was described in Yiakouvaki et al. (20). For DSS-colitis it included severity and extent of inflammation (ranging from 0 to 3), crypt damage (from 0 to 4), and percentage of organ affected (from 0 to 4). For C. rodentium colitis, inflammation scoring system was as for DSS and crypt damage was scored in a scale of 0-4 (none, rare, occasional, frequent, extensive) for frequency of observed damaged crypts. For T-cell mediated enteropathy, the histological score was calculated as for DSS-colitis. For colonic crypt length measurements, using the 10x objective lens the whole distal colon was divided in optic fields, photos were taken from every field that had at least one well-oriented crypt (visible from base to apical opening) and the length of at least 12 well-oriented crypts was measured, using the ImageJ image processing software, and was averaged for each mouse. Same strategy was followed for the measurement of small intestinal villi and crypts at the ileum. Well-oriented villi with their associated crypts were measured. All histological assessments were performed in a blinded fashion.

Crypt Proliferation

Paraffin sections were processed for staining with anti-Ki67 antibody. Labeling index was defined as the frequency of Ki67⁺ cells in each crypt and/or villus compartment for each position, from position 1 (base of crypt) to position 40. Fifteen welloriented crypts were examined for each mouse and positive counts for each position were summed and expressed as percentage of the total cells counted.

RNA Extraction and qRT-PCR

Tissues were dissected, transferred in 0.5 ml Tri Reagent (MRC, USA), snap frozen in liquid nitrogen and stored at -80° C until RNA extraction. Total RNA was extracted after homogenization using an Ultra-Turrax homogenizer (IKA, Germany) according to manufacturer's instructions. RNA integrity was verified with agarose gel electrophoresis and concentration was measured with a Nano-Drop device. One to two µg of total RNA was subjected to DNase treatment (RQ1 RNase-Free DNase, Promega, Madison, WI, USA) and reverse transcribed with M-MLV Reverse Transcriptase (Promega, Madison, WI, USA) using an oligo(dT) primer. qPCR was performed using EvaGreen SsoFast mix (Bio-Rad, Hercules, CA, USA) on a RotorGene 6,000 machine (Corbett Research, Qiagen, Venlo, Netherlands). Expression was normalized to β 2-microglobulin. The relative mRNA expression in the test samples was calculated as the difference from the control values that were assigned an arbitrary expression value of 1, using Bio-Rad RelQuant (Bio-Rad). Primers used are provided in Supplementary Material.

Intestinal Epithelial Cell and Immune Cell Isolation

For IECs, intestines were opened longitudinally, washed with PBS and cut into 1.5 cm pieces that were washed with inversion in tubes containing HBSS with 2% FBS and 1 mM HEPES. Pieces were transferred to 20 ml HBSS supplemented with 2% FBS, 2 mM HEPES, 5 mM EDTA, and 1 mM DTT and placed at a rotary and at 37°C for 1 h. After setting for 15 min, suspensions were filtered through sterile gauze and centrifuged at 1,200 rpm for 5 min. Epithelial cells were isolated via centrifugation through 25-40% discontinuous Percoll gradient at 600 g for 15 min. The isolated fractions were then used for lysis and immunoblotting. The isolation of bone marrow derived macrophages (BMDMs) and non-adherent splenocytes were performed as in Papadaki et al. and Yiakouvaki et al. (19, 20). Briefly, for BMDMs, bone marrow was isolated from tibias and femurs by flushing, treated with Gey's solution to remove erythrocytes and cultured for 8 days in RPMI (5% FBS) supplemented with antibiotics, glutamine and supernatant from L929 cell culture. These were used for immunoblots or were stimulated with LPS (100 ng/ml) for 24h for measurement of cytokines. For non-adherent splenocytes, cells were collected using standard procedures and were stimulated with PMA/ionomycin (10/500 ng/ml) for 24 h.

Ribonucleoprotein Immunoprecipitation (R-IP)

Four colonic tumors, of similar size, per mouse from day 60 DMH/DSS treated mice were pooled and snap frozen to create a sample. Three samples per genotype were used. R-IP experiments were performed as described previously (45). Briefly, cells were lysed in buffer containing 100 mM KCl, 25 mM EDTA, 5 mM MgCl₂, 10 mM HEPES, 0.5% Nonidet P40, 2 mM DTT, 0.2% vanadyl ribonucleoside complex (Invitrogen) and 100 U/ml RNAse OUT (Invitrogen). Antibody coated beads (agarose or protein A-sepharose) were washed and maintained in 750 µl of NT-2 buffer (50 mM Tris, pH 7.4, 150 mM NaCl, 1 mM MgCl2, and 0.05% Nonidet P40). For IP, 200 µl of lysate were loaded onto the beads and incubated for 4 h on a rotary at 4°C. Subsequently, beads were washed five times in NT-2 buffer plus two times in NT-2+1M urea and finally resuspended in NT-2. Ten microliters of samples were removed for immunoblot verification and the remaining were used for RNA isolation via proteinase K treatment, phenol/chloroform extraction and precipitation. Antibodies included unmodified anti-FLAG (M2; Sigma) and mouse immunoglobulin antibodies (Santa Cruz and R&D). Methods for Microarray (Chip) Profile Analysis is provided in Supplementary Material.

Statistical Analysis

All data were analyzed with Graphpad Prism 6.01 (Graphpad Software). Appropriate statistical tests for each experiment are indicated within the figure legends except for R-IP-Chip data analysis where statistical analysis is provided in **Supplementary Material**.

RESULTS

A Similar Role for Intestinal and Myeloid HuR in the Control of Chemically Induced Colitis but a Differential Role in CAC

To dissect the functions of HuR in intestinal inflammation, we compared the effects of its deletion in intestinal epithelium to those incurred by its deletion in myeloid-derived immune compartments. This entailed the comparative analyses of mice harboring a loxP flanked $Elavl1^{fl/fl}$ allele (46) rendered as inactive either (a) in intestinal epithelial cells by means of a *Cre* gene driven by a Villin promoter (*VillinCre*⁺*Elavl1*^{fl/fl} named hereafter as IEC-HuRko mice); or (b) in myeloid-derived cells by means of a *Cre* driven by a Lysozyme M promoter (*LysMCre*⁺*Elavl*^{fl/fl} named hereafter as M-HuRko mice); (20).

First we analyzed the responses of IEC-HuRko mice to a combined mouse model of colitis and CAC, compared to those we previously published for M-HuRko mice conducted under the same experimental conditions. In this model, disease is induced via a first challenge with a pro-carcinogen (dimethylhydrazine-DMH), and then fed with an inflammatory agent (dextran sodium sulfate-DSS) in repetitive 6-day cycles intermitted by water cycles (47). In control mice, the initial DSS/water cycle led to colitis between days 4–10, which regressed by day 12 (**Figures 1A–C**). A second DSS/water cycle from

day 20 led to a more chronic response between days 23 and 35. IEC-HuRko mice appeared more vulnerable to this challenge; during the initial DSS cycle they manifested partial mortality and an earlier macroscopic disease onset relative to controls (Figures 1A-C). The fast clinical activity of IEC-HuRko mice correlated with aggressive histological features, including the rapid recruitment of mucosal infiltrates and extensive epithelial ulceration even on the 3rd day of the challenge and a delay in epithelial regeneration/restitution (Figure 1C). Similarly, during the chronic phase, IEC-HuRko mice showed persistent disease activity, inflammation and extensive tissue damage (Figures 1B,C). Analysis of afflicted colons revealed the heightened accumulation of selective inflammatory mediators in IEC-HuRko mice, namely TNF and IL-6 at the acute phase (day 6), which dropped to control levels during remission (day 12) (Figure 1D). Interestingly, other known inflammatory HuR targets like CCL2 and IL10 remained unaltered. mRNAs of inflammatory lymphokines and cytokine effectors, such as $ifn\gamma$, and of *il4*, *Ptgs-2/Cox2*, and *Tgf\beta* known to be associated with chronic responses (day 28) were significantly upregulated in the colons of IEC-HuRko mice compared to controls, reflecting an exacerbated chronic inflammatory response (Figure 1E). The clinical response of the IEC-HuRko mice to DSS-driven intestinal inflammation phenocopied in part that previously reported for M-HuRko mice [Figure S1 and (20)]. Differences included the much faster degeneration of the colonic epithelial layer during the third day of the protocol, associated with signs of early mortality in the IEC-HuRko mice, as opposed to the heightened and prolonged responses in M-HuRko mice (Figures 1B,C and Figure S1). Qualitatively however, our data indicate that epithelial and myeloid HuR share the same end effect toward the control of inflammation and the protection of the epithelial barrier from degeneration during the DSS challenge.

In contrast, the responses of the cell restricted, HuR mutant mice to the tumor phases of the protocol diverged. In the DMH/DSS model, inflammation enhances dysplasia toward CAC after the 40th day of challenge. As published, the increased inflammatory response of M-HuRko mice to the DSS/AOM challenge correlated with increased tumor formation, growth and progression [Figure S1, and (20)]. Although the increased inflammation in IEC-HuRko colons would point toward a respective progression in tumorigenesis, we found a decrease in the number of tumors per mouse and a profound decrease in the size of these HuR-deficient tumors (Figures 1F,G). Taken together, these data show that in the context of DSS-colitis, and although epithelial and myeloid HuR have a protective role in suppressing inflammation, they have divergent and exclusive roles in CAC signifying their contributions in different inflammatory processes.

A possible explanation for the different tumorigenic response could be that the loss of myeloid HuR elicits different chronic inflammatory responses than those driven by the loss of HuR in IECs. In contrast to the first acute challenge elicited by DSS which drives mainly innate immune responses, the chronic and tumor phases of the model require the additional contribution of the adaptive arm of immunity. To reciprocate such a complex chronic response, we switched to a genetic



FIGURE 1 | Loss of IEC HuR exacerbates DSS-colitis but attenuates CAC. (A) Kaplan-Meier survival analysis following treatment with two rounds of DSS (Days 0 and 20). n = 30/group. p-value denotes result of Log-rank test. (B) Macroscopic Disease Activity Index (DAI) of the same experimental group as in (A). Line graphs depict (Continued)

FIGURE 1 | mean values (\pm SD). *p*-value denotes result from Kolmogorov-Smirnov test. *n* = 20–30 live mice/group. **(C)** Representative histology (H&E) and histological scores from control and IEC-HuRko mice treated with DSS indicating differences in acute inflammation and ulceration (Days 3–8), epithelial restitution (Day 14) and chronic inflammation (Day 40). *n* = 8–12 mice/group. **(D)** ELISA quantification of inflammatory mediators in colon cultures isolated from DSS-treated mice at the indicated time points. Horizontal lines of box plots represent medians. *n* = 3 cultures/group/time point. Student unpaired *t*-test. **(E)** qPCR detection of mRNAs from DSS-treated colons of IEC-HuRko mice on day 28 after treatment expressed as fold change (FC) relative to control mice. *il4*, *interleukin 4*, *ifny*, *interferon gamma*, tgf β , *transforming growth factor beta*, *Ptgs2*, *Prostaglandin-Endoperoxide Synthase 2*. *n* = 5/group. Student unpaired *t*-test. **(F)** Graphs depicting tumor number (left) and tumor size (right) in control and IEC-HuRko mice 60 days after challenge with DMH/DSS. Dots represent individual measurements and horizontal lines represent means. Student unpaired *t*-test. **(G)** (Left panel) Immunohistochemical detection of HuR in colon tumors and adjacent normal tissue (NT). (Right panel) Representative histology (H&E) of colonic tumors in control and IEC-HuRko mice. All box plots show range and median. In all graphs, ******, *****, denote *p*-values < 0.05, 0.01, 0.001, and 0.0001 respectively. Please compare the response of IEC-HuRko mice to the one presented in **Figure S1** for M-HuRko mice.

model of Crohn's like chronic inflammatory bowel disease driven by chronic TNF synthesis, namely the $\dot{Tnf}^{\Delta ARE/+}$ mouse (4). Due to an induced deletion in the 3'ARE elements of the murine Tnf mRNA, the biosynthesis and functioning of TNF in these mice can no longer be modulated at the posttranscriptional level by ARE-binding proteins (including HuR). The uncontrolled production of TNF supports the spontaneous development of inflammatory ileitis in $Tnf^{\Delta ARE/+}$ mice, which becomes histologically evident by the age of 2 months and it progresses continually leading to transmural infiltrates and loss of mucosal architecture by the age of 6 months. The progression of chronic IBD in these mice requires an interplay between innate, adaptive and tissue resident cells (4, 48-50) and as such it approximates the complexities of chronic intestinal inflammation which could be affected differently by the loss of myeloid or IEC HuR. Strikingly however, disease initiation and progression in IEC-HuRko $Tnf^{\Delta ARE/+}$ mice and M-HuRko $Tnf^{\Delta ARE/+}$ mice appeared similar to that in control $Tnf^{\Delta ARE/+}$ mice (Figure S2). We did note however a small delay in the damaging effects in transmural inflammation in M-HuRko mice past the 4th month of age. Still, histological hallmarks of IBD were comparable in all mouse cohorts suggesting that chronic inflammatory processes were not affected by the cell-restricted loss of HuR.

An Exclusive Role for Intestinal Epithelial HuR in the Death Response Elicited via Acute Inflammatory Signals

Next, we assessed whether HuR is required to alter susceptibility to inflammatory damage either through enhanced proinflammatory innate signals or altered epithelial responses to such signals. Given the well-established role of HuR in proliferative regeneration of the intestine, we sought an acute model of inflammatory enteropathy that cannot be easily compensated by changes in regeneration. The systemic administration of agonistic antibodies targeting the CD3/T-cell receptor complex activates mucosal and submucosal T-cells to mount an aggressive local immune response that targets the intestinal epithelia for apoptosis via Fas, TNF, perforin and p53 signals (51). In control mice, disease is rapidly manifested in the small intestine and proceeds via the detachment of the apical epithelia, villus shortening, inflammation and crypt loss, within a period of 24 h, whereas the colon is only marginally affected (Figure 2A). IEC-HuRko mice were more susceptible to this model and displayed such symptoms even at 6 h post challenge whereas at 24 h they developed aggressive ulcerations (small intestine) and—surprisingly—apical degenerations in the large intestine (**Figures 2A,B**). Villus/crypt ratio and colonic crypt length were markedly reduced in IEC-HuRko mice at 24 h and at 6 h, respectively (**Figure 2B**). Enumeration of detached cells in lumen washes and annexin V/PI staining verified the increased shedding of apoptotic enterocytes in the intestines of IEC-HuRko mice (**Figure 2C**). On the other hand, the response of M-HuRko mice in this particular model was indistinguishable from that of the controls (**Figures 2A–C**). These data suggest that HuR in IECs exclusively desensitizes differentiated enterocytes to the death-promoting effects of inflammation thus revealing a first qualitative difference between IEC and myeloid HuR.

Differential Effects of Myeloid vs. Intestinal Epithelial HuR in the Control of *Citrobacter rodentium* Induced Colitis

To gain further insight into the possible role of intestinal and myeloid HuR in the elicitation of inflammation we employed a model of infectious colitis and pathogen control that also serves as a model of IBD observed during the invasion of enteropathic bacteria (52). Citrobacter rodentium is a natural pathogen of the intestinal mucosa that causes Transmissible Murine Colonic Hyperplasia and closely resembles the enteropathogenic and enterohaemorrhagic Escherichia coli strains (53). After oral administration, the bacterium colonizes the colon enforcing a series of interactive events in the resident tissue and the underlying immune compartments which-if failed-allow the infection to breach the barrier and become systemic. On the one hand, adhesion of the bacterium drives in part apical intestinal epithelial cell death to release infected cells, and this is counteracted by a rapid proliferative response that results in the lengthening of colonic crypts through propagation of transient amplifying cells (52). Underlying, this response, C. rodentium is initially phagocytosed by myeloidderived immune compartments and recognized primarily via NLRP-3 inflammasome pathway leading to the release of proinflammatory interleukins. This cascade leads to a complex inflammatory response involving both innate and adaptive immune subsets, thus aiding the clearance of the pathogen and the production of antimicrobial proteins by colonocytes (52).

For our analyses, mutant and control mice were infected with *C. rodentium* and monitored via the estimation of the pathogen load in fecal matter for a period of 25 days; whereas histology was monitored at days 12 and 25 that correspond to peak disease and



FIGURE 2 | Loss of HuR in IECs –but not in myeloid cells- sensitizes the epithelium to acute inflammatory death signals. (A) Representative H&E histology of paraffin embedded intestines from control and HuR mutant mice exposed either to aCD3 or isotype IgG for the indicated times. (B) Quantification of villus/crypt length ratio, colonic crypt height and histological score of IEC-HuRko treated mice (upper panel) and M-HuRko mice (lower panel). n = 3-6/group/time point. Student unpaired *t*-test. (C) (left panels) Enumeration of cells expelled in lumen washes from the intestines of mice exposed to aCD3 or IgG control. (right panels) Flow cytometric determination of apoptotic cell numbers of the same exudates, analyzed 6 and 24 h post injections in IEC-HuRko (upper panel), M-HuRko (lower panel) mice and respective controls. n = 3-6/genotype/time point. Student unpaired *t*-test. All bar graphs show means (±SE). In all graphs, *,****, denote *p*-values < 0.05 and 0.0001 respectively.

recovery phases, respectively. In control mice, the fecal bacterial load reached a plateau of 10^9-10^{10} colony forming units (cfu) per gram of feces by day 9 post infection and dropped to a negligible minimum by day 25 (**Figure 3A**). The response correlated with detectable histological alterations in crypt damage, hyperplasia, inflammation, and goblet cell depletion during the peak phase of the disease, and also with the local synthesis of pro-inflammatory *il1β* and *il18* mRNAs and antimicrobial *RegIIIβ* and *RegIIIγ* mRNAs (**Figures 3A–C**).

In IEC-HuRko mice, the kinetics of fecal bacterial loads was indistinguishable to that in controls, suggesting that these mice are capable of responding and clearing the infection (Figure 3A). However, and at the histological level, HuR-deficient epithelia displayed enhanced symptoms of degeneration, (e.g., crypt loss and apical epithelial detachment Figures 3A,C), relating to our findings in the T-cell mediated enteropathy model. Contrary however to the ascribed role of IEC-HuR in intestinal regeneration (16, 18), IEC-HuRko mice mounted a stronger crypt hyperplastic counter-response maintained even till day 25, which was associated with a near-significant upregulation in crypt proliferation as assessed via Ki67 immunostainings during the peak of the disease at day 12 (Figures 3A,C,D). Notably, the histological analysis of inflammatory infiltrates and the local synthesis of pro-inflammatory $il1\beta$ and il18 mRNAs did not reveal any significant changes (Figures 3A,B). However, HuR-deficient epithelia possessed higher levels of antimicrobial *RegIII* β and *RegIII* γ mRNAs (**Figure 3B**). Thus, the loss of HuR in IECs alters the resistance and antimicrobial properties of the epithelium to combat the infection independently of the underlying inflammatory process.

The response of the M-HuRko mice to C. rodentium was strikingly different. In these mice, bacterial loads did follow the proper kinetics but were substantially reduced and the bacterium was cleared more efficiently (Figure 3A). All histopathological hallmarks of the disease appeared significantly attenuated with a negligible effect in tissue damage and a near lack in the proliferative hyperplastic response of the infected crypts (Figures 3A,C,D). The clinical image of the infected M-HuRko mice correlated with an extensively heightened response in $il1\beta$ - but not il18- mRNA suggestive of an increased activation of innate immunity (Figure 3B). Notably, the inducible synthesis of epithelial antimicrobial mRNAs in M-HuRko epithelia appeared similar to that in the infected controls. From these data collectively, we deduce that the loss of M-HuR aggravates the initial response of myeloid-derived immunity early in the process leading to the rapid elimination of C. rodentium. This suggests that similar to cases of pathologic inflammation, and in contrast to HuR in IECs, myeloid HuR acts to inhibit rather than promote beneficial inflammatory responses contributing in pathogen clearance.

The virulence and host resistance against *C. rodentium* may also depend upon the composition of the gut microbiota (52, 54); in turn *C. rodentium* itself is known to cause dysbiosis (55) with unpredictable effects in intestinal inflammation. Moreover, the pharmacologic inhibition of HuR has been shown to affect the composition of the intestinal microbiome (37). To examine whether the observed shifts in the susceptibility of our mutants

could be accounted for by a shift in commensal microbiota we analyzed its composition in fecal matter derived from uninfected and infected mice using a proteomic approach. We restricted our analyses to the percentile representation of the bacterial phyla of Firmicutes and Becteroidetes since these are the most predominant in the mouse intestine (56-58), and correlated our measurements with the representation of C. rodentium itself since its colonizing properties alters the ratio of Firmicutes to Bacteroidetes (F/B ratio; Figure 3E). In our analysis we could not identify any changes in F/B ratio either in IEC-HuRko or in M-HuRko mice; this suggests that their cell-restricted deletion does not alter significantly the composition of the commensal microbiota. Changes in the presence of C. rodentium were further validated via our proteomics approach which verified its presence in IEC-HuRko mice and its reduced propagation in M-HuRko mice (Figure 3E). Still, the response of the commensal microbiota during the infection appeared indistinguishable to that in the controls (Figure 3E). Thus, the changes in the susceptibility to C. rodentium were not due to changes in the colonic microbiota but rather to cell intrinsic changes in IECs or myeloid cells, respectively.

The Combinatorial Elevation of HuR Discriminates the Inflammatory From Tumorigenic Phases in CAC

The data from the intestinal and myeloid HuR deficient mice indicate the differential requirement for HuR in controlling excessive inflammation from myeloid-derived immune cells, and in providing a balance between inflammatory damage of the epithelium and regenerative proliferation. Although informative, our data do not reveal what actually happens when HuR is elevated in conditions of IBD or cancer where myeloid and IEC functions co-exist. To gain such information we performed the opposite experiment by elevating HuR via the additional transgenic integration of an avidin/FLAG tagged-human HuR protein (*TgATFHuR*⁺ mice) driven by a promoter resistant to silencing (59) (Figure 4A). Five transgenic lines were originally generated; however only two expressed sufficient levels of HuR mRNA and from those we selected the one having the maximal expression pattern. In general, the expression of the transgene in this line (Tg6105; named hereafter as $TgATFHuR^+$) was ubiquitous and yielded an increase in 30-40% in HuR protein across tissues (Figure 4A). At the cell subset level of lymphocytes, Bone Marrow Derived Macrophages (BMDMs) and IECs, the elevation was consistently around 20% (Figure 4A). Flow cytometric analysis of major immune cell subpopulations in bone marrow, thymus and spleen of TgATFHuR⁺ mice did not show any aberration in immune cell composition (Figure S3). Supernatants from activated macrophages and nonadherent splenocytes (lymphocytes) coming from TgATFHuR+ mice, revealed decreases in proinflammatory targets of HuR, TNF, and CCL2 in macrophages, as previously described for high expressing macrophage HuR transgenic lines (20), however effects upon other targets reported in other transgenic lines, were either not observed (like a reduction in IL6) or did not reach significance (like an increase in IL10) suggesting that the



FIGURE 3 [0, n = 5 per/group; day 12–16, n = 10-16 per/group. (Lower right) Crypt length measurements from H&E slides. Values are means (±SEM). (**B**) qPCR detection of mRNAs from distal colons on day 6 post infection expressed as fold change (FC) relative to control mice. n = 5-6 per/group. (**C**) Representative H&E histology of paraffin embedded distal colon sections of uninfected (day 0) and infected mice (day 12 and day 25 post infection). (**D**) Representative Ki67 immunohistochemical staining of distal colons from *C. rodentium* infected mice 12 days post infection (upper panel) and histograms of Ki67 labeling indices of proliferating epithelial cells in control and mutant mice measured from photomicrographs as in (upper panel). n = 6-7 mice/group. Wilcoxon Rank Sum test. (**E**) Relative abundance of Firmicutes, Bacteroidetes, *C. rodentium* taxa and Firmicutes to Bacteroidetes ratio (F/B Ratio) in the feces of uninfected (day 0) and infected (day 9) mice. Total intensity values for each taxon were used (see **Supplementary Methods**). Day 0, n = 7-14; day 9 n = 12-15. Student unpaired *t*-test. In all graphs *, **, *** denote *p*-values < 0.05, 0.01, and 0.001 respectively.

elevation of HuR is rather moderate (**Figure 4B**). This was also revealed when $TgATFHuR^+$ mice were tested for sensitivity to systemic effects occurring in LPS-induced endotoxemia where these mice displayed only a mild trend of resistance to lethality (**Figure 4C**). With respect to intestinal epithelia, we noted a significant increase in the villus/crypt ratio in the small intestine of aged (>10 months) $TgATFHuR^+$ mice, relating to an increase in crypt proliferation based on Ki67 staining but with no significant effects in cellularity (**Figures 4D–F**). We do note however that no changes were observed for colonic $TgATFHuR^+$ crypts, which were indistinguishable from control crypts.

Collectively, $TgATFHuR^+$ mice appear as a system that could reciprocate -in part- the functions of elevated HuR in the different subsets as they appear in cases of IBD and CAC (37). To test this, first we challenged TgATFHuR⁻ and TgATFHuR⁺ mice with the DMH/DSS protocol. During the inflammatory phases of the response, TgATFHuR⁺ mice displayed lower clinical inflammatory disease activity and histological scores than their controls and faster signs of epithelial restitution (Figures 5A-C). Analysis of the acute inflammatory profile of afflicted colons showed significant reductions in TNF and CCL2 production, an increase in anti-inflammatory IL10 and a variable response in IL-6 (Figure 5D), consistent with the partial loss of a pro-inflammatory character and the attenuated disease activity of $TgATFHuR^+$ mice. This was also reflected at the chronic phase (day 28), were the mRNA of pro-inflammatory ifny was downregulated as opposed to transcripts of immunomodulatory *il4*, *ptgs2*, and *tgf\beta* that were upregulated in *TgATFHuR*⁺ mice (Figure 5D). In sharp contrast to their diminished pro-inflammatory response, TgATFHuR⁺ mice appeared more heavily susceptible to tumorigenesis, developing a significantly greater number of tumors of increased size per mouse (Figures 5E,F) which was different from what occurs when HuR is exclusively overexpressed in macrophages, where the reduction in inflammation correlated with a reduction in tumorigenesis (20). This suggests that during conditions of overexpression, the anti-inflammatory functions of HuR in immune cells segregate from its pro-tumorigenic effects in epithelia.

Finally, to assess whether the functions of TgATFHuR correlate with its cognitive characteristics we selected sizematched CAC-derived tumors from control and transgenic mice and performed Ribonucleoprotein Immunoprecipitation (RIP), with an anti-FLAG antibody, followed by Microarray Profile Analysis (**Figure S4A,B**). Approximately 2,000 genes were found bound by ATFHuR above control levels (**Table S2**). Gene Ontology enrichment analysis of these genes revealed groups involved in the processes of inflammation, cell cycle/apoptosis, development, epithelial function and others, consistent with previously published processes where HuR is involved (**Figure S4C**). Moreover, known target transcripts of HuR such as *Tnf, Ccr2, Cdc42* were also identified to be bound by ATFHuR in our RIP setting. Thus, the contrasting effects of ATFHuR relate to the true cognitive functions of HuR in the different cellular settings.

The Combinatorial Elevation of HuR Diversifies Enterotoxic Responses From Inflammatory Responses

Next, we used a T-cell dependent model of inflammation to assess the role of overexpressed HuR in inflammatory progression vs. inflammatory epithelial damage following the same rationale as in the cell specific knockout mutants. First, the lack of a clear effect mediated by HuR in chronic inflammation was also conferred from our analyses of $TgATFHuR^+$ $TNF^{\Delta ARE/+}$ mice that did not display any significant differences from their $TgATFHuR^ TNF^{\Delta ARE/+}$ controls (Figure S2). In sharp contrast, TgATFHuR⁺ mice were markedly more resistant to anti-CD3 mediated enterotoxicity with reduced symptoms of inflammatory degeneration and a near lack of a response in terms of exudate epithelial cells in the lumen (Figure 6A). As such, these mice displayed the opposite epithelial sensitivity of IEC-HuRko mice to inflammatory damage, which could connect also to their increased susceptibility to CAC. Finally, TgATFHuR+ mice displayed a significant delay in the early control of C. rodentium as indicated by fecal bacterial counts on the 9th day of the infection and the proteomic detection of representative peptides (Figures 6B,C). This indicated that the elevation of HuR compromised in part the efficiency of C. rodentium clearance. However, the remaining response was unaltered both in terms of the histological features as well as in the consistency of commensal microbiota (Figures 6B-E) suggesting a new balance in epithelial responses compensates to allow for the subsequent mechanism of defense against the bacterium.

By comparison, the response of $TgATFHuR^+$ mice appears as exactly the opposite of what we could expect from the sum of differences in the debilitating mutations of HuR in myeloidderived immune vs. epithelial compartments, thus verifying that HuR is acting as an anti-inflammatory regulator in myeloidderived immunity and as a pro-survival and pro-tumorigenic factor in intestinal epithelia, with differential consequences in different contexts of intestinal inflammation.





FIGURE 4 | the Avidin and FLAG tags; the presence of β -globin intron/3'UTR that ensures a gene like structure and a 3'UTR and polyadenylation signal. (Middle panel) Representative immunoblots for the detection of the transgenic ATF-HuR protein in mouse tissues and quantitation to endogenous mouse HuR (mHuR). Membranes blotted with an anti-HuR antibody (3A2). (Bottom panel) Representative immunoblots for the detection of the transgenic ATF-HuR and endogenous mHuR proteins in extracts from *TgATFHuR*⁺ lymphocytes (lymp.), macrophages (BMDMs) and IECs. (**B**) ELISA detection of elicited inflammatory mediators in supernatants from cultured BMDMs (Upper panel), in the presence of Lipopolysaccharide (LPS; 100 ng/ml) for 24 h, and from non-adherent splenocytes (lymphocytes) in the presence of PMA/ionomycin. Data represent individual values/culture and mean (±SD). (**C**) Kaplan-Meier analysis following endotoxemia induction. Two experiments were performed with intraperitoneal administration of low (150 µg/25 g) and high (400 µg/25 g) doses of LPS, with similar results. Combined data from the two experiments are shown. Total group numbers are shown. *p*-value denotes result of Log-rank test. (**D**) Quantification of villus/crypt (iejunum and ileum) length ratio and colonic crypt height of younger (6 months old) and older (10–12 months old) mice. Data represent values of individual mice and mean (±SD). Student unpaired *t*-test. (**E**) Representative histology of sections from paraffin embedded intestinal tissue stained for general tissue architecture (hematoxylin/eosin), for Goblet cells (hematoxylin/periodic acid-Schiff), and for Paneth cells (anti-Lysozyme, blue stain, counterstained with Nuclear Fast Red). (**F**) (Left) Representative immunohistochemical staining of Ki67 (brown) counterstained with hematoxylin for detection of proliferating epithelial cells in resting TgATFHuR⁺ and TgATFHuR⁺ mice at the age of 2 months. (Right) Histograms of Ki67 labeling indices measured from photomicrographs as in (Left). Dat

DISCUSSION

In this study we followed a disease-oriented approach to examine whether HuR's independent functions in two distinct compartments co-existing in the intestinal mucosa (i.e., myeloidderived immune cells and intestinal epithelial cells) contribute similarly or differentially in the same contexts of inflammatory intestinal disease. We chose to focus on the phenotypic effects of HuR deletion in these cell types, rather than on the molecular mechanisms that underlie them, in an effort to (a) highlight the specificity of HuR's functions thus providing a contextual roadmap for future molecular analyses; and (b) address the issue of HuR's exploitation in the clinical management of intestinal inflammation and degeneration. In doing so, we identified that the independent cellular responses guided by HuR's posttranscriptional functions have differential outcomes in intestinal inflammation.

In myeloid-derived immune compartments, HuR has primarily a regulatory role acting to maintain intestinal inflammation within physiological thresholds. This is supported by the differential susceptibility of our M-HuRko mice (augmented) to HuR overexpressing TgATFHuR⁺ mice (suppressed) in chemically-induced colitis; and is in line to previous observations in other settings of pathologic inflammation (17, 20, 38, 60). In molecular terms, this connects to HuR's capability of reducing the translation of several pro-inflammatory cytokine mRNAs (e.g., Tnf, il6, Ccl2, Ccr2) in innate immune cells, as opposed to their stability. Herein, we extend the regulatory functions of HuR toward beneficial myeloid-derived immunity functions required for host defense. This was exemplified by our data from the model of C. rodentium invasion where the loss of HuR enhanced pathogen clearance and limited inflammatory damage. This could connect to the capacity of HuR-deficient phagocytosing cells to uptake and clear the invading bacteria rapidly due to rapid CCL2/CCR2 mediated recruitment which seem to be connected to C. rodentium clearance (61) and whose synthesis is augmented in HuR-null macrophages supporting their enhanced homing at sites of inflammation (20). Alternatively, and though not addressed, HuR-null macrophages may display an enhanced inflammasome activity which is required for the clearance of this pathogen. This is indicated by several circumstantial evidence. In M-HuRko mice commensal bacteria respond properly to the invasion of *C. rodentium* suggesting that the bacterium can colonize the mucosa in these mice during the initial stages of the infection. On the other hand, the synthesis of antimicrobial RNAs known to be induced in IECs during the infection were not altered. The production of these RNAs in IECs is under the direct control of adaptive immune cells recruited as a result of the activation of myeloid-derived immune cells by the bacterium; as such, it signifies that adaptive immune response was not altered in M-HuRko mice despite their enhanced capability to control the infection. In contrast, we detected heightened levels of IL1b mRNA expression which could signify an enhanced activation of the inflammasome pathway that needs to be further examined at the molecular level.

The effects of myeloid HuR in the control of chronic inflammation appear less defined. In the TNF-mediated model of IBD, the loss of HuR did not alter the quality of the pathologic response-despite the signs for a delay in disease progression. This could be due to the complex hierarchy of pathologic responses supporting disease in this model which, besides myeloid-derived immune compartments, it is heavily dependent on the adaptive arm of immunity as well as on several stromal tissues (48-50). It is well-recognized that epithelial and stromal cells in the intestine express numerous receptors commonly found in immune cells and in this way they actively participate in the coordination of the immune response (62, 63). Alternatively, this could be due to the fact that TNF cannot be regulated by HuR since its mRNA is missing the HuR binding site. However, evidence that myeloid HuR can control chronic inflammation stem from the response of these mice during CAC. During CAC, a variety of toxic and regenerative inflammatory responses drive dysplasia and adenoma formation whereas subsequent tumor-associated inflammation (which includes Tumor Associated Macrophages) support tumor growth and invasion. The enhanced tumorigenesis and tumor growth observed in M-HuRko mice suggest that these responses may be either uncontrolled or qualitatively different.

The intestinal epithelial functions of HuR appear equally diverse. Our data are in line with previous suppositions on HuR acting positively toward intestinal epithelial programs of proliferation and regeneration. This is supported by the delayed restitution of DSS-challenged or irradiated epithelia when HuR is lost [this study and (18)] and its rapid occurrence when HuR is elevated; or by the diminishing effects of HuR's loss in tumor



FIGURE 5 | test. (B) Histological scores of colitis at the indicated time points. Box plots show range and median. n = 8-12 mice/group. (C) Representative histology (H&E) of slides scored in (B). (D) (Left and middle columns) ELISA quantification of inflammatory mediators in colon cultures isolated from DSS-treated mice at the indicated time points. Box plots show range and mean values. n = 3 cultures/group/time point. Student unpaired *t*-test. (Right) qPCR analysis of RNAs from DSS-treated colons of IEC-HuRko mice on day 28 after treatment expressed as fold change (FC) relative to control mice. *il4*, interleukin 4, *ifng*, interferon gamma, *tgfb*, transforming growth factor beta, *Ptgs2*, Prostaglandin-Endoperoxide Synthase 2. (E) Graphs depicting tumor number per mouse (left) and tumor size (right) in TgATF⁻ and TgATFHuR⁺ mice 60 days after challenge with DMH/DSS. Dots represent individual mice (left) and tumors (right); horizontal lines represent means. Student unpaired *t*-test. (F) Representative histology (H&E) of paraffin embedded colonic tumors measured in (E). In all graphs, *, **, ***, denote *p*-value < 0.05, 0.01, and 0.001 respectively.

growth during CAC as opposed to its enhancing effect when HuR is overexpressed. Based on the extensive literature, this could be due to HuR's control over the Frizzled co-receptor Lrp6 (18), E-cadherin (36) and β -catenin (12) promoting Wntinduced progenitor expansion; or the pleiotropic Rho GTPAse Cdc42 affecting proliferation, actin organization and migration (64). Although these mechanisms are now well-accepted, they reflect HuR's functions in stem and transient amplifying cells involved in regeneration. Our data indicate that HuR has a more predominant role in the homeostasis of differentiated enterocytes during inflammation for the preservation of intestinal barrier integrity under inflammatory stress via different means. This is heavily exemplified by the augmented response of IEC-HuRko mice in the model of T-cell mediated enterotoxicity which measures solely the response of enterocytes to inflammatory death signals. This connects to several post-transcriptional effects of HuR affecting directly or indirectly death responses. Directly, HuR may oppose enterocyte death, due to its positive regulation of prosurvival signals as in the cases of Bcl2, Mcl1, ProT alpha, Sirt1, and PGC1a as well as effectors of mitochondrial resistance (65, 66). Indirectly, this could also connect HuR's functioning in controlling the adherens junctions of enterocytes via its control over the stabilization of E-cadherin mRNA (36). To that end IEC-HuRko mice phenocopy those lacking E-cadherin, which display shedding and apoptosis of enterocytes, villus shortening and augmented colitis (67, 68). Conversely, TgATFHuR⁺ mice resemble mice with augmented E-cadherin/β-catenin junctions that are resistant to colitis (69, 70).

Arguably however, enterocyte cell death can be an inevitable side effect of a lack of continuous proliferation. However, our data on C. rodentium argue that in the physiological mucosa the prosurvival functions of HuR in enterocytes are more dominant than its effects in stem cell programs driving regeneration. In contrast to M-HuRko, IEC-HuRko mice possessed a normotypic response toward the clearance of the infection. However, HuR-deficient epithelia displayed a heightened level of tissue damage accompanied by a heightened proliferative response to compensate for that damage. Conversely, the elevation of HuR in *TgATFHuR*⁺ epithelia did not alter their hyperplastic response despite their resistance in enterotoxicity suggesting that the elevated HuR provided a new balance between inflammatory death and regeneration. Definitely however, and as indicated by the response of $TgATFHuR^+$ mice to CAC, this balance is tilted toward the proliferative end providing benefits for the conversion of progenitors to dysplastic tissue, adenomas and carcinomas.

Our studies with *C. rodentium* suggest that HuR may also control the defensive properties of the epithelia. This is suggested by the augmented response in RNAs promoting antimicrobial

defense (like RegIII) correlating with the proper resolution of the infection as opposed to the enhanced tissue damage. Whether this is directly regulated by HuR in IECs or via an indirect control over signals promoting antimicrobial gene expression in these cells remains to be determined.

Collectively, our data provide several indications for the clinical use of HuR inhibitors in combating intestinal inflammatory diseases. Several lead compounds have been reported in the literature. Their clinical use in intestinal inflammatory diseases is based on the assumption that they could act as selective and efficient means for inflammation control by blocking the activation of several pro-inflammatory, AREcontaining, cytokine mRNAs driving intestinal inflammation. In that sense they could provide more specific therapeutic means than generic immunosuppressants (e.g., corticosteroids, aminosalicylates, methotrexate, cyclosporine, azathioprine, and mercaptopurine) or more effective than single cytokine inhibitors (e.g., anti-TNF, anti-IL12/23 or NSAIDs for Cox-2) currently used to treat patients suffering from, for example, IBD.

Our findings indicate that these suppositions need to be reconsidered since HuR appears to have potent activities in regulating the acute responses of myeloid-derived mucosal subsets and the protection of the intestinal barrier from these responses. Similar considerations should be made for the applicability of HuR inhibitors in combating intestinal transformation and CRC. The main issue is the inflammatory context that either supports or impedes tumor initiation and progression. Our study provides a clear rationale as to why such inhibitors seem to fail in preclinical models of CAC since they could aggravate the early pro-inflammatory responses of myeloid-derived immune subsets driving IBD and enhance the genotoxic damage of the intestinal epithelial barrier thus enhancing the transformation process. We postulate that monotherapeutic schemes blocking HuR functions should be avoided in CRC arising in the context of IBD, where anti-cytokine therapies are also envisaged for applicability (e.g., anti-IL6).

Despite these issues, both our study and other studies on animal models support that HuR blockade could be of benefit in specific cases –or windows- of intestinal disease (37). For example, HuR inhibitors may be applicable in CRC's arising due to genetic mutations—like in the case of FAP and models of APC mutations- where inflammation may have a secondary role. In that context, HuR inhibition can clearly hinder the proliferative expansion of transformed cells, promote tumor death and aggravate an immune response targeting tumor cells for clearance. As such it could act as a more selective and efficient therapeutic strategy than current chemotherapeutics and surgical procedures for FAP.



FIGURE 6 | indicated time points post anti-CD3 antibody injections. Photomicrographs of ilea 24 h post injections are shown. Histological score and morphometry, n = 10/genotype/time point, Student unpaired *t*-test; Exudate cell number, n = 6-12/group, Mann-Whitney test. (**B**) Fecal bacterial counts in mice orally infected with *C. rodentium*. n = 10-25/group/time point. Student unpaired *t*-test. (**C**) Firmicutes to Bacteroidetes (F/B) ratio (left) and relative abundance of *C. rodentium* (right) in the feces of uninfected (day 0) and infected (day 9) mice. n = 8-12 mice/group/time point. Mann-Whitney test. (**D**) Representative histology of paraffin embedded distal colons from mice orally infected with *C. rodentium* at indicated time points post infection. (**E**) Histological parameters of *C. rodentium* colitis at the indicated time points post infection. Graphs show means (±SEM). N = 8-13/group/time point. In all graphs, *,**, *****, denote *p*-value < 0.05, 0.01, and 0.0001, respectively.

Perhaps, the anti-tumorigenic capabilities of HuR blockade could also be harnessed for CAC through the combinatorialyet carefully controlled—use of anti-inflammatory drugs or drugs inhibiting the recruitment of myeloid-derived cells in the mucosa, alongside HuR inhibition regimes; or devise strategies for the selective uptake of HuR inhibitors by cancer cells thus bypassing the adverse targeting of myeloid-derived compartments. Finally, our data do support the beneficial use of HuR blockade in combating infections with enteropathogenic and enterohaemorrhagic bacteria since they could boost up beneficial immune and epithelial responses driving pathogen clearance. As such they could be used in combination with antibiotic or other antimicrobial regimes.

In general however, the ambiguity in the clinical effects of HuR blockade reflects the ambiguity in HuR functions both in cell intrinsic events and cellular interactions. As it stands, HuR drives both beneficial and adverse reactions in myeloidderived and epithelial compartments. The molecular details for HuR functions in discriminating the post-transcriptional fate of tissue specific programs remain to be elucidated. To provide more definitive strategies on HuR blockade would require the dissection of HuR's protein and RNA partners that differentiate the beneficial from pathologic post-transcriptional programs and selectively target only the pathologic ones. To that end our study provides a framework to seek for such partnerships in the context of intestinal disease.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

R-IP-Chip raw files that were generated for this study can be found on the Array-Express repository (https://www.ebi.ac.uk/ arrayexpress/) with accession number E-MTAB-4018.

ETHICS STATEMENT

This study was carried out in accordance with the recommendations of Institutional Committee of Protocol Evaluation in conjunction with the Veterinary Service Management of the Hellenic Republic Prefecture of Attika and in accordance to national legislation and the European Union Directive 63/2010. Protocols were approved by Prefecture of Attika (licenses #5995/2012, 4371-4376/2014, #6198/2017, #3547/2018, #2824/2018).

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

In vivo experiments were performed by EC-V, FI aided by MA; $TgATFHuR^+$ mice generated by IK; histology and evaluation

by AP (histopathologist), EC-V, FI, and MA; RIP experiments and analyses by GG, EC-V, and MR; microbiota and proteomic analyses by GS and MS; manuscript written by EC-V, FI, and DK.

FUNDING

We acknowledge support of this work by projects InfrafrontierGR/Phenotypos (MIS 5002135) and Strategic Development of the Biomedical Research Institute Alexander Fleming (MIS 5002562), which are implemented under the Actions Reinforcement of the Research and Innovation Infrastructure and Action for the Strategic Development on the Research and Technological Sector respectively, funded by the Operational Programme Competitiveness, Entrepreneurship and Innovation Greece and (NSRF 2014-2020) and co-financed by the European Union (European Regional Development Fund).

We also acknowledge support by ARISTEIA-I project No. 1096 PREcISE, funded by the Operational Programme Education and Lifelong Learning (NSRF 2007-2013) and cofinanced by Greece and the European Union (European Social Fund).

This work was also supported in part by: the Association for International Cancer Research (grant AICR-07-0548) and the European Commission grant INFLACARE (HEALTH-F2-2009-223151).

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We thank D. Gumucio, and G. Kollias for mouse lines; J. Strouboulis for help on the TgATFHuR construct; A. Yiakouvaki, Stavros Milatos, Antonis Skliris and Orsalia Hazapis for help in the initial stages of the project; S. Grammenoudi for help in flow cytometry; Kostas Bozonelos for help in transgenic generation; Vasileios Ntafis for his support with animal experimentation; Vasileios Ziros for sample preparation in proteomic analysis; and the InfrafrontierGR Infrastructure for providing animal housing, transgenic, genomic and imaging services.

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fimmu. 2018.02732/full#supplementary-material
REFERENCES

- Chatterji P, Rustgi AK. RNA binding proteins in intestinal epithelial biology and colorectal cancer. *Trends Mol Med.* (2018) 24:490–506. doi: 10.1016/j.molmed.2018.03.008
- Kafasla P, Skliris A, Kontoyiannis DL. Post-transcriptional coordination of immunological responses by RNA-binding proteins. *Nat Immunol.* (2014) 15:492–502. doi: 10.1038/ni.2884
- Turner M, Galloway A, Vigorito E. Noncoding RNA and its associated proteins as regulatory elements of the immune system. *Nat Immunol.* (2014) 15:484–91. doi: 10.1038/ni.2887
- Kontoyiannis D, Pasparakis M, Pizarro TT, Cominelli F, Kollias G. Impaired on/off regulation of TNF biosynthesis in mice lacking TNF AU-rich elements: implications for joint and gut-associated immunopathologies. *Immunity* (1999) 10:387–98. doi: 10.1016/S1074-7613(00)80038-2
- Stamou P, Kontoyiannis DL. Posttranscriptional regulation of TNF mRNA: a paradigm of signal-dependent mRNA utilization and its relevance to pathology. *Curr Dir Autoimmun*. (2010) 11:61–79. doi: 10.1159/000289197
- Doller A, Pfeilschifter J, Eberhardt W. Signalling pathways regulating nucleocytoplasmic shuttling of the mRNA-binding protein HuR. *Cell Signal.* (2008) 20:2165–73. doi: 10.1016/j.cellsig.2008.05.007
- Eberhardt W, Doller A, Pfeilschifter J. Regulation of the mRNA-binding protein HuR by posttranslational modification: spotlight on phosphorylation. *Curr Protein Pept Sci.* (2012) 13:380–90. doi: 10.2174/138920312801619439
- Srikantan S, Gorospe M. UneCLIPsing HuR nuclear function. *Mol Cell*. (2011) 43:319–21. doi: 10.1016/j.molcel.2011.07.016
- Brennan CM, Steitz JA. HuR and mRNA stability. *Cell Mol Life Sci.* (2001) 58:266–77. doi: 10.1007/PL00000854
- Srikantan S, Tominaga K, Gorospe M. Functional interplay between RNAbinding protein HuR and microRNAs. *Curr Protein Pept Sci.* (2012) 13:372–9. doi: 10.2174/138920312801619394
- Cao C, Sun J, Zhang D, Guo X, Xie L, Li X, et al. The long intergenic noncoding RNA UFC1, a target of MicroRNA 34a, interacts with the mRNA stabilizing protein HuR to increase levels of beta-catenin in HCC cells. *Gastroenterology* (2015) 148:415–26 e18. doi: 10.1053/j.gastro.2014.10.012
- Yoon JH, Abdelmohsen K, Srikantan S, Yang X, Martindale JL, De S, et al. LincRNA-p21 suppresses target mRNA translation. *Mol Cell*. (2012) 47:648– 55. doi: 10.1016/j.molcel.2012.06.027
- Lebedeva S, Jens M, Theil K, Schwanhausser B, Selbach M, Landthaler M, et al. Transcriptome-wide analysis of regulatory interactions of the RNA-binding protein HuR. *Mol Cell.* (2011) 43:340–52. doi: 10.1016/j.molcel.2011.06.008
- Mukherjee N, Corcoran DL, Nusbaum JD, Reid DW, Georgiev S, Hafner M, et al. Integrative regulatory mapping indicates that the RNA-binding protein HuR couples pre-mRNA processing and mRNA stability. *Mol Cell.* (2011) 43:327–39. doi: 10.1016/j.molcel.2011.06.007
- Ghosh M, Aguila HL, Michaud J, Ai Y, Wu MT, Hemmes A, et al. Essential role of the RNA-binding protein HuR in progenitor cell survival in mice. J Clin Invest. (2009) 119:3530–43. doi: 10.1172/JCI38263
- Giammanco A, Blanc V, Montenegro G, Klos C, Xie Y, Kennedy S, et al. Intestinal epithelial HuR modulates distinct pathways of proliferation and apoptosis and attenuates small intestinal and colonic tumor development. *Cancer Res.* (2014) 74:5322–35. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-14-0726
- Katsanou V, Papadaki O, Milatos S, Blackshear PJ, Anderson P, Kollias G, et al. HuR as a negative posttranscriptional modulator in inflammation. *Mol Cell*. (2005) 19:777–89. doi: 10.1016/j.molcel.2005.08.007
- Liu L, Christodoulou-Vafeiadou E, Rao JN, Zou T, Xiao L, Chung HK, et al. RNA-binding protein HuR promotes growth of small intestinal mucosa by activating the Wnt signaling pathway. *Mol Biol Cell.* (2014) 25:3308–18. doi: 10.1091/mbc.e14-03-0853
- Papadaki O, Milatos S, Grammenoudi S, Mukherjee N, Keene JD, Kontoyiannis DL. Control of thymic T cell maturation, deletion and egress by the RNA-binding protein HuR. J Immunol. (2009) 182:6779–88. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.0900377
- Yiakouvaki A, Dimitriou M, Karakasiliotis I, Eftychi C, Theocharis S, Kontoyiannis DL. Myeloid cell expression of the RNA-binding protein HuR protects mice from pathologic inflammation and colorectal carcinogenesis. J Clin Invest. (2012) 122:48–61. doi: 10.1172/JCI45021

- Wheeler C, Nabors LB, Barnum S, Yang X, Hu X, Schoeb TR, et al. Sex hormone-dependent attenuation of EAE in a transgenic mouse with astrocytic expression of the RNA regulator HuR. J Neuroimmunol. (2012) 246:34–7. doi: 10.1016/j.jneuroim.2012.02.014
- Diaz-Munoz MD, Bell SE, Fairfax K, Monzon-Casanova E, Cunningham AF, Gonzalez-Porta M, et al. The RNA-binding protein HuR is essential for the B cell antibody response. *Nat Immunol.* (2015) 16:415–25. doi: 10.1038/ni.3115
- Chi MN, Auriol J, Jegou B, Kontoyiannis DL, Turner JM, de Rooij DG, et al. The RNA-binding protein ELAVL1/HuR is essential for mouse spermatogenesis, acting both at meiotic and postmeiotic stages. *Mol Biol Cell*. (2011) 22:2875–85. doi: 10.1091/mbc.e11-03-0212
- Kraushar ML, Thompson K, Wijeratne HR, Viljetic B, Sakers K, Marson JW, et al. Temporally defined neocortical translation and polysome assembly are determined by the RNA-binding protein Hu antigen R. *Proc Natl Acad Sci* USA. (2014) 111:E3815–24. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1408305111
- Brosens LA, Keller JJ, Pohjola L, Haglund C, Morsink FH, Iacobuzio-Donahue C, et al. Increased expression of cytoplasmic HuR in familial adenomatous polyposis. *Cancer Biol Ther.* (2008) 7:424–7. doi: 10.4161/cbt.7.3.5417
- Denkert C, Koch I, von Keyserlingk N, Noske A, Niesporek S, Dietel M, et al. Expression of the ELAV-like protein HuR in human colon cancer: association with tumor stage and cyclooxygenase-2. *Mod Pathol.* (2006) 19:1261–9. doi: 10.1038/modpathol.3800645
- Dixon DA, Tolley ND, King PH, Nabors LB, McIntyre TM, Zimmerman GA, et al. Altered expression of the mRNA stability factor HuR promotes cyclooxygenase-2 expression in colon cancer cells. *J Clin Invest.* (2001) 108:1657–65. doi: 10.1172/JCI12973
- Lim SJ, Lee SH, Joo SH, Song JY, Choi SI. Cytoplasmic expression of HuR is related to cyclooxygenase-2 expression in colon cancer. *Cancer Res Treat.* (2009) 41:87–92. doi: 10.4143/crt.2009.41.2.87
- Lopez de Silanes I, Fan J, Yang X, Zonderman AB, Potapova O, Pizer ES, et al. Role of the RNA-binding protein HuR in colon carcinogenesis. *Oncogene* (2003) 22:7146–54. doi: 10.1038/sj.onc.1206862
- Kotta-Loizou I, Giaginis C, Theocharis S. Clinical significance of HuR expression in human malignancy. *Med Oncol.* (2014) 31:161. doi: 10.1007/s12032-014-0161-y
- Yoo PS, Sullivan CA, Kiang S, Gao W, Uchio EM, Chung GG, et al. Tissue microarray analysis of 560 patients with colorectal adenocarcinoma: high expression of HuR predicts poor survival. *Ann Surg Oncol.* (2009) 16:200-7. doi: 10.1245/s10434-008-0209-3
- 32. Young LE, Sanduja S, Bemis-Standoli K, Pena EA, Price RL, Dixon DA. The mRNA binding proteins HuR and tristetraprolin regulate cyclooxygenase 2 expression during colon carcinogenesis. *Gastroenterology* (2009) 136:1669–79. doi: 10.1053/j.gastro.2009.01.010
- Abdelmohsen K, Gorospe M. Posttranscriptional regulation of cancer traits by HuR. Wiley Interdiscip Rev RNA (2010) 1:214–29. doi: 10.1002/wrna.4
- Wang J, Guo Y, Chu H, Guan Y, Bi J, Wang B. Multiple functions of the RNA-binding protein HuR in cancer progression, treatment responses and prognosis. *Int J Mol Sci.* (2013) 14:10015–41. doi: 10.3390/ijms140510015
- Zucal C, D'Agostino V, Loffredo R, Mantelli B, NatthakanThongon, Lal P, et al. Targeting the multifaceted HuR protein, benefits and caveats. *Curr Drug Targets* (2015) 16:499–515. doi: 10.2174/1389450116666150223163632
- Zou T, Jaladanki SK, Liu L, Xiao L, Chung HK, Wang JY, et al. H19 long noncoding RNA regulates intestinal epithelial barrier function via MicroRNA 675 by interacting with RNA-binding protein HuR. *Mol Cell Biol.* (2016) 36:1332–41. doi: 10.1128/MCB.01030-15
- 37. Lang M, Berry D, Passecker K, Mesteri I, Bhuju S, Ebner F, et al. HuR small-molecule inhibitor elicits differential effects in adenomatosis polyposis and colorectal carcinogenesis. *Cancer Res.* (2017) 77:2424–38. doi: 10.1158/0008-5472.CAN-15-1726
- Zhang J, Modi Y, Yarovinsky T, Yu J, Collinge M, Kyriakides T, et al. Macrophage beta2 integrin-mediated, HuR-dependent stabilization of angiogenic factor-encoding mRNAs in inflammatory angiogenesis. *Am J Pathol.* (2012) 180:1751–60. doi: 10.1016/j.ajpath.2011.12.025
- Madison BB, Dunbar L, Qiao XT, Braunstein K, Braunstein E, Gumucio DL. Cis elements of the villin gene control expression in restricted domains of the vertical (crypt) and horizontal (duodenum, cecum) axes of the intestine. *J Biol Chem.* (2002) 277:33275–83. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M204935200

- Maines LW, Fitzpatrick LR, French KJ, Zhuang Y, Xia Z, Keller SN, et al. Suppression of ulcerative colitis in mice by orally available inhibitors of sphingosine kinase. *Dig Dis Sci.* (2008) 53:997–1012. doi: 10.1007/s10620-007-0133-6
- Wirtz S, Neufert C, Weigmann B, Neurath MF. Chemically induced mouse models of intestinal inflammation. *Nat Protoc.* (2007) 2:541–6. doi: 10.1038/nprot.2007.41
- 42. Piguet PF, Vesin C, Guo J, Donati Y, Barazzone C. TNF-induced enterocyte apoptosis in mice is mediated by the TNF receptor 1 and does not require p53. *Eur J Immunol.* (1998) 28:3499–505. doi: 10.1002/(SICI)1521-4141(199811)28:11<3499::AID-IMMU3499>3.0.CO;2-Q
- Moggridge S, Sorensen PH, Morin GB, Hughes CS. Extending the Compatibility of the SP3 paramagnetic bead processing approach for proteomics. J Proteome Res. (2018) 17:1730–40. doi: 10.1021/acs.jproteome.7b00913
- Elkouris M, Kontaki H, Stavropoulos A, Antonoglou A, Nikolaou KC, Samiotaki M, et al. SET9-mediated regulation of TGF-beta signaling links protein methylation to pulmonary fibrosis. *Cell Rep.* (2016) 15:2733–44. doi: 10.1016/j.celrep.2016.05.051
- Skliris A, Papadaki O, Kafasla P, Karakasiliotis I, Hazapis O, Reczko M, et al. Neuroprotection requires the functions of the RNA-binding protein HuR. *Cell Death Differ*. (2015) 22:703–18. doi: 10.1038/cdd.2014.158
- Katsanou V, Milatos S, Yiakouvaki A, Sgantzis N, Kotsoni A, Alexiou M, et al. The RNA-binding protein Elavl1/HuR is essential for placental branching morphogenesis and embryonic development. *Mol Cell Biol.* (2009) 29:2762– 76. doi: 10.1128/MCB.01393-08
- Wang JG, Wang DF, Lv BJ, Si JM. A novel mouse model for colitisassociated colon carcinogenesis induced by 1,2-dimethylhydrazine and dextran sulfate sodium. World J Gastroenterol. (2004) 10:2958–62. doi: 10.3748/wjg.v10.i20.2958
- Kontoyiannis D, Boulougouris G, Manoloukos M, Armaka M, Apostolaki M, Pizarro T, et al. Genetic dissection of the cellular pathways and signaling mechanisms in modeled tumor necrosis factor-induced Crohn's-like inflammatory bowel disease. J Exp Med. (2002) 196:1563–74. doi: 10.1084/jem.20020281
- Roulis M, Armaka M, Manoloukos M, Apostolaki M, Kollias G. Intestinal epithelial cells as producers but not targets of chronic TNF suffice to cause murine Crohn-like pathology. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (2011) 108:5396–401. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1007811108
- Roulis M, Nikolaou C, Kotsaki E, Kaffe E, Karagianni N, Koliaraki V, et al. Intestinal myofibroblast-specific Tpl2-Cox-2-PGE2 pathway links innate sensing to epithelial homeostasis. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (2014) 111:E4658– 67. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1415762111
- Goretsky T, Dirisina R, Sinh P, Mittal N, Managlia E, Williams DB, et al. p53 mediates TNF-induced epithelial cell apoptosis in IBD. *Am J Pathol.* (2012) 181:1306–15. doi: 10.1016/j.ajpath.2012.06.016
- Collins JW, Keeney KM, Crepin VF, Rathinam VA, Fitzgerald KA, Finlay BB, et al. *Citrobacter rodentium*: infection, inflammation and the microbiota. *Nat Rev Microbiol*. (2014) 12:612–23. doi: 10.1038/nrmicro3315
- Mundy R, MacDonald TT, Dougan G, Frankel G, Wiles S. Citrobacter rodentium of mice and man. Cell Microbiol. (2005) 7:1697–706. doi: 10.1111/j.1462-5822.2005.00625.x
- Willing BP, Vacharaksa A, Croxen M, Thanachayanont T, Finlay BB. Altering host resistance to infections through microbial transplantation. *PLoS ONE* (2011) 6:e26988. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0026988
- Lupp C, Robertson ML, Wickham ME, Sekirov I, Champion OL, Gaynor EC, et al. Host-mediated inflammation disrupts the intestinal microbiota and promotes the overgrowth of Enterobacteriaceae. *Cell Host Microbe* (2007) 2:204. doi: 10.1016/j.chom.2007.06.010
- Mullineaux-Sanders C, Collins JW, Ruano-Gallego D, Levy M, Pevsner-Fischer M, Glegola-Madejska IT, et al. *Citrobacter rodentium* relies on commensals for colonization of the colonic mucosa. *Cell Rep.* (2017) 21:3381– 9. doi: 10.1016/j.celrep.2017.11.086

- Hoffmann C, Hill DA, Minkah N, Kirn T, Troy A, Artis D, et al. Communitywide response of the gut microbiota to enteropathogenic *Citrobacter rodentium* infection revealed by deep sequencing. *Infect Immun.* (2009) 77:4668–78. doi: 10.1128/IAI.00493-09
- Ley RE, Backhed F, Turnbaugh P, Lozupone CA, Knight RD, Gordon JI. Obesity alters gut microbial ecology. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (2005) 102:11070–5. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0504978102
- Katsantoni EZ, Anghelescu NE, Rottier R, Moerland M, Antoniou M, de Crom R, et al. Ubiquitous expression of the rtTA2S-M2 inducible system in transgenic mice driven by the human hnRNPA2B1/CBX3 CpG island. *BMC Dev Biol.* (2007) 7:108. doi: 10.1186/1471-213X-7-108
- 60. Chang SH, Lu YC, Li X, Hsieh WY, Xiong Y, Ghosh M, et al. Antagonistic function of the RNA-binding protein HuR and miR-200b in post-transcriptional regulation of vascular endothelial growth factor-A expression and angiogenesis. J Biol Chem. (2013) 288:4908–21. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M112.423871
- Kim YG, Kamada N, Shaw MH, Warner N, Chen GY, Franchi L, et al. The Nod2 sensor promotes intestinal pathogen eradication via the chemokine CCL2-dependent recruitment of inflammatory monocytes. *Immunity* (2011) 34:769–80. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2011.04.013
- 62. Owens BM, Simmons A. Intestinal stromal cells in mucosal immunity and homeostasis. *Mucosal Immunol.* (2013) 6:224–34. doi: 10.1038/mi.2012.125
- 63. Pott J, Hornef M. Innate immune signalling at the intestinal epithelium in homeostasis and disease. *EMBO Rep.* (2012) 13:684–98. doi: 10.1038/embor.2012.96
- Liu L, Zhuang R, Xiao L, Chung HK, Luo J, Turner DJ, et al. HuR enhances early restitution of the intestinal epithelium by increasing Cdc42 translation. *Mol Cell Biol.* (2017) 37:e00574–16. doi: 10.1128/MCB.00574-16
- 65. D'Errico I, Salvatore L, Murzilli S, Lo Sasso G, Latorre D, Martelli N, et al. Peroxisome proliferator-activated receptor-gamma coactivator 1-alpha (PGC1alpha) is a metabolic regulator of intestinal epithelial cell fate. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (2011) 108:6603–8. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1016354108
- Mizushima T, Arakawa S, Sanada Y, Yoshino I, Miyazaki D, Urushima H, et al. Inhibition of epithelial cell death by Bcl-2 improved chronic colitis in IL–10 KO mice. *Am J Pathol.* (2013) 183:1936–44. doi: 10.1016/j.ajpath.2013.08.012
- Schneider MR, Dahlhoff M, Horst D, Hirschi B, Trulzsch K, Muller-Hocker J, et al. A key role for E-cadherin in intestinal homeostasis and Paneth cell maturation. *PLoS ONE* (2010) 5:e14325. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone. 0014325
- Grill JI, Neumann J, Hiltwein F, Kolligs FT, Schneider MR. Intestinal Ecadherin Deficiency aggravates dextran sodium sulfate-induced colitis. *Dig Dis Sci.* (2015) 60:895–902. doi: 10.1007/s10620-015-3551-x
- Becker S, Wandel E, Wobus M, Schneider R, Amasheh S, Sittig D, et al. Overexpression of CD97 in intestinal epithelial cells of transgenic mice attenuates colitis by strengthening adherens junctions. *PLoS ONE* (2010) 5:e8507. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0008507
- Hermiston ML, Wong MH, Gordon JI. Forced expression of E-cadherin in the mouse intestinal epithelium slows cell migration and provides evidence for nonautonomous regulation of cell fate in a self-renewing system. *Genes Dev.* (1996) 10:985–96. doi: 10.1101/gad.10.8.985

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2018 Christodoulou-Vafeiadou, Ioakeimidis, Andreadou, Giagkas, Stamatakis, Reczko, Samiotaki, Papanastasiou, Karakasiliotis and Kontoyiannis. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Combined IL-2 Immunocomplex and Anti-IL-5 mAb Treatment Expands Foxp3⁺ Treg Cells in the Absence of Eosinophilia and Ameliorates Experimental Colitis

Hirohito Abo, Kyle L. Flannigan, Duke Geem, Vu L. Ngo, Akihito Harusato and Timothy L. Denning *

Center for Inflammation, Immunity & Infection, Institute for Biomedical Sciences, Georgia State University, Atlanta, Georgia

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Fabio Cominelli, Case Western Reserve University, United States

Reviewed by:

Luca Pastorelli, University of Milan, Italy Simon Patrick Hogan, University of Michigan, United States

> *Correspondence: Timothy L. Denning tdenning@gsu.edu

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Cytokines and Soluble Mediators in Immunity, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology

> Received: 15 November 2018 Accepted: 20 February 2019 Published: 14 March 2019

Citation:

Abo H, Flannigan KL, Geem D, Ngo VL, Harusato A and Denning TL (2019) Combined IL-2 Immunocomplex and Anti-IL-5 mAb Treatment Expands Foxp3⁺ Treg Cells in the Absence of Eosinophilia and Ameliorates Experimental Colitis. Front. Immunol. 10:459. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2019.00459 Interleukin (IL)-2 is expressed during T cell activation and induces the proliferation and differentiation of T cells. CD4+Foxp3+ regulatory T cells (Tregs) constitutively express the high affinity IL-2 receptor (CD25/IL-2Ra) and rapidly respond to IL-2 to elaborate numerous suppressive mechanisms that limit immune-mediated pathologies. Accumulating evidence supports the concept that an aberrant balance between Tregs and Teff contribute to the pathology of intestinal inflammation and that the IL-2/Treg axis is a potential pathway to exploit for the treatment of inflammatory bowel disease (IBD). Here, we show that treatment of mice with IL-2/IL-2 antibody (JES6-1) immunocomplex during DSS-induced colitis induced Foxp3⁺ Treg expansion, but also potently stimulated GATA3⁺ type 2 innate lymphoid cell (ILC2) proliferation and high-level expression of IL-5. Furthermore, IL-2/JES6-1 treatment resulted in massive eosinophil accumulation and activation in the inflamed colon, and afforded only modest protection from colitis. In light of these findings, we observed that combined IL-2/JES6-1 and anti-IL-5 mAb treatment was most effective at ameliorating DSS-induced colitis compared to either treatment alone and that this regimen allowed for Foxp3⁺ Treg expansion without concomitant eosinophilia. Collectively, our findings provide insight into how blockade of IL-5 may aid in optimizing IL-2 immunotherapy for the treatment of intestinal inflammation.

Keywords: IL-2, IL-5, Treg, eosinophil, ILC2, IBD

INTRODUCTION

Interleukin (IL)-2 is a T cell growth factor that is essential for the proliferation and differentiation of T cells into effector and memory populations (1). These critical functions have led to the use of IL-2 in stimulating immune responses *in vivo*, particularly for anti-tumor immunotherapy and for boosting T cell numbers in AIDS patients (2, 3). However, the relatively high-doses of IL-2 required to induce beneficial responses *in vivo* are often accompanied by untoward side effects including vascular leak syndrome and hepatic and renal dysfunction, which have limited clinical use of high-dose IL-2 (4, 5). In addition to delivering IL-2 to augment immune activation, blockade of the high-affinity α chain of the IL-2 receptor (CD25) using the monoclonal antibody basilixumab, has also been employed to suppress organ transplantation rejection associated with IL-2 signaling

(6). These clinical uses of IL-2 delivery or IL-2 receptor blockade to amplify or inhibit immune responses, respectively, fit with the well-defined immune stimulatory roles of IL-2.

Interestingly, IL-2 also plays a major role in the development, survival, expansion, and suppressive functions of a unique population of regulatory CD4⁺ T cells (Treg) that constitutively express high levels of CD25 and Foxp3 (7-18). Tregs play a vital role in negative regulation of immune-mediated inflammation in autoimmune and autoinflammatory disorders, cancer, infections, allergy, and intestinal inflammation. These cells also play key roles in suppressing metabolic inflammation and promoting tissue repair processes. Based on these suppressive functions the in vivo expansion of Foxp3⁺ Tregs has been explored as an avenue for treatment of inflammatory conditions. One method to expand Foxp3⁺ Tregs *in vivo* that has been pursued is the delivery of low-dose IL-2 either alone or complexed with antibodies. Low-dose IL-2 has been shown to preferentially expand Foxp3⁺ Tregs in part due to their constitutive CD25 expression as well as other cell-intrinsic factors (19). Treatment with lowdose IL-2 has shown promise in numerous inflammatory disorders including chronic graft vs.-host-disease (GVHD), allograft survival, systemic lupus erythematosus, and type I diabetes, among others (20, 21). Further, IL-2 can be complexed to antibodies that permit targeting to either Foxp3⁺ Tregs or effector T cells and some innate immune cell populations depending on the specific region of IL-2 the antibodies bind. For example, the anti-IL-2 antibody JES6-1 binding to IL-2 induces allosteric changes that permit preferential activation of CD25-expressing cells, such as Tregs, while a different anti-IL-2 antibody, S4B6, induces distinct conformational changes in IL-2 allowing for selective interaction with IL-2 receptor beta (IL-2Rβ/CD122) and expansion of CD8⁺ T cells and NK cells (22, 23). Consistent with the ability of IL-2/JES6-1 immunocomplexes to expand Foxp3⁺ Tregs in vivo, they have shown beneficial results in the treatment of several autoimmune and inflammatory diseases in mice (21). IL-2/JES6-1 immunocomplexes and lowdose IL-2 therapy are also stimulatory for group 2 innate lymphoid cells (ILC2s) that express CD25, which can contribute to IL-5 production and eosinophilia (24). Thus, the favorable effects of IL-2-mediated Foxp3⁺ Treg expansion and immune suppression may be tempered by simultaneous activation of immune stimulatory effector cells such as eosinophils.

Given the vast number of microbes in the intestine, tightly regulated immune responses are instrumental in the maintenance of gut homeostasis, and IL-2 and Foxp3⁺ Tregs play a vital function in this process (25–27). Upon bacterial colonization of the intestine in early life or upon colonization of germ-free mice with microbiota, IL-2 is rapidly induced and consequently drives the expansion of Foxp3⁺ Tregs that aids in establishing tolerance toward the microbiota (28, 29). The importance of IL-2 signaling and Foxp3⁺ Tregs in maintaining intestinal homeostasis is most evident in mice lacking IL-2 or Foxp3, which develop spontaneous intestinal inflammation (30, 31). Further, naive CD4⁺ T cells induce chronic colitis when transferred into immunodeficient mice in the absence of Foxp3⁺ Tregs (32). In this T cell transfer model, delivery of Foxp3⁺ Tregs can both prevent and treat disease (25). Based on these

observations, *in vivo* expansion of Foxp3⁺ Tregs using IL-2 and other methods has been explored as a potential therapeutic for human inflammatory bowel disease (IBD) (33, 34).

In this report, we show that treatment of mice with IL-2/JES6-1 immunocomplex during DSS-induced colitis promoted Foxp3⁺ Treg expansion, but also potently stimulated GATA3⁺ group 2 innate lymphoid cell (ILC2) proliferation and highlevel expression of IL-5 in the colon. Furthermore, IL-2/JES6-1 treatment resulted in massive eosinophil accumulation and activation in the inflamed colon, and afforded only modest protection from colitis. In light of these findings, we further demonstrated that combined IL-2/JES6-1 immunocomplex and anti-IL-5 mAb treatment was most effective at ameliorating DSS-induced colitis compared to either treatment alone and that this regimen allowed for Foxp3⁺ Treg expansion without concomitant eosinophilia. Collectively, our findings provide insight into how blockade of IL-5 may aid in optimizing IL-2 immunotherapy for the treatment of intestinal inflammation.

RESULTS

IL-2/JES6-1 Immunocomplexes Induce Colonic Foxp3+ Treg Accumulation During DSS-Induced Intestinal Inflammation

IL-2/JES6-1 immunocomplexes have been shown to induce rapid CD25+Foxp3+ Treg expansion in the spleen of mice and afford protection from dextran sodium sulfate (DSS)induced colitis when delivered for one week prior to the initiation of DSS (22). In order to explore if IL-2 delivery can induce the accumulation of Foxp3⁺ Treg in the colons of mice during experimental colitis, we treated wild-type C57BL/6J mice with IL-2/JES6-1 immunocomplexes beginning at the time of DSS administration (day 0) and continuing every 2 days. At day 6, DSS was discontinued and colons were harvested at day 10. IL-2/JES6-1 immunocomplex treatment led to a significant increase in Foxp3⁺ Treg frequency and absolute cell number (Figures 1A,B). Additionally, the expanded Foxp3⁺ Treg population in IL-2/JES6-1 immunocomplex-treated mice coincided with increased colonic Foxp3, Il2ra, and Ctla4 mRNA expression (Figure 1C). Collectively, these data demonstrate that IL-2/JES6-1 immunocomplexes are capable to inducing robust Foxp3⁺ Treg accumulation in the colons of DSS-treated mice even when initiated at the same time as DSS dosing.

Delivery of IL-2/JES6-1 Immunocomplexes to DSS-Treated Mice Drives Colonic Eosinophil Accumulation And Activation

Previous studies have reported IL-5-induced eosinophilia associated with IL-2/JES6-1 immunocomplex treatment in a murine model of dermatitis as well as in cancer patients that received high- or low-dose IL-2 immunotherapy (24). Therefore, we next explored whether IL-2/JES6-1 immunocomplexes affect colonic eosinophils during DSS-induced colitis. As shown in **Figures 2A,B**, IL-2/JES6-1 immunocomplex treatment led to a significant increase in Siglec-F⁺ eosinophil frequency and absolute cell number in the colons of DSS-treated mice. We



next assessed whether IL-2/JES6-1 immunocomplex treatment led to eosinophil activation by analyzing Gr-1 expression, since previous studies have shown that eosinophils in the inflamed intestine show increased expression of intermediate, but not high, levels of Gr-1 (35). The Gr-1 antibody reacts with both Ly6C and Ly6G antigens that are also expressed by monocytes and neutrophils, respectively. Using both Gr-1 expression and side scatter (SSC) properties, these populations can be distinguished into Gr-1^{lo-neg}SSC^{hi} eosinophils, Gr-1^{hi}SSC^{int} neutrophils, and Gr-1^{lo-int}SSC^{lo} monocytes (36). Upon activation, eosinophils can become $\text{Gr-1}^{\text{int}}\text{SSC}^{\text{hi}}$, and still be clearly distinguished from neutrophils and monocytes. Indeed, we observed that Siglec-F⁺ eosinophils in IL-2/JES6-1 immunocomplex-treated mice showed significantly higher mean fluorescence intensity (MFI) of Gr-1 when compared to non-treated controls (Figure 2C). We also investigated eosinophil cationic protein 2 (encoded by the Ear2 gene) expression as another eosinophil activation marker (37). Consistent with enhanced Gr-1 expression, ear2 mRNA expression was increased by IL-2/JES6-1 immunocomplex administration to DSS-treated mice (Figure 2D). These data indicate that IL-2/JES6-1 immunocomplexes can potently induce eosinophil accumulation and activation in the inflamed intestine during experimental colitis, which may be an unwanted side effect of IL-2-based immunotherapy forintestinal inflammation.

IL-2/JES6-1 Immunocomplex Administration Promotes Intestinal ILC2 Expansion and IL-5 Expression

To determine the mechanism of colonic eosinophil accumulation induced by IL-2/JES6-1 immunocomplex treatment in DSStreated mice, we next investigated group 2 innate lymphoid

cells (ILC2s). ILC2s are defined as lin⁻CD127⁺CD90⁺ and express the transcription factor GATA3 (38). Several studies have reported that ILC2s express CD25 and respond to IL-2 stimulation by proliferating and elaborating type 2 cytokine expression (39, 40). Additionally, a recent report showed that IL-5-producing ILC2s control eosinophilia induced by IL-2 therapy in humans and mice (24). Upon analysis of DSS-treated mice, we observed that administration of IL-2/JES6-1 immunocomplexes induced a significant increase in IL-5 mRNA expression in total colonic tissue (Figure 3A). Furthermore, IL-2/JES6-1 immunocomplexes significantly increased lin⁻CD90.2⁺GATA3⁺ ILC2 frequency and absolute cell number (Figures 3B,C). IL-5 expressing ILC2s were also significantly increased in IL-2/JES6-1 immunocomplextreated mice (Figure 3D), as was IL-13 mRNA expression (Supplementary Figure 1A) and IL-13 expressing ILC2s (Supplementary Figure 1B). While Ccl11 mRNA expression significantly induced following DSS, IL-2/JES6-1 was immunocomplex treatment did not significantly augment expression levels (Supplementary Figure 1C). Together, these observations suggest that eosinophil accumulation and activation induced by IL-2/JES6-1 immunocomplex treatment was strongly associated with IL-5- and IL-13-producing ILC2 induction.

Combined Delivery of IL-2/JES6-1 Immunocomplexes and Anti-IL-5 Mab Ameliorates DSS-Induced Colitis

In light of our observations that IL-2/JES6-1 immunocomplexes induce Foxp3⁺ Tregs, but also IL-5-producing ILC2s and activated eosinophils during DSS-induced colitis, we next attempted a combined approach to optimally ameliorate



FIGURE 2 Delivery of IL-2/JES6-1 immunocomplexes to DSS-treated mice drives colonic eosinophil accumulation and activation. WT mice were treated with 3% DSS for 6 days and received normal water thereafter. IL-2/JES6-1 immunocomplexes were delivered every 2 days. On day 10, eosinophils were analyzed by flow cytometry by pre-gating on live, CD11b⁺ cells. Representative dot plots are shown in **(A)**, and the frequency and total cell numbers are shown in **(B)**. The mean fluorescence intensity (MFI) of Gr-1 staining in eosinophils is shown in **(C)** after pre-gating on live, CD11b⁺, Siglec-F⁺ cells. Expression of ECP (*Ear2*) was measured using qPCR **(D)**. Data are representative of two independent experiments with 5–7 mice/group. All data are presented as mean \pm SEM; **P* < 0.05, ***P* < 0.01, one-way ANOVA with Tukey's multiple comparison test.



FIGURE 3 | IL-2/JES6-1 immunocomplex administration promotes intestinal ILC2 expansion and IL-5 expression. WT mice were treated with 3% DSS for 6 days and received normal water thereafter. IL-2/JES6-1 immunocomplexes were delivered every 2 days. IL-5 mRNA expression in total colon tissue was analyzed by quantitative real-time PCR (A). LPL from each mouse were restimulated by PMA/ionomycin and ILC2 cells were analyzed by flow cytometry. Represent dot plots are shown in (B) and the frequency and total cell numbers are shown in (C) after pre-gating on live, lin- cells. IL-5+ILC2 were analyzed by flow cytometry (D). Data are representative of two independent experiments with 4–6 mice/group. All data are presented as mean \pm SEM; **P* < 0.05, ****P* < 0.001, one-way ANOVA with Tukey's multiple comparison test.

colitis by expanding colonic Foxp3+ Tregs via delivery of IL-2/JES6-1 immunocomplexes while simultaneously blocking eosinophil accumulation and activation by using anti-IL-5 monoclonal antibodies (mAb). We first assessed whether anti-IL-5 mAb treatment was able to prevent colonic eosinophilia in our experimental model. Indeed, while IL-2/JES6-1 immunocomplexes increased colonic eosinophil frequency and absolute cell number in DSS-treated mice, this effect could be prevented by co-administration of anti-IL-5 mAb (Figures 4A,B). Of note, administration of anti-IL-5 mAb alone was also able to significantly reduce colonic eosinophils when compared to control IgG administration to DSS-treated mice. Similarly, IL-2/JES6-1 immunocomplexes increased colonic eosinophil activation as evidenced by increased frequencies and absolute cell numbers of cells expressing intermediate, but not high, levels of Gr-1, and this effect could be prevented by co-administration of anti-IL-5 mAb (Supplementary Figures 2A,B). We next examined the effects of these 4 different treatments (control IgG, IL-2/JES6-1 immunocomplexes alone, anti-IL-5 mAb alone, and IL-2/JES6-1 immunocomplexes + anti-IL-5 mAb) on DSS-induced colitis and recovery. While the IL-2/JES6-1 immunocomplex group and the anti-IL-5 mAb group each displayed improvement in disease outcome compared the control IgG treated group, combined delivery of IL-2/JES6-1 immunocomplexes + anti-IL-5 mAb afforded the most significant protection as measured by reduced colonic shortening (Figure 4C), weight loss (Figure 4D), and disease activity index (DAI; Figure 4E). Consistent with these observations, combined delivery of IL-2/JES6-1 immunocomplexes + anti-IL-5 mAb also provided optimal reduction in pathological tissue inflammation (Figure 4F) and histology score (Figure 4G). As summarized in Supplementary Figure 3, these data collectively demonstrate that combined administration of IL-2/JES6-1 immunocomplexes and anti-IL-5 mAb, which allows for Foxp3⁺ Treg expansion in the absence of eosinophilia, is highly effective at ameliorating DSS-induced colitis compared to the use of IL-2/JES6-1 immunocomplexes or anti-IL-5 mAb alone.

DISCUSSION

In this study, we provide evidence demonstrating that combined delivery of IL-2 immunocomplexes and anti-IL-5 mAb is highly effective at expanding Foxp3⁺ Treg cells in the absence of eosinophilia and ameliorating DSS-induced colitis in mice. While evidence strongly suggests that Tregs are instrumental in establishing and maintaining gut homeostasis, an effective approach to expand these cells *in vivo* for the treatment of intestinal inflammation, without undesired side effects, has proven challenging (21, 33, 34). A previous report elegantly demonstrated that IL-2/JES6-1 immunocomplexes are effective at expanding Foxp3+ T cells in the spleens of mice and when delivered for 1 week prior to the initiation of DSS were able to lessen colitis (22). Our data confirms and extends these findings by showing that administration of IL-2/JES6-1

immunocomplexes at the time of initiating DSS treatment is sufficient to expand colonic $Foxp3^+$ Tregs and ameliorate colitis.

Interestingly, we noted that IL-2/JES6-1 immunocomplex delivery to DSS-treated mice also potently expanded IL-5 producing ILC2s and eosinophils in the inflamed colon, which is consistent with observations in other tissues (24, 40). These data suggested that accumulation and activation of eosinophils may have been impairing the beneficial effects of Foxp3+ Treg expansion induced by IL-2/JES6-1 immunocomplexes. Consistent with this concept, activated eosinophils have been associated with human IBD (41-44) and DSS-induced histopathology is attenuated in mice deficient in eosinophils (45-47), although eosinophils appear to play a dual role in the intestine and can provide beneficial effects (48, 49). Given the potent role for IL-5 in driving eosinophil accumulation, blockade of IL-5 has also been shown to reduce intestinal eosinophilia and modestly ameliorate experimental colitis in some models (35), yet not in others (50, 51). Indeed, two previous studies analyzing DSS-induced colitis using IL-5-deficient mice (50, 51) concluded that IL-5 alone plays a minor role in the DSS model, whereas we observed a modestly more robust effect in our study. These modest effects of IL-5 deficiency on DSS colitis may be due to eosinophils providing both pro- and anti-inflammatory functions during intestinal inflammation (52), as well as the use of IL-5-deficient mice in these studies and antibody-mediated IL-5 neutralization in our study. In response to IL-2/JES6-1 immunocomplex administration and increased levels of IL-5, the augmented number and activation status of eosinophils may tip the balance in the pro-inflammatory direction, which may explain our observed beneficial effect of combined IL-2/JES6-1 immunocomplex and IL-5 blockade in the DSS model of colitis. It is noteworthy that the acute DSS model of colonic damage and repair predominantly involves innate immune activation and whether this combined treatment strategy will also be effective in chronic, T-cell dependent models of intestinal inflammation remains to be investigated.

The expansion of ILC2s by IL-2 immunocomplexes has been well-documented and consistent with the high expression of CD25 on ILC2s (21, 24, 40). However, whether ILC2 activation is beneficial or deleterious during intestinal inflammation is still being actively unraveled. Recent reports have shown that these cells are involved in mounting type 2 immune responses to helminthic infections of the gastrointestinal tract and coordinate with tuft cells to elaborate an IL-25-ILC2-IL-13 immune circuit that promotes intestinal defense and remodeling (53-56). During DSS-induced colitis however, the function of ILC2s is less clear. Gut-associated ILC2s have been reported to secrete the growth factor amphiregulin which can limit intestinal inflammation and promote tissue repair processes (57). As with eosinophils, ILC2 expansion by IL-2 immunocomplexes may alter the normal function of these cells. Clearly, additional studies are warranted to fully understand how IL-2 delivery regulates ILC2s as well as eosinophils.

Overall, further understanding of how to exploit IL-2 signaling to enhance the development, function, and antigen specificity of Tregs, without unwelcome side effects, is an active area of investigation with strong translational potential for many



inflammatory diseases (34). IL-2/JES6-1 immunocomplexes have been successfully used to expand Foxp3⁺ Treg cells in mice and these findings have led to the development of an antihuman IL-2 mAbs that selectively expands Tregs in humans (21, 34, 58). Recently, a novel anti-IL-2 antibody, F5111.2, was developed that stabilizes IL-2 in a conformation that leads to the selective expansion of Tregs. Complexing of F5111.2 with human IL-2 led to the remission of type 1 diabetes and reduced disease severity in mouse models of graft-vs.-host disease and experimental autoimmune encephalomyelitis (59). Another clinically attractive approach for preferentially expanding Tregs in vivo is to directly modulate IL-2 itself to allow for optimal conformation for binding to CD25 (34). These so-called IL-2 "muteins," like IL-2 immunocomplexes, may also lead to ILC2 expansion, IL-5 production, and eosinophilia. The data presented here suggests that these approaches for IL-2 driven Treg expansion in vivo may be further optimized by blocking IL-5 and limiting eosinophil activation.

In the present study we assessed IL-5 induction as one unwarranted side-effect of IL-2 immunocomplex treatment, however, it is important to note that stimulation of ILC2s with IL-2 or IL-2 immunocomplexes also induces other type 2 cytokines that may contribute to intestinal inflammation, including IL-9 (60) and IL-13 (40). Interestingly, both IL-9 and IL-13 can contribute to the pathogenesis of experimental models of colitis and human inflammatory bowel disease (IBD) (61, 62) and are known inducers of the eosinophil chemokine Ccl11 (63, 64). These findings may thus provide a framework for future investigations into whether blockade of IL-5, IL-9, IL-13, and/or Ccl11 may enhance the effectiveness of IL-2 immunocomplex treatment during intestinal inflammation as well as other inflammatory disease settings.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Mice

C57BL/6J mice were obtained from the Jackson Laboratory and maintained in specific pathogen-free conditions. In all experiments, sex-matched mice were used at 7–8 weeks of age. Animal procedures were approved by the Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee of Georgia State University.

DSS Model of Colitis

Mice were treated with 3% (wt/vol) DSS (MP Biomedicals; molecular weight: 36,000–50,000) in their drinking water for 6 days and then DSS was replaced with normal water. Mice receiving DSS were monitored daily for weight change and disease index activity (DAI).

Flow Cytometry

Fluorescent dye-labeled antibodies specific for CD4, CD25, CD11b, Gr-1 (clone RB6-8C5), Foxp3, GATA3, B220, NK1.1, CD19, CD3, IL-5, and IL-13 were purchased from eBioscience and Biolegend. Fc block (2.4G2) was purchased from BD. Dead cells were stained by fixable aqua dead cell staining kit. Intracellular staining for Foxp3 and GATA3 was performed by Intracellular Fixation and Permeabilization Buffer Set (eBioscience). Intracellular staining of IL-5 was performed after restimulated cells were treated with Intracellular Fixation and Permeabilization and Permeabilization Buffer Set (eBioscience). Restimulated cells were treated with Intracellular Fixation and Permeabilization Buffer Set (eBioscience) and stained with IL-5 antibodies. Flow cytometric analysis was performed on a Beckman Coulter Cytoflex flow cytometer and analyzed by Flowjo software (Tree Star, Ashland, OR).

Isolation of Colonic Lamina Propria Cells From Large Intestine

Colon tissues were cut into 0.5 cm pieces and transferred into 50 mL conical tubes. Then tubes were shaken at 250 rpm for 20 min at 37°C in Hanks' balanced salt solution supplemented with 5% FBS with 5 mM EDTA. This process was repeated twice. Cell suspensions were passed through a cell strainer and remaining colon tissues were washed and minced, transferred to 50 mL conical tubes and shaken for 10 min at 37°C in Hanks' balanced-salt solution supplemented with 5% FBS and type VIII collagenase (1 mg/mL). Cell suspensions were passed through a cell strainer and pelleted by centrifugation at 300 g.

In vivo Administration of IL-2/JES6-1 Immunocomplexes and Anti-IL-5 mAb

IL-2/JES6-1 immunocomplexes were prepared by pre-incubating recombinant IL-2 (PeproTech) with anti-IL-2 mAb (JES6-1; Bioxcell) at a 2:1 cytokine:antibody molar ratio for 30 min at room temperature (23, 65). Mice were injected with anti-IL-5 antibodies ($200 \mu g$) and/or IL-2/JES6-1 immunocomplexes (1 mg every 2 days) by i.p injection.

RNA Isolation and Real-Time PCR

Total RNA was isolated from colon tissue using the Qiagen RNeasy Mini Kit, according to the manufacturer's protocols with on-column DNase digestion using the RNase Free DNase set. cDNA was generated using Hi-capacity cDNA Reverse Transcription Kit (Applied Biosystems) according to manufacturer's protocols. qPCR was performed with SYBR Green Master Mix (BioRad) on Step One Plus real time PCR system (Applied Biosystems), and gene specific primers.

Ils F: 5'-CGCTCACCGAGCTCTGTTG-3'

Il5 R: 5'-CCAATGCATAGCTGGTGATTTTT-3'

Foxp3 F: 5'-CACCCAGGAAAGACAGCAACC-3' Foxp3 R: 5'-GCAAGAGCTCTTGTCCATTGA-3' Gapdh F: 5'-TGGCAAAGTGGAGATTGTTGCC-3' Gapdh R: 5'-AAGATGGTGATGGGGCTTCCCG-3' Ctla4 F: 5'-TGTTGACACGGGACTGTACCT-3' Ctla4 R: 5'-CGGGCATGGTTCTGGATCA-3' Il2ra F: 5'-CCACCACAGACTTCCCACAA-3' Il2ra R: 5'-CCATCTGTGTTGCCAGGTGA-3' Ear2 F: 5'-ACCAGTCGGAGGAGAACACC-3' Ear2 R: 5'-CAAAGGTGCAAAGTGCTGGC-3' Ccl11 F: 5'-AGAGCTCCACAGCGCTTCTATT-3' Ccl11 R: 5'-GGTGCATCTGTTGTTGGTGATT-3'

Histology

Colon tissues were fixed in 10% neutral buffer formalin and embedded in paraffin. Paraffin embedded tissue sections were stained using hematoxylin/eosin. The score of inflammation and epithelial damage was graded in a blinded manner using a scale from 0 to 3 for each parameter.

Statistics

All statistical analyses were performed with GraphPad Prism software, version 7 (GraphPad Software). One-way ANOVA and Tukey's Multiple Comparison Test or Student's *t*-test were used to determine significance. P < 0.05 were considered significant. *P < 0.05, **P < 0.01, ***P < 0.001.

DATA AVAILABILITY

All datasets generated for this study are included in the manuscript and/or the supplementary files.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

HA and TD conceived the idea for this project and designed the experiments. HA performed all of the experiments and analyzed the data. KF and DG performed critical preliminary experiments. VN and AH provided technical assistance. HA and TD wrote the manuscript.

FUNDING

This work was supported by National Institutes of Health grants 1R01DK097256 and 1R01DK107739 (to TD).

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We thank I.R. Williams for the critical discussion.

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fimmu. 2019.00459/full#supplementary-material

Supplementary Figure 1 | IL-2/JES6-1 immunocomplex administration induces expansion of IL-13-producing intestinal ILC2s. WT mice were treated with 3% DSS for 6 days and received normal water thereafter. IL-2/JES6-1

immunocomplexes were delivered every 2 days. IL-13 mRNA expression in total colon tissue was analyzed by quantitative real-time PCR (A). LPL from each mouse were restimulated by PMA/ionomycin and IL-13+ ILC2s total cell numbers were analyzed by flow cytometry after pre-gating on live, lin- cells (B). Ccl11 mRNA expression in total colon tissue was analyzed by quantitative real-time PCR (C). All data are presented as mean \pm SEM; **P* < 0.05, ***P* < 0.01.

Supplementary Figure 2 | Anti-IL-5 mAb treatment efficiently prevents IL-2/JES6-1 immunocomplex-induced eosinophil activation during DSS-induced colitis. WT mice were treated with 3% DSS for 6 days and received normal water thereafter. IL-2/JES6-1 immunocomplexes were delivered every 2 days and anti-IL-5 mAb was delivered every day. Siglec-F⁺ populations were gated as Gr-1

REFERENCES

- Malek TR. The biology of interleukin-2. Annu Rev Immunol. (2008) 26:453– 79. doi: 10.1146/annurev.immunol.26.021607.090357
- Bayer AL, Pugliese A, Malek TR. The IL-2/IL-2R system: from basic science to therapeutic applications to enhance immune regulation. *Immunol Res.* (2013) 57:197–209. doi: 10.1007/s12026-013-8452-5
- Rosenberg SA. IL-2: the first effective immunotherapy for human cancer. J Immunol. (2014) 192:5451–8. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol. 1490019
- Skrombolas D, Frelinger JG. Challenges and developing solutions for increasing the benefits of IL-2 treatment in tumor therapy. *Expert Rev Clin Immunol.* (2014) 10:207–17. doi: 10.1586/1744666X.2014.875856
- Lissoni P. Therapy implications of the role of interleukin-2 in cancer. Expert Rev Clin Immunol. (2017) 13:491–8. doi: 10.1080/1744666X.2017.1245146
- Smith KA, Favata MF, Oroszlan S. Production and characterization of monoclonal antibodies to human interleukin 2: strategy and tactics. J Immunol. (1983) 131:1808–15.
- Hori S, Nomura T, Sakaguchi S. Control of regulatory T cell development by the transcription factor Foxp3. *Science*. (2003) 299:1057–61. doi: 10.1126/science.1079490
- Fontenot JD, Gavin MA, Rudensky AY. Foxp3 programs the development and function of CD4+CD25+ regulatory T cells. *Nat Immunol.* (2003) 4:330–6. doi: 10.1038/ni904
- Khattri R, Cox T, Yasayko SA, Ramsdell F. An essential role for Scurfin in CD4+CD25+ T regulatory cells. *Nat Immunol.* (2003) 4:337–42. doi: 10.1038/ni909
- Malek TR, Yu A, Vincek V, Scibelli P, Kong L. CD4 regulatory T cells prevent lethal autoimmunity in IL-2Rbeta-deficient mice. Implications for the nonredundant function of IL-2. *Immunity*. (2002) 17:167–78. doi: 10.1016/S1074-7613(02)00367-9
- Malek TR, Bayer AL. Tolerance, not immunity, crucially depends on IL-2. Nat Rev Immunol. (2004) 4:665–74. doi: 10.1038/nri1435
- Fontenot JD, Rasmussen JP, Gavin MA, Rudensky AY. A function for interleukin 2 in Foxp3-expressing regulatory T cells. *Nat Immunol.* (2005) 6:1142–51. doi: 10.1038/ni1263
- Furtado GC, Curotto de Lafaille MA, Kutchukhidze N, Lafaille JJ. Interleukin 2 signaling is required for CD4(+) regulatory T cell function. J Exp Med. (2002) 196:851–7. doi: 10.1084/jem.20020190
- Thornton AM, Donovan EE, Piccirillo CA, Shevach EM. Cutting edge: IL-2 is critically required for the *in vitro* activation of CD4+CD25+ T cell suppressor function. *J Immunol.* (2004) 172:6519–23. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.172.11.6519
- Bayer AL, Yu A, Adeegbe D, Malek TR. Essential role for interleukin-2 for CD4(+)CD25(+) T regulatory cell development during the neonatal period. *J Exp Med.* (2005) 201:769–77. doi: 10.1084/jem. 20041179
- de la Rosa M, Rutz S, Dorninger H, Scheffold A. Interleukin-2 is essential for CD4+CD25+ regulatory T cell function. *Eur J Immunol.* (2004) 34:2480–8. doi: 10.1002/eji.200425274
- Setoguchi R, Hori S, Takahashi T, Sakaguchi S. Homeostatic maintenance of natural Foxp3(+) CD25(+) CD4(+) regulatory T cells by interleukin (IL)-2 and induction of autoimmune disease by IL-2 neutralization. *J Exp Med.* (2005) 201:723–35. doi: 10.1084/jem.20041982

low, int, and hi. Representative dot plots are shown in **(A)**. Frequency and cell numbers of each population are shown in **(B)**. All data are presented as mean \pm SEM; **P* < 0.05, ***P* < 0.01, ****P* < 0.001.

Supplementary Figure 3 | Model for combined effects of IL-2/JES6-1 immunocomplex and anti-IL-5 treatment during DSS colitis. IL-2/JES6-1 immunocomplexes during DSS-induced colitis induce Foxp3⁺ Treg expansion, but also potently stimulates GATA3⁺ILC2 proliferation and expression of IL-5, leading to eosinophil accumulation and activation in the inflamed colon. Combined IL-2/JES6-1 and anti-IL-5 mAb treatment permits Foxp3⁺ Treg expansion in the absence of associated eosinophilia and is effective at ameliorating DSS-induced colitis.

- Papiernik M, de Moraes ML, Pontoux C, Vasseur F, Penit C. Regulatory CD4 T cells: expression of IL-2R alpha chain, resistance to clonal deletion and IL-2 dependency. *Int Immunol.* (1998) 10:371–8. doi: 10.1093/intimm/10.4.371
- Rosenzwajg M, Churlaud G, Mallone R, Six A, Derian N, Chaara W, et al. Lowdose interleukin-2 fosters a dose-dependent regulatory T cell tuned milieu in T1D patients. J Autoimmun. (2015) 58:48–58. doi: 10.1016/j.jaut.2015.01.001
- Klatzmann D, Abbas AK. The promise of low-dose interleukin-2 therapy for autoimmune and inflammatory diseases. *Nat Rev Immunol.* (2015) 15:283–94. doi: 10.1038/nri3823
- Abbas AK, Trotta E, D RS, Marson A, Bluestone JA. Revisiting IL-2: biology and therapeutic prospects. *Sci Immunol.* (2018) 3:eaat1482. doi: 10.1126/sciimmunol.aat1482
- Spangler JB, Tomala J, Luca VC, Jude KM, Dong S, Ring AM, et al. Antibodies to Interleukin-2 elicit selective T cell subset potentiation through distinct conformational mechanisms. *Immunity*. (2015) 42:815–25. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2015.04.015
- Boyman O, Kovar M, Rubinstein MP, Surh CD, Sprent J. Selective stimulation of T cell subsets with antibody-cytokine immune complexes. *Science*. (2006) 311:1924–7. doi: 10.1126/science.1122927
- Van Gool F, Molofsky AB, Morar MM, Rosenzwajg M, Liang HE, Klatzmann D, et al. Interleukin-5-producing group 2 innate lymphoid cells control eosinophilia induced by interleukin-2 therapy. *Blood.* (2014) 124:3572–6. doi: 10.1182/blood-2014-07-587493
- Izcue A, Coombes JL, Powrie F. Regulatory lymphocytes and intestinal inflammation. Annu Rev Immunol. (2009) 27:313–38. doi: 10.1146/annurev.immunol.021908.132657
- Hooper LV, Littman DR, Macpherson AJ. Interactions between the microbiota and the immune system. *Science*. (2012) 336:1268–73. doi: 10.1126/science.1223490
- 27. Honda K, Littman DR. The microbiota in adaptive immune homeostasis and disease. *Nature*. (2016) 535:75–84. doi: 10.1038/nature18848
- Obata Y, Furusawa Y, Endo TA, Sharif J, Takahashi D, Atarashi K, et al. The epigenetic regulator Uhrf1 facilitates the proliferation and maturation of colonic regulatory T cells. *Nat Immunol.* (2014) 15:571–9. doi: 10.1038/ni.2886
- Tanoue T, Atarashi K, Honda K. Development and maintenance of intestinal regulatory T cells. *Nat Rev Immunol.* (2016) 16:295–309. doi: 10.1038/nri.2016.36
- Sadlack B, Merz H, Schorle H, Schimpl A, Feller AC, Horak I. Ulcerative colitis-like disease in mice with a disrupted interleukin-2 gene. *Cell.* (1993) 75:253–61. doi: 10.1016/0092-8674(93)80067-O
- Chinen T, Volchkov PY, Chervonsky AV, Rudensky AY. A critical role for regulatory T cell-mediated control of inflammation in the absence of commensal microbiota. J Exp Med. (2010) 207:2323–30. doi: 10.1084/jem.20101235
- Coombes JL, Robinson NJ, Maloy KJ, Uhlig HH, Powrie F. Regulatory T cells and intestinal homeostasis. *Immunol Rev.* (2005) 204:184–94. doi: 10.1111/j.0105-2896.2005.00250.x
- Geem D, Harusato A, Flannigan K, Denning TL. Harnessing regulatory T cells for the treatment of inflammatory bowel disease. *Inflamm Bowel Dis.* (2015) 21:1409–18. doi: 10.1097/MIB.00000000000343
- Dawson NAJ, Vent-Schmidt J, Levings MK. Engineered tolerance: tailoring development, function, and antigen-specificity of regulatory T cells. Front Immunol. (2017) 8:1460. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2017.01460

- Griseri T, Arnold IC, Pearson C, Krausgruber T, Schiering C, Franchini F, et al. Granulocyte macrophage colony-stimulating factor-activated eosinophils promote interleukin-23 driven chronic colitis. *Immunity*. (2015) 43:187–99. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2015.07.008
- Rose S, Misharin A, Perlman H. A novel Ly6C/Ly6G-based strategy to analyze the mouse splenic myeloid compartment. *Cytometry A*. (2012) 81:343–50. doi: 10.1002/cyto.a.22012
- Fulkerson PC, Rothenberg ME. Targeting eosinophils in allergy, inflammation and beyond. Nat Rev Drug Discov. (2013) 12:117–29. doi: 10.1038/nrd3838
- Sonnenberg GF, Artis D. Innate lymphoid cells in the initiation, regulation and resolution of inflammation. *Nat Med.* (2015) 21:698–708. doi: 10.1038/nm.3892
- Klein Wolterink RG, Kleinjan A, van Nimwegen M, Bergen I, de Bruijn M, Levani Y, et al. Pulmonary innate lymphoid cells are major producers of IL-5 and IL-13 in murine models of allergic asthma. *Eur J Immunol.* (2012) 42:1106–16. doi: 10.1002/eji.201142018
- Roediger B, Kyle R, Yip KH, Sumaria N, Guy TV, Kim BS, et al. Cutaneous immunosurveillance and regulation of inflammation by group 2 innate lymphoid cells. *Nat Immunol.* (2013) 14:564–73. doi: 10.1038/ni.2584
- Hogan SP. Functional role of eosinophils in gastrointestinal inflammation. *Immunol Allergy Clin North Am.* (2009) 29:129–40. doi: 10.1016/j.iac.2008.10.004
- 42. Al-Haddad S, Riddell RH. The role of eosinophils in inflammatory bowel disease. *Gut.* (2005) 54:1674–5. doi: 10.1136/gut.2005.072595
- Jung Y, Rothenberg ME. Roles and regulation of gastrointestinal eosinophils in immunity and disease. J Immunol. (2014) 193:999–1005. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1400413
- 44. Woodruff SA, Masterson JC, Fillon S, Robinson ZD, Furuta GT. Role of eosinophils in inflammatory bowel and gastrointestinal diseases. J Pediatr Gastroenterol Nutr. (2011) 52:650–61. doi: 10.1097/MPG.0b013e 3182128512
- Ahrens R, Waddell A, Seidu L, Blanchard C, Carey R, Forbes E, et al. Intestinal macrophage/epithelial cell-derived CCL11/eotaxin-1 mediates eosinophil recruitment and function in pediatric ulcerative colitis. *J Immunol.* (2008) 181:7390–9. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.181.10.7390
- Maltby S, Wohlfarth C, Gold M, Zbytnuik L, Hughes MR, McNagny KM. CD34 is required for infiltration of eosinophils into the colon and pathology associated with DSS-induced ulcerative colitis. *Am J Pathol.* (2010) 177:1244– 54. doi: 10.2353/ajpath.2010.100191
- Vieira AT, Fagundes CT, Alessandri AL, Castor MG, Guabiraba R, Borges VO, et al. Treatment with a novel chemokine-binding protein or eosinophil lineage-ablation protects mice from experimental colitis. *Am J Pathol.* (2009) 175:2382–91. doi: 10.2353/ajpath.2009.090093
- Masterson JC, McNamee EN, Fillon SA, Hosford L, Harris R, Fernando SD, et al. Eosinophil-mediated signalling attenuates inflammatory responses in experimental colitis. *Gut.* (2015) 64:1236–47. doi: 10.1136/gutjnl-2014-306998
- Chu VT, Beller A, Rausch S, Strandmark J, Zanker M, Arbach O, et al. Eosinophils promote generation and maintenance of immunoglobulin-Aexpressing plasma cells and contribute to gut immune homeostasis. *Immunity*. (2014) 40:582–93. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2014.02.014
- Forbes E, Murase T, Yang M, Matthaei KI, Lee JJ, Lee NA, et al. Immunopathogenesis of experimental ulcerative colitis is mediated by eosinophil peroxidase. *J Immunol.* (2004) 172:5664–75. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.172.9.5664
- Stevceva L, Pavli P, Husband A, Matthaei KI, Young IG, Doe WF. Eosinophilia is attenuated in experimental colitis induced in IL-5 deficient mice. *Genes Immun.* (2000) 1:213–8. doi: 10.1038/sj.gene. 6363654

- Travers J, Rothenberg ME. Eosinophils in mucosal immune responses. Mucosal Immunol. (2015) 8:464–75. doi: 10.1038/mi.2015.2
- von Moltke J, Ji M, Liang HE, Locksley RM. Tuft-cell-derived IL-25 regulates an intestinal ILC2-epithelial response circuit. *Nature*. (2016) 529:221–5. doi: 10.1038/nature16161
- Schneider C, O'Leary CE, von Moltke J, Liang HE, Ang QY, Turnbaugh PJ, et al. A metabolite-triggered tuft cell-ILC2 circuit drives small intestinal remodeling. *Cell.* (2018) 174:271–84 e14. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2018.05.014
- Nadjsombati MS, McGinty JW, Lyons-Cohen MR, Jaffe JB, DiPeso L, Schneider C, et al. Detection of succinate by intestinal tuft cells triggers a type 2 innate immune circuit. *Immunity*. (2018) 49:33–41 e7. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2018.06.016
- Howitt MR, Lavoie S, Michaud M, Blum AM, Tran SV, Weinstock JV, et al. Tuft cells, taste-chemosensory cells, orchestrate parasite type 2 immunity in the gut. *Science*. (2016) 351:1329–33. doi: 10.1126/science.aaf1648
- Monticelli LA, Osborne LC, Noti M, Tran SV, Zaiss DM, Artis D. IL-33 promotes an innate immune pathway of intestinal tissue protection dependent on amphiregulin-EGFR interactions. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (2015) 112:10762–7. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1509070112
- Arenas-Ramirez N, Woytschak J, Boyman O. Interleukin-2: biology, design and application. *Trends Immunol.* (2015) 36:763–77. doi: 10.1016/j.it.2015.10.003
- Trotta E, Bessette PH, Silveria SL, Ely LK, Jude KM, Le DT, et al. A human anti-IL-2 antibody that potentiates regulatory T cells by a structure-based mechanism. *Nat Med.* (2018) 24:1005–14. doi: 10.1038/s41591-018-0070-2
- Wilhelm C, Hirota K, Stieglitz B, Van Snick J, Tolaini M, Lahl K, et al. An IL-9 fate reporter demonstrates the induction of an innate IL-9 response in lung inflammation. *Nat Immunol.* (2011) 12:1071–7. doi: 10.1038/ni.2133
- Neurath MF, Finotto S. IL-9 signaling as key driver of chronic inflammation in mucosal immunity. *Cytokine Growth Factor Rev.* (2016) 29:93–9. doi: 10.1016/j.cytogfr.2016.02.002
- Jovani M, Fiorino G, Danese S. Anti-IL-13 in inflammatory bowel disease: from the bench to the bedside. *Curr Drug Targets*. (2013) 14:1444–52. doi: 10.2174/13894501113149990170
- Waddell A, Ahrens R, Tsai YT, Sherrill JD, Denson LA, Steinbrecher KA, et al. Intestinal CCL11 and eosinophilic inflammation is regulated by myeloid cell-specific RelA/p65 in mice. *J Immunol.* (2013) 190:4773–85. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1200057
- Yamasaki A, Saleh A, Koussih L, Muro S, Halayko AJ, Gounni AS. IL-9 induces CCL11 expression via STAT3 signalling in human airway smooth muscle cells. *PLoS ONE.* (2010) 5:e9178. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0009178
- 65. Webster KE, Walters S, Kohler RE, Mrkvan T, Boyman O, Surh CD, et al. *In vivo* expansion of T reg cells with IL-2-mAb complexes: induction of resistance to EAE and long-term acceptance of islet allografts without immunosuppression. *J Exp Med.* (2009) 206:751–60. doi: 10.1084/jem.20082824

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2019 Abo, Flannigan, Geem, Ngo, Harusato and Denning. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





TL1A (TNFSF15) and DR3 (TNFRSF25): A Co-stimulatory System of Cytokines With Diverse Functions in Gut Mucosal Immunity

Vassilis Valatas¹, George Kolios² and Giorgos Bamias^{3*}

¹ Gastroenterology and Hepatology Research Laboratory, Medical School, University of Crete, Heraklion, Greece, ² Laboratory of Pharmacology, Faculty of Medicine, Democritus University of Thrace, Alexandroupolis, Greece, ³ Gl-unit, National & Kapodistrian University of Athens, Third Department of Internal Medicine, Sotiria Hospital, Athens, Greece

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Detlef Neumann, Hannover Medical School, Germany

Reviewed by:

Piergiuseppe De Berardinis, Istituto di Biochimica delle Proteine (IBP), Italy Guntram A. Grassl, Hannover Medical School, Germany

> *Correspondence: Giorgos Bamias

gbamias@gmail.com

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Cytokines and Soluble Mediators in Immunity, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology

> Received: 28 August 2018 Accepted: 04 March 2019 Published: 27 March 2019

Citation:

Valatas V, Kolios G and Bamias G (2019) TL1A (TNFSF15) and DR3 (TNFRSF25): A Co-stimulatory System of Cytokines With Diverse Functions in Gut Mucosal Immunity. Front. Immunol. 10:583. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2019.00583

TL1A and its functional receptor DR3 are members of the TNF/TNFR superfamilies of proteins. Binding of APC-derived TL1A to lymphocytic DR3 provides co-stimulatory signals for activated lymphocytes. DR3 signaling affects the proliferative activity of and cytokine production by effector lymphocytes, but also critically influences the development and suppressive function of regulatory T-cells. DR3 was also found to be highly expressed by innate lymphoid cells (ILCS), which respond to stimulation by TL1A. Several recent studies with transgenic and knockout mice as well as neutralizing or agonistic antibodies for these two proteins, have clearly shown that TL1A/DR3 are important mediators of several chronic immunological disorders, including Inflammatory Bowel Disease (IBD). TL1A and DR3 are abundantly localized at inflamed intestinal areas of patients with IBD and mice with experimental ileitis or colitis and actively participate in the immunological pathways that underlie mucosal homeostasis and intestinal inflammation. DR3 signaling has demonstrated a dichotomous role in mucosal immunity. On the one hand, during acute mucosal injury it exerts protective functions by ameliorating the severity of acute inflammatory responses and facilitating tissue repair. On the other hand, it critically participates in the pro-inflammatory pathways that underlie chronic inflammatory responses, such as those that take place in IBD. These effects are mediated through modulation of the relative mucosal abundance and function of Th1, Th2, Th17, Th9, and Treg lymphocytes, but also of all types of ILCs. Recently, an important role was demonstrated for TL1A/DR3 as potential mediators of intestinal fibrosis that is associated with the presence of gut inflammation. These accumulating data have raised the possibility that TL1A/DR3 pathways may represent a valid therapeutic target for chronic immunological diseases. Nevertheless, applicability of such a therapeutic approach will greatly rely on the net result of TL1A/DR3 manipulation on the various cell populations that will be affected by this approach.

Keywords: TL1A, DR3, mucosal immunity, inflammatory bowel disease, co-stimulatory

INTRODUCTION

Mucosal homeostasis at the gastrointestinal tract requires a delicate co-existence of gut microbiota with the gut-associated mucosal immune system, an interaction that is constantly challenged by environmental factors. Hence, mucosal "health" is depended on an intact genetic structure, preserved by the integrity of the epithelial barrier, and fine-tuned by immunoregulatory responses. Failure of one or more of these balancing elements leads to breakdown of homeostasis and predominance of pro-inflammatory immunological circuits. The latter are critically dependent on key cellular and/or soluble mediators, most prominent among which are cytokines and their receptors. The prototypical disorders that are signified by such dysregulated mucosal immunity are the Inflammatory Bowel Diseases (IBD), in particular Crohn's disease (CD) and ulcerative colitis (UC). Thus, it is of no surprise that cytokines have been the main targets of therapeutic interventions in IBD, which represents a rapidly expanding field in recent years.

TL1A (Tumor necrosis factor-like cytokine 1A) was first reported in 2002 (1). It is a member of the TNF superfamily of proteins (TNFSF) and it is encoded by the *Tnfsf15* gene that is located on chromosome 9q32 in humans and chromosome 4 in mice. TL1A is a type II transmembrane protein with a molecular weight of 28 kDa, which contains 251 amino acids. Similar to other members of the TNF-family, TL1A forms a stable trimer. It exists in a membrane-bound form (mTL1A), which may also be cleaved by matrix metalloproteinases and released as soluble, fully-functional 20-kDa protein (sTL1A) (1, 2).

The functional receptor for TL1A is DR3 (death domain receptor 3), which is encoded by the Tnfrsf25 gene that is located at the 1p36.3 position in humans (3, 4). DR3 is a type I membrane protein with a 417 AA sequence and a molecular weight of 45 kDa that shares the highest homology to TNFR1 among all members of the TNFRSF. DR3 contains a death domain in its cytoplasmic region; thus it may participate in apoptotic processes. Nevertheless, DR3 signaling also mediates inflammatory/immunological responses. An important characteristic of human DR3 is the existence of several splice variants (13 in humans and 10 in mice). The functional implications of such variety are not fully understood, although encoded proteins may differ in their function (5). To date, the only proven ligand for DR3 is TL1A (including the short variant, TL1/vascular endothelial growth inhibitor).

There is now able evidence that interactions between TL1A and its functional receptor DR3 affect gut mucosal immunity both during homeostatic conditions and in various inflammatory states (**Figure 1**). In particular, their role in IBD is supported by a variety of genetic, immunological, experimental, and translational data. The current review aims to critically present existing literature on the role of TL1A and DR3 in mucosal immunity.

TNFSF15 POLYMORPHISMS AFFECT SUSCEPTIBILITY TO INTESTINAL DISEASES

A first line of evidence for the potential importance of TL1A in the pathogenesis of IBD is derived from studies that reported significant associations between genetic variations in the Tnfsf15gene and susceptibility to IBD (**Table 1**).

In 2005, Yamazaki et al. were the first to report that a specific genetic variant of Tnfsf15, tnfsf15_28, was strongly associated with susceptibility to IBD in Japanese patients, whereas the gene was monomorphic in a Caucasian population from the UK (19). Further investigation of these two ethnic groups revealed 5 different SNPs, tnfsf15_26, 31, 35, 36, and 41, that were polymorphic in both groups, forming three different haplotypes which affected susceptibility to IBD. In both ethnic groups, haplotype A was identified as a high-risk marker for susceptibility to IBD, whereas haplotype B was found to be a low-risk genetic factor. Haplotype C was not significantly associated with IBD risk in either population, despite its frequent detection. Two years later, Picornell et al. investigated the aforementioned three haplotypes in Jewish and non-Jewish IBD and control populations in Los Angeles, USA. In the non-Jewish population, similar to the previous study, haplotype B was less frequent in both CD and UC patients compared to controls, highlighting a possible protective role (20). On the other hand, no association of haplotype A with IBD was seen in either population, suggesting that *Tnfsf15* polymorphisms are ethnic-specific. These findings were further supported by independent studies from Asia and Europe.

Interestingly, haplotype B of the Tnfsf15 gene has been found to affect protein production by monocytes and macrophages. Peripheral CD14+ monocytes and monocytederived macrophages from patients carrying Haplotype B or the rs6478109 A minor allele produce higher levels of TL1A in response to FcyR or LPS stimulation (21, 22). Interestingly, haplotype B has been reported to confer CD risk in Jewish patients but the rs6478109 A minor allele conferred protection to subjects of European descent. However, the studies on the effect of TL1A gene Haplotypes on membrane bound TL1A has provided conflicting results. Earlier studies have shown that membrane expression of TL1A was up-regulated on peripheral monocytes from Jewish but not from non-Jewish CD patients that carry the B haplotype but later studies have shown increase membrane bound TL1A in homozygotes of the protective rs6478109 A allele in European descent subject (21, 22).

A Korean study in pediatric CD patients and adult controls showed that six specific haplotypes of the *Tnfsf15* gene were more frequently reported and, of those, two were significantly different between the two groups; the haplotype including T-C-A-T-C SNPs (rs3810936-rs6478108-rs6478109-rs7848647-rs7865494) was more frequent in controls, whereas haplotype including C-T-G-C-C SNPs in CD patients (7). On the other hand, in a Chinese study consisting of 13 pediatric patients with Very-earlyonset IBD (VEO-IBD), no association between *Tnfsf15* gene mutations and VEO-IBD was found and this finding may be



FIGURE 1 The TLTA/DR3 system as a central regulator of mucosal immune responses, allergy and autoimmunity. TLTA is not constitutively expressed but is induced in mucosal APCs (and other types of immunocytes) following stimulation via microbial and non-microbial antigens. TLTA binds to the functional receptor, DR3, which is expressed by various lymphocytic populations upon activation. TLTA/DR3 signaling enhances proliferation and optimizes cytokine production by responding lymphocytes, acting as a co-stimulatory system that amplifies TCR or cytokine provided signals. This function is of particular importance under conditions of sub-optimal lymphocyte stimulation. All types of effector T cells (Teff: Th1, Th2, Th9, Th17) respond to stimulation with TL1A. DR3 is also expressed by regulatory lymphocytes (Tregs), which proliferate in response to TL1A, although this may be accompanied by a temporary halt of suppressive function, especially in the event of acute inflammation. DR3 expression has also been demonstrated in innate lymphocytes. This universal expression of DR3 by innate and adaptive effector and regulatory populations implies a key regulatory regulatory of the TL1A/DR3 system in mucosal immunity. Alongside, experimental data from animal models and translational data from patients indicate an important contribution of the TL1A/DR3 system in allergic lung inflammation and autoimmune diseases such as Crohn's disease, Ulcerative colitis, Rheumatoid arthritis, and Psoriasis.

the result of either ethnic differences or the small number of patients included in the study (23). Contrary to the previous study, it was recently shown that the *Tnfsf15* rs4246905 SNP was associated with development of CD in children with chronic granulomatous disease (24).

The importance of the ethnic background for *Tnfsf15* polymorphisms was further highlighted in an Indian study showing that haplotype A was significantly more frequent in IBD cases than in healthy individuals, while the opposite was observed for haplotype C. Further investigation identified two additional SNPs (rs10114470 and rs4263839) and generated 7 different haplotypes, from which haplotype H had a possible protective role being more frequent in healthy individuals, whereas haplotypes I and J conferred susceptibility to IBD (25). Haplotypes of the *Tnfsf15* gene that are associated with either susceptibility or protection from CD have also been reported in

the European population (26). Similar to Yamazaki, a Korean study showed that the allele T of the SNP rs6478108 is indeed a "risk" allele as it is more frequently found in patients with UC (8). In a recent study that included a large number of IBD patients and healthy individuals across Europe and Asia showed that, although allele frequencies are similar between the European and Asian population, *Tnfsf15* variants have a stronger association with IBD susceptibility in people originating from Asia (18).

Other studies have also proposed that certain *Tnfsf15* alleles may bear prognostic value for the severity of IBD. In the Chinese population, the T allele of SNP rs10114470 was associated with increased probability of developing stricturing, penetrating, or perianal complications (27). In the same notion, Pernat Dobrez et al. identified the SNP rs4263839 as a possible marker for disease progression. In their study, 72.2% of CD patients who were carriers of allele A had progressed from an inflammatory (B1)

TABLE 1 Genetic associations of <i>Tnfsf15</i> gene with susceptibility and phenotype	Э
of IBD.	

Polymorphism	Ethnicity	Susceptibility/Phenotype	References	
rs3810936	Asian, Caucasian	CD	(6)	
	Asian	UC		
rs6478108	Asian, Caucasian	CD	(6)	
			(7)	
	Asian, Caucasian	UC	(8)	
	Asian	CD B2/B3	(9)	
rs4979462	Asian	CD	(6)	
rs6478109	Asian, Caucasian	CD	(6)	
			(7)	
			(10)	
	Asian	UC	(6)	
rs7848647	Asian, Caucasian	CD	(6)	
	Asian	UC		
	Caucasian, Asian	CD early onset	(7,11)	
rs7869487	Asian, Caucasian	CD	(6)	
rs4263839	Caucasian	Colonic CD location	(12)	
	Caucasian	Bowel resection	(13)	
	Asian	CD, B2/B3	(14)	
rs4574921	Asian	CD B3p	(9)	
rs11554257	Caucasian	MR-UC	(15)	
rs3810936	Asian	Severe CD	(16)	
	Asian	CD	(17)	
	Asian	CD B3p	(7)	
rs4246905	Asian	IBD	(18)	

MR, Medically refractory; B2, B3, p, Montreal classification indicators for Crohn's disease.

to stricturing (B2) or penetrating (B3) phenotype, as compared to only 55% of those bearing the allele G (28). In another study, polymorphisms in the *Tnfsf15* gene were associated with medically refractory UC (15). The susceptibility loci for CD reported by Yamazaki et al. were also detected in CD patients from Ryukyu Islands, near Japan. Interestingly, CD patients, bearing the risk alleles, had increased bacterial abundances of *Bacteroidetes* and more specifically, of *Prevotella*, but whether the genetic background is the outcome of microbiome composition alteration or *vice versa*, remains unclear (29).

Interestingly, besides IBD, *Tnfsf15* genetic variants have also been associated with other GI diseases, such as diverticulitis and Irritable Bowel Syndrome (IBS). Connelly et al. discovered that the SNP rs7848647 is highly associated with diverticulitis and that haplotype carriage may predict the need for surgical intervention (30). Additional protective or risk-conferring haplotypes for diverticulitis were reported later by the same group (31) Regarding IBS, Zucchelli et al. reported a strong association between the SNP rs4263839 and patients suffering from IBS. In particular, the G allele of the SNP rs4263839 was identified as a high-risk marker and further investigation revealed that it could lead to higher expression levels of TNFSF15 in healthy individuals (32).

Taken together, various SNPs of the Tnfsf15 gene have been associated with not only IBD, but also diverticulitis and IBS, and seem to be promising predictors for intestinal disease susceptibility and/or progression. Nonetheless, the interpretation of the role of Tnfsf15 mutations seem to be influenced by ethnic background, as a stronger association with Asians has been reported. In addition, no definitive functional implications for existing, risk-associated polymorphisms have been reported. Nevertheless, a few studies have proposed that certain polymorphisms may be associated with specific functional effects, a finding that, interestingly, was also affected by the ethnic background in some cases (22, 33, 34).

THE COMPLEX ROLE OF TL1A/DR3 IN MUCOSAL IMMUNITY

Expression, Regulation, and Function of the TL1A/DR3 System in Immune Cells Mononuclear Phagocytes

The cellular sources of TL1A and requirements for its expression indicate its important role in innate and adaptive immune responses especially at the intestinal mucosa. Besides the original description of its constitutive expression in endothelial cells (1), TL1A was also found to be expressed by mononuclear phagocytes at the intestinal lamina propria of both mice and humans under inflammatory conditions. In particular, early studies in murine models of ileitis and colitis have shown that TL1A was mainly expressed by CD11c^{high}/MHC-II⁺ mononuclear phagocytes of the lamina propria and the MLNs and CD11c^{low}/MHC-IImononuclear phagocytes of the lamina propria that probably represent dendritic cells and macrophage subsets (35, 36). In patients with CD or UC immunolocalization of TL1A was reported in tissue macrophages and lymphocytes, as well as in infiltrating plasma cells in UC (37). A recent study has further characterized lamina propria mononuclear phagocytes that primarily produce TL1A in mice, CD patients and healthy subjects and reported expression of CD14 and CX3CR1 surface markers, which classifies them as antigen sampling mucosal macrophages. TL1A production by CD11c⁺CX3CR1⁺ mononuclear phagocytes correlated with disease activity in CD in humans. In mice CD11c⁺CX3CR1⁺ mononuclear phagocytes produced TL1A, in a MyD88-dependent fashion, in response to mucosal-adherent bacteria (38).

The abundant cellular expression of TL1A in APCs, led to studies on the regulation of its expression in this particular population. These studies showed that TL1A expression by APCs is responsive to signaling through FcRy receptors, TLRs or microbial antigens. In particular, in monocytes and monocyte-derived dendritic cells (DCs) TL1A mRNA and protein (both soluble and transmembrane forms) was highly induced by FcRy stimulation through plate-bound, crosslinked human IgG (39). A potential clinical relevance of this association was implied in two studies in rheumatoid arthritis (RA). Cassatella et al. reported that mononuclear phagocytes strongly expressed TL1A in rheumatoid factorpositive but not rheumatoid factor-negative patients (40). In vitro stimulation of monocytes with various preparations of insoluble immune complexes led to significant upregulation of TL1A (40). Furthermore, Bamias et al., demonstrated that soluble TL1A concentrations were significantly higher in rheumatoid factor-positive than rheumatoid factor-negative patients (41). In addition to stimulation through the FcR γ receptor, bacterial signals also upregulate the expression of TL1A. In the monocytic cell line U937, TL1A was induced by LPS. This pathway involved activation and binding of the transcription factor nuclear factor kappa-light-chain-enhancer of activated B cells (NFkB) to a specific binding site in the 5['] flanking region of TL1A (42). LPS responsiveness was also confirmed in bone-marrow derived dendritic cells (43).

Shih et al. studied the effect of stimulation by cultured microorganisms on TL1A expression by monocytes or DCs (44). Cells were stimulated with a variety of cultured microorganisms (gram-negative [Escherichia coli, E. coli Nissle 1917, and Salmonella typhimurium], gram-positive [Listeria monocytogenes and Staphylococcus epidermidis], partial anaerobes [Campylobacter jejuni], and obligate anaerobes [Bacteroides thetaiotaomicron, Bifidobacterium breve, and Clostridium A4]). In all cases, upregulation of TL1A was seen through an NF-kB (as well as p38 MAPK)dependent mechanism. TLR signaling could only partially substitute for the effect of whole bacteria stimulation. Moreover, TLR7/8 signaling demonstrated a negative effect by significantly decreasing IC-induced TL1A expression of monocytes (45). In another study, Kamada et al. also reported TL1A induction by heat-killed bacteria in CD-associated LP macrophages (46).

Effector Lymphocytes

TL1A is also expressed on activated lymphocytes, indicating the formation of positive regulatory loops during mucosal inflammation (47, 48). Especially in the small bowel, membrane bound TL1A is expressed by activated gut specific CCR9⁺ lymphocytes (47) and it is possibly up-regulated by stimulation through the T-cell receptor (TCR) (i.e., by phytohemagglutinin) (49).

Expression of DR3, the cognate receptor of TL1A, is mainly detected in lymphocytic populations, mostly following activation. DR3 signaling enhances CD4+ lymphocyte proliferation by increasing both IL-2 production and expression of IL-2RA and IL-2RB (1). The effect of TL1A co-stimulation is particularly important in conditions of sub-optimal stimulation via CD3 or CD28 (43). TL1A preferentially enhances proliferation of murine memory CD4+ T cells (35), but can also induce mild proliferation and strong IL-2 and IFN-y expression by naïve T cells (43). TL1A co-stimulation of CD4+ T cells results in production of multiple cytokines including IL-2, IL-4, IL-13, interferon-gamma (IFNy), and IL-17 (1, 43, 47, 48, 50). Although, TL1A-DR3 interaction enhances T cell proliferation and is required for optimal cytokine production, it appears to be dispensable for differentiation of naive T cells into Th1, Th2, or Th17 effector cell subtypes (43).

TL1A-DR3 is proposed as an important system for enhancement of immune responses in the periphery. Indeed, TL1A acts in synergy with IL-12 and IL-18 to enhance adaptive Th1 and innate IFN γ responses by T cells (49, 51, 52). Specific T cell subsets that up-regulate IFN γ and TNF α production in response to TL1A and IL-12/18 co-stimulation have been characterized by the expression of CCR9 (47), CD161 (53), and IL-18Ra (52). Interestingly, TL1A responsive T cells were preferentially localized at the intestinal mucosa, which indicates a prominent role of TL1A in intestinal IFNy-mediated immune responses. Consistent with its role as a non-specific co-stimulator, irrespective of T-cell lineage commitment, TL1A was shown to enhance secretion of Th2 cytokines by activated T cells and amplified IL-13 production by NKT cells in a murine model of allergic lung inflammation (43, 48). The role of TL1A in Th17 responses appears more complex. Pappu et al. found that TL1A^{-/-} dendritic cells exhibited reduced ability to support differentiation of Th17 lymphocytes and TL1A co-stimulation was required for optimal antigen-independent proliferation of differentiated Th17 lymphocytes (50). In contrast, Jones et al. reported that TL1A-DR3 interactions inhibit polarization toward the Th17 lineage but support IL-17 production in fully committed Th17 cells (54). Differences of in vitro experimental conditions for Th17 polarization may account for the aforementioned discrepancies. Furthermore, TL1A has been found to induce IL-22 production by human peripheral memory CD4⁺ T cells and committed Th17 cells, through up-regulation of IL-9 (55). Nevertheless, TL1A costimulation has been proven essential for both gut and cerebral immunopathology that depends on Th1 and Th17 in relevant mouse models (36, 43, 50).

Tregs

Control of proliferation and suppressive function of regulatory T cell (Treg) is another way through which the TL1A-DR3 system controls local immune responses. Tregs constitutively express DR3, and DR3 signaling has been found to enhance proliferation of Tregs partly by enhancing their responsiveness to IL-2 (56-58). The proliferative effect of TL1A on Tregs has been recently confirmed for human cells in ex vivo studies (59). However, TL1A inhibits Treg suppressive ability both directly and indirectly by rendering activated Teff cells resistant to Treg mediated suppression (56, 57). Removal of TL1A completely restores the suppressive ability of Tregs both in vitro and in vivo (56, 58). Given the transient nature of TL1A up-regulation by APCs, an accelerated effector T cell response could be accompanied by increased numbers of Tregs capable of controlling activated T cells when local concentrations of TL1A have decreased. These findings suggest the existence of an elegant operational system that promptly amplifies immune responses against invading pathogens and rigorously dampens immune activation once the pathogens is eliminated (60). Finally, the addition of TL1A in conventional T cells cultured under FoxP3-promoting conditions, inhibited iTreg differentiation (57, 61). Instead, forced overexpression of high levels TL1A by FoxP3-expressing T cells promoted proinflammatory characteristics such as the production of IL-4 and IL-13 (61). TL1A-overexpressing Tregs were unable to protect from colitis in the T cell transfer colitis model (61). However, transgenic Tregs expressing low levels of TL1A were able to suppress T cell transfer colitis, an effect dependent on DR3 signaling and associated with protective levels of IL-17 and TGF β (61). The importance of this low level expression of TL1A for the maintenance of Treg populations and functions in the periphery remains to be elucidated.

Th9 Cells

Although the TL1A-DR3 system had no effect on Th1/Th2 polarization and a debated effect on Th17 differentiation, it recently became evident that it plays an important role for the generation of Th9 cells that are involved in defense against helminthes and allergy. On the one hand, TL1A co-stimulation enhances generation of Th9 T cells in the presence of TGFB and IL-4, conditions that favor Th9 differentiation (62). On the other hand, in the presence of TGF β and IL-2, conditions that favor iTreg generation, TL1A diverts the differentiation of iTregs to Th9 cells (62). Interestingly, TL1A up-regulates IL-9 secretion though an alternative pathway that involves STAT5 activation by IL-2 instead of STAT6 activation by IL-4 (62). In vitro data have also been coupled by in vivo evidence of an increased pathogenicity of Th9 cells in the presence of TL1A in a model of Th9-dependent allergic ocular and lung inflammation (62). In addition to T cell dependent allergic lung inflammation, intact DR3 signaling has also been found important for ILC2 expansion and pathogenicity in innate models of allergic lung inflammation (63). Besides allergic immunopathology, TL1A-directed Th9 polarization, has been associated with CD4+-dependent antitumor responses. Dectin-1-activated dendritic cells, acting partly though TL1A-DR3, have been found to induce Th9 cells that enhance tumor-specific CTL activity against OVA-expressing melanoma tumors (64).

Other Cell Populations

TL1A co-stimulation enhances proliferation, IL-2 production, and cytotoxicity of DR3 expressing CD8+ T cells (65). Moreover, natural killer (NK) cells are capable of expressing DR3 after stimulation with IL-12 and IL-18, which led to enhanced IFNy production and anti-tumor responses following TL1A stimulation (51, 66). Innate lymphoid cells (ILCs) also express DR3 and increase cytokine production upon TL1A stimulation (63). These findings indicate a broader role of TL1A/DR3 system in protective immunity. DR3 is also highly expressed on NKT cells. In this population, unlike in T cells, TL1A appears to promote a more restricted set of cytokines, enhancing IL-4 and IL-13 but not IFNy production (48). B cells also express DR3, especially after polyclonal stimulation through the B-cell receptor (67). Plasma cells (but not B cells) also expressed very high levels of DR3 in a mouse model of collagen-induced arthritis (68). However, the role of TL1A/DR3 in B cell functions is not yet clear.

Functional Roles of TL1A/DR3 in Mucosal Homeostasis and Inflammation

The original identification of TL1A in 2002 was followed by an abundance of studies that have largely brought about the significance of the TL1A/DR3 system in immunological responses, with particular emphasis in mucosal immunity pathways. Although originally presented as Th1 polarizing molecules, TL1A and DR3 were soon proved to display a vast array of multiple and even opposite immune functions that are critically dependent on the particular clinical or experimental scenario. In this process the contribution of genetically manipulated murine models and the application of neutralizing or stimulatory monoclonal antibodies have been of paramount importance (**Table 2**).

Protective Functions During Acute Injury and Repair: The Role of TL1A/DR3 in Innate Immunity

Recent studies have provided evidence for a protective role of TL1A/DR3 in host defense against acute harmful stimuli. Buchan et al. demonstrated expression of TL1A by F4/80⁺ macrophages in the spleen of mice during Salmonella enterica Typhimurium infection (72). In the same model, DR3 signaling was essential for optimal expansion of activated/memory CD4⁺ T cells that produced IFNy and facilitated bacterial clearance (70, 72). Similarly, in the absence of DR3 signaling, early antiviral immunity against murine cytomegalovirus was impaired and fewer virus-specific CD4+ and CD8+ cells were generated, resulting in increased viral loads (73). A recent study by Pham et al. further showed that DR3 signaling is essential for noncognate stimulation of Th1 cells and effective elimination of intracellular bacteria in mice (74). Studies on human memory T cells have also shown that TL1A and IL-15 synergize to enhance proinflammatory cytokine production independently of cognate TCR-MHC-II interactions (52). They describe a significant population of memory CD4⁺ T cells characterized by the expression of IL-18R and DR3 and located preferentially in mucosal surfaces such as the small intestine, the colon, the nasal mucosa and the skin. Stimulation with TL1A/IL-15 induced strong IFNy responses accompanied by production of IL-6, TNF-α, GM-CSF, IL-5, IL-13, and IL-22 with concomitant suppression of IL-10 production. These findings imply that TL1A/DR3 supports the innate activity of mucosal memory T cells. Whether these cells exert protective mucosal roles during acute inflammation, however, remains to be shown. On the other hand, identification of large numbers of these IL-18R α ⁺DR3⁺ T cells has been reported in the small bowel of CD patients. This rather indicates a primary pathogenetic/proinflammatory role for TL1A in chronic autoimmune intestinal inflammation (74).

Further support for an important role of TL1A/DR3 signaling in mucosal homeostasis arose from the recent discovery of the stimulatory effect of TL1A on innate lymphoid cells (ILCs). Type 2 cells (ILC2) at mucosal surfaces may depend on TL1A/DR3 signaling, as high DR3 expression was detected in both human and murine ILC2. Stimulation with TL1A resulted in enhanced expansion, survival, and function of ILC2 (75). More importantly, this effect was independent of the critical ILC2 regulators IL-25 and IL-33. The biological significance of these experimental findings were substantiated by the increased susceptibility of DR3^{-/-} lymphopenic mice to gut helminthic infections (75) and their failure to develop lung responses to nasal challenge with papain (75). Finally, Meylan et al. reported that TL1A-dependent co-stimulation of ILC2 was involved in experimental allergic lung disease (63).

Group 3 ILCs are defined by their expression of $ROR\gamma t^+$ and ability to produce IL-17 and IL-22 (76). They reside mostly at the intestinal mucosa to enhance intestinal barrier integrity and epithelial repair primarily through the production of their

TABLE 2 Effects of	genetic or immunological	manipulation of TL1A/DR3	expression.
----------------------	--------------------------	--------------------------	-------------

Model	TL1A Tx	TL1A-Tg	TL1A ko	DR3 ko	Anti-TL1A	References
Spontaneous phenotype		lleitis, TH2				(56, 57, 69)
DSS			Worsening	Worsening	↓ Chronic	(36, 70)
TNBS					↓ Weight loss ↓ Histology	(57)
SAMP ileitis				Protected		
Gai2 ko transfer					↓ Weight loss ↓ Histology	(36)
Experimental allergic encephalomyelitis (EAE)			↓ Clinical score	↓ Clinical score		(43, 50)
Collagen-induced arthritis (CIA)	Worsening				Protected	(71)
Antigen-induced arthritis (AIA)	Worsening			↓ Chronic arthritis	Protected	(71)
Ovalbumin (Ova) lung hypersensitivity pneumonitis				Protected	Protected	(43, 62)

signature cytokine IL-22 (77). ILC3-derived IL-22 is critical for constraining commensal bacteria and protecting against pathogenic bacteria and viruses via the regulation of intestinal anti-microbial peptides and B cell responses (78-84). TL1A is one of the intermediate messengers of innate immune responses produced by ILC3s that rescue mice from C. rodentium-induced colitis. Specifically, bacterial sensing CX3CR1⁺ mononuclear phagocytes in the intestinal lamina propria produce TL1A, IL-1β, and IL-23 that upregulate production of IL-22 from intestinal ILC3s and protect against infectious colitis and dextran sodium sulfate (DSS)-mediated acute colitis (38, 85). Upregulation of IL-22 production was depended on DR3 signaling in both mouse and human ILC3 that constitutively express this receptor (85, 86). Furthermore, the combination of IL-1β, IL-23 and TL1A, induced the expression of CD25 on human ILC3 cells to enhance IL-2-mediated proliferation (86). Collectively, the above findings indicate that TL1A/DR3 have a major role in orchestrating innate immunity pathways in the intestine by the regulation of the local ILC3 pool and cytokine production.

The role of TL1A/DR3 in preserving mucosal homeostasis was shown with the use of TL1A- and DR3-deficient mice (70). DSS-colitis was more severe in the absence of either TL1A or DR3, indicating protective roles for these proteins during acute mucosal injury and repair. This was associated with a compromised ability to maintain adequate numbers of Foxp3⁺ regulatory T cells in the periphery and inability to restrain Th17 immune responses. Similar results have been observed in the T cell transfer model, where intact DR3 signaling and a low level of TL1A expression on Foxp3⁺ regulatory T cells was required to maintain their suppressive function and rescue from colitis (61). It should be noted, however, that in the DSS model the effects of TL1A and DR3 deficiency were not identical as there were differences between the two cases in regards to mortality and kinetics of inflammatory responses (70). However, Castellanos et al have failed to detect significant differences in Foxp3⁺ T regulatory or IL-17-producing RORyt⁺ (Th17) cells during acute colitis in DR3-deficient mice (38). Using mice with ILC3 specific DR3 deletion (DR3 $^{\Delta ILC3}$) they showed that exacerbation of DSS colitis was due to the downregulation of IL-22 production by ILC3s, whereas treatment with recombinant IL-22 rescued survival of DR3 $^{\Delta$ ILC3} mice (38).

Pro-inflammatory Functions During Chronic Inflammation: The Role of TL1A/DR3 in Adaptive Immunity

Many studies during the last decade have demonstrated that the TL1A/DR3 system is up-regulated in patients with IBD and chronic intestinal inflammation. Gut tissue specimens from CD and UC patients exhibit increased TL1A transcripts and protein expression, which correlated with the severity of tissue inflammation. Paired samples of macroscopically uninvolved intestine from the same patients had intermediate levels of TL1A, and minimal or un-detectable amounts were observed in healthy controls (37, 49). Recent studies have correlated the increase of TL1A transcripts at the colonic mucosa of IBD patients to the levels of IL-17A expression (87). Immunohistochemical studies and cytometric analysis on isolated cells from the lamina propria further specified that the increased amounts of TL1A detected in IBD tissue were derived from infiltrating lymphocytes and intestinal macrophages in CD and plasma cells in UC. A similar pattern of expression, which correlated with disease activity, was observed for DR3 (37, 49). Furthermore, systemic levels of TL1A and its decoy receptor DcR3 parallel disease activity in colonic CD and UC. Recently, a significant correlation of the expression of DR3 on peripheral blood mononuclear cells with CRP levels was observed in newly diagnosed children and adults with IBD (88). Both local expression and systemic levels were found to decrease following effective treatment (88–90).

Studies in animal models with transgenic expression of TL1A provided more mechanistic insights about the possible involvement of TL1A in IBD. Mice with forced constitutive expression of TNFSF15 (TL1A-tg) in either the lymphoid or myeloid cell compartments demonstrated a stable phenotype of mild ileitis (56, 57, 69). All transgenic mice developed inflammatory changes in the terminal ileum that included disrupted villi architecture, infiltration of the lamina propria with inflammatory cells, goblet cell hyperplasia and thickening of the muscularis propria. Inflammatory changes were accompanied by lengthening of the small intestine and failure to gain weight.

The patchy distribution of the inflammatory lesions and the development of intestinal fibrosis are two characteristics shared with human CD. Small bowel pathology was associated with increase in activated T cells and regulatory Foxp3⁺CD4⁺ T cells. The most prominent feature was a predominant Th2 mucosal response. Indeed, TL1A-Tg mice displayed elevations in mucosal IL-13 and IL-5 mRNA content, whereas, blockade of IL-13 ameliorated the severity of ileitis (56, 57, 69). The striking resemblance of the TL1A-induced pathology to intestinal antiparasitic responses led the investigators to further study the role of TL1A in this field. They subsequently observed that TL1A can stimulate IL-13 production by Group 2 Innate lymphoid cells, an effect mediated via DR3 (63). However, the TL1A-dependent innate pathway they identified was not required for effective intestinal anti-parasitic responses but mostly played a major role in allergic lung pathology in relevant murine models (63).

It is now widely accepted that Th2 predominant immunity is a characteristic of the late maintenance stages of clinical and experimental IBD, as it was shown in great detail in CD-like ileitis in SAMP1/YitFc mice (91-94). Interestingly, both TL1A-Tg and SAMP1/YitFc mice develop small intestinal inflammation, marked hypertrophy of the muscular layer, and high mucosal expression of IL-13 and IL-5. Additionally, mucosal TL1A mRNA expression is also upregulated in the chronic phase of SAMP1/YitFc ileitis (35). These studies raise the possibility that the proinflammatory function of TL1A may be partially mediated through induction of Th2/IL-13 dependent mucosal responses, which are now recognized as central pathogenetic factors in IBD. The importance of TL1A/DR3 in murine colitis has also been investigated in the TNBS, DSS and the G-protein ai2 deficient models (36, 57). Development of colitis was associated with mucosal upregulation of TL1A and DR3 and colitis was effectively prevented or attenuated by the administration of anti-TL1A neutralizing antibodies. Taken together, mucosal overexpression of TL1A (primary or secondary) may be implicated in the induction of pathogenetic effector proinflammatory pathways.

A functional dichotomy between membrane and soluble forms of TL1A may also occur, as it was shown recently. Using a membrane restricted TL1A transgenic mouse Ferdinand et al., have shown that increased production of soluble TL1A, possibly by APCs, was required to produce maximal small bowel pathology. In contrast membrane bound TL1A, mostly of T-cell localization, was required to elicit inflammatory responses including IL-13, IL-17, and IL-9 production in murine lungs (95).

DR3 and TL1Ako mice do not develop any gross abnormalities. Nevertheless, immunological characterization of these strains detected specific defects that may be of interest. It was shown that DCs from TL1A^{-/-} mice fail to support the differentiation and proliferation of Th17 lymphocytes (50). Consistently, these mice were protected from Th17-mediated inflammation in a model of Experimental Autoimmune Encephalomyelitis (43, 50). Similarly DR3 signaling was required for Th2-mediated lung immunopathology in an Ova model of allergic lung inflammation (43). TL1A deficiency has also

been reported to induce broader changes on the gut immune microenvironment, such as marked decrease of intraepithelial TCR $\gamma\delta^+$ and CD8⁺ lymphocytes and reduced expression of the activating receptor NKG2D (96). Quite unexpectedly, there were also significant changes in gut microbial composition with significantly suppressed cecal *Clostridium* cluster *IV*, altered cecal *Firmicutes/Bacteroidetes* ratio, and reduction in ileal *Lactobacillus* spp. This was also associated with reduced body weight, and decreased size of adipose tissue and adipokine expression (96). The latter raise the possibility that TL1A may affect microbiota-related metabolic pathways that regulate adipose tissue development. Collectively, the above data support an important role for the TL1A/DR3 system in the maintenance of mucosal homeostasis and a significant contribution, when unrestrained, to late IBD-related immunopathology.

Mechanistic evidence for the implication of TL1A/DR3 signaling in the effector pathways that mediate chronic inflammation was recently presented by Li et al. (97) who tested the effect of DR3 stimulation of DR3 deletion in the ileitisprone SAMP1/YitFc mouse model of CD. They, first, showed that administration of an agonistic antibody against DR3 (4C12) prior to disease development markedly worsened the severity of ileitis in SAMP mice. The immunological effects of DR3 stimulation included overproduction of T_H1 and T_H2 cytokines, expansion of dysfunctional CD25⁻FoxP3⁺ and ILC1 cells, and concomitant reduction of CD25+FoxP3+ and ILC3 cells. By comparison, genetic deletion of DR3 effectively reversed the inflammatory phenotype in SAMP mice. This was associated with selective expansion of CD25⁺FoxP3⁺ over CD25⁻FoxP3⁺ cells and upregulation of IL-10. These data demonstrate a central, multicellular modulation of adaptive immunity by DR3, via the regulation of the relative abundance of T_{regs}, T effectors, and ILCs, which, subsequently, dictates the progression of CDlike ileitis in SAMP mice. More recently, Castellanos et al., have shown that TL1A induced ILC3 expression of OX40L in MHCII⁺ ILC3s that supports pathogenic T cell responses in the T-cell depended colitis transfer model. ILC3-spesific deletion of DR3 protected mice from the development of colitis (38). It follows that modification of DR3 signaling holds promise toward being an effective means for restoring the immunological balance between protective and inflammatory lymphocytes at the intestinal mucosa.

TL1A/DR3 as Mediators of Fibrosis

Fibrosis refers to the process of excessive accumulation of extracellular matrix due to increased connective tissue assembly and ineffective matrix remodeling. Mostly, but not always, it represents the end result of repeated cycles of tissue inflammation, ulceration, and repair that ultimately lead to scarring and decline in organ function (98). Despite the wealth of knowledge of inflammatory pathways that have resulted in largely effective anti-inflammatory biologic treatment for various autoimmune diseases, including IBD, the fibrogenetic cascades that result to tissue scarring remain relatively understudied and effective therapies to prevent or, more importantly, reverse fibrotic processes are currently lacking (99).

TL1A amplifies multiple immunological pathways that, when sustained, could be associated with the development of fibrosis. Interleukin 17A favors the development of fibrosis in experimental models of lung and skin fibrosis and has been found to be overexpressed in intestinal strictures of CD patients (100, 101). IL-13 has been implicated in murine experimental intestinal fibrosis, acting mostly through TGFB, and also is upregulated in strictures of patients with CD (102, 103). Finally, TL1Ainduced expansion of Treg populations with altered function in the periphery may theoretically promote local saturation with IL-13 and, most importantly, TGFB, which is the key regulator of pro-fibrotic pathways and a major activator of mesenchymal cells (104). Interestingly, elevated TL1A and DR3 expression has been found in the SAMP1/YitFc model of murine ileitis that is phenotypically associated with the development of overt intestinal strictures (35).

TL1A transgenic mice develop IL-13-dependent inflammation of the small bowel (57). Phenotypically, TL1A-tg mice are characterized by small bowel wall thickening, especially at the terminal ileum, which is the usual site of stricture development in human CD. Pathology was characterized by enhanced infiltration of the lamina propria with inflammatory cells, increase of the numbers and size of goblet and Paneth cells and hypertrophy of the muscularis propria (56, 57). These changes were accompanied by increased expression of IL-5, IL-13, and IL-17 by intestinal tissue and mesenteric lymph nodes.

Another set of studies by a different group on transgenic mice that constitutively expressed TL1A on the lymphoid or myeloid compartment have demonstrated a similar phenotype characterized by ileitis and Paneth cell hyperplasia (69). However, they further describe increased accumulation of collagen in intestinal tissue. Examination of the same transgenic mice under colitogenic conditions, in the context of the DSS and the adoptive T cell transfer model, revealed the development of overt intestinal strictures at the small and the proximal large bowel (105). The fibrotic phenotype was associated with increased local expression of TGFB and IGF in colitic mice. Interestingly, constitutive production of TL1A was associated with relative expansion of CD4⁺IL17⁺ effector T cells in the mesenteric lymph nodes in the DSS by not in the adoptive T cell transfer model. This may indicate that diverse, TL1A-mediated profibrotic immunological pathways may dominate depending on the colitogenic conditions.

Further studies by the same group demonstrated that treatment with antibodies against TL1A was capable to reduce inflammation and to reverse fibrosis in both DSS and adoptive transfer model even when treatment was administrated late in the course of disease, that is after inflammation and fibrosis had been established (106). Anti-TL1A treatment decreased expression of pro-fibrotic molecules such as IGF1, CTGF, and TIMP1 in the inflamed intestinal tissue. Furthermore, mucosal expression of DR3 was associated with fibrotic changes in the bowel wall and DR3^{-/-} mice exhibited reduced numbers of intestinal fibroblasts and myofibroblasts. Intestinal myofibroblasts responded to TL1A with increased expression of Col1a2 and IL-31Ra, a myofibroblast activation marker. Finally, neutralization of TL1A reduced

expression of a-SMA and vimentin, activation markers of colonic fibroblasts, and expression of TGF β 1 and Smad3 in the colonic tissue of adoptively T cell transferred colitic mice (107). However, only a subset (25%) of intestinal myofibroblasts expressed DR3, and the relative contribution of the TL1A/DR3 system on fibrosis independent of its anti-inflammatory effects was not explored. Despite this, these studies demonstrated for the first time that an anti-inflammatory therapy, in this case TL1A neutralization, can not only prevent but also potentially reverse established intestinal fibrosis. This is especially important for human CD which often has a long indolent course resulting in both inflammatory and fibrostenotic segments of the small bowel on initial patient presentation and disease diagnosis.

A recent study by Jacob et al., suggests that the profibrotic effects of TL1A on bowel mucosa may depend on the composition of the intestinal microflora (108). TL1A-Tg mice raised under germ-free condition were protected from spontaneous ileitis and cecal collagen deposition. A direct effect of the host microflora was demonstrated on colonic fibroblasts exhibiting enhanced migration/proliferation and collagen production when derived from specific pathogen free as opposed to germ free littermates, and on wild type fibroblasts exposed to specific pathogen free microflora. Interestingly, gnotobiotic TL1A-Tg mice colonized with human gut microflora were protected from both ileitis and cecal fibrosis. Through 16S rRNA sequencing characterization of ileal and cecal microbiome the authors were able to depict possible bacterial genera and species that differentially promote fibrosis in the respective localizations in the context of TL1A overexpression (108).

In human fibrotic conditions, including IBD, the immunological and profibrotic cascades driven by TL1A remain underexplored. The potential implication of TL1A in such pathways was recently highlighted by the report of TL1A expression by human intestinal myofibroblasts that were isolated from IBD patients (109). TL1A expression by intestinal myofibroblasts was up-regulated by pro-inflammatory cytokines (IFN- γ , TNF- α , IL-1 α) or supernatants of intestinal tissue cultures from IBD patients (109). The same pro-inflammatory cytokines induced expression of DR3 and DcR3 on cultured epithelial cells, whereas, supernatants from cultures of stimulated epithelial cells were capable to induce upregulation of TL1A in intestinal myofibroblasts. Similar findings have been reported for lung fibrosis and indicate the existence of additional TL1A-dependent possibly pro-fibrotic cascades mediated by epithelial/stromal cell interactions (110). These results point to the existence of a mucosal amplification loop that is initiated by the local pro-inflammatory milieu and then perpetuates itself through reciprocal stimulation of epithelial cell and intestinal myofibroblasts. Nevertheless, whether such interaction leads to increased collagen accumulation and fibrosis remains to be shown. An approach toward the elucidation of the relative contribution of TL1A/DR3 signaling in intestinal fibrosis independently from its role in inflammatory cascades would be the generation and study of conditional DR3 and TL1A knockout mice with tissue specific TL1A and DR3 deficiency on intestinal fibroblasts or epithelial cells (106).

TL1A/DR3 IN THE CROSSROADS OF SYSTEMIC INFLAMMATION: ASSOCIATIONS WITH EXTRAINTESTINAL INFLAMMATION

The TL1A/DR3 pathway is considered one of the common denominators in various pathologies associated with inflammation in different tissues that develops through aberrant immune responses. Genetic studies support its implication in autoimmune diseases and mycobacterial infections. Case-control and GWA studies have identified Tnfsf15 gene variants, such as rs6478108 alleles, that associate with increased susceptibility to psoriasis and psoriatic arthritis in populations of European descent (111, 112). Furthermore, alleles rs6478108 (T) and rs4979462 (T), have been found to increase susceptibility to both Primary Billiary Cholangitis (PBC) and CD, while protecting from leprosy (6, 113). Moreover, the rs6478108 (G) allele has been associated with increased risk for CD and the pathological inflammatory host response in leprosy known as Type 1 reaction (114, 115).

Further genetic evidence links the TL1A/DR3 pathway to major extraintestinal manifestations of IBD. Indeed, genetic variation in the Tnfsf15 gene has been associated with increased susceptibility in spondyloarthropathies, ankylosing spondylitis, and anterior uveitis (116-118).

Similarly to intestinal inflammation, increased TL1A was found in the serum of patients with rheumatoid arthritis and ankylosing spondylitis and also correlated with disease activity in both conditions (41, 119). More importantly, TL1A levels are decreased following treatment with anti-TNF. Local levels of TL1A have also been found increased in rheumatoid arthritis with mononuclear phagocytes being the major source of TL1A in the synovial tissue and synovial fluid of rheumatoid factor positive patients (40). In murine models of antigen induced arthritis and collagen induced arthritis TL1A administration promoted osteclastogenesis and exacerbated disease, whereas anti-TL1A ameliorated pathology (71). TL1A effects were found to be DR3-dependent as $DR3^{-/-}$ mice were protected from cartilage depletion and joint destruction. This was partly attributed to decreased production of CXCL1 in the joints of $DR3^{-/-}$ mice and the relative reduction of infiltrating neutrophil numbers which correlated with decreased local levels of MMP-9 (120).

Psoriasis is a common concomitant immune-mediated disorder in patients with IBD. Psoriasis and IBD share pathogenetic pathways such as the IL-23/IL-17 pathway, have common genetic risk alleles and are associated with abnormalities in intestinal and skin microflora and both respond to anti-TNF and anti-p40 treatment (121). There is evidence that TL1A/DR3 may represent an additional pro-inflammatory pathway that is shared between the two diseases. TL1A and DR3 have been found to be increased in psoriatic skin lesions and specifically in macrophages and keratinocytes (122).

TL1A seems to synergize with IL-23 to stimulate PMBCs from patients with psoriasis to increase production of IL-17 (123). Uveitis is another extraintestinal manifestation of IBD that has been associated with the TL1A/DR3 pathway. Specifically, experimental murine autoimmune uveoretinitis was dependent on DR3 as $DR3^{-/-}$ mice are protected from disease development (124). Although a direct association of TL1A/DR3 with the extraintestinal manifestations of IBD has not been established yet, there is indirect evidence that such an association may exist making TL1A/DR3 a possible common denominator of the gut-skin-joint-eye autoimmune inflammation axis.

CONCLUDING REMARKS

Since its initial description, TL1A has arisen as an important mucosal factor that is implicated in homeostasis and inflammation through its association with DR3. In the light of translational medicine, it is important that this role of TL1A/DR3 is supported by converging lines of evidence. In particular, polymorphisms in *Tnfsf15* significantly affect susceptibility to IBD and may be associated with altered function of the respective protein. In addition, there is significant upregulation and abundant expression of TL1A and DR3 in inflammatory conditions that affect the intestines, mainly IBD. So far, functional properties of the TL1A/DR3 system involve several immunological pathways that are considered important in the pathogenesis of IBD. Finally, the proof of concept for the therapeutic application of TL1A/DR3 modification has been fulfilled in animal models of intestinal inflammation. In all, it could be said that the system of TL1A/DR3 may represent a desirable therapeutic target for a subset of IBD patients.

Nevertheless, caution is also required as important questions remain unanswered still. One area of concern is the potential effect on Tregs. As TL1A/DR3 have positive effects on Treg function, their neutralization may compromise this population and jeopardize its important anti-inflammatory function in intestinal immunity. A second question is whether blockade of TL1A or DR3 should be the preferable approach in clinical practice. This is of importance as recent evidence from animal models of inflammation reported similar but not identical effects of genetic or immunologic deletion of the two molecules. Finally, antibodies against DR3 have shown agonistic effects which depend on the target population. All these parameters should be taken into account for the design of clinical trials that aim to disrupt TL1A/DR3 signaling.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

VV, GK, and GB all contributed to the development of the concept of the review, performed the literature review and analyzed existing data, and wrote and edited the manuscript.

REFERENCES

- Migone TS, Zhang J, Luo X, Zhuang L, Chen C, Hu B, et al. TL1A is a TNFlike ligand for DR3 and TR6/DcR3 and functions as a T cell costimulator. *Immunity*. (2002) 16:479–92. doi: 10.1016/S1074-7613(02)00283-2
- Zhan C, Yan Q, Patskovsky Y, Li Z, Toro R, Meyer A, et al. Biochemical and structural characterization of the human TL1A ectodomain. *Biochemistry*. (2009) 48:7636–45. doi: 10.1021/bi900031w
- Kitson J, Raven T, Jiang YP, Goeddel DV, Giles KM, Pun KT, et al. A death-domain-containing receptor that mediates apoptosis. *Nature*. (1996) 384:372–5. doi: 10.1038/384372a0
- Wang EC, Kitson J, Thern A, Williamson J, Farrow SN, Owen MJ. Genomic structure, expression, and chromosome mapping of the mouse homologue for the WSL-1 (DR3, Apo3, TRAMP, LARD, TR3, TNFRSF12) gene. Immunogenetics. (2001) 53:59–63. doi: 10.1007/s002510000290
- Screaton GR, Xu XN, Olsen AL, Cowper AE, Tan R, McMichael AJ, et al. LARD: a new lymphoid-specific death domain containing receptor regulated by alternative pre-mRNA splicing. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (1997) 94:4615–9.
- Zhang J, Zhang J, Wu D, Wang J, Dong W. Associations between TNFSF15 polymorphisms and susceptibility to ulcerative colitis and Crohn's disease: a meta-analysis. *Autoimmunity*. (2014) 47:512–8. doi: 10.3109/08916934.2014.930735
- Lee YJ, Kim KM, Jang JY, Song K. Association of TNFSF15 polymorphisms in Korean children with Crohn's disease. *Pediatr Int.* (2015) 57:1149– 53. doi: 10.1111/ped.12686
- Ye BD, Choi H, Hong M, Yun WJ, Low HQ, Haritunians T, et al. Identification of ten additional susceptibility loci for ulcerative colitis through immunochip analysis in Koreans. *Inflamm Bowel Dis.* (2016) 22:13– 9. doi: 10.1097/mib.00000000000584
- Yang DH, Yang SK, Song K, Hong M, Park SH, Lee HS, et al. TNFSF15 is an independent predictor for the development of Crohn's diseaserelated complications in Koreans. J Crohns Colitis. (2014) 8:1315–26. doi: 10.1016/j.crohns.2014.04.002
- Yang SK, Hong M, Zhao W, Jung Y, Baek J, Tayebi N, et al. Genomewide association study of Crohn's disease in Koreans revealed three new susceptibility loci and common attributes of genetic susceptibility across ethnic populations. *Gut.* (2014) 63:80–7. doi: 10.1136/gutjnl-2013-305193
- Connelly TM, Berg AS, Harris L III, Brinton D, Deiling S, Koltun WA. Genetic determinants associated with early age of diagnosis of IBD. *Dis Colon Rectum.* (2015) 58:321–7. doi: 10.1097/dcr.00000000000274
- Chen H, Lee A, Bowcock A, Zhu W, Li E, Ciorba M, et al. Influence of Crohn's disease risk alleles and smoking on disease location. *Dis Colon Rectum.* (2011) 54:1020–5. doi: 10.1007/DCR.0b013e31821b94b3
- Cleynen I, Gonzalez JR, Figueroa C, Franke A, McGovern D, Bortlik M, et al. Genetic factors conferring an increased susceptibility to develop Crohn's disease also influence disease phenotype: results from the IBDchip European Project. *Gut.* (2013) 62:1556–65. doi: 10.1136/gutjnl-2011-300777
- Tung CC, Wong JM, Lee WC, Liu HH, Chang CH, Chang MC, et al. Combining TNFSF15 and ASCA IgA can be used as a predictor for the stenosis/perforating phenotype of Crohn's disease. *J Gastroenterol Hepatol.* (2014) 29:723–9. doi: 10.1111/jgh.12496
- Haritunians T, Taylor KD, Targan SR, Dubinsky M, Ippoliti A, Kwon S, et al. Genetic predictors of medically refractory ulcerative colitis. *Inflamm Bowel Dis.* (2010) 16:1830–40. doi: 10.1002/ibd.21293
- Hirano A, Yamazaki K, Umeno J, Ashikawa K, Aoki M, Matsumoto T, et al. Association study of 71 European Crohn's disease susceptibility loci in a Japanese population. *Inflamm Bowel Dis.* (2013) 19:526–33. doi: 10.1097/MIB.0b013e31828075e7
- Hong SN, Park C, Park SJ, Lee CK, Ye BD, Kim YS, et al. Deep resequencing of 131 Crohn's disease associated genes in pooled DNA confirmed three reported variants and identified eight novel variants. *Gut.* (2016) 65:788–96. doi: 10.1136/gutjnl-2014-308617
- Liu JZ, van Sommeren S, Huang H, Ng SC, Alberts R, Takahashi A, et al. Association analyses identify 38 susceptibility loci for inflammatory bowel disease and highlight shared genetic risk across populations. *Nat Genet*. (2015) 47:979–86. doi: 10.1038/ng.3359
- Yamazaki K, McGovern D, Ragoussis J, Paolucci M, Butler H, Jewell D, et al. Single nucleotide polymorphisms in TNFSF15

confer susceptibility to Crohn's disease. *Hum Mol Genet.* (2005) 14:3499–506. doi: 10.1093/hmg/ddi379

- Picornell Y, Mei L, Taylor K, Yang H, Targan SR, Rotter JI. TNFSF15 is an ethnic-specific IBD gene. *Inflamm Bowel Dis.* (2007) 13:1333– 8. doi: 10.1002/ibd.20223
- Richard AC, Peters JE, Savinykh N, Lee JC, Hawley ET, Meylan F, et al. Reduced monocyte and macrophage TNFSF15/TL1A expression is associated with susceptibility to inflammatory bowel disease. *PLoS Genet.* (2018) 14:e1007458. doi: 10.1371/journal.pgen.1007458
- Michelsen KS, Thomas LS, Taylor KD, Yu QT, Mei L, Landers CJ, et al. IBD-associated TL1A gene (TNFSF15) haplotypes determine increased expression of TL1A protein. *PLoS ONE.* (2009) 4:e4719. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0004719
- Xiao Y, Wang XQ, Yu Y, Guo Y, Xu X, Gong L, et al. Comprehensive mutation screening for 10 genes in Chinese patients suffering very early onset inflammatory bowel disease. *World J Gastroenterol.* (2016) 22:5578– 88. doi: 10.3748/wjg.v22.i24.5578
- Huang C, De Ravin SS, Paul AR, Heller T, Ho N, Wu Datta L, et al. Genetic risk for inflammatory bowel disease is a determinant of crohn's disease development in chronic granulomatous disease. *Inflamm Bowel Dis.* (2016) 22:2794–801. doi: 10.1097/mib.00000000000066
- Baskaran K, Pugazhendhi S, Ramakrishna BS. Protective association of tumor necrosis factor superfamily 15 (TNFSF15) polymorphic haplotype with Ulcerative Colitis and Crohn's disease in an Indian population. *PLoS ONE*. (2014) 9:e114665. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0114665
- Thiebaut R, Kotti S, Jung C, Merlin F, Colombel JF, Lemann M, et al. TNFSF15 polymorphisms are associated with susceptibility to inflammatory bowel disease in a new European cohort. *Am J Gastroenterol.* (2009) 104:384– 91. doi: 10.1038/ajg.2008.36
- Lan X, Lan X, Chang Y, Zhang X, Liu J, Vikash V, et al. Identification of two additional susceptibility loci for inflammatory bowel disease in a chinese population. *Cell Physiol Biochem.* (2017) 41:2077–90. doi: 10.1159/000475439
- Pernat Drobez C, Ferkolj I, Potocnik U, Repnik K. Crohn's disease candidate gene alleles predict time to progression from inflammatory B1 to stricturing B2, or penetrating B3 phenotype. *Genet Test Mol Biomarkers*. (2018) 22:143– 51. doi: 10.1089/gtmb.2017.0210
- Nakagome S, Chinen H, Iraha A, Hokama A, Takeyama Y, Sakisaka S, et al. Confounding effects of microbiome on the susceptibility of TNFSF15 to Crohn's disease in the Ryukyu Islands. *Hum Genet.* (2017) 136:387– 97. doi: 10.1007/s00439-017-1764-0
- Connelly TM, Berg AS, Hegarty JP, Deiling S, Brinton D, Poritz LS, et al. The TNFSF15 gene single nucleotide polymorphism rs7848647 is associated with surgical diverticulitis. *Ann Surg.* (2014) 259:1132– 7. doi: 10.1097/sla.00000000000232
- Connelly TM, Choi CS, Berg AS, Harris L III, Coble J, Koltun WA. Diverticulitis and Crohn's disease have distinct but overlapping tumor necrosis superfamily 15 haplotypes. J Surg Res. (2017) 214:262–9. doi: 10.1016/j.jss.2017.02.030
- Zucchelli M, Camilleri M, Andreasson AN, Bresso F, Dlugosz A, Halfvarson J, et al. Association of TNFSF15 polymorphism with irritable bowel syndrome. *Gut.* (2011) 60:1671–7. doi: 10.1136/gut.2011.241877
- Kakuta Y, Kinouchi Y, Negoro K, Takahashi S, Shimosegawa T. Association study of TNFSF15 polymorphisms in Japanese patients with inflammatory bowel disease. *Gut.* (2006) 55:1527–8. doi: 10.1136/gut.2006.100297
- 34. Hedl M, Abraham C. A TNFSF15 disease-risk polymorphism increases pattern-recognition receptor-induced signaling through caspase-8-induced IL-1. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA. (2014) 111:13451–6. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1404178111
- Bamias G, Mishina M, Nyce M, Ross WG, Kollias G, Rivera-Nieves J, et al. Role of TL1A and its receptor DR3 in two models of chronic murine ileitis. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (2006) 103:8441–6. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0510903103
- Takedatsu H, Michelsen KS, Wei B, Landers CJ, Thomas LS, Dhall D, et al. TL1A (TNFSF15) regulates the development of chronic colitis by modulating both T-helper 1 and T-helper 17 activation. *Gastroenterology*. (2008) 135:552–67. doi: 10.1053/j.gastro.2008.04.037
- 37. Bamias G, Martin C III, Marini M, Hoang S, Mishina M, Ross WG, et al. Expression, localization, and functional activity of TL1A,

a novel Th1-polarizing cytokine in inflammatory bowel disease. J Immunol. (2003) 171:4868-74. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.171.9.4868

- Castellanos JG, Woo V, Viladomiu M, Putzel G, Lima S, Diehl GE, et al. Microbiota-induced TNF-like ligand 1A drives group 3 innate lymphoid cellmediated barrier protection and intestinal T cell activation during colitis. *Immunity*. (2018) 49:1077–89 e5. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2018.10.014
- Prehn JL, Thomas LS, Landers CJ, Yu QT, Michelsen KS, Targan SR. The T cell costimulator TL1A is induced by FcyR signaling in human monocytes and dendritic cells. J Immunol. (2007) 178:4033–8. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.178.7.4033
- Cassatella MA, Pereira-da-Silva G, Tinazzi I, Facchetti F, Scapini P, Calzetti F, et al. Soluble TNF-like cytokine (TL1A) production by immune complexes stimulated monocytes in rheumatoid arthritis. J Immunol. (2007) 178:7325–33. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.178.11.7325
- Bamias G, Siakavellas SI, Stamatelopoulos KS, Chryssochoou E, Papamichael C, Sfikakis PP. Circulating levels of TNF-like cytokine 1A (TL1A) and its decoy receptor 3 (DcR3) in rheumatoid arthritis. *Clin Immunol.* (2008) 129:249–55. doi: 10.1016/j.clim.2008.07.014
- Endo K, Kinouchi Y, Kakuta Y, Ueki N, Takahashi S, Shimosegawa T. Involvement of NF-kappa B pathway in TL1A gene expression induced by lipopolysaccharide. *Cytokine*. (2010) 49:215–20. doi: 10.1016/j.cyto.2009.09.006
- Meylan F, Davidson TS, Kahle E, Kinder M, Acharya K, Jankovic D, et al. The TNF-family receptor DR3 is essential for diverse T cell-mediated inflammatory diseases. *Immunity.* (2008) 29:79–89. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2008.04.021
- 44. Shih DQ, Kwan LY, Chavez V, Cohavy O, Gonsky R, Chang EY, et al. Microbial induction of inflammatory bowel disease associated gene TL1A (TNFSF15) in antigen presenting cells. *Eur J Immunol.* (2009) 39:3239– 50. doi: 10.1002/eji.200839087
- Saruta M, Michelsen KS, Thomas LS, Yu QT, Landers CJ, Targan SR. TLR8mediated activation of human monocytes inhibits TL1A expression. *Eur J Immunol.* (2009) 39:2195–202. doi: 10.1002/eji.200939216
- 46. Kamada N, Hisamatsu T, Honda H, Kobayashi T, Chinen H, Takayama T, et al. TL1A produced by lamina propria macrophages induces Th1 and Th17 immune responses in cooperation with IL-23 in patients with Crohn's disease. *Inflamm Bowel Dis.* (2010) 16:568–75. doi: 10.1002/ibd. 21124
- Papadakis KA, Zhu D, Prehn JL, Landers C, Avanesyan A, Lafkas G, et al. Dominant role for TL1A/DR3 pathway in IL-12 plus IL-18-induced IFNgamma production by peripheral blood and mucosal CCR9⁺ T lymphocytes. *J Immunol.* (2005) 174:4985–90. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.174.8.4985
- Fang L, Adkins B, Deyev V, Podack ER. Essential role of TNF receptor superfamily 25 (TNFRSF25) in the development of allergic lung inflammation. J Exp Med. (2008) 205:1037–48. doi: 10.1084/jem.20072528
- Prehn JL, Mehdizadeh S, Landers CJ, Luo X, Cha SC, Wei P, et al. Potential role for TL1A, the new TNF-family member and potent costimulator of IFN-gamma, in mucosal inflammation. *Clin Immunol.* (2004) 112:66– 77. doi: 10.1016/j.clim.2004.02.007
- Pappu BP, Borodovsky A, Zheng TS, Yang X, Wu P, Dong X, et al. TL1A-DR3 interaction regulates Th17 cell function and Th17-mediated autoimmune disease. J Exp Med. (2008) 205:1049–62. doi: 10.1084/jem.20071364
- Papadakis KA, Prehn JL, Landers C, Han Q, Luo X, Cha SC, et al. TL1A synergizes with IL-12 and IL-18 to enhance IFN-γ production in human T cells and NK cells. J Immunol. (2004) 172:7002–7. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.172.11.7002
- Holmkvist P, Roepstorff K, Uronen-Hansson H, Sanden C, Gudjonsson S, Patschan O, et al. A major population of mucosal memory CD4+ T cells, coexpressing IL-18Ralpha and DR3, display innate lymphocyte functionality. *Mucosal Immunol.* (2015) 8:545–58. doi: 10.1038/mi.2014.87
- 53. Jin S, Chin J, Seeber S, Niewoehner J, Weiser B, Beaucamp N, et al. TL1A/TNFSF15 directly induces proinflammatory cytokines, including TNFalpha, from CD3+CD161+ T cells to exacerbate gut inflammation. *Mucosal Immunol.* (2013) 6:886–99. doi: 10.1038/mi.2012.124
- Jones GW, Stumhofer JS, Foster T, Twohig JP, Hertzog P, Topley N, et al. Naive and activated T cells display differential responsiveness to TL1A that affects Th17 generation, maintenance, and proliferation. *FASEB J.* (2011) 25:409–19. doi: 10.1096/fj.10-166843

- Thomas LS, Targan SR, Tsuda M, Yu QT, Salumbides BC, Haritunians T, et al. The TNF family member TL1A induces IL-22 secretion in committed human Th17 cells via IL-9 induction. *J Leukoc Biol.* (2017) 101:727– 37. doi: 10.1189/jlb.3A0316-129R
- Taraban VY, Slebioda TJ, Willoughby JE, Buchan SL, James S, Sheth B, et al. Sustained TL1A expression modulates effector and regulatory T-cell responses and drives intestinal goblet cell hyperplasia. *Mucosal Immunol.* (2011) 4:186–96. doi: 10.1038/mi.2010.70
- Meylan F, Song YJ, Fuss I, Villarreal S, Kahle E, Malm IJ, et al. The TNFfamily cytokine TL1A drives IL-13-dependent small intestinal inflammation. *Mucosal Immunol.* (2011) 4:172–85. doi: 10.1038/mi.2010.67
- Schreiber TH, Wolf D, Tsai MS, Chirinos J, Deyev VV, Gonzalez L, et al. Therapeutic Treg expansion in mice by TNFRSF25 prevents allergic lung inflammation. J Clin Invest. (2010) 120:3629–40. doi: 10.1172/jci42933
- Bittner S, Knoll G, Ehrenschwender M. Death receptor 3 signaling enhances proliferation of human regulatory T cells. *FEBS Lett.* (2017) 591:1187– 95. doi: 10.1002/1873-3468.12632
- Haribhai D, Lin W, Relland LM, Truong N, Williams CB, Chatila TA. Regulatory T cells dynamically control the primary immune response to foreign antigen. J Immunol. (2007) 178:2961–72. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.178.5.2961
- Sidhu-Varma M, Shih DQ, Targan SR. Differential Levels of Tl1a affect the expansion and function of regulatory T cells in modulating murine colitis. *Inflamm Bowel Dis.* (2016) 22:548–59. doi: 10.1097/mib.0000000000 00653
- 62. Richard AC, Tan C, Hawley ET, Gomez-Rodriguez J, Goswami R, Yang XP, et al. The TNF-family ligand TL1A and its receptor DR3 promote T cell-mediated allergic immunopathology by enhancing differentiation and pathogenicity of IL-9-producing T cells. *J Immunol.* (2015) 194:3567–82. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1401220
- Meylan F, Hawley ET, Barron L, Barlow JL, Penumetcha P, Pelletier M, et al. The TNF-family cytokine TL1A promotes allergic immunopathology through group 2 innate lymphoid cells. *Mucosal Immunol.* (2014) 7:958– 68. doi: 10.1038/mi.2013.114
- Zhao Y, Chu X, Chen J, Wang Y, Gao S, Jiang Y, et al. Dectin-1-activated dendritic cells trigger potent antitumour immunity through the induction of Th9 cells. *Nat Commun.* (2016) 7:12368. doi: 10.1038/ncomms12368
- Slebioda TJ, Rowley TF, Ferdinand JR, Willoughby JE, Buchan SL, Taraban VY, et al. Triggering of TNFRSF25 promotes CD8⁺ T-cell responses and anti-tumor immunity. *Eur J Immunol.* (2011) 41:2606– 11. doi: 10.1002/eji.201141477
- Heidemann SC, Chavez V, Landers CJ, Kucharzik T, Prehn JL, Targan SR. TL1A selectively enhances IL-12/IL-18-induced NK cell cytotoxicity against NK-resistant tumor targets. J Clin Immunol. (2010) 30:531– 8. doi: 10.1007/s10875-010-9382-9
- Cavallini C, Lovato O, Bertolaso A, Pacelli L, Zoratti E, Zanolin E, et al. The TNF-family cytokine TL1A inhibits proliferation of human activated B cells. *PLoS ONE.* (2013) 8:e60136. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0060136
- Wang X, Hu Y, Charpentier T, Lamarre A, Qi S, Wu J, et al. TNF-like ligand 1A (TL1A) gene knockout leads to ameliorated collagen-induced arthritis in mice: implication of TL1A in humoral immune responses. *J Immunol.* (2013) 191:5420–9. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1301475
- 69. Shih DQ, Barrett R, Zhang X, Yeager N, Koon HW, Phaosawasdi P, et al. Constitutive TL1A (TNFSF15) expression on lymphoid or myeloid cells leads to mild intestinal inflammation and fibrosis. *PLoS ONE.* (2011) 6:e16090. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0016090
- Jia LG, Bamias G, Arseneau KO, Burkly LC, Wang EC, Gruszka D, et al. A novel role for TL1A/DR3 in protection against intestinal injury and infection. *J Immunol.* (2016) 197:377–86. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1 502466
- Bull MJ, Williams AS, Mecklenburgh Z, Calder CJ, Twohig JP, Elford C, et al. The death receptor 3-TNF-like protein 1A pathway drives adverse bone pathology in inflammatory arthritis. *J Exp Med.* (2008) 205:2457–64. doi: 10.1084/jem.20072378
- Buchan SL, Taraban VY, Slebioda TJ, James S, Cunningham AF, Al-Shamkhani A. Death receptor 3 is essential for generating optimal protective CD4(+) T-cell immunity against Salmonella. *Eur J Immunol.* (2012) 42:580– 8. doi: 10.1002/eji.201041950

- Twohig JP, Marsden M, Cuff SM, Ferdinand JR, Gallimore AM, Perks WV, et al. The death receptor 3/TL1A pathway is essential for efficient development of antiviral CD4(+) and CD8(+) T-cell immunity. FASEB J. (2012) 26:3575–86. doi: 10.1096/fj.11-200618
- Pham OH, O'Donnell H, Al-Shamkhani A, Kerrinnes T, Tsolis RM, McSorley SJ. T cell expression of IL-18R and DR3 is essential for noncognate stimulation of Th1 cells and optimal clearance of intracellular bacteria. *PLoS Pathog.* (2017) 13:e1006566. doi: 10.1371/journal.ppat.1 006566
- Yu X, Pappu R, Ramirez-Carrozzi V, Ota N, Caplazi P, Zhang J, et al. TNF superfamily member TL1A elicits type 2 innate lymphoid cells at mucosal barriers. *Mucosal Immunol.* (2014) 7:730–40. doi: 10.1038/mi.2013.92
- Geremia A, Arancibia-Carcamo CV. Innate lymphoid cells in intestinal inflammation. *Front Immunol.* (2017) 8:1296. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2017.01296
- 77. Aparicio-Domingo P, Romera-Hernandez M, Karrich JJ, Cornelissen F, Papazian N, Lindenbergh-Kortleve DJ, et al. Type 3 innate lymphoid cells maintain intestinal epithelial stem cells after tissue damage. J Exp Med. (2015) 212:1783–91. doi: 10.1084/jem.20150318
- Sonnenberg GF, Monticelli LA, Alenghat T, Fung TC, Hutnick NA, Kunisawa J, et al. Innate lymphoid cells promote anatomical containment of lymphoid-resident commensal bacteria. *Science*. (2012) 336:1321– 5. doi: 10.1126/science.1222551
- Magri G, Miyajima M, Bascones S, Mortha A, Puga I, Cassis L, et al. Innate lymphoid cells integrate stromal and immunological signals to enhance antibody production by splenic marginal zone B cells. *Nat Immunol.* (2014) 15:354–64. doi: 10.1038/ni.2830
- Tsuji M, Suzuki K, Kitamura H, Maruya M, Kinoshita K, Ivanov, II, et al. Requirement for lymphoid tissue-inducer cells in isolated follicle formation and T cell-independent immunoglobulin A generation in the gut. *Immunity*. (2008) 29:261–71. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2008.05.014
- Giacomin PR, Moy RH, Noti M, Osborne LC, Siracusa MC, Alenghat T, et al. Epithelial-intrinsic IKKalpha expression regulates group 3 innate lymphoid cell responses and antibacterial immunity. J Exp Med. (2015) 212:1513–28. doi: 10.1084/jem.20141831
- Munoz M, Eidenschenk C, Ota N, Wong K, Lohmann U, Kuhl AA, et al. Interleukin-22 induces interleukin-18 expression from epithelial cells during intestinal infection. *Immunity.* (2015) 42:321–31. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2015.01.011
- Zhang B, Chassaing B, Shi Z, Uchiyama R, Zhang Z, Denning TL, et al. Viral infection. Prevention and cure of rotavirus infection via TLR5/NLRC4-mediated production of IL-22 and IL-18. *Science*. (2014) 346:861–5. doi: 10.1126/science.1256999
- Zheng Y, Valdez PA, Danilenko DM, Hu Y, Sa SM, Gong Q, et al. Interleukin-22 mediates early host defense against attaching and effacing bacterial pathogens. *Nat Med.* (2008) 14:282–9. doi: 10.1038/nm1720
- Longman RS, Diehl GE, Victorio DA, Huh JR, Galan C, Miraldi ER, et al. CX(3)CR1(+) mononuclear phagocytes support colitis-associated innate lymphoid cell production of IL-22. J Exp Med. (2014) 211:1571– 83. doi: 10.1084/jem.20140678
- Ahn YO, Weeres MA, Neulen ML, Choi J, Kang SH, Heo DS, et al. Human group3 innate lymphoid cells express DR3 and respond to TL1A with enhanced IL-22 production and IL-2-dependent proliferation. *Eur J Immunol.* (2015) 45:2335–42. doi: 10.1002/eji.201 445213
- Slebioda TJ, Bojarska-Junak A, Stanislawowski M, Cyman M, Wierzbicki PM, Rolinski J, et al. TL1A as a potential local inducer of IL17A expression in colon mucosa of inflammatory bowel disease Patients. *Scand J Immunol.* (2015) 82:352–60. doi: 10.1111/sji.12324
- Slebioda TJ, Bojarska-Junak A, Cyman M, Landowski P, Kaminska B, Celinski K, et al. Expression of death receptor 3 on peripheral blood mononuclear cells differes in adult IBD patients and children with newly diagnosed IBD. *Cytometry B Clin Cytom.* (2017) 92:165– 9. doi: 10.1002/cyto.b.21372
- Bamias G, Kaltsa G, Siakavellas SI, Gizis M, Margantinis G, Zampeli E, et al. Differential expression of the TL1A/DcR3 system of TNF/TNFR-like proteins in large vs. small intestinal Crohn's disease. *Dig Liver Dis.* (2012) 44:30–6. doi: 10.1016/j.dld.2011.09.002

- Bamias G, Kaltsa G, Siakavellas SI, Papaxoinis K, Zampeli E, Michopoulos S, et al. High intestinal and systemic levels of decoy receptor 3 (DcR3) and its ligand TL1A in active ulcerative colitis. *Clin Immunol.* (2010) 137:242– 9. doi: 10.1016/j.clim.2010.07.001
- Spencer DM, Veldman GM, Banerjee S, Willis J, Levine AD. Distinct inflammatory mechanisms mediate early versus late colitis in mice. *Gastroenterology*. (2002) 122:94–105. doi: 10.1053/gast.2002.30308
- Bamias G, Martin C, Mishina M, Ross WG, Rivera-Nieves J, Marini M, et al. Proinflammatory effects of TH2 cytokines in a murine model of chronic small intestinal inflammation. *Gastroenterology.* (2005) 128:654– 66.doi: 10.1053/j.gastro.2004.11.053
- Bamias G, Cominelli F. Immunopathogenesis of inflammatory bowel disease: current concepts. *Curr Opin Gastroenterol.* (2007) 23:365– 9. doi: 10.1097/MOG.0b013e3281c55eb2
- Pizarro TT, Pastorelli L, Bamias G, Garg RR, Reuter BK, Mercado JR, et al. SAMP1/YitFc mouse strain: a spontaneous model of Crohn's disease-like ileitis. *Inflamm Bowel Dis.* (2011) 17:2566–84. doi: 10.1002/ibd.21638
- Ferdinand JR, Richard AC, Meylan F, Al-Shamkhani A, Siegel RM. Cleavage of TL1A differentially regulates its effects on innate and adaptive immune cells. J Immunol. (2018) 200:1360–9. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1700891
- 96. Tougaard P, Skov S, Pedersen AE, Krych L, Nielsen DS, Bahl MI, et al. TL1A regulates TCR $\gamma\delta^+$ intraepithelial lymphocytes and gut microbial composition. *Eur J Immunol.* (2015) 45:865–75. doi: 10.1002/eji.201444528
- Li Z, Butto LF, Buela KA, Jia LG, Lam M, Ward JD, et al. Death receptor 3 signaling controls the balance between regulatory and effector lymphocytes in SAMP1/YitFc mice with crohn's disease-like ileitis. *Front Immunol.* (2018) 9:362. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2018.00362
- Fiocchi C, Lund PK. Themes in fibrosis and gastrointestinal inflammation. Am J Physiol Gastrointestinal Liver Physiol. (2011) 300:G677-83. doi: 10.1152/ajpgi.00104.2011
- Latella G, Rieder F. Intestinal fibrosis: ready to be reversed. Curr Opin Gastroenterol. (2017) 33:239–45. doi: 10.1097/mog.00000000000363
- Biancheri P, Pender SL, Ammoscato F, Giuffrida P, Sampietro G, Ardizzone S, et al. The role of interleukin 17 in Crohn's disease-associated intestinal fibrosis. *Fibrogenesis Tissue Repair*. (2013) 6:13. doi: 10.1186/1755-1536-6-13
- Chizzolini C, Dufour AM, Brembilla NC. Is there a role for IL-17 in the pathogenesis of systemic sclerosis? *Immunol Lett.* (2018) 195:61– 7. doi: 10.1016/j.imlet.2017.09.007
- 102. Fichtner-Feigl S, Young CA, Kitani A, Geissler EK, Schlitt HJ, Strober W. IL-13 signaling via IL-13R alpha2 induces major downstream fibrogenic factors mediating fibrosis in chronic TNBS colitis. *Gastroenterology*. (2008) 135:2003–13, 13 e1-7. doi: 10.1053/j.gastro.2008.08.055
- 103. Bailey JR, Bland PW, Tarlton JF, Peters I, Moorghen M, Sylvester PA, et al. IL-13 promotes collagen accumulation in Crohn's disease fibrosis by downregulation of fibroblast MMP synthesis: a role for innate lymphoid cells? *PLoS ONE.* (2012) 7:e52332. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0052332
- 104. Latella G, Rogler G, Bamias G, Breynaert C, Florholmen J, Pellino G, et al. Results of the 4th scientific workshop of the ECCO (I): pathophysiology of intestinal fibrosis in IBD. J Crohns Colitis. (2014) 8:1147–65. doi: 10.1016/j.crohns.2014.03.008
- 105. Barrett R, Zhang X, Koon HW, Vu M, Chang JY, Yeager N, et al. Constitutive TL1A expression under colitogenic conditions modulates the severity and location of gut mucosal inflammation and induces fibrostenosis. *Am J Pathol.* (2012) 180:636–49. doi: 10.1016/j.ajpath.2011.10.026
- 106. Shih DQ, Zheng L, Zhang X, Zhang H, Kanazawa Y, Ichikawa R, et al. Inhibition of a novel fibrogenic factor Tl1a reverses established colonic fibrosis. *Mucosal Immunol.* (2014) 7:1492–503. doi: 10.1038/mi.2014.37
- 107. Li H, Song J, Niu G, Zhang H, Guo J, Shih DQ, et al. TL1A blocking ameliorates intestinal fibrosis in the T cell transfer model of chronic colitis in mice. *Pathol Res Pract.* (2018) 214:217–27. doi: 10.1016/j.prp.201 7.11.017
- Jacob N, Jacobs JP, Kumagai K, Ha CWY, Kanazawa Y, Lagishetty V, et al. Inflammation-independent TL1A-mediated intestinal fibrosis is dependent on the gut microbiome. *Mucosal Immunol.* (2018) 2018:55. doi: 10.1038/s41385-018-0055-y
- 109. Bamias G, Filidou E, Goukos D, Valatas V, Arvanitidis K, Panagopoulou M, et al. Crohn's disease-associated mucosal factors regulate the expression of TNF-like cytokine 1A and its receptors in primary subepithelial intestinal

myofibroblasts and intestinal epithelial cells. *Transl Res.* (2017) 180:118–30 e2. doi: 10.1016/j.trsl.2016.08.007

- 110. Bouros E, Filidou E, Arvanitidis K, Mikroulis D, Steiropoulos P, Bamias G, et al. Lung fibrosis-associated soluble mediators and bronchoalveolar lavage from idiopathic pulmonary fibrosis patients promote the expression of fibrogenic factors in subepithelial lung myofibroblasts. *Pulm Pharmacol Ther.* (2017) 46:78–87. doi: 10.1016/j.pupt.2017.08.012
- 111. Dand N, Mucha S, Tsoi LC, Mahil SK, Stuart PE, Arnold A, et al. Exome-wide association study reveals novel psoriasis susceptibility locus at TNFSF15 and rare protective alleles in genes contributing to type I IFN signalling. *Hum Mol Genet.* (2017) 26:4301–13. doi: 10.1093/hmg/ddx328
- 112. Kepiro L, Szell M, Kovacs L, Keszthelyi P, Kemeny L, Gyulai R. Genetic risk and protective factors of TNFSF15 gene variants detected using single nucleotide polymorphisms in Hungarians with psoriasis and psoriatic arthritis. *Hum Immunol.* (2014) 75:159–62. doi: 10.1016/j.humimm.2013.11.006
- 113. Sun Y, Irwanto A, Toyo-Oka L, Hong M, Liu H, Andiappan AK, et al. Fine-mapping analysis revealed complex pleiotropic effect and tissue-specific regulatory mechanism of TNFSF15 in primary biliary cholangitis, Crohn's disease and leprosy. *Sci Rep.* (2016) 6:31429. doi: 10.1038/srep31429
- 114. Fava VM, Sales-Marques C, Alcais A, Moraes MO, Schurr E. Age-dependent association of TNFSF15/TNFSF8 variants and leprosy type 1 reaction. *Front Immunol.* (2017) 8:155. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2017.00155
- 115. Jostins L, Ripke S, Weersma RK, Duerr RH, McGovern DP, Hui KY, et al. Host-microbe interactions have shaped the genetic architecture of inflammatory bowel disease. *Nature*. (2012) 491:119–24. doi: 10.1038/nature11582
- 116. Li H, Hou S, Yu H, Zheng M, Zhang L, Zhang J, et al. Association of genetic variations in TNFSF15 with acute anterior uveitis in chinese han. *Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci.* (2015) 56:4605–10. doi: 10.1167/iovs.15-16896
- 117. Wang NG, Wang F, Tan BY, Han SJ, Dong J, Yuan ZN, et al. Genetic analysis of TNFST15 variants in ankylosing spondylitis. *Int J Clin Exp Pathol.* (2015) 8:15210–5.
- 118. Zinovieva E, Bourgain C, Kadi A, Letourneur F, Izac B, Said-Nahal R, et al. Comprehensive linkage and association analyses identify haplotype, near

to the TNFSF15 gene, significantly associated with spondyloarthritis. *PLoS Genet.* (2009) 5:e1000528. doi: 10.1371/journal.pgen.1000528

- 119. Konsta M, Bamias G, Tektonidou MG, Christopoulos P, Iliopoulos A, Sfikakis PP. Increased levels of soluble TNF-like cytokine 1A in ankylosing spondylitis. *Rheumatology.* (2013) 52:448–51. doi: 10.1093/rheumatology/kes316
- 120. Wang EC, Newton Z, Hayward OA, Clark SR, Collins F, Perks WV, et al. Regulation of early cartilage destruction in inflammatory arthritis by death receptor 3. Arthritis Rheumatol. (2014) 66:2762–72. doi: 10.1002/art.38770
- 121. Fiorino G, Omodei PD. Psoriasis and inflammatory bowel disease: two sides of the same coin? J Crohns Colitis. (2015) 9:697–8. doi: 10.1093/ecco-jcc/jjv110
- 122. Bamias G, Evangelou K, Vergou T, Tsimaratou K, Kaltsa G, Antoniou C, et al. Upregulation and nuclear localization of TNF-like cytokine 1A (TL1A) and its receptors DR3 and DcR3 in psoriatic skin lesions. *Exp Dermatol.* (2011) 20:725–31. doi: 10.1111/j.1600-0625.2011.01304.x
- 123. Li L, Fu L, Lu Y, Wang W, Liu H, Li F, et al. TNF-like ligand 1A is associated with the pathogenesis of psoriasis vulgaris and contributes to IL-17 production in PBMCs. *Arch Dermatol Res.* (2014) 306:927–32. doi: 10.1007/s00403-014-1497-z
- 124. Calder CJ, Wang EC. An essential role for death receptor 3 in experimental autoimmune uveoretinitis. *Ocul Immunol Inflamm.* (2012) 20:212–4. doi: 10.3109/09273948.2012.658135

Conflict of Interest Statement: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2019 Valatas, Kolios and Bamias. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Cytokine-Mediated Regulation of Innate Lymphoid Cell Plasticity in Gut Mucosal Immunity

Carlo De Salvo[†], Kristine-Ann Buela[†] and Theresa T. Pizarro^{*}

Department of Pathology, Case Western Reserve University School of Medicine, Cleveland, OH, United States

Mucosal barriers are active sites that encounter a bombardment of antigenic stimuli derived from both the commensal flora and a variety of pathogens, as well as from environmental insults. As such, the ability to mount appropriate innate immune responses is an important first line of defense that confers protection to the host. Central to innate immunity are innate lymphoid cells (ILCs), which were first described a decade ago, and represent a family of heterogeneous cells driven by specific transcription factors and exhibit distinct cytokine profiles that are shared with their CD4⁺ T-helper cell counterparts. ILCs are particularly enriched at mucosal surfaces, and the tissue microenvironment and cytokine milieu in which ILCs reside are critical factors that drive the behavior and overall function of these cells. In fact, ILCs situated at mucosal barriers must be able to temper their response to a constant exposure of environmental antigens, but also promptly react to pathogens or signals that are potentially harmful to the host. In this context, the ability of ILCs to readily transdifferentiate in response to their dynamic surroundings has become a vigorous area of research, and defining specific mechanism(s) of ILC plasticity is at the advent of discovery. This review will summarize what is currently known regarding the network of cytokines and regulatory elements that enable ILCs to readily transform, based on the range of diverse signals and signal gradients they encounter that lead to either protective or pathogenic function(s), with focus on the gut mucosal immune system.

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Annalisa Del Prete, University of Brescia, Italy

Reviewed by:

Cyril Seillet, Walter and Eliza Hall Institute of Medical Research, Australia Giuseppe Sciumè, Sapienza University of Rome, Italy

*Correspondence:

Theresa T. Pizarro theresa.pizarro@case.edu

[†]These authors have contributed equally to this work

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Cytokines and Soluble Mediators in Immunity, a section of the journal Frontiers in Immunology

Received: 20 July 2020 Accepted: 03 November 2020 Published: 04 December 2020

Citation:

De Salvo C, Buela K-A and Pizarro TT (2020) Cytokine-Mediated Regulation of Innate Lymphoid Cell Plasticity in Gut Mucosal Immunity. Front. Immunol. 11:585319. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2020.585319 Keywords: innate lymphoid cells (ILCs), cytokines, plasticity, gut mucosal immunity, innate immunity

INTRODUCTION

Innate lymphoid cells (ILCs) are a diverse family of developmentally-related immune cells that are heterogeneous in their tissue location, cytokine secretion, and effector functions. The term "ILC" has been widely used since 2010, with distinct subsets formally proposed in 2013, based on the transcription factors and specific cytokines regulating their development and function (1). Initially, three groups of ILCs were described, representing innate counterparts that functionally mirror

Abbreviations: c-Maf, musculoaponeurotic fibrosarcoma oncogene homolog; Eomes, Eomesodermin; GATA3, GATA binding protein-3; GFP, green fluorescent protein; GM-CSF, granulocyte macrophage colony stimulating factor; IFN γ , interferon- γ ; IL-, interleukin-; ILC, innate lymphoid cell; ILCreg, regulatory innate lymphoid cell; LTi, lymphoid tissue inducer; NCR, natural cytotoxicity receptor; NK, natural killer; TGF β , transforming growth factor-beta; TSLP, thymic stromal lymphopoietin; Th, T-helper; Treg, T-regulatory cell.

CD4⁺ T-helper cell subsets. More recently, NK and lymphoid tissue inducer (LTi) cells have expanded this family, thereby representing five different ILC groups (2). Group 1 ILCs (ILC1s) express IFNy and rely on the transcription factor, T-bet, but unlike closely-related NK cells, they do not depend on Eomesodermin (Eomes) and are, in general, non-cytotoxic; however, a phenotypic hybrid of ILC1s and NK cells also exists (3). ILC2s produce the Th2 cytokines, IL-4, IL-5, and IL-13, as well as IL-9 and amphiregulin, and are functionally influenced by the transcription factors, GATA3 and RORa. ILC3s utilize RORyt to drive production of IL-22, but also IL-17, and are distinguished into further subsets based on expression of the natural cytotoxicity receptors (NCRs), NKp46 and NKp44. LTi cells are also dependent on RORyt, but produce lymphotoxin and are critical for secondary lymphoid organ formation, including Peyer's patches. Although organizing ILCs into these five subgroups provides a basic infrastructure to understand the ILC family in regards to development and function, it is also important to consider whether this diversity is discrete, or reflects a given subset's adaptability to the changing tissue microenvironment, such as what occurs during disease pathogenesis, and for these cells to undergo transformation.

In this context, several significant questions remain unanswered regarding the mechanisms underlying ILC development, divergence, and differentiation. What kind of environmental cues and other regulatory factors are necessary to determine cell fate? How do these processes relate to that of the CD4⁺ T cell helper population? Which ILC subgroups are terminally-differentiated, or like their corresponding CD4⁺ T helper cells, can convert from one ILC type to another? Although investigation of ILC plasticity is still in its infancy, these questions are now being answered, particularly with the emergence of more advanced techniques, such as single-cell transcriptomics, which facilitates a better understanding of the complexity and heterogeneity of ILCs (4–7).

In general, ILC2s and ILC3s have the ability to transdifferentiate into ILC1s, which is a reversible process, and highly dependent on the cytokine milieu and tissue microenvironment in which these cells reside. Transformation of ILC2s to ILC3s has also been reported, while plasticity between "natural" and "inflammatory" ILC2s, as well as of NK cells to ILC1s, may represent transient stages or terminallydifferentiated events during disease pathogenesis, respectively. The following sections will summarize current findings regarding ILC plasticity and what signals (*e.g.*, cytokines) control these processes, with particular focus on the gut mucosal immune system. We will also discuss the more recently coined regulatory ILC (ILCreg) subset and its contribution to mucosal immunity.

CYTOKINES THAT REGULATE PLASTICITY OF LTI AND ILC3S

Plasticity within ILC subgroups was first observed in LTi cells, in which a gradient of RORyt expression is stabilized by IL-7 and the

gut microbiome, while IL-12 and IL-15 accelerate its loss. Specifically, ROR γ t⁺ LTi cells produce IL-22 and are functionally protective, whereas ROR γ t⁻ LTi cells secrete IFN γ and can induce colitis (8, 9). Similarly, ILC3s that are NKp46⁻CCR6^{-/low} are able to differentiate into NKp46⁺ ILC3s, depending on upregulation of the prototypic ILC1 transcription factor, T-bet, which stimulates IFN γ and IL-22 production that are important for protection against *Salmonella* infection (10). In addition, Notch signaling mediated by T-bet guides the development of NKp46⁺ ILC3s (11). Interestingly, this upregulation of T-bet in a subpopulation of ILC3s is concurrent with loss of ROR γ t expression (8, 12).

How these "ex-ILC3s" are generated is of great interest and the focus of recent investigation. Although different mechanisms have been implicated, the tissue-specific microenvironment appears to be essential to skew ILC3 identity, as the frequency of these subsets differs depending on their residence. Most abundant within the intestines are ILC3s, wherein CCR6⁺ ILC3s and/or LTi-like cells are most prominently found in cryptopatches, whereas NKp46^{+/-} CCR6^{-/low} ILC3s are located within the lamina propria. Interestingly, Pearson et al., recently demonstrated that ILC3s can mobilize from intestinal cryptopatches to the lamina propria, and this migration is dependent on GM-CSF (13). Another mechanism for ILC3 switching was revealed through the use of RORyt-GFP reporter mice (14), which have been instrumental for lineage-tracing experiments (15); these mice retain GFP expression in their $ROR\gamma t^+$ cells, even after loss of $ROR\gamma t$ expression. Studies show that within the ILC1 subset, some cells have the ability to produce IFNy, a typical ILC1 cytokine, and still have traceable GFP expression, suggesting that they were likely once RORyt⁺ ILC3s (i.e., ex-ILC3s) (8–10, 16–18). Although ILC3s rely on IL-7 signaling for proper development and maintenance, ex-ILC3s downregulate CD127 and c-Kit, and are more responsive to IL-15; in contrast, all other ILC3 subsets are not entirely dependent on IL-15 signaling (18, 19). Furthermore, upon IL-23 stimulation, STAT4/T-bet-dependent regulation of NCR⁺ ILC3s can promote IFNy production and plasticity towards type 1 fate (20).

More recently, an intermediate population has been identified in human tonsils and small intestines, with characteristics of both ILC3s and intraepithelial CD103⁺ ILC1s (21). This population expresses CD103, CCR6, and CD300LF to different degrees, with scRNA-seq analysis providing evidence that ILC3s are able to convert in vivo into CD103⁺ ILC1s. Furthermore, Aiolos (encoded by IKZF3), a member of the Ikaros family of transcription factors, and expressed mainly by ILC1s and NK cells, is critical for skewing ILC3s into CD103⁻ (22) and intraepithelial CD103⁺ ILC1s (21). The transcription factor, c-Maf, is also implicated in controlling the homeostatic balance of ILC3s by directly inhibiting T-bet, and therefore transdifferentiation to ILC1s (23, 24); in the absence of c-Maf, CD196⁻ ILC3s transdifferentiate to an ILC1 phenotype (23). Another factor, BCL6, regulates ILC3-to-ILC1 plasticity by repressing ILC3-promoting pathways, such as IL-23-induced signaling (24), resulting in reduced ILC1 frequency.

In humans, the transition from ILC3s to ILC1s is contingent on downstream signals directed by IL-12 that induce the expression of T-bet (12). This is the case in inflamed intestinal tissues from Crohn's disease patients, wherein increased ILC1s, at the expense of ILC3s, is observed, highlighting the prevalence of ILC3s during homeostasis, possibly by supporting T regulatory cell (Treg) activity via IL-2 (25), and ILC1s during (pathogenic) inflammatory events (26). Interestingly, differentiation from NKp46⁻ to NKp46⁺ ILC3s, and then to NKp46⁺ ex-ILC3s (*i.e.*, "ILC1s"), modulated by low-to-high Tbet expression, is reversible both in vivo and in vitro, and is dependent on IL-23, IL-2, and IL-1 β , and is further enhanced by retinoic acid (12). This ILC3-to-ILC1 polarization also depends on the presence of CD14⁺ and CD14⁻ dendritic cells, wherein an increase in the former promotes ILC1 differentiation, and an increase in the latter, induces ILC3 skewing. These findings indicate that, as much as the cytokine milieu and activation of transcription factors can affect ILC subset composition, so can environmental signals from local immune cells. In other studies, fate-mapping experiments have established that NKp46⁺RORyt⁺ ILC3s can downregulate in vivo expression of NKp46, generating NKp46⁻RORyt⁺ ILC3s (11, 27).

As mentioned earlier, T-bet itself can direct the development of NKp46⁺ ILC3s, which is mediated through Notch signaling (10). Confounding this finding, however, Notch is also reported to regulate plasticity within ILC3 subsets by controlling the fate of NKp46⁺ ILC3s (28). Furthermore, interconversion within the ILC3 subset occurs in response to TGF β (29). Transcripts for the two subunits of the TGF β receptor, TGF β receptor I and II, can be detected in ILCs (30). Deletion of TGF β receptor II leads to expansion of NKp46⁺ ILC3s, indicating that TGF β impairs the development of NKp46⁺ ILC3s. Additionally, TGF β antagonizes Notch signaling, implying that the ILC3 phenotype depends on fine-tuning the divergent effects of both TGF β and Notch signaling that may be required to preserve homeostasis, *in vivo* (29).

Taken together, these studies indicate that ILC3s exhibit bidirectional differentiation that can be modulated by T-bet and RORyt gradients within the ILC3 lineage (Figure 1A). Are ex-ILC3s generated from NCR⁺ ILC3s, and are they all dependent on Notch and TGF-B signaling? How does T-bet and RORyt detect the extent of inflammation and deliver equivalent immune responses? To determine how these transcription factors readily impose various ILC3 effector programs, it is imperative to recognize the underlying molecular mechanisms for ILC3 plasticity. How this balance is maintained could reflect blunted inflammatory responses (i.e., in presence of commensal flora during homeostasis), while being poised to mount a vigorous immune reaction when challenge or insult occurs, particularly at mucosal barriers. Various ILC3 subsets may be actively modulated by the temporal degree of inflammation that then directs T-bet and RORyt expression.

CYTOKINES THAT REGULATE PLASTICITY OF ILC2S

ILC2s have also been reported to alter their functional and transcriptional programs. ILC2s are capable of converting to

IFNy-producing ILC1s in both mice and humans (31-33). Specifically, ILC2s derived from human blood proliferate in vitro in the presence of IL-2 and IL-7, upregulate T-bet, and secrete IFNy via IL-12 (34). Other studies show that, in the presence of IL-1β, human ILC2s not only express T-bet, but also the IL-12 receptor subunits, IL-12RB1 and IL-12RB2, enabling ILC2s to respond to IL-12 (32). Interestingly, patients with defects in IL-12RB1 suffer from a syndrome referred to as Mendelian susceptibility to mycobacterial disease; these individuals are not capable of generating ILC2s that potentially can convert to ILC1s (34). IL-12 is also important in inducing genomic modifications in the $IFN\gamma$ locus, allowing for IFN γ secretion; these IFN\gamma-expressing "ex-ILC2s" are also able to secrete IL-13 (32). Similarly, Bal et al. showed in an inflammatory environment (i.e., lung tissues of patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease) that ILC2s can convert into IFNy-producing ILC1s by exposure to either combination IL-1 β and IL-12, IL-33, or TSLP (thymic stromal lymphopoietin) and IL-12 (31). After adoptive transfer into humanized mice, these ILC2s downregulate chemoattractant receptorhomologous molecule expressed on T-helper type 2 cells (CRTH2) and c-Kit expression, which are typical markers for ILC2s (31). These CRTH2⁻Kit⁻ ex-ILC2s also express increased Tbx21 (T-bet) compared to CRTH2⁺Kit⁺ ILC2s. In humans, two subsets of CRTH2⁺ ILC2s were identified in peripheral blood, based on CD117 expression: CD117⁻ ILC2s, indicating mature ILC2s, and CD117⁺ ILC2s, showing some features of ILC3s, such as RORyt expression (35, 36). Upon IL-33 stimulation, CD117⁺ ILC2s produce Th2 cytokines, whereas IL1ß and IL-23 induce these cells to produce IL-17 (35, 36) and CCR6, which is also expressed by IL-17-producing ILC3s (37). ILC2s have also been reported to display phenotypic plasticity in response to infectious agents, such as influenza virus, respiratory syncytial virus, Staphylococcus aureus, and interestingly, cigarette smoke (33). GATA3 expression is downregulated in ILC2s in response to exposure to these agents, with a subsequent increase in IL-12Rβ2, IL-18Rα, and T-bet. This effect was confirmed in vivo by adoptive transfer of ILC2s from ST2/IL-33R reporter mice into recipients lacking T cells and ILCs (Rag2^{-/-}Il2rg^{-/-} mice) that were then infected with influenza. Although donor ILC2s downregulate GATA3 and upregulate IL-18R α and IL-12R β 2, they do not express T-bet; however, upon stimulation with IL-12 and IL-18, a portion of these ex-ILC2s are capable of IFNy secretion, suggesting skewing towards ILC1s (33).

Interestingly, similar to ILC3-to-ILC1 conversion, ILC2-to-ILC1 transdifferentiation is also reversible. Although the mechanism for this process is not entirely clear, eosinophil-derived IL-4 appears to prevent IL-12-mediated ILC2 differentiation to ILC1 in an inflammatory milieu, such as within nasal polyps of patients with chronic rhinosinusitis (31). Furthermore, expression of the receptors for IL-1 β , IL-12, IL-18, and IL-33 influence ILC2 expansion and T-bet induction, facilitating ILC2 conversion towards an ILC1 phenotype (31–33).

TGF β from pulmonary epithelial cells has been observed to promote allergic immune responses by expanding IL-13–secreting



FIGURE 1 | ILC transdifferentiation occurs in response to cytokine and/or pathogen stimulation. Schematic representation summarizing plasticity among ILC populations reported both in mouse models and in human settings. (**A**) Plasticity within the LTI and ILC3 populations. RORyt in LTI cells is stabilized by IL-7 and the gut microbiome; these cells produce IL-22 and are functionally protective. Conversely, IL-12 and IL-15 accelerate loss of RORyt in LTI cells, which secrete IFNy and induce colitis. NCR⁻ ILC3s can convert into NCR⁺ ILC3s under the influence of T-bet and Notch. T-bet upregulation of NCR⁺ ILC3s can transform ILC3s into ILC1-like cells (*i.e.*, ex-ILC3s) that downregulate expression of CD127 and c-Kit, and secrete IFNy. This process is reversed by IL-23, IL-1β, IL-2, and retinoic acid (RA), while TGFβ inhibits NCR⁺ ILC3 development from NCR⁻ ILC3s and possibly drives reversion of these cells. Increased presence of CD14⁺ dendritic cells (DCs) drives an ex-ILC3 phenotype, while CD14⁻ DCs promote the generation of NCR⁺ ILC3s. (**B**) Plasticity within the ILC2 population. In the presence of an inflammatory environment typical of COPD (chronic obstructive pulmonary disease), smoke, and bacterial or viral infection, or after stimulation with IL-2, IL-7, IL-12, IL-1β, and IL-12, as well as TSLP and IL-12, ILC2s can assume an ILC1-like phenotype (*i.e.*, ex-ILC2) that upregulates expression of the IL-12 receptor, downregulates ILC2-associated proteins (CRTH2, c-Kit, GATA3), and produces IFNy. GATA3, a critical transcription factor for maintaining ILC2 identity, is repressed by T-bet. This route can also be reversed by eosinophil-derived IL-4. (**C**) Plasticity within the NK and ILC1 populations. In the context of a tumor microenvironment, NK cells (Eomes⁺CD49a⁺CD49b⁺), or intILC1s, upon stimulation with TGFβ. Similarly, NK cells can also transform to real ILC1s (Eomes⁺CD49a⁺CD49b⁺), SMAD4 promotes TGFβ signaling, but the lack of SMAD4 in NK cells transforms them into intILC1s. T

ILC2s (30). IL-33 induces proliferation of ILC2s and stimulates TGF β secretion in lung airways to activate ILC2 function and migration (30). The possibility therefore exists that TGF β , in line with other inflammatory mediators, acts as a modulator of ILC2 and ILC3 fate. In fact, it has been proposed that murine ILC2s can be categorized into two subsets: a transient "inflammatory" subpopulation whose fate and function is dependent on the transcription factor, BATF, and expresses more IL-25R (thereby responding preferentially to IL-25), and a

tissue resident "natural" ST2⁺ ILC2 subpopulation induced by IL-33 (38, 39). Inflammatory (i)ILC2s are not responsive to IL-33, but can convert into natural (n)ILC2s, both *in vivo* and *in vitro*, and express low quantities of RORyt and upon stimulation, IL-17 and IL-13, indicating plasticity between iILC2s and ILC3-like cells (38).

Although this phenomenon has not been recapitulated in humans, human clones of ILC2s and ILC3s that secrete both IL-22 and IL-13 have been characterized (40, 41). Similarly, ILC2s can respond to inflammation in skin and lungs by transdifferentiating into IL-17-producing ILC3s; specifically, ILC2s co-cultured with dermal cells and the fungus, *Candida albicans*, produce IL-17 and acquire a phenotype similar to that of NKp44⁻ ILC3s (35). Finally, patients with more severe nonallergic asthma, with blunted Th2 responses, display both IL-5and IL-13-producing ILC2s, and IL-17-producing ILC3s and ILC2s (42).

Together, these studies provide support for the existence of ILC2 phenotypic flexibility (**Figure 1B**). Future studies will benefit from experiments that can trace genetic lineages to clarify issues related to ILC2 plasticity. Discriminating between *in vivo* expansion of already low numbers of ILC subsets vs. transdifferentiation is challenging. Identifying extracellular influences and why lineage flexibility is necessary, will facilitate knowledge as to how pathogenic responses can be controlled and skewed toward protective function(s), leading to potential therapeutic interventions (8, 43).

CYTOKINES THAT REGULATE PLASTICITY OF ILC1S AND NK CELLS

Previous sections of this review have highlighted interconversion of ILC3s and ILC2s into ILC1s, and vice-versa. This section will examine ILC plasticity of the closely-related subgroups, NK cells and ILC1s. Although both subsets possess identical cell surface markers (NKp46, NKG2D), parallel transcriptional programming, and similar cytokine profiles (IFNy, TNF), they are now considered distinct populations. For instance, NK cells developmentally do not need GATA3 (44), but some ILC1s do (45-48). The proposed cellular basis of this divergence is due to the transcription factors, inhibitor of DNA binding protein-2 (ID2) and promyelocytic leukemia zinc finger protein (PLZF), which are expressed in ILC precursors, but not in NK cells (18, 49). Recent studies, however, using polychromic reporter mice, show that ILC precursors actually have considerable NK precursor activity, challenging the existing paradigm that considers ILC1 and NK cells as two different subsets (50, 51). Moreover, conversion of NK cells into ILC1s is observed in mice with non-alcoholic fatty liver disease, and likely mediated, in part, by TGF β (52). NK cells also express Eomes that, together with T-bet, modulate production of lysis-associated granules containing perforin and granzyme (53). Therefore, conceptually, if ILCs are innate counterparts of CD4⁺ T helper cells, then NK cells represent the innate version of CD8⁺ T cells.

Current investigation, however, suggests that mature NK cells and ILC1s can also undergo plasticity between themselves. Forced Eomes expression in T-bet⁺ ILC1s is, in fact, sufficient for transformation to CD49b⁺ NK cells (54). Conversely, IL-12 can convert Eomes⁺ NK cells into Eomes⁻ ILC1-like cells following infection with *Toxoplasma gondii* (55). Intriguingly, in humans, an Eomes⁺Tbet^{lo} liver-resident NK cell subset has been identified (56, 57). More recently, two reports show the requirement for TGF β in driving NK cell-to-ILC1 conversion in a tumor microenvironment (58, 59) and during virus infection (59). Gao et al., recently identified NK cells that convert into intermediate ILC1s (intILC1s), also via TGFβ (58). Surprisingly, even though it is well-established that SMAD4 promotes signaling by TGF β family members, and TGF β encourages skewing towards the ILC1 lineage, Cortez, et al. demonstrated that SMAD4 deficiency in ILC1s does not affect their differentiation, but instead converts SMAD4-deficient NK cells into ILC1-like cells (59). This suggests that SMAD4 acts as a negative regulator of TGF β signaling in NK cells, and inhibits typical TGF β imprinting that is characteristic of ILC1s. More importantly, these intILC1s possess gene expression profiles that are intermediate between ILC1s and NK cells, and are incapable of limiting tumor burden or viral load. Whether these ILC1-like cells can actually revert back to NK cells is uncertain, but these studies reveal a mechanism by which the ILC continuum is controlled by a rheostat that includes a cytokine milieu driven by the local tissue microenvironment (Figure 1C).

NEW ILC ON THE BLOCK: ILCREGS

Like Tregs, ILCs are reported to have a corresponding population, aptly-called ILCregs (60). Wang, et al. identified ILCregs in mouse and human intestines that are induced upon inflammatory stimuli, such as DSS, anti-CD40 antibody, as well as Salmonella typhimurium and Citrobacter rodentium infection (60). ILCregs purportedly originate from common helper ILC precursors (CHILP), and not ILC precursors, and express the transcription factors, ID3 and Sox4. Although ILCregs do not express CD4 or Foxp3, they possess a gene identity distinct from other ILC subsets and Tregs. Importantly, ILCregs produce IL-10 and TGFB, and suppress activation of ILC1s and ILC3s, but not ILC2s, in an IL-10-dependent manner. TGF β is necessary for maintenance of ILCregs and autocrine TGFB is required for its expansion during intestinal inflammation. The role of ILCregs in colorectal cancer (CRC) show that these cells transdifferentiate from ILC3s during CRC progression via TGFB, indicating potential pro-tumorigenic function during ILC3-to-ILCreg plasticity (61). Furthermore, retinoic acid is reported to induce transdifferentiation of ILC2s into IL-10-producing ILCregs during airway inflammation (62), while ILC2s provide a predominant and inducible source of IL-10 in the GI tract (63). The existence of this novel ILC subset is, however, controversial and the topic of current investigation that elicits several open-ended questions. How do the transcription factors, ID3 and Sox4, synergize to modulate ILCreg development? Since ILCregs constitutively express Tgfbr1, Tgfbr2, Il2rb, and Il2rg, can they be stimulated directly by IL-2 and TGFB? Why are ILC2s unresponsive to the effects of IL-10-producing ILCregs? It is interesting to note that a subset of IL-10-secreting ILC2s, detected in murine lungs after IL-33 treatment or papain stimulation, associates with reduced lung eosinophilia (64). Comparable to ILCregs, these IL-10⁺ ILC2s also express the anti-inflammatory gene, Retnla, thereby suggesting antiinflammatory properties, yet warrants further investigation in other pathogenic inflammatory states.

CONCLUSIONS AND FUTURE DIRECTIONS

ILCs are particularly enriched at mucosal surfaces, and studies over the last decade highlight various functions that are important at the intestinal barrier (65), both in maintaining gut homeostasis, but also during chronic inflammation. ILC plasticity allows adaptability in response to changes in the local tissue microenvironment that are critical to appropriately respond to pathogenic challenge, without the need for *de novo* ILC generation and recruitment. Investigation into the precise mechanisms that control plasticity of specific ILC subsets, particularly at mucosal surfaces, is in its infancy and will aid in further understanding disease pathogenesis and designing targeted therapies in the future.

REFERENCES

- Spits H, Artis D, Colonna M, Diefenbach A, Di Santo JP, Eberl G, et al. Innate lymphoid cells–a proposal for uniform nomenclature. *Nat Rev Immunol* (2013) 13(2):145–9. doi: 10.1038/nri3365
- Vivier E, Artis D, Colonna M, Diefenbach A, Di Santo JP, Eberl G, et al. Innate Lymphoid Cells: 10 Years On. *Cell* (2018) 174(5):1054–66. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2018.07.017
- Spits H, Bernink JH, Lanier L. NK cells and type 1 innate lymphoid cells: partners in host defense. *Nat Immunol* (2016) 17(7):758–64. doi: 10.1038/ ni.3482
- Gury-BenAri M, Thaiss CA, Serafini N, Winter DR, Giladi A, Lara-Astiaso D, et al. The Spectrum and Regulatory Landscape of Intestinal Innate Lymphoid Cells Are Shaped by the Microbiome. *Cell* (2016) 166(5):1231–46.e13. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2016.07.043
- Yu Y, Tsang JC, Wang C, Clare S, Wang J, Chen X, et al. Single-cell RNA-seq identifies a PD-1hi ILC progenitor and defines its development pathway. *Nature* (2016) 539(7627):102–6. doi: 10.1038/nature20105
- Ishizuka IE, Chea S, Gudjonson H, Constantinides MG, Dinner AR, Bendelac A, et al. Single-cell analysis defines the divergence between the innate lymphoid cell lineage and lymphoid tissue-inducer cell lineage. *Nat Immunol* (2016) 17(3):269–76. doi: 10.1038/ni.3344
- Bjorklund AK, Forkel M, Picelli S, Konya V, Theorell J, Friberg D, et al. The heterogeneity of human CD127(+) innate lymphoid cells revealed by singlecell RNA sequencing. *Nat Immunol* (2016) 17(4):451–60. doi: 10.1038/ ni.3368
- Vonarbourg C, Mortha A, Bui VL, Hernandez PP, Kiss EA, Hoyler T, et al. Regulated expression of nuclear receptor RORgammat confers distinct functional fates to NK cell receptor-expressing RORgammat(+) innate lymphocytes. *Immunity* (2010) 33(5):736–51. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni. 2010.10.017
- Cella M, Otero K, Colonna M. Expansion of human NK-22 cells with IL-7, IL-2, and IL-1beta reveals intrinsic functional plasticity. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2010) 107(24):10961–6. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1005641107
- Klose CS, Kiss EA, Schwierzeck V, Ebert K, Hoyler T, d'Hargues Y, et al. A Tbet gradient controls the fate and function of CCR6-RORgammat+ innate lymphoid cells. *Nature* (2013) 494(7436):261–5. doi: 10.1038/nature11813
- Rankin LC, Groom JR, Chopin M, Herold MJ, Walker JA, Mielke LA, et al. The transcription factor T-bet is essential for the development of NKp46+ innate lymphocytes via the Notch pathway. *Nat Immunol* (2013) 14(4):389– 95. doi: 10.1038/ni.2545
- Bernink JH, Krabbendam L, Germar K, de Jong E, Gronke K, Kofoed-Nielsen M, et al. Interleukin-12 and -23 Control Plasticity of CD127(+) Group 1 and Group 3 Innate Lymphoid Cells in the Intestinal Lamina Propria. *Immunity* (2015) 43(1):146–60. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2015.06.019
- Pearson C, Thornton EE, McKenzie B, Schaupp AL, Huskens N, Griseri T, et al. ILC3 GM-CSF production and mobilisation

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

CS and K-AB contributed equally to researching, writing of initial drafts, and assembling manuscript. TP conceptualized, edited, and assembled the final submitted manuscript. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

FUNDING

This work was supported by grants from the National Institutes of Health: DK091222, DK042191 (*TTP*), and DK097948 Pilot and Feasibility Award (*CDS*); and the Crohn's & Colitis Foundation: CDA-581292 (*CDS*) and RFA-410354 (*KGB*).

orchestrate acute intestinal inflammation. *Elife* (2016) 5:e10066. doi: 10.7554/eLife.10066

- Eberl G, Marmon S, Sunshine MJ, Rennert PD, Choi Y, Littman DR. An essential function for the nuclear receptor RORgamma(t) in the generation of fetal lymphoid tissue inducer cells. *Nat Immunol* (2004) 5(1):64–73. doi: 10.1038/ni1022
- Sawa S, Cherrier M, Lochner M, Satoh-Takayama N, Fehling HJ, Langa F, et al. Lineage relationship analysis of RORgammat+ innate lymphoid cells. *Science* (2010) 330(6004):665–9. doi: 10.1126/science.1194597
- Fuchs A, Vermi W, Lee JS, Lonardi S, Gilfillan S, Newberry RD, et al. Intraepithelial type 1 innate lymphoid cells are a unique subset of IL-12and IL-15-responsive IFN-gamma-producing cells. *Immunity* (2013) 38 (4):769–81. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2013.02.010
- Bernink JH, Peters CP, Munneke M, te Velde AA, Meijer SL, Weijer K, et al. Human type 1 innate lymphoid cells accumulate in inflamed mucosal tissues. *Nat Immunol* (2013) 14(3):221–9. doi: 10.1038/ni.2534
- Klose CS, Flach M, Mohle L, Rogell L, Hoyler T, Ebert K, et al. Differentiation of type 1 ILCs from a common progenitor to all helper-like innate lymphoid cell lineages. *Cell* (2014) 157(2):340–56. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2014.03.030
- Satoh-Takayama N, Lesjean-Pottier S, Vieira P, Sawa S, Eberl G, Vosshenrich CA, et al. IL-7 and IL-15 independently program the differentiation of intestinal CD3-NKp46+ cell subsets from Id2-dependent precursors. *J Exp Med* (2010) 207(2):273–80. doi: 10.1084/jem.20092029
- Mikami Y, Scarno G, Zitti B, Shih HY, Kanno Y, Santoni A, et al. NCR(+) ILC3 maintain larger STAT4 reservoir via T-BET to regulate type 1 features upon IL-23 stimulation in mice. *Eur J Immunol* (2018) 48(7):1174–80. doi: 10.1002/eji.201847480
- Cella M, Gamini R, Secca C, Collins PL, Zhao S, Peng V, et al. Subsets of ILC3-ILC1-like cells generate a diversity spectrum of innate lymphoid cells in human mucosal tissues. *Nat Immunol* (2019) 20(8):980–91. doi: 10.1038/ s41590-019-0425-y
- Mazzurana L, Forkel M, Rao A, Van Acker A, Kokkinou E, Ichiya T, et al. Suppression of Aiolos and Ikaros expression by lenalidomide reduces human ILC3-ILC1/NK cell transdifferentiation. *Eur J Immunol* (2019) 49(9):1344–55. doi: 10.1002/eji.201848075
- Parker ME, Barrera A, Wheaton JD, Zuberbuehler MK, Allan DSJ, Carlyle JR, et al. c-Maf regulates the plasticity of group 3 innate lymphoid cells by restraining the type 1 program. J Exp Med (2020) 217(1). doi: 10.1084/jem.20191030
- Pokrovskii M, Hall JA, Ochayon DE, Yi R, Chaimowitz NS, Seelamneni H, et al. Characterization of Transcriptional Regulatory Networks that Promote and Restrict Identities and Functions of Intestinal Innate Lymphoid Cells. *Immunity* (2019) 51(1):185–97.e6. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2019.06.001
- Zhou L, Chu C, Teng F, Bessman NJ, Goc J, Santosa EK, et al. Innate lymphoid cells support regulatory T cells in the intestine through interleukin-2. *Nature* (2019) 568(7752):405–9. doi: 10.1038/s41586-019-1082-x
- Bal SM, Golebski K, Spits H. Plasticity of innate lymphoid cell subsets. Nat Rev Immunol (2020). doi: 10.1038/s41577-020-0282-9

- Rankin LC, Girard-Madoux MJ, Seillet C, Mielke LA, Kerdiles Y, Fenis A, et al. Complementarity and redundancy of IL-22-producing innate lymphoid cells. *Nat Immunol* (2016) 17(2):179–86. doi: 10.1038/ni.3332
- Chea S, Perchet T, Petit M, Verrier T, Guy-Grand D, Banchi EG, et al. Notch signaling in group 3 innate lymphoid cells modulates their plasticity. *Sci Signaling* (2016) 9(426):ra45. doi: 10.1126/scisignal.aaf2223
- 29. Viant C, Rankin LC, Girard-Madoux MJH, Seillet C, Shi W, Smyth MJ, et al. Transforming growth factor-beta and Notch ligands act as opposing environmental cues in regulating the plasticity of type 3 innate lymphoid cells. *Sci Signaling* (2016) 9(426):ra46. doi: 10.1126/scisignal.aaf2176
- Denney L, Byrne AJ, Shea TJ, Buckley JS, Pease JE, Herledan GM, et al. Pulmonary Epithelial Cell-Derived Cytokine TGF-beta1 Is a Critical Cofactor for Enhanced Innate Lymphoid Cell Function. *Immunity* (2015) 43(5):945– 58. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2015.10.012
- Bal SM, Bernink JH, Nagasawa M, Groot J, Shikhagaie MM, Golebski K, et al. IL-1beta, IL-4 and IL-12 control the fate of group 2 innate lymphoid cells in human airway inflammation in the lungs. *Nat Immunol* (2016) 17(6):636–45. doi: 10.1038/ni.3444
- Ohne Y, Silver JS, Thompson-Snipes L, Collet MA, Blanck JP, Cantarel BL, et al. IL-1 is a critical regulator of group 2 innate lymphoid cell function and plasticity. *Nat Immunol* (2016) 17(6):646–55. doi: 10.1038/ni.3447
- 33. Silver JS, Kearley J, Copenhaver AM, Sanden C, Mori M, Yu L, et al. Inflammatory triggers associated with exacerbations of COPD orchestrate plasticity of group 2 innate lymphoid cells in the lungs. *Nat Immunol* (2016) 17(6):626–35. doi: 10.1038/ni.3443
- Lim AI, Menegatti S, Bustamante J, Le Bourhis L, Allez M, Rogge L, et al. IL-12 drives functional plasticity of human group 2 innate lymphoid cells. *J Exp Med* (2016) 213(4):569–83. doi: 10.1084/jem.20151750
- Bernink JH, Ohne Y, Teunissen MBM, Wang J, Wu J, Krabbendam L, et al. c-Kit-positive ILC2s exhibit an ILC3-like signature that may contribute to IL-17-mediated pathologies. *Nat Immunol* (2019) 20(8):992–1003. doi: 10.1038/ s41590-019-0423-0
- Hochdorfer T, Winkler C, Pardali K, Mjosberg J. Expression of c-Kit discriminates between two functionally distinct subsets of human type 2 innate lymphoid cells. *Eur J Immunol* (2019) 49(6):884–93. doi: 10.1002/ eji.201848006
- Golebski K, Ros XR, Nagasawa M, van Tol S, Heesters BA, Aglmous H, et al. IL-1beta, IL-23, and TGF-beta drive plasticity of human ILC2s towards IL-17producing ILCs in nasal inflammation. *Nat Commun* (2019) 10(1):2162. doi: 10.1038/s41467-019-09883-7
- Huang Y, Guo L, Qiu J, Chen X, Hu-Li J, Siebenlist U, et al. IL-25-responsive, lineage-negative KLRG1(hi) cells are multipotential 'inflammatory' type 2 innate lymphoid cells. *Nat Immunol* (2015) 16(2):161–9. doi: 10.1038/ni.3078
- Miller MM, Patel PS, Bao K, Danhorn T, O'Connor BP, Reinhardt RL. BATF acts as an essential regulator of IL-25-responsive migratory ILC2 cell fate and function. *Sci Immunol* (2020) 5(43). doi: 10.1126/sciimmunol.aay3994
- Mjosberg JM, Trifari S, Crellin NK, Peters CP, van Drunen CM, Piet B, et al. Human IL-25- and IL-33-responsive type 2 innate lymphoid cells are defined by expression of CRTH2 and CD161. *Nat Immunol* (2011) 12(11):1055–62. doi: 10.1038/ni.2104
- Crellin NK, Trifari S, Kaplan CD, Satoh-Takayama N, Di Santo JP, Spits H. Regulation of cytokine secretion in human CD127(+) LTi-like innate lymphoid cells by Toll-like receptor 2. *Immunity* (2010) 33(5):752–64. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2010.10.012
- Cai T, Qiu J, Ji Y, Li W, Ding Z, Suo C, et al. IL-17-producing ST2(+) group 2 innate lymphoid cells play a pathogenic role in lung inflammation. J Allergy Clin Immunol (2019) 143(1):229–44.e9. doi: 10.1016/j.jaci.2018.03.007
- Buonocore S, Ahern PP, Uhlig HH, Ivanov II, Littman DR, Maloy KJ, et al. Innate lymphoid cells drive interleukin-23-dependent innate intestinal pathology. *Nature* (2010) 464(7293):1371–5. doi: 10.1038/nature08949
- 44. Samson SI, Richard O, Tavian M, Ranson T, Vosshenrich CA, Colucci F, et al. GATA-3 promotes maturation, IFN-gamma production, and liver-specific homing of NK cells. *Immunity* (2003) 19(5):701–11. doi: 10.1016/S1074-7613 (03)00294-2
- Hoyler T, Klose CS, Souabni A, Turqueti-Neves A, Pfeifer D, Rawlins EL, et al. The transcription factor GATA-3 controls cell fate and maintenance of type 2 innate lymphoid cells. *Immunity* (2012) 37(4):634–48. doi: 10.1016/ j.immuni.2012.06.020

- 46. Yagi R, Zhong C, Northrup DL, Yu F, Bouladoux N, Spencer S, et al. The transcription factor GATA3 is critical for the development of all IL-7Ralphaexpressing innate lymphoid cells. *Immunity* (2014) 40(3):378–88. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2014.01.012
- 47. Klein Wolterink RG, Serafini N, van Nimwegen M, Vosshenrich CA, de Bruijn MJ, Fonseca Pereira D, et al. Essential, dose-dependent role for the transcription factor Gata3 in the development of IL-5+ and IL-13+ type 2 innate lymphoid cells. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* (2013) 110(25):10240–5. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1217158110
- Serafini N, Klein Wolterink RG, Satoh-Takayama N, Xu W, Vosshenrich CA, Hendriks RW, et al. Gata3 drives development of RORgammat+ group 3 innate lymphoid cells. J Exp Med (2014) 211(2):199–208. doi: 10.1084/ jem.20131038
- Constantinides MG, McDonald BD, Verhoef PA, Bendelac A. A committed precursor to innate lymphoid cells. *Nature* (2014) 508(7496):397–401. doi: 10.1038/nature13047
- Xu W, Cherrier DE, Chea S, Vosshenrich C, Serafini N, Petit M, et al. An Id2 (RFP)-Reporter Mouse Redefines Innate Lymphoid Cell Precursor Potentials. *Immunity* (2019) 50(4):1054–68.e3. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2019.02.022
- Walker JA, Clark PA, Crisp A, Barlow JL, Szeto A, Ferreira ACF, et al. Polychromic Reporter Mice Reveal Unappreciated Innate Lymphoid Cell Progenitor Heterogeneity and Elusive ILC3 Progenitors in Bone Marrow. *Immunity* (2019) 51(1):104–18.e7. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2019.05.002
- Cuff AO, Sillito F, Dertschnig S, Hall A, Luong TV, Chakraverty R, et al. The Obese Liver Environment Mediates Conversion of NK Cells to a Less Cytotoxic ILC1-Like Phenotype. *Front Immunol* (2019) 10:2180. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2019.02180
- Gordon SM, Chaix J, Rupp LJ, Wu J, Madera S, Sun JC, et al. The transcription factors T-bet and Eomes control key checkpoints of natural killer cell maturation. *Immunity* (2012) 36(1):55–67. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2011.11.016
- Pikovskaya O, Chaix J, Rothman NJ, Collins A, Chen YH, Scipioni AM, et al. Cutting Edge: Eomesodermin Is Sufficient To Direct Type 1 Innate Lymphocyte Development into the Conventional NK Lineage. J Immunol (2016) 196(4):1449–54. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1502396
- Park E, Patel S, Wang Q, Andhey P, Zaitsev K, Porter S, et al. Toxoplasma gondii infection drives conversion of NK cells into ILC1-like cells. *Elife* (2019) 8. doi: 10.7554/eLife.47605
- 56. Harmon C, Robinson MW, Fahey R, Whelan S, Houlihan DD, Geoghegan J, et al. Tissue-resident Eomes(hi) T-bet(lo) CD56(bright) NK cells with reduced proinflammatory potential are enriched in the adult human liver. *Eur J Immunol* (2016) 46(9):2111–20. doi: 10.1002/eji.201646559
- Stegmann KA, Robertson F, Hansi N, Gill U, Pallant C, Christophides T, et al. CXCR6 marks a novel subset of T-bet(lo)Eomes(hi) natural killer cells residing in human liver. *Sci Rep* (2016) 6:26157. doi: 10.1038/srep26157
- Gao Y, Souza-Fonseca-Guimaraes F, Bald T, Ng SS, Young A, Ngiow SF, et al. Tumor immunoevasion by the conversion of effector NK cells into type 1 innate lymphoid cells. *Nat Immunol* (2017) 18(9):1004–15. doi: 10.1038/ ni.3800
- Cortez VS, Ulland TK, Cervantes-Barragan L, Bando JK, Robinette ML, Wang Q, et al. SMAD4 impedes the conversion of NK cells into ILC1-like cells by curtailing non-canonical TGF-beta signaling. *Nat Immunol* (2017) 18(9):995– 1003. doi: 10.1038/ni.3809
- Wang S, Xia P, Chen Y, Qu Y, Xiong Z, Ye B, et al. Regulatory Innate Lymphoid Cells Control Innate Intestinal Inflammation. *Cell* (2017) 171 (1):201–16.e18. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2017.07.027
- Wang S, Qu Y, Xia P, Chen Y, Zhu X, Zhang J, et al. Transdifferentiation of tumor infiltrating innate lymphoid cells during progression of colorectal cancer. *Cell Res* (2020). doi: 10.1038/s41422-020-0312-y
- Morita H, Kubo T, Ruckert B, Ravindran A, Soyka MB, Rinaldi AO, et al. Induction of human regulatory innate lymphoid cells from group 2 innate lymphoid cells by retinoic acid. *J Allergy Clin Immunol* (2019) 143(6):2190– 201.e9. doi: 10.1016/j.jaci.2018.12.1018
- Bando JK, Gilfillan S, Di Luccia B, Fachi JL, Secca C, Cella M, et al. ILC2s are the predominant source of intestinal ILC-derived IL-10. *J Exp Med* (2020) 217 (2). doi: 10.1084/jem.20191520
- Seehus CR, Kadavallore A, Torre B, Yeckes AR, Wang Y, Tang J, et al. Alternative activation generates IL-10 producing type 2 innate lymphoid cells. *Nat Commun* (2017) 8(1):1900. doi: 10.1038/s41467-017-02023-z

 Geremia A, Arancibia-Carcamo CV. Innate Lymphoid Cells in Intestinal Inflammation. Front Immunol (2017) 8:1296. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2017.01296

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2020 De Salvo, Buela and Pizarro. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

